

Behavior and heat stress

Edited by

Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, Messy Hannear De Andrade Pantoja, Cihan Çakmakçı, Fabio Luis Henrique and Priscila dos Santos Silva

Published in Frontiers in Veterinary Science





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2854-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2854-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Behavior and heat stress

Topic editors

Cristiane Gonçalves Titto — University of São Paulo, Brazil Messy Hannear De Andrade Pantoja — Federal University of Pará, Brazil Cihan Çakmakçı — Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Türkiye Fabio Luis Henrique — Universidad de la República, Uruguay Priscila dos Santos Silva — Anisio Teixeira College, Brazil

Citation

Titto, C. G., De Andrade Pantoja, M. H., Çakmakçı, C., Henrique, F. L., Silva, P. S., eds. (2023). *Behavior and heat stress*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2854-9



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Behavior and heat stress Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, Fabio Luis Henrique, Messy Hannear de Andrade Pantoja, Cihan Çakmakçı and

Priscila dos Santos Silva

Alessandra Pelagalli

07 Evaluation of the Best Region for Measuring Eye Temperature in Dairy Cows Exposed to Heat Stress Hang Shu, Yongfeng Li, Tingting Fang, Mingjie Xing, Fuyu Sun,

Xiaoyang Chen, Jérôme Bindelle, Wensheng Wang and Leifeng Guo

14 Is Continuous Monitoring of Skin Surface Temperature a Reliable Proxy to Assess the Thermoregulatory Response in Endurance Horses During Field Exercise?

Elisabeth-Lidwien J. M. M. Verdegaal, Gordon S. Howarth, Todd J. McWhorter and Catherine J. G. Delesalle

30 Neonatal infrared thermography images in the hypothermic ruminant model: Anatomical-morphological-physiological aspects and mechanisms for thermoregulation Daniel Mota-Rojas, Dehua Wang, Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, Julio Martínez-Burnes, Dina Villanueva-García, Karina Lezama, Adriana Domínguez, Ismael Hernández-Avalos, Patricia Mora-Medina, Antonio Verduzco, Adriana Olmos-Hernández, Alejandro Casas, Daniela Rodríguez, Nancy José, Jennifer Rios and

47 Do intense weather events influence dogs' and cats' behavior? Analysis of owner reported data in Italy

Clara Palestrini, Giulietta Minozzi, Silvia Michela Mazzola, Annalaura Lopez and Simona Cannas

57 Heat tolerance, thermal equilibrium and environmental management strategies for dairy cows living in intertropical regions

Severino Guilherme Caetano Gonçalves dos Santos, Edilson Paes Saraiva, Severino Gonzaga Neto, Maria Isabelly Leite Maia, Angela M. Lees, Verassamy Sejian, Alex Sandro Campos Maia, Geovergue Rodrigues de Medeiros and Vinícius de França Carvalho Fonsêca

66 Genotype by heat conditions interaction effects on growth and litter traits in rabbits

Mohamed Ragab, Ibrhim Elkhaiat, Hassan Younis, Marwa Ahmed and Mostafa Helal

74 Thermoregulation mechanisms and perspectives for validating thermal windows in pigs with hypothermia and hyperthermia: An overview

Jocelyn Gómez-Prado, Alfredo M. F. Pereira, Dehua Wang, Dina Villanueva-García, Adriana Domínguez-Oliva, Patricia Mora-Medina, Ismael Hernández-Avalos, Julio Martínez-Burnes, Alejandro Casas-Alvarado, Adriana Olmos-Hernández, Ramiro Ramírez-Necoechea, Antonio Verduzco-Mendoza, Astrid Hernández, Fabiola Torres and Daniel Mota-Rojas 95 Thermal stress-related physiological, behavioral, and serum biochemical responses in indigenous pigs adapted to Eastern Himalayan region

> Kadirvel Govindasamy, Chamniugongliu Gonmei, Ningthoujam Suraj Singh and Nakambam Manoranjan Singh

107 Economically sustainable shade design for feedlot cattle Alex S. C. Maia, Gustavo A. B. Moura, Vinicius F. C. Fonsêca, Kifle G. Gebremedhin, Hugo M. Milan, Marcos Chiquitelli Neto, Bruno R. Simão, Victor Paschoal Consentino Campanelli and Rodrigo Dias Lauritano Pacheco

123 The effect of birth weight and time of day on the thermal response of newborn water buffalo calves

Fabio Napolitano, Andrea Bragaglio, Ada Braghieri, Ayman H. Abd El-Aziz, Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, Dina Villanueva-García, Patricia Mora-Medina, Alfredo M. F. Pereira, Ismael Hernández-Avalos, Nancy José-Pérez, Alejandro Casas-Alvarado, Karina Lezama-García, Adriana Domínguez-Oliva, Daniela Rodríguez-González, Aldo Bertoni and Daniel Mota-Rojas

135 Assessment of thermal changes in water buffalo mobilized from the paddock and transported by short journeys Daniela Rodríguez-González, Isabel Guerrero Legarreta, Rosy G. Cruz-Monterrosa, Fabio Napolitano, Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, Ayman H. Abd El-Aziz, Ismael Hernández-Avalos, Alejandro Casas-Alvarado, Adriana Domínguez-Oliva and Daniel Mota-Rojas

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Edward Narayan, The University of Queensland, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Fabio Luis Henrique 🖾 fabio.luishenrique@gmail.com

RECEIVED 09 May 2023 ACCEPTED 31 May 2023 PUBLISHED 14 June 2023

CITATION

Titto CG, Henrique FL, Pantoja MHA, Çakmakçı C and Silva PS (2023) Editorial: Behavior and heat stress. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1219955. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1219955

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Titto, Henrique, Pantoja, Çakmakçı and Silva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Behavior and heat stress

Cristiane Gonçalves Titto¹, Fabio Luis Henrique^{2*}, Messy Hannear de Andrade Pantoja², Cihan Çakmakçı³ and Priscila dos Santos Silva⁴

¹Faculty of Animal Science and Food Engineering, University of São Paulo, Pirassununga, Brazil, ²Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of the Republic, Montevideo, Uruguay, ³Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture, Van Yüzüncü Yil University, Van, Türkiye, ⁴Anisio Teixeira College, Feira de Santana, Brazil

KEYWORDS

acclimation, adaptation, behavioral response, climate change, temperature, thermoregulation

Editorial on the Research Topic Behavior and heat stress

Relating the environment to the quality of life of animals becomes essential when the goal is to achieve welfare. Climatic variations, highlighted mainly by the increase in temperature in recent years, are directly associated with the search for thermal balance for several species to avoid situations of heat stress, which can result in cellular and molecular dysfunctions, thermoregulatory and behavioral disorders, and consequently reduce the health of companion, sports, working, and production animals.

This Research Topic is composed of eight original articles and three reviews, which present arguments through the advancement of tools and technologies for measuring animal temperature; physiological, biochemical, and behavioral changes; handling practices and facilities; and economic advantages, which aim to validate the environmental impact on the thermal comfort zone of these individuals.

These changes can be observed in companion animals, such as dogs and cats, that share the same environment as humans. Palestrini et al. demonstrate through their data that the behavior of these animals is altered with the variation of the ambient temperature. Even without showing an increase in aggressive behavior, both species become more active with milder temperatures and sleep more when there is a greater variation, both upward and downward.

Production animals are constantly studied in this line of research because of their dependence on the control of meteorological variables to achieve high performance. As described by Ragab et al. in their study of rabbits, genetic factors can affect an individual's susceptibility to environmental conditions.

To demonstrate this interaction with the environment, Govindasamy et al. working with different genotypes of pigs, found alterations in physiological, behavioral, and biochemical parameters through measurements of temperature (rectal and skin surface), respiration rate, heart rate, behavior, and hormones measured by blood in a specific environment, and different pig breeds may respond differently to seasonal changes. Gómez-Prado et al. in turn, pointed out the main thermoregulation mechanisms used for this heat exchange between pigs and the environment, addressing concepts for situations not only of hyperthermia but also of hypothermia and highlighting the measurement of temperature using infrared thermography.

Non-invasive technologies are increasingly being used as alternatives for monitoring the body temperature of animals, given the need to validate their use between species, and in comparison with internal body temperatures. For example, Verdegaal et al. studied the applicability of monitoring skin surface temperature as a thermoregulatory response metric in endurance horses during field exercises, as well as the relationship between skin surface temperature and core temperature as measured by gastrointestinal temperature. They found that skin surface temperature monitoring does not provide a reliable proxy for the thermoregulatory response in horses, due to many factors that can modulate skin surface temperature without directly affecting core temperature, and revealed important inter-individual differences in skin surface and core temperature. Mota-Rojas et al. who also discuss the use of infrared thermography, highlight the great usefulness of the tool in measuring the body temperature of newborn ruminants, relating moments of hyperthermia with the development of muscle and adipose cells in these animals and the action of metabolic routes for the utilization of these energy reserves for the activation of thermoregulation pathways. Similarly, Napolitano et al. showed that birth weight is a factor that alters the thermoregulation of water buffalo calves during the first days of life, but that colostrum ingestion can be a compensatory action for better development in such situations, making the thermoregulatory mechanism more efficient.

By studying dairy cows, Shu et al. sought to improve the technique for measuring ocular temperature under heat stress, which is often found in high-performance herds in dairy production. Their study results suggested that infrared thermography can provide a non-invasive and practical approach for assessing heat stress in dairy cows. In addition, the results provided useful recommendations regarding the optimal direction of image acquisition, highlighting the regions of the eye that most effectively reflect thermoregulatory responses in these instances.

In relation to thermoregulation and behavior, the facilities, and methods of handling livestock in production systems are crucial points to discuss. Studying dairy cows, Santos et al. traced the thermoregulatory profile of these animals in tropical environments, mainly discussing environmental aspects and installations that can alter the thermal equilibrium point in pasture production systems. Rodríguez-González et al. in their study, addressed transport management as a possible stress trigger for water buffalos and sought to relate different temperature measurements to represent these values for meat-producing animals. Finally, Maia et al. showed economic advantages when using a shade design to offer confined beef cattle a better thermoregulatory condition, relating their thermal comfort zone within the production system and resulting in increased production rates.

Author contributions

The editorial board of this Research Topic was composed by the CT as main editor. MP, CÇ, FH, and PS as guest editors working in the organization and review of articles. The editorial article was written by the FH and revised by CT, MP, CÇ, and PS. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

The editors thank the Frontiers administration team for their excellent support with the Research Topic, as well as numerous reviewers.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.





Evaluation of the Best Region for Measuring Eye Temperature in Dairy Cows Exposed to Heat Stress

Hang Shu^{1,2}, Yongfeng Li^{1,2}, Tingting Fang³, Mingjie Xing³, Fuyu Sun³, Xiaoyang Chen³, Jérôme Bindelle², Wensheng Wang^{1*} and Leifeng Guo^{1*}

¹ Agricultural Information Institute, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences, Beijing, China, ² AgroBioChem/TERRA, Precision Livestock and Nutrition Unit, Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech, University of Liège, Gembloux, Belgium, ³ Institute of Animal Science, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anthony Waterhouse, Scottish Agricultural College, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Serdal Dikmen, Uludağ University, Turkey S. Jeyakumar, National Dairy Research Institute (Southern Regional Station), India

*Correspondence:

Wensheng Wang wangwensheng@caas.cn Leifeng Guo guoleifeng@caas.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 19 January 2022 Accepted: 10 February 2022 Published: 23 March 2022

Citation:

Shu H, Li Y, Fang T, Xing M, Sun F, Chen X, Bindelle J, Wang W and Guo L (2022) Evaluation of the Best Region for Measuring Eye Temperature in Dairy Cows Exposed to Heat Stress. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:857777. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.857777 Eye temperature (ET) has long been used for predicting or indicating heat stress in dairy cows. However, the region of interest (ROI) and temperature parameter of the eye have not been standardized and various options were adopted by previous studies. The aim of this study was to determine the best ROI for measuring ET as the predictor of heat stress in dairy cows in consideration of repeatability and validity. The ET of 40 lactating Holstein dairy cows was measured using infrared thermography. The mean and maximum temperature of five ROIs—medial canthus (MC), lateral canthus, eyeball, whole eye (WE), and lacrimal sac (LS)—were manually captured. The results show that the ET of left eyes was slightly higher than that of right eyes. The ET taken in MC, WE, and LS within 2 min had a moderate to substantial repeatability. The maximum temperature obtained at the LS had the highest correlation coefficients with respiration rate and core body temperature (all p < 0.001). Therefore, the maximum temperature of LS should be considered by future studies that want to use ET as the predictor or indicator of heat stress in dairy cows.

Keywords: dairy cows, heat stress, eye temperature, region of interest, infrared thermography

INTRODUCTION

Due to the advantages of non-invasive and non-contact measurement, infrared thermography (IRT) has been welcomed for measuring the welfare indicators and health status of livestock (1–3). Dairy cows are extremely vulnerable to heat stress due to their limited heat dissipation capacity and enormous heat production (4). However, the measurement of gold standard animal-based indicators of heat stress, i.e., respiration rate (RR) and core body temperature (CBT), is both time-consuming and labor-intensive (5). Therefore, body surface temperature measured using IRT has been used for predicting or indicating heat stress in dairy cows for a few years, among which the eye temperature (ET) has been considered most commonly due to its high correlation and agreement with CBT (6–8).

However, the region of interest (ROI) and temperature parameter of the eye have not been standardized and various options were adopted by previous studies. To name but a few, the mean or maximum temperature of the eyeball (EB) (9), the orbita plus surrounding (10), the entire eye (11), and the periocular and lacrimal caruncle (12) have been used for indicating heat stress in cattle.

To determine the best region to measure ET, two key parameters are of importance, i.e., repeatability and validity. The former focuses on whether measurements on the same subject under identical conditions over a short period of time are repeatable, whereas the latter focuses on the ability of a method to measure what it is intended to measure. For revealing heat stress of animals, validity is always expressed using the correlation with gold standard indicators (i.e., RR and CBT).

Some studies have used different methods to measure the repeatability of temperature readings of different ROIs of the cattle eve. Montanholi et al. (13) used the maximum temperature of the entire eye as the representative of ET, and correlation coefficients between two infrared images consecutively taken within 10s were calculated to express repeatability. Byrne et al. (14) took 30 consecutive infrared images of the eye, the hoof, and the udder respectively, and repeatability was determined based on the level of precision that could be achieved by capturing 30 image replicates. Gloster et al. (15) also used the entire eye to obtain ET and the repeatability of thermal imaging was assessed by testing whether the difference in ET of two images taken within 10 min significantly differed from zero. However, none of the abovementioned studies was conducted under a heat stress condition, and only one ROI was adopted in each study. Therefore, it is interesting to know whether the temperature readings of different ROIs of the eye are repeatable across a heat stress event. As for the validity of ET in revealing heat stress in dairy cows, lots of studies have demonstrated a mild to strong correlation of ET with RR and CBT (10, 16, 17). Bleul et al. (17) reported that the maximum temperature of the entire eye, rather than the medial canthus (MC), had the highest correlation coefficient with the rectal temperature in 30 cows. However, a comprehensive evaluation of ROIs is still required.

The aim of this study was to determine the best ROI for measuring ET as the predictor of heat stress in dairy cows in consideration of repeatability and validity. Our hypothesis was that different ROIs would differ in their performance in reflecting heat stress in dairy cows.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The experimental protocols were approved by the Experimental Animal Care and Committee of the Institute of Animal Science, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (approval number IAS2021-220).

Experimental Location and Animals

The study was conducted at an organic intensive dairy farm in Shandong, China (coordinates: $34^{\circ}50'37''$ N, $115^{\circ}26'11''$ E; altitude: 52 m) from June to August in 2021. A total of 40 highproducing (daily milk yield: 40.0 ± 5.9 kg/day), primiparous and multiparous (parity: 2.6 ± 1.1), and mid-lactating (days in milk: 149.9 ± 18.2 days) Holstein dairy cows were randomly selected from a herd reared in a free-stall barn ($15 \text{ m} \times 90 \text{ m}$). The barn was covered by a double-pitched roof and was oriented along the north-south longitudinal axis, and therefore, most of the solar radiation was prevented from reaching the cows inside the barn. The barn was equipped with a total of 20 fans (1.1 m in diameter; capacity: 25,000 m³/h each) and 40 sprinklers (1.5 L/min each; 1 min on and 4 min off) fixed 2.5 m above the ground. Fans were installed at the lying zone at an interval of 6 m and along the feeding line at an interval of 12 m, while sprinklers were installed along the feeding line at an interval of 2 m. Fans and sprinklers were operated normally during the entire study. Cows were milked three times per day at 08:30, 16:30, and 00:00 h. Cows were fed a total mixed ration three times per day after milking and had free access to clean water.

Experimental Design

Physiological measurements were conducted twice on each test day (09:30–11:00 and 14:00–15:30 h). A veterinarian checked the health condition of the cows daily, and no cows were excluded due to health issues. The cows were resting quietly in a lying or standing posture during the measurements. Gold standard animal-based indicators (i.e., RR and CBT) were recorded by timing 15 flank movements (and converting to breaths/min) and using data loggers (DS1922L, Maxim Integrated, San Jose, CA, USA) attached to modified vaginal controlled internal drug releases (Pfizer Animal Health, New York, NY, USA), respectively.

The ET was recorded using a portable infrared camera (VarioCAM HR, InfraTec, Dresden, Germany) right after RR measurement. The camera had a spectral range from 7.5 to $14 \,\mu$ m, a temperature measuring range from -40 to $2,000^{\circ}$ C, an accuracy of $\pm 2\%$, and a resolution of 640×480 pixels. The infrared images were taken twice within 2 min from each cow per measurement to evaluate the repeatability of measurements. All images were taken from the cows' side to capture eye regions with an angle of $\sim 90^{\circ}$ and a distance of $\sim 1 \,\mathrm{m}$ from the cows. To prevent the cows' body temperature from rising due to the stress caused by prolonged handling, we only measured the temperature of the eye that was on the side of the cow (i.e., left or right) that was close to the approaching thermographer for each cow per measurement.

Ambient temperature (Ta) and relative humidity (RH) were measured using a Kestrel 5400 heat stress tracker (Nielsen-Kellerman, Boothwyn, PA, USA). Temperature and humidity index (THI) was then calculated according to the following equation recommended by the National Research Council (18):

$$\label{eq:THI} \begin{split} \text{THI} = \ (1.8\times\text{Ta}+32) - (0.55 - 0.005\times\text{RH})\times(1.8\times\text{Ta}-26) \\ & \text{Ta}-26) \end{split}$$

Infrared Image Processing

Infrared images were processed using IRBIS 3 Standard software (YSHY, Beijing, China). All images were calibrated by setting the emissivity to 0.98 and inputting the corresponding Ta record of each measurement. MC, lateral canthus (LC), EB, whole eye (WE), and lacrimal sac (LS) were manually located using appropriate circles to obtain the mean and maximum temperatures of the areas (**Figure 1**). Two replicated images that did not capture all five ROIs at the same time were



manually eliminated. Consequently, 736 infrared images from 318 measurements were finally used for the following analyses.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R version 4.1.0 (https://www.R-project.org/). Mean and maximum ET were analyzed separately by ROI and side, unless otherwise stated. To determine the temperature differences among ROIs and side (left and right), mean and maximum ET were analyzed separately using generalized linear mixed models with the "nlme" package including fixed effects of ROI, side, interaction between ROI and side, posture, random intercept effect of cow, and covariates of parity, days in milk, and THI. The repeatability of replicated ET taken within a 2-min interval was assessed by using the concordance correlation coefficient (CCC) for longitudinal repeated measures using the ccclon function included in the "cccrm" package with the index of observation ordered by time as the longitudinal unit for each cow. The correlations between ET and gold standard animal-based indicators were performed using the cor function. Significance was declared at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

The descriptive statistics of meteorological and physiological variables are shown in **Table 1**. Among ROIs, the maximum temperature of WE (37.93°C) and MC (37.92°C) provided the highest temperature values, $\sim 0.9^{\circ}$ C lower than CBT (38.80°C). As expected, MC was a good representative of WE in terms of maximum temperature with nearly 80% of the images having maximum temperature located in MC. The coefficients of variation of all temperature variables (CBT and ET) lay between 1 and 2%, among which the mean temperature of EB and WE had the highest value of 1.79 and 1.86%, respectively. Besides, the coefficients of variation of maximum temperature in all five ROIs were lower than those of mean temperature.

Temperature Differences Among ROIs and Sides

For mean temperature, no significant difference between the left and right eyes was found for ET measured at all five

Variable	N	Mean	SD	CV (%)	Min	Max
THI	318	80.55	3.01	3.73	70.98	86.09
RR	318	70.70	19.93	28.19	27.17	145.16
CBT	168	38.80	0.45	1.17	38.00	40.10
MCmean	318	37.60	0.46	1.21	35.81	38.64
MCmax	318	37.92	0.41	1.08	36.74	38.96
LCmean	318	37.07	0.49	1.32	35.55	38.32
LCmax	318	37.43	0.45	1.19	36.13	38.63
EBmean	318	36.11	0.65	1.79	33.54	37.60
EBmax	318	37.34	0.50	1.34	35.96	38.50
WEmean	318	36.29	0.67	1.86	33.46	38.11
WEmax	318	37.93	0.41	1.07	36.86	38.97
LSmean	318	37.16	0.55	1.47	34.92	38.58
LSmax	318	37.42	0.51	1.36	35.72	38.81

TABLE 1 | Number of observations (N), mean, standard deviation (SD), coefficient of variation (CV), minimum (Min), and maximum (Max) values of meteorological and physiological variables.

THI, temperature and humidity index; RR, respiration rate (breaths/min); CBT, core body temperature (°C); MC, medial canthus (°C); LC, lateral canthus (°C); EB, eyeball (°C); WE, whole eye (°C); LS, lacrinal sac (°C). Eye temperatures (°C) were summarized using the average measures of two replicated infrared images.

ROIs (P > 0.05; Figure 2A). For maximum temperature, the EB temperature of left eyes (37.31°C) was significantly lower compared with that of right eyes (37.49°C) (p = 0.0007; Figure 2B). In general, a slightly higher ET (mean or maximum) was found in left eyes than right eyes except for EB (Figure 2).

Imaging Repeatability

Considering left eyes and right eyes separately, five ROIs all yielded higher CCCs in their mean temperatures compared with maximum temperatures (**Table 2**). When comparing two eyes, left eyes always had CCCs higher than or equal to those of right eyes in both mean and maximum temperatures (**Table 2**). In general, MC, WE, and LS had CCCs higher than 0.90 for all combinations of temperature parameter (mean or maximum) and side (left or right) (**Table 2**), indicating that ET taken in these ROIs within 2 min had a moderate to substantial repeatability.

Correlations Between ET, RR, and CBT

The mean or maximum ET obtained at all ROIs on each or both sides were all significantly correlated with RR and CBT (all p < 0.001; **Table 3**). When taking left eyes and right eyes separately, the maximum temperature had higher or equal correlation coefficients with RR and CBT compared with the mean temperature in most ROIs of the eye except for LC in which the mean temperature was correlated more with RR (**Table 3**). The highest correlation coefficients of RR and CBT were both yielded from the maximum temperature obtained at the LS of left eyes (0.60 and 0.52, respectively; **Table 3**).

When combining both eyes into analysis, the maximum temperature had better correlation coefficients with RR and CBT compared with the mean temperature in most ROIs of the eye except for the LC in which the mean temperature still correlated more with RR (**Table 3**). Besides, the correlation coefficients were pooled to some extent, with the results lower than those from left eyes but higher than those from right eyes (**Table 3**). As expected, the maximum temperature obtained at the LS of both eyes still

correlated most with RR and CBT (r = 0.55 and 0.51, respectively; **Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

According to the revised heat stress categories proposed by Collier et al. (19), the cows were exposed to mild to severe heat stress. Since this study lasted 3 months in the summer, the effects of long-term heat stress were well captured. In the present study, five ROIs of the eye were all determined using images taken from the side of the cows' faces. Some studies also captured ET using the front area of the cattle face (20, 21). However, front images were not considered in the present study since a minor variation in the angle of the infrared camera to the target could result in a very different temperature value. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to comprehensively compare the temperatures among various ROIs of the cow's eye.

The temperature of the left and right eyes of cows is rarely compared. Most of the previous studies did not distinguish between the left and right eyes when obtaining ET. Our results show that the left eye seemed to have a higher temperature, better repeatability, and better correlation with gold standard animal-based indicators. Besides, the combined dataset of both left and right eyes provided a pooled correlation with RR and CBT, which was better than right eyes solely and worse than left eyes solely. Byrne et al. (14) also found that left eyes were more repeatable than right eyes, where 70.20% of the total variation could be explained by cow. However, left eyes were found 0.18 and 0.53°C lower than right eyes in the maximum and mean temperature, respectively, which is opposite to our results. A higher temperature in the left eye than the right eye was also found by the study of Church et al. (22) where 79 Holstein dairy cows were measured ET using IRT. The cows were raised in a barn oriented along the north-south longitudinal axis, and an adjustable perforated awning was used to provide three treatment



TABLE 2 | Concordance correlation coefficients (95% confidence interval) of replicated infrared imaging measures (mean and maximum temperatures) taken from the left and right eyes, respectively.

Side	Parameter	МС	LC	EB	WE	LS
Left	Mean	0.96 (0.94, 0.97)	0.90 (0.86, 0.93)	0.94 (0.92, 0.96)	0.97 (0.95, 0.98)	0.95 (0.93, 0.97)
	Maximum	0.94 (0.92, 0.96)	0.85 (0.78, 0.90)	0.87 (0.81, 0.91)	0.94 (0.92, 0.96)	0.94 (0.91, 0.96)
Right	Mean	0.95 (0.92, 0.97)	0.85 (0.79, 0.89)	0.92 (0.90, 0.94)	0.95 (0.93, 0.97)	0.95 (0.92, 0.97)
	Maximum	0.92 (0.89, 0.95)	0.85 (0.79, 0.89)	0.72 (0.58, 0.82)	0.93 (0.90, 0.95)	0.92 (0.88, 0.95)

MC, medial canthus; LC, lateral canthus; EB, eyeball; WE, whole eye; LS, lacrimal sac.

conditions: direct sunlight (left eyes), indirect sunlight (right eyes), and shaded (both eyes). Even under the shaded condition, a 0.14°C higher temperature was found in left eyes than in right eyes. Rogers (23) reported that both acute and chronic stress of an animal are processed by the right hemisphere of the brain. Since the right hemisphere of the brain is linked to the left eye (24), it may explain why our results show that the temperature of the left eye was better at indicating heat stress in dairy cows. Due to the fact that rumen is on the left side of the cow's body, Brcko et al. (11) measured ET only from the cows' right side to prevent the impact of digestive processes. However, our results might indicate a negligible effect of rumination and digestion on the temperature of the left eye since the left eye and the rumen are anatomically far apart. It is also worth noting that the wind direction along the feeding line was from left to right for cows that were eating in the present study. Thus, we speculate that the better performance of the left eve might also be partly attributed to the direct exposure to fans. Indeed, evaporative cooling including sprinklers and fans together has shown a significant effect on reducing the body surface temperature of cows by promoting local cutaneous evaporation (25, 26). However, further studies are required in which the direction of the air flow relative to the cows is strictly controlled.

As expected, the mean temperature of the ROIs always had better repeatability compared with the maximum temperature, which is consistent with the study of George et al. (27). However, maximum temperature provided better correlations with RR and CBT in most ROIs, reconfirming that maximum temperature

could better reflect cows' thermoregulation under heat stress (28). Also, Uddin et al. (29) reported that the maximum temperature of the eye was more correlated with stress- and productivity-related parameters than the mean temperature. Among five candidate ROIs of the eye, LS was determined to be the best area for ET measurement using IRT in dairy cows due to the consistently good results in repeatability and correlations with RR and CBT. Besides, MC and WE had similar results when using maximum temperature since nearly 80% of the images had a maximum temperature located in the MC area. It is well known that the lacrimal caruncle and the small area around the medial posterior palpebral border of the lower eyelid have abundant capillaries of the maxillary and infraorbital arteries, which are innervated by the sympathetic system (8, 30). When the animals are exposed to heat stress, vasodilation leads to an increased surface temperature of these areas to promote heat dissipation (4). On the other hand, EB was found to have a relatively lower CCC for replicated infrared imaging measures and a lower correlation with RR and CBT compared with other ROIs. This may be due to inaccurate temperature readings caused by lacrimal secretions during heat stress. Vasodilation increases blood flow, thereby promoting the secretion of lacrimal gland fluid (31). Although poor quality images with obvious tears or dirt obscuring the ROIs have been manually eliminated, some invisible secretions might cover the surface of the EB and affect IRT by reflecting most infrared light, resulting in the lower temperature value, which was actually the temperature of lacrimal secretions. The higher coefficient of variation (1.79%) and the lowest minimum temperature TABLE 3 | Correlation coefficients of mean and maximum eye temperature (°C, left and/or right) with respiration rate (RR, breaths/min) and core body temperature (CBT, °C).

Variable	Side	Parameter	MC	LC	EB	WE	LS
RR	Left eye	Mean	0.48	0.48	0.36	0.37	0.58
		Maximum	0.49	0.45	0.39	0.49	0.60
	Right eye	Mean	0.44	0.41	0.33	0.35	0.50
		Maximum	0.44	0.39	0.35	0.44	0.51
	Two eyes	Mean	0.46	0.45	0.35	0.36	0.54
		Maximum	0.47	0.42	0.37	0.46	0.55
CBT	Left eye	Mean	0.38	0.37	0.25	0.25	0.48
		Maximum	0.43	0.39	0.34	0.42	0.52
	Right eye	Mean	0.48	0.36	0.31	0.38	0.50
		Maximum	0.48	0.38	0.38	0.48	0.50
	Two eyes	Mean	0.43	0.37	0.28	0.32	0.49
		Maximum	0.45	0.38	0.34	0.45	0.51

MC, medial canthus; LC, lateral canthus; EB, eyeball; WE, whole eye; LS, lacrimal sac. All p < 0.001.

 $(33.54^{\circ}C)$ of the mean temperature of EB also supported the presence of secretions to have biased the actual temperature of EB downwards.

One of the limitations of the present study is that the size of ROIs was not constrained among infrared images. This could have an impact on the result of mean temperature. However, since the distance between the camera and the cows could not be fixed to 1 m completely, it was difficult to use fixed pixel sizes for ROIs. Besides, the maximum temperature was less likely to be influenced by slightly changed pixel sizes and its result should remain robust under our study design. On the other hand, the average temperature of the left and right eyes was used in previous studies (27). However, to prevent the cows' body temperature from rising due to the stress and anxiety caused by prolonged handling, we only measured the temperature of one eye from each cow per measurement. Thus, the average temperature of the left and right eyes was not able to be evaluated in this study. Furthermore, only the infrared images with all five ROIs available were selected for analysis; however, the actual situation is likely to be less favorable. For example, partially closed eyes and eyes covered by secretions or dirt are very common in the field, and will result in difficulty to obtain ROIs. Thus, we suggest that the maximum temperature of LS, MC, or WE should be used as representative ET when available.

CONCLUSION

Collectively, this study demonstrates that the most commonly used ROIs (WE and MC) in the previous studies provided acceptable performance in reflecting the thermoregulatory response of dairy cows exposed to heat stress, whereas LS was the best area to obtain ET. More interestingly, left eyes were found to have a higher correlation with gold standard animalbased indicators (i.e., RR and CBT). Further studies are required to evaluate this phenomenon in which the direction of the airflow relative to the cows is strictly controlled.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the are included in article/supplementary study the material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Experimental Animal Care and Committee of Institute of Animal Science, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (approval number IAS2021-220).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HS and JB: experiment design. HS, YL, TF, MX, FS, and XC: experiment execution. HS: data processing and analysis and writing—original draft. JB: writing—review and editing. WW and LG: resources and supervision. All authors approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was financed by the Major Science and Technology Program of Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Grant Number 2020ZD0004, the Key Research and Development Program of Hebei Province, Grant Number 20327202D, and the Key Research and Development Program of Hebei Province, Grant Number 19220119D.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful for the assistance received from Yinxiang dairy farm in Shandong, China.

REFERENCES

- Stewart M, Webster J, Schaefer AL, Cook N, Tracey S. Infrared Thermography as a Non-Invasive Tool to Study Animal Welfare. *Anim Welfare*. (2005) 14:319–25.
- Gómez Y, Bieler R, Hankele AK, Zähner M, Savary P, Hillmann E. Evaluation of visible eye white and maximum eye temperature as noninvasive indicators of stress in dairy cows. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2018) 198:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017.10.001
- Fuentes S, Gonzalez Viejo C, Chauhan SS, Joy A, Tongson E, Dunshea FR. Non-invasive sheep biometrics obtained by computer vision algorithms and machine learning modeling using integrated visible/infrared thermal cameras. *Sensors.* (2020) 20:6334. doi: 10.3390/s20216334
- Kadzere CT, Murphy MR, Silanikove N, Maltz E. Heat stress in lactating dairy cows: a review. *Livestock Prod Sci.* (2002) 77:59–91. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(01)00330-X
- Shu H, Wang W, Guo L, Bindelle J. Recent advances on early detection of heat strain in dairy cows using animal-based indicators: a review. *Animals*. (2021) 11:980. doi: 10.3390/ani11040980
- Švejdová K, Šoch M, Šimková A, Zábranský L, Novák P, Brouček J, et al. Measuring the body surface temperature of animals using a thermographic camera. *Acta Universitatis Cibiniensis Series E: Food Technology*. (2013) 17:99– 106. doi: 10.2478/aucft-2013-0017
- Pacheco VM, Sousa RVd, Rodrigues AVDS, Sardinha EJdS, Martello LS. Thermal imaging combined with predictive machine learning based model for the development of thermal stress level classifiers. *Livestock Sci.* (2020) 241. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104244
- Idris M, Uddin J, Sullivan M, McNeill DM, Phillips CJC. Noninvasive physiological indicators of heat stress in cattle. *Animals.* (2021) 11:71. doi: 10.3390/ani11010071
- Yan G, Li H, Zhao W, Shi Z. Evaluation of thermal indices based on their relationships with some physiological responses of housed lactating cows under heat stress. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2020) 64:2077– 91. doi: 10.1007/s00484-020-01999-6
- Peng D, Chen S, Li G, Chen J, Wang J, Gu X. Infrared thermography measured body surface temperature and its relationship with rectal temperature in dairy cows under different temperature-humidity indexes. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2019) 63:327–36. doi: 10.1007/s00484-018-01666-x
- Brcko CC, Silva JARd, Martorano LG, Vilela RA, Nahúm BdS, Silva AGM, et al. Infrared thermography to assess thermoregulatory reactions of female buffaloes in a humid tropical environment. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:180. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00180
- Mendoza A, Mota-Rojas D, Alvarez A, Mora-Medina P, Trujillo M, Morales-Canela A, et al. Scientific findings related to changes in vascular microcirculation using infrared thermography in the river buffalo. *J Animal Behav Biometeorol.* (2018) 8:288–97. doi: 10.31893/jabb.20038
- Montanholi YR, Lim M, Macdonald A, Smith BA, Goldhawk C, Schwartzkopf-Genswein K, et al. Technological, environmental and biological factors: referent variance values for infrared imaging of the bovine. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol.* (2015) 6:27. doi: 10.1186/s40104-015-0027-y
- Byrne DT, Berry DP, Esmonde H, McHugh N. Temporal, spatial, inter-, and intra-cow repeatability of thermal imaging. J Anim Sci. (2017) 95:970. doi: 10.2527/jas2016.1005
- Gloster J, Ebert K, Gubbins S, Bashiruddin J, Paton DJ. Normal variation in thermal radiated temperature in cattle: implications for foot-and-mouth disease detection. *BMC Vet Res.* (2011) 7:73. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-7-73
- 16. de Ruediger FR, Yamada PH, Bicas Barbosa LG, Mungai Chacur MG, Pinheiro Ferreira JC, de Carvalho NAT, et al. Effect of estrous cycle phase on vulvar, orbital area and muzzle surface temperatures as determined using digital infrared thermography in buffalo. *Anim Reprod Sci.* (2018) 197:154– 61. doi: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2018.08.023
- Bleul U, Hässig M, Kluser F. Screening of febrile cows using a small handheld infrared thermography device. *Tierarztliche Praxis Ausgabe G: Grosstiere -Nutztiere*. (2021) 49:12–20. doi: 10.1055/a-1307-9993

- National Research Council. A Guide to Environmental Research on Animals. Washington, DC: National Academy of Science (1971).
- Collier RJ, Laun WH, Rungruang S, Zimbleman RB. Quantifying heat stress and its impact on metabolism and performance. In: *Proceedings of the Florida Ruminant Nutrition Symposium Gainesville*, FL (2012).
- Jorquera-Chavez M, Fuentes S, Dunshea FR, Warner RD, Poblete T, Jongman EC. Modelling and validation of computer vision techniques to assess heart rate, eye temperature, ear-base temperature and respiration rate in cattle. *Animals.* (2019) 9:1089. doi: 10.3390/ani9121089
- Jaddoa MA, Gonzalez L, Cuthbertson H, Al-Jumaily A. Multiview eye localisation to measure cattle body temperature based on automated thermal image processing and computer vision. *Infrared Phys Technol.* (2021) 119:103932. doi: 10.1016/j.infrared.2021.103932
- Church J, Hegadoren P, Paetkau M, Miller CC, Regev-Shoshani G, Schaefer AL, et al. Influence of environmental factors on infrared eye temperature measurement in cattle. *Res Vet Sci.* (2013) 96:220–6. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2013.11.006
- Rogers LJ. Relevance of brain and behavioural lateralization to animal welfare. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2010) 127:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.06.008
- Phillips CJC, Oevermans H, Syrett KL, Jespersen AY, Pearce GP. Lateralization of behavior in dairy cows in response to conspecifics and novel persons. J Dairy Sci. (2015) 98:2389–400. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8648
- Collier RJ, Dahl GE, VanBaale MJ. Major advances associated with environmental effects on dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:1244– 53. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72193-2
- Islam MA, Lomax S, Doughty A, Islam MR, Jay O, Thomson P, et al. Automated monitoring of cattle heat stress and its mitigation. *Front Animal Sci.* (2021) 2:737213. doi: 10.3389/fanim.2021.737213
- 27. George WD, Godfrey R, Ketring RC, Vinson MC, Willard ST. Relationship among eye and muzzle temperatures measured using digital infrared thermal imaging and vaginal and rectal temperatures in hair sheep and cattle. *J Anim Sci.* (2014) 92:4949–55. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-8087
- Yan G, Liu K, Hao Z, Li H, Shi Z. Development and evaluation of thermal models for predicting skin temperature of dairy cattle. *Comput Electron Agric.* (2021) 188:106363. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2021.106363
- Uddin J, Phillips C, Ahmed A, McNeill D. Relationships between infrared temperature and laterality. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2019) 220:104855. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2019.104855
- 30. Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AMF, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Hernández-Avalos I, et al. Clinical applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows used in infrared thermography in cattle and river buffalo to assess health and productivity. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2247. doi: 10.3390/ani11082247
- Dartt DA. Neural regulation of lacrimal gland secretory processes: relevance in dry eye diseases. *Prog Retin Eye Res.* (2009) 28:155– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2009.04.003

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Shu, Li, Fang, Xing, Sun, Chen, Bindelle, Wang and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Is Continuous Monitoring of Skin Surface Temperature a Reliable Proxy to Assess the Thermoregulatory Response in Endurance Horses During Field Exercise?

Elisabeth-Lidwien J. M. M. Verdegaal^{1,2*}, Gordon S. Howarth^{1,3}, Todd J. McWhorter¹ and Catherine J. G. Delesalle²

¹ Equine Health and Performance Centre, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ² Department of Translational Physiology, Infectiology and Public Health, Research Group of Comparative Physiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University, Merelbeke, Belgium, ³ Gastroenterology Department, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, SA, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Mariana Almeida, University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro, Portugal Daniel Mota-Rojas, Metropolitan Autonomous University, Mexico

*Correspondence:

Elisabeth-Lidwien J. M. M. Verdegaal lidwien.verdegaal@adelaide.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 11 March 2022 Accepted: 25 April 2022 Published: 27 May 2022

Citation:

Verdegaal E-LJMM, Howarth GS, McWhorter TJ and Delesalle CJG (2022) Is Continuous Monitoring of Skin Surface Temperature a Reliable Proxy to Assess the Thermoregulatory Response in Endurance Horses During Field Exercise? Front. Vet. Sci. 9:894146. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.894146 Hyperthermia is a performance and welfare issue for exercising horses. The thermoregulatory stressors associated with exercise have typically been estimated by responses in the laboratory. However, monitoring surface skin temperature (T_{sk}) coincident with core temperature (T_c) has not previously been investigated in horses exercising in the field. We investigated the suitability of monitoring surface T_{sk} as a metric of the thermoregulatory response, and simultaneously investigated its relationship with T_c using gastrointestinal (GI) temperature. We evaluated T_{sk} in 13 endurance horses competing during four endurance rides over 40 km (n = 1) or a total of 80 km (n =12) distance. Following each 40-km loop, the horses were rested for 60 min. T_{sk} and T_c were continuously recorded every 15 s by an infrared thermistor sensor located in a modified belt and by telemetric GI pill, respectively, and expressed as mean \pm SD. The net area under the curve (AUC) was calculated to estimate the thermoregulatory response to the thermal load of T_{sk} over time (°C \times minutes) using the trapezoidal method. The relationship between T_{sk} and T_c was assessed using scatterplots, paired t-test or generalized linear model ANOVA (delta T_{sk}) (n = 8). Ambient temperature ranged from 6.7°C to 18.4°C. No relationship was found between T_{sk} and T_c profiles during exercise and recovery periods, and no significant difference between delta T_{sk} results was detected when comparing exercise and rest. However, time to maximum T_{sk} (67 min) was significantly reduced compared to T_c (139 min) (p = 0.0004) with a significantly lesser maximum T_{sk} (30.3°C) than T_c (39°C) (p = 0.0002) during exercise. Net AUC T_{sk} was 1,164 \pm 1,448 and -305 \pm 388°C \times minutes during periods of exercise and recovery, respectively. We conclude that T_{sk} monitoring does not provide a reliable proxy for the thermoregulatory response and horse welfare, most probably because many factors can modulate T_{sk} without directly affecting T_c . Those factors, such as weather conditions, applicable to all field studies can influence the results of

 T_{sk} in endurance horses. The study also reveals important inter-individual differences in T_{sk} and T_c time profiles, emphasizing the importance of an individualized model of temperature monitoring.

Keywords: skin surface temperature, thermoregulation, metabolic heat, endurance, exercise, performance, competition, hyperthermia

INTRODUCTION

In the face of climate change, hyperthermia and heat stress have become increasingly challenging issues for a wide array of equine sports disciplines, especially during field competitions (1, 2). An increase in core body temperature (T_c) leading to hyperthermia may cause widespread cytotoxicity as a direct effect of heat, while indirect effects related to decreased cardiac output cause neural and intestinal ischemia. If unchecked, these systemic inflammation processes eventually lead to exertional heat illness (EHI) (3-5). The clinical manifestations of EHI include neurological signs, varying from irritability, depression, ataxia, collapse, and may further progress to exertional heat stroke (EHS) with multi-organ dysfunction and death (3-5). In human athletes, EHS is among the top three causes of sudden death, and, in summer, it is the number one cause of athlete death in the USA (3). Similarly, both EHI and EHS are problematic conditions in equine athletes (6). The prevalence of metabolic disorders in, for example, endurance horses, triggered by thermoregulatory-induced physiological feedback failure and exhaustion, ranges from 4.2% to 15% (7-14). Recently, the prevalence of EHI in racehorses has been reported: two studies from Japan state prevalence of 0.09% during summer with a clear increase over the past few years (15, 16). Moreover, a study in Eastern Australia focused on selected EHI cases postexercise at the racetrack and suggested an EHI incidence of up to 9.5% during hot summer months (17). The latter study used the four severity levels of EHI reported by Brownlow et al. (4) and concluded that 96% of horses could be categorized as Level 1. This suggests that a low level and thus discrete EHI cases may have been overlooked in the past.

Environmental conditions are the dominant risk factor in heat stress events, and EHI cases are expected to further increase in prevalence due to global warming (1, 4, 15–17). That worrying reality drives the ongoing efforts of research groups worldwide to develop reliable approaches to monitor and safeguard thermoregulatory wellbeing in horses (2, 18–21). We have previously reported on the continuous monitoring of the thermoregulatory response in endurance and trotter horses using a telemetric gastrointestinal (GI) pill (2). Briefly, the GI temperature pill is a non-invasive method to monitor T_c during exercise in the field. The GI pill was administered the night before the endurance competition to allow recording of a large temperature data set to establish T_c profiles of exercising horses. The data were telemetrically transferred to a device located in a belt under the saddle girth and supported continuous real-time monitoring. It was demonstrated that the GI telemetry pill is a reliable method to monitor T_c and assess the individual dynamic thermal response in exercising horses in the field. The study revealed important interindividual differences in T_c time profiles, despite the horses performing the same exercise protocol. This finding emphasizes the importance of an individualized model of temperature monitoring. It can be concluded that the continuous monitoring approach allows for intervention at the early stages of heat accumulation and the possibility to take prompt and effective preventative measures.

Another elegant approach to monitoring the thermoregulatory response in exercising horses in the field could be continuous monitoring of surface skin temperature (T_{sk}) as a reliable proxy for monitoring thermoregulatory wellbeing. Advantages of using tools, such as infrared thermography (IRT), to assess T_{sk} include the non-invasive nature and easy collection of temperature data (22-24). Notably, most exercise studies use such monitoring methods to assess T_{sk} only pre- or post-exercise, not during exercise. To illustrate, a recent systematic review of T_{sk} studies performed in human endurance athletes has reported that only a few studies involved the continuous monitoring of T_{sk} ; only two out of the 45 exercise studies monitored T_{sk} every 30 s, one study every 180 s, and four studies every 5 min (24). Also, these human studies highlight the existence of essential inter-individual differences with respect to the T_{sk} response time profile (24). Important inter-individual T_{sk} differences have been reported in all mammals (23, 25). For example, an equine study comparing T_{sk} in 21 horses at rest revealed significant inter-individual differences (26). Most existing equine thermoregulatory exercise studies (n = 12 studies) involving T_{sk} have focused on single point post-exercise measurements using a handheld IRT camera, leaving both the pre-exercise and intra-exercise periods out of their scope (21, 22, 27-37). An overview of all T_{sk} studies on horses at rest and during exercise is presented in Supplementary Table 1.

To date, only a few equine studies have focused on continuous monitoring of T_{sk} during exercise and recovery (n = 7, **Supplementary Table 1**). All were conducted in laboratory conditions, for example, on a treadmill (37–42). Only one study has recorded T_{sk} continuously during a short bout of field exercise of 4.5-min duration to investigate the effect of pre-exercise cooling in 10 horses (20). The study recorded surface T_{sk} using a microchip (i-Button[®]) attached to the skin with removable glue and simultaneously monitored rectal temperature (T_{re}) using a

Abbreviations: GI, Gastrointestinal; HR, heart rate; bpm, beats per minute; B.O.M., Bureau of Meteorology; GPS, Global Positioning System; A.E.R.A., Australian Endurance Riders Association; SAERA, South Australian Endurance Riders Association.

rectal probe; both T_{sk} and T_{re} reduced over time (3°C and 0.3°C, respectively).

From a physiological standpoint, it is essential to appreciate that a time lag exists between exercise-induced metabolic heat (MH) output and T_c evolvement. The T_c is subsequently translated into an additional temperature time-lag evolvement, expressed at several different anatomical locations, such as the rectum, the muscular compartment, and the skin surface, whether or not additionally complicated by environmental factors, such as hot and humid weather (1, 25, 39, 43-48). Most importantly, Tre evolvement has been reported to significantly lag behind the T_c both during and after exercise (19, 38, 49), which renders the T_{re} less suitable as a "whistle blower" for thermoregulatory instability. In our previous studies, we demonstrated that GI temperature is a more reliable proxy for the thermoregulatory response and T_c when compared to T_{re} , and that continuously monitoring GI temperature evolvement demonstrated how the equine body copes with exercise, challenging the thermoregulatory system (2, 19). Endurance horses, for example, reached their mean maximum T_c (39.0 \pm 0.4°C) during exercise at 75% of completion of exercise, and T_c returned to the baseline within 60 min into recovery (2). However, the mean T_c was still 38.8 \pm 0.4°C at a heart rate (HR) of 60 bpm, which currently governs "fit-to-continue" competition decisions (50), thus questioning the use of HR values to make such important decisions. However, contrary to this finding, trotter horses reached a comparable mean maximum T_c (38.8 \pm 0.5°C) during recovery. Moreover, in 30% of trotters, T_c was still > 39° C at the end of the recovery period ($40 \pm 32 \min$), following exercise in a cool environment, findings that may have post-exercise management implications.

To identify a reliable proxy for thermoregulatory response in the field, a solid correlation must exist between that specific proxy and T_c evolvement, despite the existence of a time lag (24, 47). However, currently, very few equine studies have involved the simultaneous continuous monitoring of T_c (either using carotid artery temperature, or a GI pill, or the T_{re}), together with an additional temperature monitoring device during field exercise (19, 20, 51). On the other hand, with the ongoing development of new wearables and sensors, there are an increasing number of exercise studies investigating continuous T_{sk} , monitoring wearables (20, 37–40, 42, 52) (Supplementary Table 1 in **Supplementary Material**). These devices all provide data output, although the physiological meaning of these data is not always clear.

The MH produced during exercise needs to be dissipated from the horse to the surrounding environment through four main pathways, namely, radiation, conduction, convection, and evaporation, the last being the most essential and pivotal pathway in horses (23, 48, 53–56). Evaporation from the body surface is mainly achieved by increased blood flow, cutaneous vasodilation followed by evaporation of sweat from the skin (70–85% of the MH load) (25, 48, 54, 56–59). Heat loss by evaporation can be enhanced by cooling techniques (35, 40, 43). When focusing on T_{sk} as a temperature monitoring method, it is vital to keep in mind that all these pathways to dissipate MH to the environment may influence the T_{sk} data output. Monitoring T_{sk} simultaneously with T_c using the GI temperature pill during field exercise has not yet been investigated. The relationship between T_{sk} and T_c is not well understood due to physiological, endocrine, or vasomotor influences on both temperatures (25, 56, 59). Some studies have tried to correlate both T_c and T_{sk} (39–42). The current study aimed to evaluate the usefulness of continuous monitoring of T_{sk} by means of a surface IR sensor device as a proxy for the thermoregulatory response. For this purpose, the T_{sk} relationship with T_c was investigated by simultaneous and continuous telemetric measurements during real-time field competitions under cool weather conditions. Endurance horses were equipped with several non-invasive telemetric monitoring devices—a T_{sk} device positioned in a girth belt, an orally administered GI pill (T_c), a global positioning system (GPS), and an HR monitor.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Horses

Thirteen mainly Arabian (n = 10) endurance horses participated in the study: 7 geldings; 6 mares; age, 9.5 \pm 2.8 years; body mass (BM), 479 ± 68 kg; body condition scores varied from 2 to 3 out of 5. Two cross-Arabians and one crossbred (quarter horse-thoroughbred) were also involved (Table 1). Coat color included bay (n = 3), chestnut (n = 6), and gray (n = 4), and the color was scored as follows: dark (bay and chestnut, n = 9) compared to light (gray) (Table 1). Relevant rider and horse performance history and the Bureau of Meteorology (B.O.M.) (60) station output information were recorded (Table 1; Supplementary Material S1). All the horses were deemed to be fit and healthy based on the veterinary inspection conducted before the competition and following each 40-km loop according to AERA riding rules (50). The horses were sourced on a voluntary basis through the South Australian Endurance Riders Association (S.A.E.R.A.), and all the owners signed a written consent form. The study was approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee (project No. S-2011-224).

Study Design

The horses competed over distances of 40 km (n = 1), 80 km (n= 10) or 100 km (n = 2), with each 40-km loop followed by a 60-min recovery period. The endurance horses exercised at four different locations with altitudes ranging from 4 to 462 meters above sea level. Following each 40-km exercise loop, the sweating response was graded, scoring from 1 to 3 (1: mild wet and white foam areas around head, neck, saddle, and inside hindlimbs, 2: moderate dripping sweat from the body, 3: extensive dripping sweat from the body; Table 1). In addition, the horses were immediately cooled down for average an duration of 10 min by pouring buckets of tap water (estimated average, 20°C) over their bodies and subsequently scraping it off. Following each loop, a recovery period of 60 min was allowed during which inspection of the horses for "fitness to continue" was performed, including checking for the presence of an HR below 60 beats per minute (bpm) by independent endurance veterinarians under the regulations of the Australian Endurance Riding Association (50).

TABLE 1	Study population	characteristics and	monitoring devices.
---------	------------------	---------------------	---------------------

Horse number	Sex	Age (y)	Breed	Body mass (kg)	Coat color	Distance (km)	GI Pill Y/N	GPS/HR Y/N	B.O.M. (°C) (T _a), min - max	Sweating score post-exercise, 1 tot 3
1	G	11	Arab	669	Gr	80	Y	Y	13–26	2
2	G	9	Arab	484	В	80	Y	Υ	13–26	1
3	М	13	Arab	426	С	80	Y	Υ	6–19	2
4	М	7	QH x TB	470	С	80	Y	Y	6–19	1
5	М	11	Arab	450	С	80	Y	Υ	6–19	1
6	М	8	Arab	370	Gr	80	Y	Υ	6–19	2
7	М	9	Arab	450	С	80	Y	\wedge	3–22	2
8	G	11	Arab	470	Gr	80	Y	Υ	3–22	3
9	G	7	QH	490	С	80	-	Υ	7–13	3
10	G	10	Arab x TB	484	С	80	-	Y	7–13	3
11	G	5	Arab	458	В	40	-	Υ	7–13	1
12	G	7	Arab	525	В	80	-	Υ	3–22	1
13	М	15	Arab	480	Gr	80	-	$\wedge \wedge$	3-22	2

Horses 1-13: 13 endurance horses: G (n = 7), M (n = 6). Arabian, including part-Arabian horses, QH, quarter horse; TB, thoroughbred; x, crossbred; G, gelding; M, mare; Gr, grey; C, chestnut; B, bay. The riders' and horses' performance history includes: age start, indicating age (years) when the horse started competing; horse experience, indicating number of years active in competition (40 km or more); GI pill, gastrointestinal pill; GPS, global positioning system; HR, heart rate monitor (Polar); B.O.M, Bureau of Meteorology; the local station closest to the location of exercise at varying km distances from the actual event (in total, 4 endurance locations, distance ranged from 5.3 to 53 km; -, no; Y, yes; ^indicates HR only; ^^indicates second 40 km only.

Horses were allowed to drink water and eat hay *ad libitum* during the 60-min rest period in a shaded area.

second and uploaded from the Garmin watch to the Garmin Connect and processed in the Garmin Training Centre.¹

Simultaneous Continuous Monitoring of Skin Temperature (T_{SK}) (°C) and Core GI Temperature (T_C) (°C)

The T_{sk} (°C) was continuously recorded using an infrared (IR) sensor measuring 78 × 53 mm located in the Sensor Electronics Module (**Figure 1B**) (SEM, EQ02 Equivital data Logger[®], Hidalgo, UK), with a 0–60°C temperature range, an emissivity of 1 and \pm 0.3°C accuracy according to the manufacturer's specifications. The SEM device was located ventrally in a pocket of a modified Equivital Sensor Belt[®] fitted around the saddle girth (**Figure 1C**). The GI temperature (T_c) (°C) was continuously telemetrically recorded using the ingestible GI pill (n = 8) (**Figure 1A**) as previously described (T_c data are to be found in the **Supplementary Material S1**). The T_{sk} and T_c data were recorded every 15 s and uploaded and processed in the Equivital Software Manager[®].

Monitoring of Traveled Distance, Speed, and Heart Rate Over Time

For each horse, the distance traveled and speed achieved were recorded telemetrically using GPS monitoring equipment (Garmin Forerunner 910XT GPS Watch[®]; Garmin Ltd., Schaffhausen, Switzerland) attached to the gullet of the saddle (**Figure 1C**). In addition, the HR was recorded by the Garmin Watch using Polar electrodes (Polar Electro[®], Kempele, Finland) (**Figure 1C**) (61). The GPS and HR data were recorded every

Ambient Environment

Horses exercised under varying degrees of solar radiation during the Australian winter months (June–August). On each data collection day, the ambient temperature (T_a , $^{\circ}C$) and relative humidity (RH, %) were recorded continuously every 30 s in a shaded section of the rest area using a data logger device (OnsetHOBO Pro V2 logger temp/RH U23-00[®], Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, Maine, USA). In addition, T_a data were obtained from the nearest B.O.M. weather station, presented in **Table 1**. The estimated wet bulb globe temperature (WBGT) was derived from a WBGT chart (B.O.M).

Data Processing

Recordings of each exercise period of 40 km and each recovery period following that exercise loop were processed. The net AUC (the baseline set at rest T_{sk} and T_c) was calculated using the trapezoidal method of T_{sk} (and T_c) over time expressed as °C × minutes. The net AUC was summated to present the cumulative T_{sk} – time distribution (62). The net AUC T_{sk} provided an estimate of the dynamic thermal response to the thermal load on the skin. This thermal load on the skin during exercise and the recovery included the T_c and T_a together with solar radiation.

Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm SD (range). Comparison and correlation analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 26.0 software or GraphPad Prism version 9.3.0 for MacOS,

¹https://connect.garmin.com/



GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA². Different approaches were taken to evaluate the potential of the T_{sk} data as a reliable proxy to assess the thermoregulatory response. The relationship between T_{sk} and T_c was assessed using scatterplots (8 horses each performing two subsequent 40-km loops). In addition, maximum T_{sk} and T_c and the time to reach maximum T_{sk} and T_c were compared using the paired *t*-test. Delta T_{sk} during exercise and recovery periods was compared. The association between T_{sk} and T_c at different points in time and the association with HR or coat color were analyzed using a general linear model ANOVA (when no significant effects of horse identity and treatment interaction were indicated and subsequently removed using backward model selection). Statistical significance was set at $\alpha < 0.05$.

RESULTS

All the horses completed their exercise trials without any adverse occurences. The Equivital belt became dislodged in Horse 1 at the end of the first 40-km loop, causing T_{sk} and T_c data loss. As a result, additional modifications were applied to the belt for the subsequent recordings by fitting sturdy straps sandwiched into the belt to stabilize the girth position (**Figure 1C**). During

recovery after the first loop, T_{sk} was not recorded in Horses 1 and 2 due to the owners' premature removal of the belt. The sweating response varied from 1 to 3 out of a score of 3 for all the horses (**Table 1**). The T_c was recorded in 8 horses over 80 km (previously published, **Supplementary Material S1**) (2).

Environmental Field Conditions

The T_a and RH were successfully recorded between 5.00 a.m. and 3.00 p.m. on all occasions. The T_a was relatively cool with a mean minimum of 6.7 \pm .4°C and mean maximum of 18.4 \pm 2.9°C (B.O.M.) (**Table 1**). More specifically, the T_a on the four separate days of endurance exercise showed a minimum value of 13.4, 6.3, 2.8, and 6.6°C, respectively, and a maximum value of 26.3, 19.0, 22.0, and 18.8°C, respectively (HOBO data). The minimum RH ranged from 47.1% to 61.7% to a maximum of 84.8–100% value. Overall mean calculated values were 15.3°C (T_a) and 75.6% (RH), respectively, while the approximate WBGT was <20°C. In summary, all the endurance horses competed in a cool environment.

Speed and Heart Rate Data

All the horses executed their endurance competition at a mean speed of $14.0 \pm 1.4 \text{ km h}^{-1}$ over the first 40 km (n = 11) and $14.2 \pm 2.1 \text{ km h}^{-1}$ over the second 40-km (n = 11) loop, with a mean HR of 114 ± 13 bpm. An overview of recorded

²www.graphpad.com

speeds and HR data for individual horses can be found in **Supplementary Material S1**.

Individual T_{sk} and T_c Recordings During Endurance Exercise Over Time

An overview of the simultaneously recorded individual T_{sk} (°C) and T_c (°C) time profiles is provided for all the horses in **Figure 2**. All individual T_{sk} parameters, their respective descriptive analysis, and specific T_{sk} points in time during the 40-km endurance loops are presented in **Table 2**.

Overall T_{sk} Profiles and Comparison to T_c

The overall T_{sk} profiles during endurance exercise and recovery and their associated parameters are presented in **Table 3**, showing a mean time to maximum T_{sk} of 88 ± 51 min (n= 13). The mean maximum T_{sk} during exercise was 32.4 ± 4.3°C, and the mean minimum T_{sk} during recovery was 17.3 ± 3.1°C (n = 13). The mean overall response of T_{sk} was 1,164 ± 1,448°C × minutes for each 40-km exercise period. During recovery, the T_{sk} response was $-305 \pm 388^{\circ}C \times$ minutes (**Table 3**). The T_{sk} and T_c profiles over time were compared in the 8 horses, and no relationship was found (**Figure 2**).

Different T_{sk} and T_c points in time were compared to assess associations. Interestingly, the only significant correlation found was between the T_{sk} (°C) at the end-of-exercise period and the T_c (°C) at the end-of-recovery period ($F_{1,14} = 5.519, p = 0.034$). More precisely, a higher T_{sk} at the end-of-exercise period was associated with a lower T_c at the end-of-recovery period. The additional analyses revealed no significant correlations between T_{sk} (°C) and T_c (°C), including no correlation between T_{sk} at the start-of-exercise period (baseline T_{sk}) and the maximum T_c ($F_{1,14}$ = 0.127, p = 0.727). The study could not identify a significant effect of time to maximum T_{sk} (67 min) during exercise on the maximum T_c (39°C) ($F_{1,14} = 0.001$, p = 0.978, n = 8). On all occasions, peak T_c values (39°C) were significantly greater than peak T_{sk} values (32°C) (p = 0.0002) (Figure 3A). In addition, in all cases, there was a significantly shorter time to maximum T_{sk} (88 min) compared to the time to maximum T_c (139 min) (p = 0.0004) (Figure 3B).

Delta T_{sk} data were compared, and, when comparing exercise and recovery periods, no significant difference could be found between the two delta T_{sk} (°C) (mean 13°C and 11°C, respectively) (p = 0.41) (**Figure 3A**). The delta T_{sk} was greater when compared to delta T_c on all occasions (**Figure 3A**). Also, delta T_{sk} and T_c points in time were compared to assess associations. A correlation between the delta T_{sk} during cooling in the first 10 min of the recovery period and the T_c at the end of the recovery period was not identified ($F_{1,13} = 1.348$, p = 0.266).

Additionally, there were no significant effects of coat color on the maximum T_c ($F_{1,14} = 0.010$, p = 0.920) nor on the maximum T_{sk} ($F_{1,22} = 0.015$, p = 0.904). Furthermore, coat color was not associated either with delta T_{sk} during exercise (12.5 ± 6.6) ($F_{1,22} = 1.098$, p = 0.306) or delta T_{sk} during recovery (13.0 ± 5.1) ($F_{1,21} = 1.246$, p = 0.277).

Evaluation of Heart Rate in Relation to T_{sk}

Additional analysis to evaluate the relationship between the T_{sk} and HR < 60 bpm revealed no significant correlation between the T_{sk} at the end of exercise and the duration to HR < 60 bpm ($F_{1,13}$ = 4.019, p = 0.066). In conclusion, the study did not identify an association between HR recovery and the recorded T_{sk} during endurance exercise and recovery.

DISCUSSION

This is the first study to simultaneously monitor both T_{sk} and T_c continuously by means of several telemetric temperature recording devices on exercising horses in the field. The thermal sensors functioned correctly throughout the study, hence, there was little to no data loss. Consistent with our previous field study (2), the current study confirmed a substantial inter-individual variability in the T_{sk} time profiles despite execution of the same exercise protocol. Similar findings have been reported in human athlete studies and underline the physiological complexity of the mammalian thermoregulatory response, which is governed by a plethora of individually intrinsic variables (63–66).

With respect to T_{sk} and T_c monitoring in the current study, there was a lack of correlation between continuous monitoring of T_c and T_{sk} . Nevertheless, the association of a higher single point T_{sk} at the end-of-exercise period with a lower T_c at the end-ofrecovery period is an interesting finding in the current study.

Up until now, a limited number of studies, almost all of which were treadmill based, monitored the T_{sk} continuously in the horses during the exercise and compared the T_{sk} to T_c (38–40, 42, 52). Only one recent field study has been performed, monitoring T_{sk} and T_{re} (20). The treadmill studies confirmed the lack of correlation between T_{sk} and T_c. For example, two submaximal exercise studies using arterial blood temperature compared the effect of different environments on thorax surface T_{sk} and showed T_{sk} was different from T_c (38, 42). Two high-intensity studies reported tail surface T_{sk} responses to cooling methods and acclimation, respectively, and both studies showed T_{sk} recordings were different from the T_c recordings (40, 41). Apart from those studies, only one laboratory-based high-intensity exercise study, comparing exercise in four horses in a cool vs. hot environment, suggested that the tail T_{sk} evolvement pattern seemed to follow the T_c pattern (using arterial blood temperature), although a statistical correlation was not investigated (39). A recent laboratory equine exercise study using the implantation of microchips, measuring muscle temperature (defined as "outer shell temperature" in that study) which may be extrapolated to field exercise in the future (67). There was a good correlation between central venous temperature (CVT) evolvement and outer shell temperature during a short bout of exercise (8-11.5 min) until CVT reached 41°C, although the outer shell temperature was reported to lag behind CVT during the recovery phase. While most of these experimental studies did not reveal a statistical correlation between T_{sk} and T_c , efforts to further investigate T_{sk} continue as the technique could easily be employed in the field. Consequently, wearable thermo-sensor techniques are being upgraded at an ever-increasing pace.



FIGURE 2 | Scatterplots of T_{sk} , skin temperature (°C, identified as blue) and T_c , gastrointestinal temperature (°C, identified as black) (left y-axis) per subsequent exercise loop of 40 km (gray blocks) (h, hours, x-axis) in endurance horses, Horses 1–13; dotted blocks identify blocks of no data recording; after each exercise loop, the horses were cooled down by pouring buckets of water over their bodies, followed by scraping the water off the bodies for a period of ~10 min.

TABLE 2 | T_{sk} (°C) parameters during 40-km exercise (or extra 20 km in 2 horses exercising over a total of 100 km) and recovery.

Horse	Distance 40 km – 1 st or 2 nd	Net AUC T _{sk} (°C x min) exercise 40 km	Net AUC T _{sk} (°C x min) recovery 40 km	Base T _{sk} (°C) at start of exercise	Mean \pm SD T _{sk} (°C) exercise	Min - max T _{sk} (°C) 40 km exercise	Delta T _{sk} (°C) exercise	T _{sk} (°C) at start of recovery (end exercise)	Delta T _{sk} (°C) first 10 min recovery		Delta T _{sk} (°C) end exercise to end recovery/min	Mean ± SD T _{sk} (°C) recovery	Min –max T _{sk} (°C) recovery		Time to min T _{sk} in recovery (min)	T _{sk} (°C) at end of recovery	T _{sk} (°C) at end of recovery
1	1st	-743.7	-	28.5	20.7 ± 2.4	17.8–28.4	10.6	21.9	-	-	-	-	-	0	-	23.2	23.2
1	2nd	587.3	-0.78	23.2	26.4 ± 2.6	21.2-31	10.8	24	-0.3	3.7	0.06	23.7 ± 1.1	22.1-25.8	74	21	26.4	22.8
2	1st	-1,328.6	-	26.4	20.9 ± 7.2	15.3-36.2	20.9	24.2	-1	6.6	-	23.3 ± 1.7	-	45	-	24.7	24.3
2	2nd	-515.3	54.9	24.3	22.6 ± 1.4	20.4-26.1	5.7	22.3	-1	5.1	0.09	23.3 ± 1.3	21-26.1	76	20	26	25.9
3	1st	838.1	-624.6	29.4	33.5 ± 0.8	29.4-34.2	4.8	32.5	-9.3	13.9	0.23	21.8 ± 3.5	18.8–32.7	39	29	22.1	22.5
3	2nd	2,820.5	-597.3	22.5	33.9 ± 2.0	22.5-35.4	12.9	34.8	-6.4	11.5	0.19	26.4 ± 2.7	23.4-34.9	72	23	24.6	24.4
4	1st	1,382.4	-85.5	27.7	21.0 ± 1.3	27.8-35.4	7.7	34.2	-12.3	18.4	0.31	21.8 ± 3.5	18.8–32.7	110	28	18.2	18.2
4	2nd	1,422.9	169.2	18.2	24.0 ± 3.2	15.8–30.5	14.7	24.7	-0.6	7.5	0.13	22.1 ± 1.8	19.3–26.5	79	16	26.8	26.8
4	Extra 20	(1,051.1)	(-468.1)	26.9	34.4 ± 1.6	26.9–35.5	8.5	34.7	-8.6	17.2	0.29	22.8 ± 4.7	17.6–34.7	-	27	19.5	19.6
5	1st	570.8	-635.5	27.6	30.7 ± 1.5	26.1-32.5	6.4	28.3	-10	15.4	0.26	16.7 ± 3.5	14.3-29.7	56	26	16.2	16.1
5	2nd	2965,.8	-997.3	16.1	31.9 ± 3.8	15.8–34	18.2	33.5	-12.9	16.9	0.28	19.2 ± 3.3	16.6–33.4	79	16	18.2	18.2
6	1st	2,736.5	-408.7	13.7	29.0 ± 4.0	12.4–32	19.6	29.7	-0.8	14.5	0.24	22.8 ± 5.3	15.3–29.5	74	12	19.3	19.5
6	2nd	995.4	251.0	19.5	26.2 ± 2.8	19–30.5	11.5	24.6	0.8	6.5	0.11	23.2 ± 2.2	20.1-26.6	55	19	20.1	20.1
6	Extra 20	(809.8)	(-427.0)	20.1	29.0 ± 4.1	18.1–32.7	14.5	31	1.2	15.1	0.25	23.8 ± 5.9	17.2–32.3	36	46	20.1	20.1
7	1st	960.6	-3	11	17.7 ± 6.3	10-32	22	13.3	-0.7	15	0.25	16.4 ± 3.9	12.1-27.1	26	10	18.9	19.2
7	2nd	80.4	97.5	19.2	20.4 ± 1.0	18.2-23.9	5.7	19.7	0.8	9.5	0.16	20.8 ± 1.2	15.8–25.3	64	18	20.2	20.2
8	1st	4,170.6	-547.4	10	30.4 ± 4.1	10-34.5	24.5	25.9	1	11.4	0.19	19.3 ± 3.1	15.8–34.5	75	10	20.3	20.2
8	2nd	884.2	110.8	20.2	24.8 ± 2.1	19.2-29.4	10.2	26.7	-1	12.2	0.20	23.8 ± 3.1	15-27.2	150	19	18.3	18.8
9	1st	535.8	133.2	18.8	19.8 ± 1.7	15.6-23.5	7.8	23.4	-2.8	8.9	0.15	18.0 ± 2.6	14.6-23.4	179	16	22.6	22.6
9	2nd	-68.3	-172.4	22.6	22.3 ± 0.9	18.7–24.4	4.7	23.4	-3.2	10.4	0.17	17.6 ± 2.8	13-32.3	141	20	14.3	14.5
10	1st	934	-628.4	29.8	34.2 ± 1.1	29.9–36	6	34.7	0.3	17	0.28	23.9 ± 5.9	17.7–35	44	30	26.1	26.2
10	2nd	1,825.3	-852.4	26.2	34.7 ± 1.5	26.2-36.1	10	34.8	-15.3	17	0.28	20.4 ± 2.3	17.5–32.3	63	26	21.2	20.9
11	1st	1,691.6	-944.0	26.5	34.3 ± 1.4	26.6-35.5	9	35.4	-15.9	21	0.35	18.5 ± 5.7	14.5–35.4	179	27	17.7	17.7
12	1st	4,748.6	-597.2	32.3	30.9 ± 7.6	9.5–37.5	29	35.3	-10.4	19	0.32	22.8 ± 3.5	17.9–35	152	26	28.4	28.7
12	2nd	1,356.4	-524.7	28.7	37.4 ± 1.7	28.7–38.7	10	38.1	-19.4	22.2	0.37	19.6 ± 4.9	16.3–38.2	90	29	16.8	16.8
13	1st	-204.5	-169.3	29.5	24.2 ± 4.4	17.9–33.8	16	25.5	4.6	17	0.28	22.6 ± 4.6	15.5–32.8	84	18	26.8	26.4
13	2nd	453.9	-45.1	26.4	28.6 ± 2.5	21.6-35.2	14	27.9	2.6	11	0.18	27.1 ± 2.2	22.6-33.4	196	22	24.1	26.2

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. T_{sk} , skin temperature; AUC, area under the curve; min, minutes; min-max, minimum to maximum; italic indicates an extra loop of 20-km exercise (total, 100 km, n = 2 horses); delta (°C change), T_{sk} change during exercise, and recovery periods, including the first 10-min recovery period; – indicates no data collected/not available.

Verdegaal et al.

TABLE 3 | Overall T_{sk} and T_c variables during exercise and recovery of endurance exercise in a cool environment.

Variables	Endurance 40 km $n = 13$ ($n = 8^*$)
Duration (minutes) exercise	198 ± 63
Duration (minutes) recovery	60
T_{sk} (°C) overall	27.8 ± 5.6 (17.71–37.37)
Base T _{sk} (°C) (at start-of-exercise)	$23.1 \pm 6.1 (10 - 32.3)$
Min T_{sk} (°C) exercise	19.8 ± 6.2 (9.5–29.9)
Max T_{sk} (°C) exercise	32.3 ± 4.3 (23.5–38.7); 31.6 ± 3.5°C*
T_{sk} (°C) exercise	27.2 ± 5.7 (17.7–37.4)
Time to max T _{sk} exercise (minutes)*	88 \pm 51 (0–196); 67 \pm 34*
Delta T _{sk} (°C) exercise	12.5 \pm 6.6 (4.7–29); 12.9 \pm 6.4*
Net AUC T_{sk} exercise (°C \times minutes)	1,164 \pm 1,448 (-1,329 to 4,749); 1,114 \pm 1,469*
T_{sk} (°C) at end-of-exercise	$28.0 \pm 6.1 (13.3 - 38.1)$
Min T_{sk} (°C) recovery	17.3 ± 3.1 (12.1–23.4); 17.7 ± 3.3*
Max T _{sk} (°C) recovery	30.9 ± 4.1 (23.4–38.2)
T_{sk} (°C) recovery	21.5 ± 2.8 (16.4–27.1
Delta T _{sk} (°C) recovery	13.0 ± 5.1 (3.7–22.2)
Delta T _{sk} (°C) first 10 min recovery	-4.7 ± 6.7 (-19.4 to 4.6)
Delta T _{sk} first 10 min recovery/minute (°C/min)	-0.5 ± 0.7 (-1.9 to 0.5)
Number of horses $T_{sk} > 39^{\circ}C^{**}$	None
T_{sk} (°C) at end-of-recovery 40 km ($n = 25$)	21.8 ± 3.8 (14.5–28.7)
Number 40 km periods T_{sk} returned to base T_{sk} at the end of 60 min recovery	14/25
Net AUC T _{sk} recovery (°C \times minutes)	-305 ± 388 (-997 to 251); -230 ± 392*

Data are presented as overall mean \pm SD. T_{sk} , skin temperature; AUC, area under the curve; T_c , GI pill temperature; max T_c or T_{sk} , maximum T_c or T_{sk} ; n, number identified only if different 40-km exercise periods. ^{*}Indicates a total of 8 horses (comparison T_{sk} to T_c in 8 horses; total, 16-x-40-km periods); ^{**} T_{sk} > than 39°C based on (21).

Continuous T_{sk} Sensor Recording During Field Exercise

Ongoing efforts to identify a reliable proxy for continuously monitoring the thermoregulatory response in horses during field exercise are not always successful or practical. A more invasive method with thermistors placed in blood and brain was used in three horses during free field exercise and reported a good correlation; however, for obvious reasons, this is not easily applicable in practice (51). Several field studies have investigated less-invasive continuously monitoring approaches, such as the intra-uterine temperature (two mares) or the GI temperature; both approaches (intra-uterine and GI) showed a good correlation with the T_c (18, 19, 68). A recent study has continuously monitored surface T_{sk} using i-Button[®] and simultaneous T_{re} during two canter bouts of 4.5 min of field exercise at a speed ranging from 6.7 to 7.5 meters per second (20). The T_{sk} was continuously monitored at the level of the rump and shoulder regions in 10 eventing horses using a cross-over study design. The study showed that pre-exercise cooling resulted in a delta T_{sk} ranging from -2.3 to $-3.3^{\circ}C$ and a reduced median

 T_{re} of 0.3°C, which peaked at 9 min into recovery, compared to the control group (20). Although the study did not investigate correlations between T_{sk} and T_c , the effect of lower T_{sk} preexercise on a reduced T_{re} is of interest, and consistent with previous human sports studies (69, 70).

In brief, the current reliance on continuous T_{sk} sensor recordings during field exercise has been proven to be inconsistent and unreliable as a proxy for the thermoregulatory response. This is consistent with a study comparing the effects of precooling in 10 human athletes to estimate the T_c (using a GI pill) (71).

Comparing T_{sk} With T_c

When comparing the delta T_c with delta T_{sk} in the current study, the delta T_{sk} was greater during endurance exercise as depicted in **Figure 3A**. However, a laboratory-based high-intensity equine exercise study using thermocouples attached to the skin with tape and located in pulmonary artery blood to continuously monitor T_{sk} and T_c in six horses revealed a delta T_{sk} of 2.5° C (42) similar to the delta T_c value in the current study (3°C). Associations between T_{sk} and T_c were not evaluated in that study; however, the difference in the exercise duration may indicate a difference in thermoregulatory activity over time, namely, 200 min of endurance exercise in the current study vs. average of 40 min in the former study evidenced by the end-of-exercise $T_c > 41^{\circ}$ C (42).

Another interesting finding was the significantly higher time to maximum T_c when compared to the time to maximum T_{sk} (**Figure 3B**). This finding suggests that the endurance horses in the current study performing in a cool environment were efficiently thermoregulating during exercise without the development of hyperthermia ($T_c > 39^{\circ}$ C) as has been documented previously (2). On the other hand, a short duration of high-intensity exercise in more challenging environmental conditions may trigger $T_c > 41^{\circ}$ C and, consequently, requires dissipation of excess MH to occur post-exercise (38, 42, 53).

Despite all these ongoing efforts to practically incorporate surface T_{sk} monitoring into thermoregulation and wellbeing monitoring in the field, researchers should always keep in mind the possible factors that challenge a potential correlation between T_{sk} and T_c . In addition, the monitoring device used must be able to correctly function and cope with the practical conditions under which horses exercise and compete. Important factors are environmental variables; among which are weather conditions, and whether or not additional cooling is applied. Furthermore, the type of temperature sensor equipment and the anatomical site at which the T_{sk} equipment is placed have their influence, together with individually intrinsic horse-related factors.

Environmental Factors

Factors Influencing T_{sk} and T_c Evolvement and How They Relate to Each Other

The T_{sk} at any site on the skin surface reflects a balance between heat being delivered to the skin by arterial blood, body, and local skin metabolism, and heat exchange with the environment by convection, radiation, and evaporation. Any factors that interfere with this balance can change the T_{sk} . Many factors that modulate





 T_c evolvement during exercise simultaneously influence T_{sk} , such as a plethora of performance capacity parameters, as well as environmental conditions. Environmental factors can easily and quickly change T_{sk} without directly affecting T_c (1, 47, 59, 72-74). These factors include the T_a , solar radiation, soil radiation, humidity, shade, and wind speed (air movement). For example, a varying T_a ranging from 20 to 30°C was directly related to the onset of skin vasodilation and sweat evaporation (72), while, on the other hand, a low T_a was shown to induce a lower sensitivity (50%) of percutaneous T_{sk} microchips in 52 foals and 30 adult horses to identify fever compared to measuring T_{sk} in a hotter T_a (29°C) (73). That would mean that, in case of fever (also known as an increased T_c set-point), a cool sunless environment renders T_{sk} monitoring using microchips less representative for T_c monitoring. In addition, Holcomb et al. (74) demonstrated that T_{sk} and T_{re} were highest at the peak solar radiation during the day. The T_{sk} sensor in the current study was located ventrally on the chest of the horse covered by the belt and the girth, thus avoiding T_a effects, such as solar radiation.

It is common practice to cool down endurance horses during the recovery period between subsequent exercise loops. Cooling down was also applied in the current study design in a real-life competition context. The goal was to challenge the temperature monitoring devices with real circumstances in which they would be required to function. With respect to cooling down approaches, the mechanism by which the thermoregulatory systems are challenged greatly depends on how the loss of heat counteracts MH production through non-evaporative pathways as well as evaporative methods. The evaporative exchange of heat of the skin with the environment depends on the thermal gradient between T_{sk} by local skin perfusion and its immediate environment, including vapor pressure, airflow, and solar radiation, especially during field exercise (17, 49, 75). At the end-of-exercise period, the cooling of sport horses is standard, especially in endurance and 3-day eventing competitions. However, post-race cooling methods are not standardized in the racing industry. The duration of cooling endurance horses in the field is, on average, 10 min based on each owner's judgment, which could include HR monitoring. The mean end-of-exercise T_{sk} in our study with endurance horses exercising in a cool environment (mean, 15.3°C) was 28°C, and no horses developed a T_{sk} higher than 39°C.

On the other hand, exercise studies in warmer environments documented a post-exercise T_{sk} higher than 39°C. For example, a recent report has revealed that 28 out of 38 horses exercising in a hot, dry environment (mean T_a , 38.8°C), and 6 out of 37 horses exercising in a warm, humid environment (mean T_a , 31.1°C) showed a post-exercise IRT T_{sk} higher than 39°C. These researchers suggested horses recording T_{sk} higher than 39°C were at risk of developing heat stress and EHI and used this T_{sk} response as an indicator for racehorses requiring cooling (21). The association between T_{sk} and EHI risk could be physiologically explained by a low T_c -to- T_{sk} gradient, therefore decreased capability to transfer MH to the skin, thus compromising the dissipation of MH by evaporation (21, 56).

A similar mean IRT T_{sk} of $40^\circ C$ was recorded at the end of exercise in a recent study, evaluating cooling methods in

racehorses in a warm environment (mean T_{a} , 31.8°C) (35). A T_{sk} higher than 39°C is consistent with earlier laboratorybased studies in a warm T_a (29.1°C and 31.1°C, respectively) (40, 45). In retrospect, scraping off water from the horses during cooling down was not the most optimal approach since Takahashi et al. (35) favored continuous application of cold water without subsequently scraping it off.

T_{sk} Equipment-Related Features and Location

Equipment to Measure T_{sk}

Within the rapidly expanding wearable digital device industry, surface T_{sk} monitoring devices are constantly being upgraded to provide data output. However, in that respect, the critical question remains: how should we interpret those data? Overall, three different types of temperature sensor equipment are reported: thermistors (such as microchips), thermocouples, and IRT devices, with IRT being the most studied device recently in horses (21, 22, 26, 32-37, 76-80). It is essential to understand that those sensors use different physical processes to obtain data, which may result in significant differences in data output. These sensor surface T_{sk} differences due to the type of equipment may show only a minor bias, which may prove to be clinically meaningful (75). For example, a study comparing IRT and thermocouples at single pre-exercise, intra-exercise and postexercise points in 12 human athletes revealed a poor Bland Altman agreement and low reliability between the different methods (81).

To produce IRT imaging to picture surface T_{sk} of different parts or the whole body, a remote IRT camera positioned at 30cm proximity to the skin surface has been recently evaluated with varying results (26, 37, 82). For example, a study compared IRT T_{sk} to T_{re} in 40 adult horses and concluded T_{sk} was not an accurate method to determine the T_c (82). The remote position of the IRT held far from the skin has the advantage of not interfering with the local T_{sk} balance, although the remote T_{sk} measurement will be partly affected by the adjacent environment surrounding the skin (22, 23, 75). The temperature sensors that were used in the current study were in direct contact with the skin and covered by a belt. This belt might have interfered with the local thermal conductivity and the local evaporative cooling capacity and thus might have delayed equilibration of the local T_{sk} with the surrounding skin. On the other hand, an adequate and essential sensor-to-skin contact was ensured by the position of the sensor in the belt. Furthermore, the skin surface covered by the sensor was small enough to prevent causing local skin changes (22, 75).

We were unable to calibrate and validate the IR sensor prior to the study; however, studies of different T_{sk} recording methods and comparisons with a certified thermocouple in a thermostatically controlled water bath are extremely rare. One study evaluated sensor systems in human athletes during rest and exercise in a hot environment and revealed a good agreement for employing a telemetric thermistor system when compared to the standard hard-wired thermistor system and a poor agreement for using a thermal camera (83). In summary, IRT techniques differ widely in human and equine medicine, including positioning of the camera and environmental control measures (22, 24, 75). A consensus guideline has been developed only recently, addressing the multiple data collection methods of the human T_{sk} using IRT (84), while Soroko and Howell (22) described a protocol using IRT in equine medicine.

T_{sk} Equipment Location

The anatomical location of the sensor on the horse to record T_{sk} measurements has been shown to influence T_{sk} results (22, 23, 26, 29, 37, 47). For example, remote IRT was used to evaluate differences between 10 locations on the body during two seasons in the year with the highest T_{sk} recorded at the level of the chest (22.5°C) and shoulders (20.4°C) in horses at rest in a cool T_a (mean, 6.7°C) (26). In another study, the IRT T_{sk} was greatest at the shoulder area when compared to three other T_{sk} locations measured at the start and the end of 20-min exercise (32.3°C and 34.2°C, respectively) in a moderate T_a (mean, 23°C) (37). The results of our study in a cool T_a (mean, 15.3°C) revealed a mean T_{sk} measured at the lower chest area of 23.1 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ during an average of 200-min exercise and a mean T_{sk} of 21.8°C during recovery. The different T_{sk} values between the current study and Soroko et al. (37) illustrate the effect of exercise intensity (submaximal vs. maximal) and duration (long vs. short). The differences in T_{sk} over several body areas may relate to the varying networks of blood vessels in those body regions and their vasodilation to exchange thermal heat with the proximal environment (23, 55, 56, 59). It is essential to note that both monitoring methods share some vasomotor or endocrine mechanisms, although they present differences depending on the degree of heat dissipation or retention that the organism needs. Consequently, monitoring of T_{sk} in the current study revealed a physiological response of the local T_{sk} to the changes of T_c during endurance exercise over time, although the responses were not correlated.

While IRT cameras are increasingly used in equine sports medicine, this method involves a single point in time measurement. One exception is the study by Soroko et al. (37), who reported dynamic IRT monitoring every 15 s during treadmill exercise. To be precise, a review of the use of IRT in human endurance athletes reported that 25 of the 45 studies were conducted over the last 5 years (2017–2021), but, up until now, only five real-life field endurance studies have been performed (24). The latter review concluded that further analysis is required to assess whether T_{sk} could be used as a reliable proxy to describe real-time thermoregulation (24). Another important relevant finding is that surface T_{sk} may be low in human athletes with EHI and, hence, provide misleading information (85). A different IRT method approach is measuring eye surface temperature; that study revealed no relationship with T_c in horses (86).

Individual Horse-Related Factors

Horse-related factors include breed, body condition score, age, character (such as nervousness), and skin-related properties, such as sweat rate, skin thickness, blood vessel density, hair coat properties, clipping, and coat color (23, 27, 30, 36, 55, 77, 78, 80,

87). The sweat loss in the current study was subjectively scored from 1 to 3 by E-L.V., and, in retrospect, more accurate sweating scoring based on objective specific phenotypic descriptions would have been a better approach (88). The effect of breed on T_{sk} relates to the ratio of BM to the body surface area—the higher the body surface area in relation to the BM, the higher the heat dissipation (72). The low-surface-area-to-mass ratio of the horse results in greater demands being imposed on the thermoregulatory system during long-term submaximal exercise (30, 49, 53). Our study included mainly Arabian horses, known to have a lower BM and, hence, a higher-surface-area-to-mass ratio.

The hair coat length in the current study was similar (all clipped), which is essential as clipping the winter coat resulted in improved heat dissipation during and after exercise, resulting in decreased T_{sk} and T_{re} , as reported in previous studies (27, 30). One of those previous studies used a thermistor probe to evaluate the effect of coat clipping in three horses on both the surface T_{sk} and T_{re} . That study reported no effect of clipping on post-exercise T_{sk} , while T_{re} was $\sim 0.2^{\circ}C$ higher in unclipped horses (30). Indeed, a longer haircoat length limited the thermal imaging in a study assessing T_{sk} in mares (77). Furthermore, coat colors may be relevant (87); however, the current study of 13 horses revealed that light or dark coat color had no significant effect on T_{sk} , which is consistent with a previous study (73). Individual horse-related character differences may exist, such as nervousness that triggers sympathetic nerve activity associated with vasoconstriction of skin blood vessels. This neurophysiological response may explain varying reduced local Tsks, decreased heat loss, and hyperthermia (23, 55, 78, 89).

Modeling Using T_{sk}

While, generally, T_{sk} can be easily monitored, the T_{sk} in the current study did not provide data suitable for extrapolating to similar changes in the T_c . Consequently, the development of integrative models using T_{sk} to determine the heat balance during exercise has been investigated in human studies and in one equine study (87, 90, 91). However, no regression model could predict physiological stress load using single-point IRT T_{sk} in 17 human marathon runners in the field (92). A recent approach in human exercise research has investigated the application of models and algorithms using data and variables, such as HR and HR variability, to successfully estimate T_c (47, 90, 93-95). Physiologically, HR reflects the blood flow rate to the muscles (MH production) and blood flow to the skin (heat loss). For example, recent studies have concluded that combining continuous insulated T_{sk} and HR monitoring in 13 and 8 human athletes in a hot (35°C) and warm (25°C) environment, respectively, could provide a predictive model of T_{re} or T_c (using GI pills) (90, 94). In contrast in the current study, HR recovery in the endurance horses was not directly related to T_{sk}. Further investigation is required into the potential association of T_{sk} and HR for accurate predictive modeling of T_c in equine athletes.

Association Between Single-Point T_{sk} at the End-of-Exercise Period Compared With the T_c at the End-of-Recovery Period

An interesting finding of the current study performed with the endurance horses was the association of a greater T_{sk} at the end of exercise with a significantly lesser T_c at the end of recovery (60 min). Several theories could be considered to explain this association between T_{sk} and T_c : firstly, the raised T_{sk} indicates the launch of an active thermoregulatory response to anticipate the increased T_c, and, once the MH is successfully dissipated, the T_c decreases. This argument can be coupled with the effect of cooling post-exercise, which may be more prominent when T_{sk} is greater and, ultimately, results in higher dissipation of MH and a reduced T_c. Several other field exercise studies in horses have investigated correlations between single-point T_{sk} and other variables (21, 32). For example, a recent equine study involving 8 endurance horses has investigated the association between endurance training intensity (1h at 19km/h vs. 2h at 16 km/h vs. 3 h at 20 km/h) and T_{sk} using an IRT camera measured at different locations and at different time points. The study identified that the T_{sk} at the coronary band increased with training intensity unlike the maximum T_{sk} (32).

Aside from the variance in hot vs. cool T_a in these studies the differences in exercise intensity could explain the dissimilarity between the racehorse study results of Brownlow and Mizzi (5) and the current study involving endurance horses. For racehorses undertaking high-intensity, short-duration exercise, the dissipation of MH occurs post-exercise as opposed to endurance horses, which manage their MH throughout their submaximal long-duration exercise (2, 5, 21, 56). For example, the T_{sk} and its evolvement pattern can be related to acute blood flow variances associated with a different type of exercise intensity (25, 95). Overall, in our study monitoring endurance horses conducting exercise during cooler months, the mean T_{sk} at the end of exercise was 28°C, while none of these horses had a T_{sk} higher than 39°C.

The end-of-recovery period T_{sk} showed a considerable individual variation (range, 14.5–28.7°C) despite the application of a uniform cooling protocol. The T_{sk} during the 60-min recovery period revealed that the T_{sk} returned to the baseline only in over 50% of the 40-km recovery periods. This is in contrast to other studies, which found that after 20 min of treadmill exercise in a hot (32–34°C) and dry T_a condition, all T_{sk} values returned to baseline T_{sk} after 60 min, and, after 45 min in a T_a of 20°C (without cooling), respectively (28, 42). The main difference between the current study and other laboratory-based studies was the continuous T_{sk} monitoring during a field exercise in an uncontrolled T_a .

Limitations

As in any study, there are several limitations that should be considered. Obviously, throughout this "in-the-field" study, not all research conditions could be controlled for 100% of the time, such as weather conditions involving T_a and the degree of solar radiation, the training, and the dietary management of participating horses. These factors may have

affected the individual T_{sk} and T_c time profiles. However, this applies to all "in-the-field" competition studies and, under ideal conditions, should not interfere with the reliability of a solid thermoregulatory monitoring proxy suitable for assuring the thermoregulatory wellbeing of competition horses in the field (74). Endeavors to assess the thermal environmental variables were limited to BOM and HOBO recordings of the T_a and the RH, with the HOBO device placed at one location. Other essential external variables, such as wind speed, were not included in the T_a measurements (17). The current study involved only one type and location of the wearable T_{sk} sensor based on IR technology. In the future, other thermo-physical measuring approaches will prove to be more robust. However, on all occasions, the involvement of a validated "gold standard" against which the performance of new individual monitoring devices is set should be an essential part of future studies (75).

CONCLUSION

While the method of monitoring T_{sk} may be non-invasive and straightforward, our results have clearly shown that T_{sk} monitoring on its own does not reliably estimate the T_c evolvement during a field exercise in endurance horses since a correlation between T_c and T_{sk} could not be identified. Notably, a high T_{sk} at a single point during a field exercise in a cool T_a did not identify the endurance horses with an increased T_c . Further research into T_c monitoring in different equine sports and under differing weather conditions must be undertaken to create a baseline for further fine-tuning hot weather policies. Accordingly, veterinarians, trainers, and owners can be advised to continuously monitor T_c to ensure the health and welfare of all horses.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

E-LV prepared and carried out the study design, data collection, preparation and creation of the database, descriptive and part of statistical analysis, interpretation of the data, and writing of the manuscript. CD was involved in study design, preparation and creation of the database, analysis and interpretation of the data, and writing of the manuscript. GH contributed to drafting and revising the manuscript. TM contributed to reviewing the manuscript and statistical analysis. The final manuscript was read and approved by all authors.

FUNDING

This study was partly financially supported by a grant from the University of Adelaide for the cost of monitoring equipment.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are deeply grateful to all the participating endurance horse owners and the SAERA organization for their welcome

REFERENCES

- Raymond C, Matthews T, Horton RM. The emergence of heat and humidity too severe for human tolerance. *Sci Advances*. (2020) 6:eaaw1838. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaw1838
- Verdegaal ELJMM, Howarth GS, Mcwhorter TJ, Boshuizen B, Franklin SH, Vidal Moreno De Vega C, et al. Continuous monitoring of the thermoregulatory response in endurance horses and trotter horses during field exercise: Baselining for future hot weather studies. *Front Physiol.* (2021) 12:708737. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.708737
- Casa DJ, Demartini JK, Bergeron MF, Csillan D, Eichner ER, Lopez RM, et al. National athletic trainers' association position statement: exertional heat illnesses. J Athl Train. (2015) 50:986–1000. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-50.9.07
- Brownlow MA, Dart AJ, Jeffcott LB. Exertional heat illness: a review of the syndrome affecting racing Thoroughbreds in hot and humid climates. *Aust Vet J.* (2016) 94:240–7. doi: 10.1111/avj.12454
- Brownlow M, Mizzi J. Exertional heat illness in thoroughbred racehorses – pathophysiology, case definition and treatment rationale. *Equine Vet Ed.* (2022) 34,5:259–71. doi: 10.1111/eve.13459
- Geor RJ, McCutcheon LJ. Hydration effects on physiological strain of horses during exercise-heat stress. J Appl Physiol. (1998) 84:2042– 51. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1998.84.6.2042
- Barnes A, Kingston J, Beetson S, Kuiper C. Endurance veterinarians detect physiologically compromised horses in a 160 km ride. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (2010) 42:6–11. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.2010.00225.x
- Nagy A, Murray JK, Dyson S. Elimination from elite endurance rides in nine countries: a preliminary study. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (2010) 42:637– 43. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.2010.00220.x
- Fielding CL, Meier CA, Balch OK, Kass PH. Risk factors for the elimination of endurance horses from competition. *J Am Vet Med Assoc.* (2011) 239:493– 8. doi: 10.2460/javma.239.4.493
- Nagy A, Murray JK, Dyson SJ. Descriptive epidemiology and risk factors for eliminations from Federation Equestre Internationale endurance rides due to lameness and metabolic reasons (2008-2011). *Equine Vet J.* (2014) 46:38–44. doi: 10.1111/evj.12069
- Younes M, Robert C, Cottin F, Barrey E. Speed and cardiac recovery variables predict the probability of elimination in equine endurance events. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0137013. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137013
- Fielding CL, Meier CA, Fellers GK, Magdesian KG. Ability of clinicopathologic variables and clinical examination findings to predict race elimination in endurance horses. *Am J Vet Res.* (2017) 78:50–6. doi: 10.2460/ajyr.78.1.50
- Bennet ED, Parkin TDH. Federation equestre internationale endurance events: Risk factors for failure to qualify outcomes at the level of the horse, ride and rider (2010-2015). *Vet J.* (2018) 236:44–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2018. 04.011
- Legg KA, Weston JF, Gee EK, Bolwell CF, Bridges JP, Rogers CW. Characteristics of endurance competitions and risk factors for elimination in new zealand during six seasons of competition (2010/11-2015/16). *Animals*. (2019) 9:611. doi: 10.3390/ani9090611
- Nomura M, Shiose T, Ishikawa Y, Mizobe F, Sakai S, Kusano K. Prevalence of post-race exertional heat illness in Thoroughbred racehorses and climate conditions at racecourses in Japan. J Equine Sci. (2019) 30:17– 23. doi: 10.1294/jes.30.17

and logistic support. The authors would like to acknowledge Honours Research Student Stacey E. Jonas for assistance with data collection.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2022.894146/full#supplementary-material

- Takahashi Y, Takahashi T. Risk factors for exertional heat illness in Thoroughbred racehorses in flat races in Japan (2005-2016). *Equine Vet J.* (2020) 52:364–8. doi: 10.1111/evj.13179
- Brownlow MA, Brotherhood JR. An investigation into environmental variables influencing post-race exertional heat illness in Thoroughbred racehorses in temperate eastern Australia. *Aus Vet J.* (2021) 99:473– 81. doi: 10.1111/avj.13108
- Smith JE, Barnes AL, Maloney SK. A nonsurgical method allowing continuous core temperature monitoring in mares for extended periods, including during endurance exercise. *Equine Vet J.* (2006) 36:65–9. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.2006.tb05515.x
- Verdegaal EJMM, Delesalle C, Caraguel CGB, Folwell LE, Mcwhorter TJ, Howarth GS, et al. Evaluation of a telemetric gastrointestinal pill for continuous monitoring of gastrointestinal temperature in horses at rest and during exercise. *Am J Vet Res.* (2017) 78:778–84. doi: 10.2460/ajyr.78.7.778
- Klous L, Siegers E, Van Den Broek J, Folkerts M, Gerrett N, Van Oldruitenborgh-Oosterbaan MS, et al. Effects of pre-cooling on thermophysiological responses in elite eventing horses. *Animals.* (2020) 10:1664. doi: 10.3390/ani10091664
- Brownlow M, Smith T. The use of the hand-held infrared thermometer as an early detection tool for Exertional Heat Illness in Thoroughbred racehorses: a study at racetracks in eastern Australia. *Equine Vet Ed.* (2021) 33:296– 305. doi: 10.1111/eve.13299
- Soroko M, Howell K. Infrared thermography: Current applications in equine medicine. J Equine Vet Sci. (2018) 60:90–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2016.11.002
- 23. Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AMF, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Hernández-Avalos I, et al. Clinical applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows used in infrared thermography in cattle and river buffalo to assess health and productivity. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2247. doi: 10.3390/ani11082247
- Rojas-Valverde D, Tomás-Carús P, Timón R, Batalha N, Sánchez-Ureña B, Gutiérrez-Vargas R, et al. Short-term skin temperature responses to endurance exercise: A systematic review of methods and future challenges in the use of infrared thermography. *Life*. (2021) 11:1286. doi: 10.3390/life11121286
- Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, Orihuela A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez-Prado J, Torres-Bernal F, et al. Physiological and behavioral mechanisms of thermoregulation in mammals. *Animals.* (2021) 11:1733. doi: 10.3390/ani11061733
- Meisfjord Jorgensen GH, Mejdell CM, Boe KE. Effects of hair coat characteristics on radiant surface temperature in horses. J Therm Biol. (2020) 87:102474. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.102474
- Morgan K, Funkquist P, Nyman G. The effect of coat clipping on thermoregulation during intense exercise in trotters. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (2002) 34:564–7. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.2002.tb05484.x
- Simon EL, Gaughan EM, Epp T, Spire M. Influence of exercise on thermographically determined surface temperatures of thoracic and pelvic limbs in horses. J Am Vet Med Assoc. (2006) 229:1940–4. doi: 10.2460/javma.229.12.1940
- Jodkowska M, Oblacinska A, Tabak I, Radiukiewicz K. Differences in dietary patterns between overweight and normal-weight adolescents. *Med Wieku Rozwoj.* (2011) 15,3:266–73.
- Wallsten H, Olsson K, Dahlborn K. Temperature regulation in horses during exercise and recovery in a cool environment. *Acta Vet Scand.* (2012) 54:42. doi: 10.1186/1751-0147-54-42

- Yarnell K, Fleming J, Stratton TD, Brassington R. Monitoring changes in skin temperature associated with exercise in horses on a water treadmill by use of infrared thermography. J Therm Biol. (2014) 45:110– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2014.08.003
- 32. Redaelli V, Luzi F, Mazzola S, Bariffi GD, Zappaterra M, Nanni Costa L, et al. The use of infrared thermography (IRT) as stress indicator in horses trained for endurance: a pilot study. *Animals*. (2019) 9:84. doi: 10.3390/ani9030084
- Soroko M, Spitalniak-Bajerska K, Zaborski D, Pozniak B, Dudek K, Janczarek I. Exercise-induced changes in skin temperature and blood parameters in horses. Arch Anim Breed. (2019) 62:205–13. doi: 10.5194/aab-62-205-2019
- 34. Soroko M, Zaborski D, Dudek K, Yarnell K, Gorniak W, Vardasca R. Evaluation of thermal pattern distributions in racehorse saddles using infrared thermography. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0221622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0221622
- Takahashi Y, Ohmura H, Mukai K, Shiose T, Takahashi T. A comparison of five cooling methods in hot and humid environments in Thoroughbred horses. J Equine Vet Sc. (2020) 91:103130. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2020.103130
- Wilk I, Wnuk-Pawlak E, Janczarek I, Kaczmarek B, Dybczynska M, Przetacznik M. Distribution of superficial body temperature in horses ridden by two riders with varied body weights. *Animals.* (2020) 10:340. doi: 10.3390/ani10020340
- Soroko M, Howell K, Dudek K, Wilk I, Zastrzezyńska M, Janczarek I. A pilot study into the utility of dynamic infrared thermography for measuring body surface temperature changes during treadmill exercise in horses. *J Equine Vet Sci.* (2018) 62:44–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2017.12.010
- Geor RJ, McCutcheon LJ, Ecker GL, Lindinger MI. Thermal and cardiorespiratory responses of horses to submaximal exercise under hot and humid conditions. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1995) 20:125–32. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1995.tb05018.x
- Marlin DJ, Scott CM, Schroter RC, Mills PC, Harris RC, Harris PA, et al. Physiological responses in nonheat acclimated horses performing treadmill exercise in cool (20(C/40%RH), hot dry (30(C/40%RH) and hot humid (30 (C/80%RH) conditions. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1996) 22:70– 84. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1996.tb05034.x
- Marlin DJ, Scott CM, Roberts CA, Casas I, Holah G, Schroter RC. Post exercise changes in compartmental body temperature accompanying intermittent cold water cooling in the hyperthermic horse. *Equine Vet J.* (1998) 30:28– 34. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1998.tb04085.x
- 41. Marlin DJ, Scott CM, Schroter RC, Harris RC, Harris PA, Roberts CA, et al. Physiological responses of horses to a treadmill simulated speed and endurance test in high heat and humidity before and after humid heat acclimation. *Equine Vet J.* (1999) 31:31–42. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1999.tb03788.x
- Geor RJ, McCutcheon LJ, Ecker GL, Lindinger MI. Heat storage in horses during submaximal exercise before and after humid heat acclimation. J Appl Physiol. (2000) 89:2283–93. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2000.89.6.2283
- Kohn CW, Hinchcliff KW. Physiological responses to the endurance test of a 3-day-event during hot and cool weather. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1995) 31–6. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1995.tb05005.x
- 44. Jeffcott LB, Kohn CW. Contributions of equine exercise physiology research to the success of the 1996 Equestrian Olympic games: a review. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1999) 30:347–55. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1999. tb05247.x
- Kohn CW, Hinchcliff KW, Mckeever KH. Effect of ambient temperature and humidity on pulmonary artery temperature of exercising horses. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1999) 404–11. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1999.tb05256.x
- Jeffcott L, Leung WM, Riggs C. Managing the effects of the weather on the equestrian events of the 2008 Beijing Olympic games. *Vet J.* (2009) 182:412–29. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.07.037
- Wartzek T, Muhlsteff J, Imhoff M. Temperature measurement. Biomed Tech. (2011) 56:241–57. doi: 10.1515/BMT.2011.108
- Hodgson DR. Thermoregulation. In: *The Athletic Horse, Principles and Practice of Equine Sport Medicine*. 2nd ed. St. Louis: Saunders/Elsevier (2014). p. 108–124.
- Hodgson DR, McCutcheon LJ, Byrd SK, Brown WS, Bayly WM, Brengelmann GL, et al. Dissipation of metabolic heat in the horse during exercise. J Appl Physiol. (1993) 74:1161–70. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1993.74.3.1161

- AERA. AERA Rulebook. Australian Endurance Riding Association (2020). Available online at: http://aera.asn.au/national-rules/ (accessed December 20, 2020).
- Mitchell G, Fuller A, Maloney SK, Rump N, Mitchell D. Guttural pouches, brain temperature and exercise in horses. *Biol Letters*. (2006) 2:475– 7. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2006.0469
- Marlin DJ, Schroter RC, Scott CM, White S, Nyrop KA, Maykuth PL, et al. Sweating and skin temperature responses of normal and anhidrotic horses to intravenous adrenaline. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1999) 30:362– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1999.tb05249.x
- Hodgson DR, Davis RE, Mcconaghy FF. Thermoregulation in the horse in response to exercise. Br Vet J. (1994) 150:219– 35. doi: 10.1016/S0007-1935(05)80003-X
- McCutcheon LJ, Geor RJ. Thermoregulation and exercise-associated heat stress. In: *Equine Exerc. Physiol., The Science of Exercise in the Athletic Horse*, Hinchcliff KW, Geor RJ, Kaneps AJ, editors. (2008). p. 382–396.
- Bertoni A, Mota-Rojas D, Álvarez-Macias A, Mora-Medina P, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Morales-Canela A, et al. Scientific findings related to changes in vascular microcirculation using infrared thermography in the river buffalo. J An Behav Biometeorology. (2020) 8:288–97. doi: 10.31893/jabb.20038
- Brownlow MA, Mizzi JX. Thermoregulatory capacity of the Thoroughbred racehorse and its relationship to the pathogenesis of exertional heat illness. *Equine Vet Ed.* (2022) 34:214–21. doi: 10.1111/eve.13433
- Jones JH, Carlson GP. Estimation of metabolic energy cost and heat production during a 3-day-event. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1995) 27,S20:23– 30. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1995.tb05004.x
- McCutcheon LJ, Geor RJ, Hare MJ, Ecker GL, Lindinger MI. Sweating rate and sweat composition during exercise and recovery in ambient heat and humidity. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1995) 20:153–7. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1995.tb05022.x
- 59. Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Gómez-Prado J, Carvajal-de la Fuente V, Ghezzi M, et al. Pathophysiology of fever and application of infrared thermography (IRT) in the detection of sick domestic animals: recent advances. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2316. doi: 10.3390/ani11082316
- B.O.M. Bureau for Meteorology. (2020). Available online at: http://www.bom. gov.au/climate/data/ (accessed December 2, 2020).
- Parker M, Goodwin D, Eager RA, Redhead ES, Marlin DJ. Comparison of polar[®] heart rate interval data with simultaneously recorded ecg signals in horses. *Comp Exercise Physiol.* (2009) 6:137–42. doi: 10.1017/S1755254010000024
- Datta NR, Marder D, Datta S, Meister A, Puric E, Stutz E, et al. Quantification of thermal dose in moderate clinical hyperthermia with radiotherapy: a relook using temperature-time Area Under the Curve (AUC). *Int J Hyperthermia*. (2021) 38:296–307. doi: 10.1080/02656736.2021.1875060
- Fenemor SP, Gill ND, Sims ST, Beaven CM, Driller MW. Validity of a tympanic thermometer and thermal imaging camera for measuring core and skin temperature during exercise in the heat. *Measurement Phys Ed Exerc Sci.* (2020) 24:49–55. doi: 10.1080/1091367X.2019.1667361
- Foster J, Hodder SG, Lloyd AB, Havenith G. Individual responses to heat stress: Implications for hyperthermia and physical work capacity. *Front Physiol.* (2020) 11:541483. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.541483
- 65. De Korte JQ, Bongers CCWG, Hopman MTE, Eijsvogels TMH. Exercise performance and thermoregulatory responses of elite athletes exercising in the heat: outcomes of the thermo Tokyo study. *Sports Med.* (2021) 51:2423– 36. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01530-w
- Westwood CS, Fallowfield JL, Delves SK, Nunns M, Ogden HB, Layden JD. Individual risk factors associated with exertional heat illness: a systematic review. *Exp Physiol*. (2021) 106:191–9. doi: 10.1113/EP088458
- Kang H, Zsoldos RR, Woldeyohannes SM, Gaughan JB, Sole Guitart A. The use of percutaneous thermal sensing microchips for body temperature measurements in horses prior to, during and after treadmill exercise. *Animals*. (2020) 10:2274. doi: 10.3390/ani10122274
- Green AR, Gates SG, Lawrence LM. Measurement of horse core body temperature. J Therm Biol. (2005) 30:370– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2005.03.003
- 69. Bongers CCWG, Hopman MTE, Eijsvogels TMH. Cooling interventions for athletes: an overview of effectiveness, physiological

mechanisms, and practical considerations. *Temperature*. (2017) 4:60–78. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2016.1277003

- 70. Racinais S, Ihsan M, Taylor L, Cardinale M, Adami PE, Alonso JM, et al. Hydration and cooling in elite athletes: Relationship with performance, body mass loss and body temperatures during the doha 2019 iaaf world athletics championships. *Br J Sports Med.* (2021) 55:1335–41. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-103613
- Faulkner SH, Hupperets M, Hodder SG, Havenith G. Conductive and evaporative precooling lowers mean skin temperature and improves time trial performance in the heat: conductive and evaporative precooling enhances performance. *Scan J Med Sci Sports.* (2015) 25:183–9. doi: 10.1111/sms.12373
- 72. Morgan EKM. Climatic energy demand of horses. *Equine Vet J.* (1995) 27:396–9. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1995.tb04960.x
- Robinson TR, Hussey SB, Hill AE, Heckendorf CC, Stricklin JB, Traub-Dargatz JL. Comparison of temperature readings from a percutaneous thermal sensing microchip with temperature readings from a digital rectal thermometer in equids. J Am Vet Med Ass. (2008) 233:613– 7. doi: 10.2460/javma.233.4.613
- Holcomb KE, Tucker CB, Stull CL. Physiological, behavioral, and serological responses of horses to shaded or unshaded pens in a hot, sunny environment1. J An Sci. (2013) 91:5926–36. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-6497
- MacRae BA, Annaheim S, Spengler CM, Rossi RM. Skin temperature measurement using contact thermometry: a systematic review of setup variables and their effects on measured values. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:29– 29. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00029
- 76. Giannetto C, Arfuso F, Giudice E, Gianesella M, Fazio F, Panzera M, et al. Infrared methodologies for the assessment of skin temperature daily rhythm in two domestic mammalian species. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 92:102677. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102677
- Maśko M, Witkowska-Piłaszewicz O, Jasiński T, Domino M. Thermal features, ambient temperature and hair coat lengths: Limitations of infrared imaging in pregnant primitive breed mares within a year. *Repro Dom Animals*. (2021) 56:1315–28. doi: 10.1111/rda.13994
- Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, de Mira Geraldo A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez J, Hernández-Ávalos I, et al. Efficacy and function of feathers, hair, and glabrous skin in the thermoregulation strategies of domestic animals. *Animals.* (2021) 11:3472. doi: 10.3390/ani11123472
- 79. Zielińska P, Soroko M, Howell K, Godlewska M, Hildebrand W, Dudek K. Comparison of the effect of high-intensity laser therapy (hilt) on skin surface temperature and vein diameter in pigmented and non-pigmented skin in healthy racehorses. *Animals*. (2021) 11:1965. doi: 10.3390/ani11071965
- Domino M, Borowska M, Trojakowska A, Kozłowska N, Zdrojkowski Ł, Jasiński T, et al. The effect of rider: horse bodyweight ratio on the superficial body temperature of horse's thoracolumbar region evaluated by advanced thermal image processing. *Animals.* (2022) 12:195. doi: 10.3390/ani1202 0195
- Fernandes ADA, Amorim PRDS, Brito CJ, De Moura AG, Moreira DG, Costa CMA, et al. Measuring skin temperature before, during and after exercise: a comparison of thermocouples and infrared thermography. *Physiol Measure*. (2014) 35:189–203. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/35/2/189
- Ramey D, Bachmann K, Lee ML. A comparative study of non-contact infrared and digital rectal thermometer measurements of body temperature in the horse. J Equine Vet Sci. (2011) 31:191–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2011.02.009
- James CA, Richardson AJ, Watt PW, Maxwell NS. Reliability and validity of skin temperature measurement by telemetry thermistors and a thermal camera during exercise in the heat. J Therm Biol. (2014) 45:141– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2014.08.010
- 84. Moreira DG, Costello JT, Brito CJ, Adamczyk JG, Ammer K, Bach AJE, et al. Thermographic imaging in sports and exercise medicine: a delphi study

and consensus statement on the measurement of human skin temperature. J Therm Biol. (2017) 69:155–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2017.07.006

- Belval LN, Armstrong LE. Comparative physiology of thermoregulation. In: Sport and Physical Activity in the Heat. Casa DJ, editor (Springer IntPubl Switzerland) (2018). p. 3–14.
- Soroko M, Howell K, Zwyrzykowska A, Dudek K, Zielińska P, Kupczyński R. Maximum eye temperature in the assessment of training in racehorses: correlations with salivary cortisol concentration, rectal temperature, and heart rate. J Equine Vet Sci. (2016) 45:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2016.06.005
- Mostert HJ, Lund RJ, Guthrie AJ, Cilliers PJ. Integrative model for predicting thermal balance in exercising horses. *Equine Vet J Suppl.* (1996) 22:7– 15. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1996.tb05026.x
- Zeyner A, Romanowski K, Vernunft A, Harris P, Kienzle E. Scoring of sweat losses in exercised horses - a pilot study. J An Physiol An Nutr. (2014) 98:246–50. doi: 10.1111/jpn.12073
- Hetem RS, Mitchell D, de Witt BA, Fick LG, Meyer LC, Maloney SK, et al. Cheetah do not abandon hunts because they overheat. *Biol Lett.* (2013) 9:20130472. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2013.0472
- 90. Eggenberger P, MacRae BA, Kemp S, Burgisser M, Rossi RM, Annaheim S. Prediction of core body temperature based on skin temperature, heat flux, and heart rate under different exercise and clothing conditions in the heat in young adult males. *Front Physiol*. (2018) 9:1780. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01780
- Tanda G. A simplified approach to describe the mean skin temperature variations during prolonged running exercise. J Therm Biol. (2021) 99:103005. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2021.103005
- Pérez-Guarner A, Priego-Quesada JI, Oficial-Casado F, Cibrián Ortiz De Anda RM, Carpes FP, Palmer RS. Association between physiological stress and skin temperature response after a half marathon. *Physiol Measure*. (2019) 40:034009. doi: 10.1088/1361-6579/ab0fdc
- 93. Cuddy JS, Buller M, Hailes WS, Ruby BC. Skin temperature and heart rate can be used to estimate physiological strain during exercise in the heat in a cohort of fit and unfit males. *Mil Med.* (2013) 178:e841– 7. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-12-00524
- Welles AP, Buller MJ, Looney DP, Rumpler WV, Gribok AV, Hoyt RW. Estimation of metabolic energy expenditure from core temperature using a human thermoregulatory model. *J Therm Biol.* (2018) 72:44– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2017.12.007
- Hillen B, Pfirrmann D, Nägele M, Simon P. Infrared thermography in exercise physiology: the dawning of exercise radiomics. *Sports Med.* (2019) 50:263– 82. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01210-w

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Verdegaal, Howarth, McWhorter and Delesalle. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Al Schaefer, University of Alberta, Canada Mariana Almeida, University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Daniel Mota-Rojas dmota100@yahoo.com.mx

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 07 June 2022 ACCEPTED 12 July 2022 PUBLISHED 04 August 2022

CITATION

Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Martínez-Burnes J, Villanueva-García D, Lezama K, Domínguez A, Hernández-Avalos I, Mora-Medina P, Verduzco A, Olmos-Hernández A, Casas A, Rodríguez D, José N, Rios J and Pelagalli A (2022) Neonatal infrared thermography images in the hypothermic ruminant model: Anatomical-morphologicalphysiological aspects and mechanisms for thermoregulation. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:963205. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.963205

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Mota-Rojas, Wang, Titto, Martínez-Burnes, Villanueva-García, Lezama, Domínguez, Hernández-Avalos, Mora-Medina, Verduzco, Olmos-Hernández, Casas, Rodríguez, José, Rios and Pelagalli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Neonatal infrared thermography images in the hypothermic ruminant model: Anatomicalmorphological-physiological aspects and mechanisms for thermoregulation

Daniel Mota-Rojas¹*, Dehua Wang², Cristiane Gonçalves Titto³, Julio Martínez-Burnes⁴, Dina Villanueva-García⁵, Karina Lezama¹, Adriana Domínguez¹, Ismael Hernández-Avalos⁶, Patricia Mora-Medina⁶, Antonio Verduzco⁷, Adriana Olmos-Hernández⁷, Alejandro Casas¹, Daniela Rodríguez¹, Nancy José¹, Jennifer Rios¹ and Alessandra Pelagalli⁸

¹Neurophysiology, Behavior and Animal Welfare Assessment, DPAA, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana (UAM), Unidad Xochimilco, Mexico City, Mexico, ²School of Life Sciences, Shandong University, Qingdao, China, ³Laboratório de Biometeorologia e Etologia, FZEA-USP, Faculdade de Zootecnia e Engenharia de Alimentos, Universidade de São Paulo, Pirassununga, Brazil, ⁴Animal Health Group, Facultad de Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia, Universidad Autónoma de Tamaulipas, Victoria City, Mexico, ⁵Division of Neonatology, National Institute of Health, Hospital Infantil de México Federico Gómez, Mexico City, Mexico, ⁶Facultad de Estudios Superiores Cuautitlán, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Mexico (UNAM), Mexico City, Mexico, ⁷Division of Biotechnology—Bioterio and Experimental Surgery, Instituto Nacional de Rehabilitación-Luis Guillermo Ibarra (INR-LGII), Mexico City, Mexico, ⁸Department of Advanced Biomedical Sciences, University of Napoli Federico II, Naples, Italy

Hypothermia is one factor associated with mortality in newborn ruminants due to the drastic temperature change upon exposure to the extrauterine environment in the first hours after birth. Ruminants are precocial whose mechanisms for generating heat or preventing heat loss involve genetic characteristics, the degree of neurodevelopment at birth and environmental aspects. These elements combine to form a more efficient mechanism than those found in altricial species. Although the degree of neurodevelopment is an important advantage for these species, their greater mobility helps them to search for the udder and consume colostrum after birth. However, anatomical differences such as the distribution of adipose tissue or the presence of type II muscle fibers could lead to the understanding that these species use their energy resources more efficiently for heat production. The introduction of unconventional ruminant species, such as the water buffalo, has led to rethinking other characteristics like the skin thickness or the coat type that could intervene in the thermoregulation capacity of the newborn. Implementing tools to analyze species-specific characteristics that help prevent a critical decline in temperature is deemed a fundamental strategy for avoiding the adverse effects of a compromised thermoregulatory function. Although thermography is a non-invasive method to assess superficial temperature in several non-human animal species, in newborn ruminants there is limited information about its application, making it necessary to discuss the usefulness of this tool. This review aims to analyze the effects of hypothermia in newborn ruminants, their thermoregulation mechanisms that compensate for this condition, and the application of infrared thermography (IRT) to identify cases with hypothermia.

KEYWORDS

cattle, goat, newborn/neonate, sheep, water buffalo, wild ruminants, thermoregulation, infrared thermography

Introduction

Hypothermia in newborn animals is caused by exposure to an ambient temperature significantly lower than that of the intrauterine environment $(10-15^{\circ}C \text{ lower than the core}$ temperature) (1-3). The animal's body temperature is below the thermoneutral zone (4), which means heat loss exceeds heat production (5). This condition can affect the newborn's vitality by impeding the colostrum ingestion necessary to acquire the energy resources required to produce heat (6–9) and its importance lies in its impact on neonate mortality. Observed mortality rates in lambs are around 15%, while bovine calves range from 10 to 20% (10). Factors like the season of the year, environmental temperature (exposure to cold, rain, and wind) (11, 12), hypoxia and acidosis (in cases of dystocia), low birth weight, and inadequate nutrition of the mother during gestation are also elements that can induce hypothermia (3, 13, 14).

Unlike altricial species, precocial species, including ruminants, are more advanced neurodevelopmentally at birth. This provides them with highly efficient thermoregulatory mechanisms and an enhanced capacity to maintain homeothermy in diverse environments. The two main mechanisms are the vasomotor response and shivering or non-shivering thermogenesis (10). These mechanisms characterize the neonates of many animal species, but their nature and efficiency depend on the environment, species (precocial *vs.* altricial) (3), anatomical and physiological traits like coat type (hair, wool, fur), and the proportion of type II muscle fibers (15–17).

The physiological consequences and productive impact of hypothermia in newborns are potentially severe, so it is essential to recognize this condition promptly. Infrared thermography (IRT) has been proposed as a complementary, reliable, sensitive technique for assessing body temperature in animals (17, 18), but IRT's temperature recording in different anatomical regions has not yet been validated as an instrument for evaluating degrees of hypothermia. Moreover, available literature about the application of IRT in neonatal ruminants is required to determine its accurate application. This article aims to analyze the effects of hypothermia on newborn ruminants, their coping thermoregulatory mechanisms, and the usefulness of IRT for recognizing hypothermic conditions.

Effect of hypothermia on newborn ruminants, a precocial model

Newborn ruminants are precocial animals with advanced locomotor development that allows them to stand up within the first minutes, or hours, of life and begin to ingest colostrum. They also have thermoregulatory mechanisms that allow them to maintain or reestablish normothermia (19), but several factors can affect them (3). Differences in heat production efficiency have been observed among species. For example, lambs are reported to have a higher maximum caloric rate per unit weight than bovine calves (20–22), a difference that helps explain why small ruminants like lambs or kid goats are more susceptible to hypothermia than larger ones [e.g., domestic bovine calves (*Bos taurus* or *Bos indicus*) or water buffaloes]. Also, a large surface area relative to mass shows a disadvantage in retain heat (23).

Activating the responses to prevent a drop in core temperature has physiological consequences (1, 7, 24, 25), especially when hypothermia persists for extended periods because it triggers vasoconstriction as a circulatory reaction that prevents heat loss. However, vasoconstriction has adverse effects, such as decreasing blood flow to high-demand tissues in the neonate, and inducing cellular hypoxia (26). Moreover, in animal models at the histological level, even cerebral neuronal necrosis (histopathological hypothermia score = 2 vs. control = 0) has been reported by Petko et al. (27). Hypoxia also has metabolic consequences. Tyler and Ramsey (28) evaluated the effect of reduced blood oxygen in 12 Holstein calves at 72 h

postpartum. They found that due to hypoxia, CO₂ levels did not exceed 45 mmHg, and glucose concentrations tended to decline in the hypoxic calves (110 vs. 105 mg/dl), while lactate levels increased between 6 and 42 h postpartum to values of 90 mg/dl in hypoxia group and 23 mg/dl in the control group. In a 28 blue and white Belgian calves' study, Cambier et al. (29) analyzed blood oxygen transport and tissue oxygenation. In hypoxic calves, acidosis and hypercapnia were the main effects caused by decreased oxygen affinity for hemoglobin in arterial blood, which was related to the amount of O₂ in the bloodstream (control group = 77.2 \pm 9.9 mmHg vs. hypoxemic group = 47.9 ± 12.9 mmHg). According to those results, hypoxia caused the organisms to utilize anaerobic metabolic pathways that triggered lactate production, which induced a state of acidosis and hypoglycemia that reduced the animal's capacity for thermogenesis (21, 22, 30).

In response to the decreased oxygen supply to tissues, an increase in air volume in ventilation occurs with each inspiration that can produce tachycardia in animals to improve oxygen distribution (31). The increase in cardiac output and the production of erythrocytes are other compensatory responses to improve oxygen transport and nutrient delivery to tissues (26). These physiological consequences become more pronounced when the mechanisms cannot operate efficiently because the neonate has limited energy reserves (such as glucose and oxygen). This condition can arise, for example, when a newborn consumes and may severely deplete those reserves for purposes of thermoregulation during the first 12 h post-birth.

The ability of young ruminants to stand up and ingest colostrum in the first hours of extrauterine life allows them to acquire energy and maintain a thermoneutral state (3, 32). Nutrition in newborns has been discussed in depth by authors like Hammon et al. (33), who sustain that colostrum provides nutrients that include glucose, a biomolecule used to combat hypothermia. The supply of immunoglobulins through colostrum, and their absorption, are other elements that help maintain homeostasis in neonates. As mentioned above, acidosis can be an adverse effect of hypoxia derived from hypothermia. Some reports on bovine calves indicate that a blood pH of 7-7.20 and high pCO2 concentrations (respiratory acidosis) are negatively related to immunoglobulin G1 absorption (IgG) (34). However, a study of 48 Holstein calves found no association between the degree of IgG absorption and increased PaCO₂ concentrations for 1 h (35). Therefore, it has been suggested that hypothermia generates metabolic consequences and affects newborns' underdeveloped characteristic immunological system.

Likewise, environmental factors such as the year's season may expose newborn ruminants to low temperatures. For example, for species like the water buffalo, there are reports of high mortality rates in autumn, when cold and rain predominate (36). However, this relation has not been specifically evaluated because incidences of stillbirths can be affected by both environmental and genetic factors. It has been suggested that backcrossing may help diminish mortality rates in newborns (37). Moreover, anatomical and morphological characteristics can impact the physiological effects of hypothermia in newborns or the animals' adaptive measures to prevent such consequences.

Anatomical-physiological characteristics of thermoregulation in ruminants

In ruminants, the degree of development at birth is considered similar within each species, though differences in rates of brain maturation may occur, as has been seen between lambs, which reach the maximum weight of cerebral parenchyma 50 days after birth, and kid goats where this occurs at just 20 days post-birth (38). Studies of sheep have shown that they lack awareness during the fetal stage and that the onset of this condition comes within 20 min post-birth. At that moment, these animals show voluntary responses or the involvement of the cerebral cortex in perceiving stimuli (39). The ensuing behavioral responses are recognized by motheryoung interaction at 20-60 min post-birth. This time is called the sensitive period when newborns show a strong preference for their biological dams up to 24 h (40). Their interaction includes grooming, a behavior that promotes bonding and plays a role in thermoregulation as the dam cleans and dries the neonate's coat, thus reducing the amount of heat loss due to evaporation (41).

Another mechanism that helps prevent heat loss in neonatal precocial species is developing the locomotory system that allows newborns to stand up in the first minutes postpartum. Regueiro et al. (42) reported that newborn lambs stand up after an average of 22 min, and 53.9–87.9% began to suckle within 1 h of birth. Results for Australian Bush goat kids are similar, as they begin to stand at an average of 20.2 min and suckle at 50.8 min (43). Although neurological development is essential for maintaining the temperature of newborns, anatomical-physiological aspects are crucially involved in the thermogenic mechanisms that prevent heat loss, such as vasomotor control and heat production by contraction of the skeletal striated muscle or through the consumption of high-energy adipose tissue (1, 44).

In the first case, involuntary rhythmic contractions of skeletal striated muscle reflect the ratio of muscle fibers. The importance of a specific muscle fiber ratio lies in the degree of resistance and maintenance of the muscle contractions that can be produced. This has been proposed as a difference that may influence the efficiency of shivering thermogenesis, complemented by the individual morphology, percentage of body fat, diet and the degree of cold acclimatization (45). Recruitment of type I (dependent on aerobic metabolism) or slow-oxidative muscle fibers is associated with low-threshold (4–8 Hz), continuous shivering, and lipid consumption. In contrast,

32

type II (fast-glycolytic) fibers respond to high-intensity bursts (0.1–0.2 Hz), produce burst shivering, and are specialized for carbohydrate utilization (46). Additionally, oxidative type I fibers show greater contractile efficiency than type II fibers, and their deeper location facilitates access to the bloodstream and a more efficient oxidative metabolism, unlike type II fibers, which are predominantly superficial (47). Type II fibers, called anaerobic muscles, play a critical role in exposure to cold environments because their glycolic fibers can be activated at a lower metabolic rate (45). Therefore, a high proportion of type II muscle fibers in ruminant neonates' first days of life can be considered an advantage due to their glycolytic metabolism and ATPase activity (48).

Because of their thermogenic characteristics, type II muscle fibers are more important for neonates. In Peinado et al.'s study of sheep (49), the percentage of type I and II fibers were similar on days 1-15 post-birth, but at 30 days, the percentage of type II fibers had decreased by 80%. Yates et al. (50) found that intrauterine growth restriction in seven fetuses of Columbia-Rambouillet ewes near the end of gestation reduced the proportion of type I muscle fibers. Their results showed that, in general, growth-restricted fetuses were 54% smaller and had lower blood glucose (0.69 \pm 0.09 mM) and oxygen (2.15 \pm 0.21 mM) levels than control animals (glucose= 1.05 ± 0.10 mM and $O_2 = 3.40 \pm 0.23$ mM). Regarding the semitendinosus and biceps femoris muscles, the authors reported a lower ratio of type I to type II/IIa fibers than controls, which correlated negatively with epinephrine concentrations (r = -0.64) but positively with insulin levels (r = 0.62). These results confirm that in the neonatal stage, metabolically active muscle tissue contraction participates primarily in thermogenesis since it contains high energy reserves (e.g., glucose) that are available to generate heat.

Glucose is a valuable energy reserve in newborn ruminants because skeletal muscle glucose is less abundant in these species due to the presence of deposits of brown adipose tissue (BAT), in contrast to animals like piglets (51). Dühlmeier et al. (52) compared glucose use in four skeletal muscle samples from five kids and nine adult goats at different stages of life. They found that GLUT 4 glucose transporter expression was significantly lower in the muscle of feeding kids than in adults and differed in each stage of life in the latter.

The placenta maintains fetal glucose levels during gestation, but at birth and during lactation newborns rely on glycogen stores in the liver to maintain adequate plasma concentrations (51). This led to the interpretation that newborn ruminants consume hepatic glycogen as the primary energy source for heat production (53). For example, in ovine fetuses, glycogen can be observed in small amounts in BAT, but the amount of glycogen at birth is markedly reduced (54). This limit on glycogen storage in the liver and muscles at birth means that goat kids, lambs, and calves have low glucose concentrations that make them susceptible to hypoglycemia since those limited reserves can be depleted rapidly within the first 12 h postpartum. This effect exacerbates if the onset of feeding is delayed (55).

Hypoglycemia at birth has been reported in 22.5% of goat kids, but figures are significantly higher for the Sahel breed, twins, and newborns with low birth weight (55). When neonates' glucose concentrations are inadequate, they begin to consume muscular reserves through the Cori cycle. Specifically, type II fibers can conduct glycogen, so a high proportion is critical for thermoregulation. Therefore, glycogen availability is essential for newborn ruminants since calves or lambs require an elevated metabolic rate to control their temperature within the first hours of life (56).

Adipose tissue regulates temperature and energy balance through its metabolic and cellular functions. In mammals, this tissue is divided into white (WAT, anabolic function) and brown forms (BAT, catabolic function) (57, 58). BAT develops in the fetal stage (59). At birth, it constitutes a key element for non-shivering thermogenesis (7, 60) because it contributes to the survival of neonate ruminants exposed to cold temperatures (61). It has been suggested that BAT has similarities to WAT. However, significant differences at the histological level include uncoupling proteins 1 (UCP1), a central nucleus, multilocular triglyceride vacuoles, abundant mitochondria with dense parallel cristae, high vascularization, and a rich cytochrome content, elements that explain its brown color (62, 63). The characteristics of these elements can change with the age of newborns. Observations of goat kids at 4 days of age showed that lipid vacuoles increased in size but decreased in quantity, while at seven days, only a single central lipid vacuole and a nucleus and cytoplasm at the periphery were found, with the appearance of univacuolar WAT (64). A similar effect has been reported in 2-day-old Merino lambs, where the proportion of large local fat increased, but there were no small locules at 32 days of age (54).

Although BAT is present in all ruminants, its distribution differs among species. For example, in goat kids, BAT pads are more common in the perirenal and inguinal regions (21, 64, 65). Studies of newborn piglets have shown a lack of WAT deposits, as those animals rely on BAT to produce heat in the main location sites, including the supraclavicular, neck, pericardial, and perirenal regions (65). Similarly, in wild ruminants like reindeer (Rangifer tarandus L), BAT is located mainly in the perirenal-abdominal region (66). In cattle, BAT is observed in the perirenal, subscapular, and retroperitoneal regions (59), and electron microscopy has shown that most of the adipose tissue in newborn calves is BAT. It represents 2% of body weight but is converted progressively into WAT during the first days of life (67). These differences among species in the location of BAT deposits suggest that degrees of thermogenetic efficiency depend on the amount and distribution of BAT and that a low amount of BAT increases susceptibility to hypothermia (13). Figure 1 summarizes the main neuroanatomical characteristics of newborn ruminants. In this figure, the lamb is used as

an animal model to show the thermoregulatory characteristics of newborn ruminants, such as neurodevelopment and the limited hepatic glycogen reserves that make them susceptible to hypoglycemia. Specifically, the presence of brown adipose tissue (BAT) in the regions marked with numbers and the activity of type IIa muscle fibers function as coping mechanisms to produce heat by shivering and non-shivering thermogenesis.

Evidently, anatomical physiological differences among newborn ruminants constitute the physiological basis for the various thermoregulation mechanisms found in different ruminant species and contrast to those that characterize altricial species.

Thermoregulation mechanisms to combat hypothermia in ruminants

The thermoregulatory responses of precocial species encompass physiological, metabolic, and behavioral mechanisms that depend on the activation of the central and autonomic nervous systems. The goal is to achieve thermogenesis by activating BAT and shivering. The vasomotor response that constricts the blood vessels prevents heat loss by signaling the thalamus to the lateral parabrachial nucleus (68). Related thermoregulatory processes are explained in greater detail below.

Central and peripheral vasomotor control

Newborns exposed to cold suffer a drastic drop in core temperature that may exceed the body's ability to produce heat (5). The organism induces various responses to a marked deviation from the zone of thermoneutrality, activating immediate mechanisms to prevent heat loss through radiation.

One of these is the vasomotor mechanism, which changes the caliber of the superficial blood capillaries in the skin to prevent heat exchange with the surrounding medium (69–71). In this case, upon exposure to cold, sympathetic nerve fibers act on a2-adrenergic receptors to generate a vasomotor response that causes smooth muscle vasoconstriction of the superficial blood vessels (72). A study by Bligh et al. (73) used sheep and goats as models to study the effect of intraventricular injections of norepinephrine and acetylcholine on thermoregulatory performance and environmental temperature. They reported that administering norepinephrine lowered the respiratory rate and decreased body temperature when the animals were exposed to low ambient temperatures. In contrast, acetylcholine administration increased body temperature despite the low ambient temperatures. These results enhance our understanding that catecholamine neurosecretion tends to decrease heat loss in response to cold thermal signals as an immediate mechanism.

However, other results suggest that several factors can inhibit this mechanism, including the offspring's birth weight (74) and available energy resources (32). Studies have shown that newborns with low birth weight may have a lower average temperature, while those with higher birth weights do not exhibit the phenomenon of vasoconstriction during the first 12 h after birth (74). This may occur because vasomotor control is immature in animals with low birth weight and cannot function to reduce heat loss (75).

Similarly, the availability of energy resources at birth, such as colostrum, may provide the nutrients required to maintain heat production and compensate for low environmental temperatures (32, 76, 77). Caldara et al. (78) studied the effect of birth weight on body temperature in piglets. After recording the surface temperature of the animals using IRT and the humidity and temperature of the ambient air at 15, 30, 45, 60, and 120 min after birth, they found that surface temperature decreased at 15 min (32.55°C) post-birth but presented an upwards tendency at 30 min (35.05°C). Although a high negative correlation was recorded between humidity and the animals' surface temperature (r = -0.82 and -0.81) 15 min after birth, the weight of the piglets at birth presented a positive correlation with surface temperature (r = 0.47).

These results could be associated with those observed by our research team in a preliminary study of newborn water buffaloes (*Bubalus bubalis*) (n = 50), where the relation between birth weight (high birth weight: 48-59 kg vs. low birth weight: 38-47.9 kg) and surface temperature during the first 48 h of life was monitored in six thermal windows (ear canal, lacrimal gland, lacrimal caruncle, periocular region, nostrils, pelvic limbs). Figure 2 presents the thermal response of buffalo calves where (A) shows the comparison of the mean temperature at parturition in groups with high and low birth weights. At birth, results indicated that the group of high birth weight buffaloes at parturition had an average range of temperature of 0.4 to 2.9°C higher than that of the low-birth-weight group in all thermal windows, with statistically significant differences (p < p0.0001), except for the lacrimal caruncle. (B) Comparison of the mean temperature at 24 h after parturition in groups with high and low birth weights. At 24 h post-birth, both groups showed statistically significant differences (p < 0.0001) in all thermal windows. The high-weight group had a mean temperature of 0.4-2.5°C above the low-weight group. (C) Comparison of the mean temperature at 48 h after parturition in groups with high and low birth weights. At 48 h post-birth, significant differences (p < 0.0001) were only found in the nostrils and pelvic limb thermal windows, with an average difference of 0.7°C and 1.8°C, respectively. The effect that birth weight exerts on the thermoregulatory capacity of newborns is due to the limited capacity that low-birth-weight calves have (79). This is associated with newborns' fat reserves and body mass index thermoregulatory capacity (80). In lambs, low weight at birth is also accompanied by hypoglycemia (3), restricting



their energy resources to produce and maintain corporal heat. In addition to this, low birth weight can impact the health and vitality of newborns (81). Another relevant issue is the immaturity of the skeletal muscle in newborns, so shivering thermoregulation is not an effective mechanism in these cases to produce the required heat (82). Therefore, reducing the superficial temperature of the present buffalo calves reflects a vasomotor mechanism to prevent heat loss by vasoconstriction.

These findings indicate that the vasomotor mechanism constitutes an immediate compensation response triggered to prevent greater heat loss through exchange with the environment. It is important to note that the compensatory response of the vasomotor tone has a limit. It may prevent all sensible heat losses in the newborn while the organism initiates additional responses or thermoregulatory mechanisms that require greater energy expenditure.

Shivering thermogenesis

Shivering thermogenesis is the facultative thermogenic mechanism that produces heat at a resting level through active muscle contraction (1, 83-85). Some authors suggest that this ability is innate in precocial animals due to their degree of development at birth, but others, like Vanden Hole et al. (86),

analyzed the level of movement and muscle contraction in newborn piglets in an attempt to show whether this is innate or matures rapidly in those animals. They evaluated gait patterns by analyzing spatial-temporal characteristics (stride frequency, step length, work factor) and left-right asymmetry step-by-step during gait in a corridor at different moments (0–96 h postbirth). Observations showed that the animals at 2 h of age had normalized values for the space-time variables, while asymmetry of the steps was around 10% within 8 h of birth. The authors affirmed that this means that the coordination of movements is not entirely innate in precocial animals but that a rapid neuromotor maturation occurs.

The neurophysiological shivering response has been described by researchers like Morrison and Nakamura (87) (Cited by Mota-Rojas et al.) (1), who described that the neurons of the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus (DMH) are activated in response to cold. These neurons allow the stimulation of neurons at the level of the raphe pallidus area (RPa) (88), which sends a signal to the sympathetic preganglionic neurons in the intermediolateral cell column (IML) that increases contraction at the muscular level to promote heat production by increasing the tremor amplitude of vibrations (89). This event is schematized in Figure 3. External factors such as a cold extrauterine environment, wet coat, and the consequent heat loss due to evaporation activate peripheral cold-sensitive


thermoreceptors. These receptors transmit signals to the spinal cord and such supraspinal structures as the MnPO, the main thermoregulatory center. Its projections to the DMH, RPa, and IML in the spinal cord integrate mechanisms that generate or preserve heat through shivering or non-shivering thermogenesis and vasomotor changes. Although the importance of shivering thermogenesis is evident, reports on newborn lambs suggest that around 50% of heat production comes from shivering thermogenesis and 50% from non-shivering thermogenesis (90). This may be mainly attributable to the anatomical magnitude of the newborn, that is, the degree of muscle development (84, 91).

The degree of muscle development depends on the mother's diet during pregnancy, her percentage of fat, and its distribution

according to breed. For example, Hereford calves have been reported to have higher fat content than Simmental calves at 2 days of age (92). In this context, Lammoglia et al. (93) studied the effect of supplemental fat feeding in pregnant female bovines during the last 55 days of gestation on the cold tolerance of F2 calves (Piedmontese and Hereford), which 5 h after delivery were exposed to a temperature of 0° C for 140 min. The prepartum mothers had received diets containing 2.2% (low-fat) or 5.1% fat (high fat). Findings showed that glucose levels were higher in the offspring of the mothers that had received the high-fat diet and that rectal temperatures were 0.5°C higher in those animals than in the neonates of the low-fat diet mothers. The authors commented that although the mother's diet is important for improving offspring survival, the



degree of muscular development also plays a key role because it enhances the proportion of thermogenesis through shivering.

A similar study design by Dietz et al. (94) evaluated pregnant fall-calving heifers fed diets with different fat levels (1.5, 4, and 5%). The calves were exposed to a temperature of 5° C for 90 min. Observations showed that the responses to cold and the frequency of shivering in the newborns were similar despite the variable levels of energy administered. The provision of energy resources is a fundamental factor for the newborns' success in temperature compensation but may be a limited resource given the high energy cost it represents for the animals. The authors also mentioned that the muscular contraction response could occur only for a short time when animals are exposed to a temperature of 10° C (14).

Shivering thermogenesis is a compensatory response that is efficient in the short term, but factors like the degree of muscle development and maternal nutrition during gestation may influence neonates' resistance to cold.

Non-shivering thermogenesis

Under hypothermic conditions, animals use NST as a short-term response, but if the condition is not overcome quickly, they may attempt to generate heat by consuming BAT (95, 96). This mechanism is called NST (97) and is critical for determining the offspring's metabolic adaptation to cold temperatures in the extrauterine environment (98–100). BAT is rich in energy cells that allow efficient heat production through sympathetic innervation (62, 68), which regulates the production of metabolic heat and vasomotor and piloerection responses to hypothermia (Figure 4).

Physiologically, BAT is activated by the release of norepinephrine from the nerve terminals of the sympathetic nervous system. Its thermogenic capacity is mediated by uncoupling protein-1 (UCP-1), which is found only in the mitochondrial adipocytes (1, 61, 65, 101). For this reason, BAT's heat producing-capacity is determined by the concentration of UCP-1 and the activity of the proton conductance pathway through which the electron transport chain uncouples the synthesis of adenosine triphosphate. The sympathetic fibers in BAT promote neurosecretion of catecholamines that stimulates the oxidation of fatty acids and the gene oxidation of UCP-1 for heat production under conditions of exposure to cold (101). These facts confirm the importance of food consumption during the first hours of life, the fact that newborns who are food-deprived for any reason have a limited ability to maintain their body temperature, and the importance of colostrum consumption.



Another factor that intervenes in thermogenesis is birth weight since low-weight animals may not have the energy resources necessary for heat production. As Dwyer (102) concluded in a study of the influence of birth weight on postnatal mortality in lambs, low birth weight animals had lower vitality scores, though they spent more time standing up. The fact that the act of standing up consumes abundant energy resources suggests that, in precocial animals, food ingestion can help maintain stable thermoregulation.

Colostrum is considered one of the main energy sources for newborns, and its thermogenic effect is associated with the production of metabolic heat through such processes as the digestion, absorption, and processing of nutrients. Moreover, as a source of lactose, amino acids, and triglycerides, colostrum is an important energy source for heat production *via* dietinduced thermogenesis and non-shivering thermogenesis (14). This occurs thanks to the increased plasma triglyceride levels that BAT metabolizes. This effect was explored by Silva et al. (103), who observed that male Holstein calves that consumed an amount of colostrum equivalent to 15 to 20% of their body weight presented less shivering than those that received only 10%. This finding confirms that the metabolic thermogenic response is additional and long-term in nature, though authors like Clarke et al. (63) have stated that the response degree depends on exposure to cold. For example, in newborn lambs exposed to temperatures of 1° C, heat production by BAT involved around 80% of adipose tissue.

Therefore, producing heat of metabolic origin represents a long-term way to compensate for a drop in body temperature but comes at a high energy cost. This situation is related to the availability of energy resources at birth and the weight of newborns, conditions necessary for the proper functioning of their thermoregulatory mechanisms.

Use of infrared thermography in assessing hypothermia in newborn ruminants

IRT systems have proven useful in assessing the thermal status of animals. The technique measures the radiation emitted from a body subject to changes in superficial microcirculation that increase or decrease these emissions (18, 97, 104–106). According to Villanueva-García et al. (105), the vasomotor effect caused by hypothermic states can be evaluated indirectly by tissue heat radiation, quantified by IRT. When peripheral circulation decreases, the heat radiated in some regions is also reduced. For the water buffalo, there is information on

the application of IRT to assess thermoregulatory capacity under thermal stress conditions (17, 107). However, data of this kind have not been reported on newborn animals to analyze the mechanisms associated with temperature changes in extrauterine environments.

Evaluating degrees of hypothermia with IRT has been recommended on many occasions. However, authors caution that obtaining valid, reliable temperature values requires testing anatomical regions. For example, the auricular region is widely used in several ruminant and non-ruminant species to assess their thermal state (17, 108, 109) although concave surfaces are less likely influenced by external factors and may show a higher body surface temperature, while convex areas have the opposite effect, as shown in horses when measuring IRT in body regions such as elbow joint or the croup (110, 111). Likewise, specific key characteristics such as a high density of arteriovenous anastomoses, blood capillaries, and scarce -or no- hair or coat so that heat exchange with the environment can proceed through changes in the caliber of blood vessels (70, 112, 113). Figure 5 shows various thermal windows in newborn water buffaloes proposed in a preliminary study: (A) Pelvic limb. The windows in the pelvic limb are mainly in the femoral region, indicated by a circle that encompasses the cranial area at the level of the insertion of the quadriceps femoris and the tensor fascia lata, muscles irrigated by the femoral artery. At the distal level in the metatarsal region, the thermal response offered by the dorsal metatarsal artery is indicated with a circle. (B) Thermal facial windows. The windows of the auditory canal (B1), ocular region (B2), lacrimal gland (B3), and lacrimal caruncle (B4) are shown. Each window is delimited by regions like the auditory canal that, in turn, is delimited by the auricular folds of the auditory meatus. This ocular window is bounded to the upper and lower eyelids. The lacrimal caruncle window is delimited in the region of the medial canthus of the eye and allows the temperature evaluation that comes from the circulation of the infraorbital artery. (C) Nostrils. This window is delimited by the nostrils and allows its temperature evaluation together with the circulation of the maxillary artery that irrigates the area. Mota-Rojas et al. (17) described these regions and affirmed that in this species, the thermal windows of the lacrimal caruncle, ocular caruncle and corporals make it possible to assess thermal states.

Labeur et al. (114) evaluated the hip and back areas of 15 pregnant ewes grouped into two categories: sheared and unsheared. Both groups were exposed to a cold test for 1 hour. Findings showed that the temperature in the shoulder region was lower than in the hip and back areas. This difference could be related to adipose tissue deposits in these regions that constitute a resource for producing metabolic heat with no need for muscle contraction. Studies of this kind show that IRT could provide a way not only to assess levels of thermal comfort through the vascular reactions produced by cold responses but also to verify that regions with BAT deposits can cause increases in regional temperatures that reflect an organism's attempts to compensate for a temperature decrease and return to a thermoneutral state (115, 116). This coincides with the interscapular thermal window observations and BAT in laboratory animals (97).

The responses measured in various thermal windows differ. Figure 6 shows thermal responses due to the effect of age determined during a preliminary study of neonatal water buffaloes (n = 50) conducted by the authors. Note that while the temperature of the lacrimal gland remained constant during parturition and at 24 h and 48 h of extrauterine life, that of the lower limbs showed greater temperature variation during the 2day period. In the same thermal window the lowest temperatures were found in the thermal windows farthest from the body core. This can be explained by understanding the central and peripheral circulation of the organism. The vital structures in which important metabolic functions are carried out are found in the central parts of the body (17, 18), meaning the heart, lungs, brain, stomach, and kidneys. To protect these systems, when exposed to cold environments or situations that promote heat loss (such as the parturition process and their wet coat), the organism shifts blood supplies from peripheral structures to vital organs (72). Vasoconstriction at peripheral areas such as the thoracic and pelvic limbs, nose and tail prevents heat dissipation and also reduces said structures' superficial temperature (26). The increase in the temperature of the pelvic limb and nostril window according to the age of the newborn, could be explained because the newborn gets dry, reducing heat loss by evaporation, so the calf can reach a thermostability after drying the coat (1, 15)and after colostrum intake provides them of glucose and energy reserves (55).

The above brings us back to discussing the possible influence of environmental conditions and the season when birthing occurs. A study by Deak et al. (117) reported the effect of season and the physiological state of several body areas in 24 Holstein cows evaluated in the rainy (October- March) and dry seasons (April- September). They observed that temperatures in the flanks, perineal area, and lateral udder were 1.1°C higher in the rainy season than in the dry season and that temperatures of the udder, perineal, and rectal regions differed in the reproductive phase. These results suggest that heat loss or gain pathways are closely related to the seasonand may support the hypothesis that the survival of water buffalo neonates can vary with this factor (113, 118).

De Souza et al. (119) studied 23 Zebu × Holstein crossbred calves to evaluate whether cutaneous evaporative thermolysis occurs heterogeneously on the body surface of ruminants. Using IRT, they assessed the animals' limbs, neck, thorax, abdomen, and back under ambient temperatures $<25^{\circ}$ C, $25-29^{\circ}$ C, and $>29^{\circ}$ C. Findings showed that cutaneous evaporative thermolysis did not differ among those regions but that temperatures in the neck had the highest thermal ranges. They also found that exposure to temperatures $>29^{\circ}$ C did not significantly increase evaporative thermolysis. Although those results confirm that heat loss is homogeneous throughout the



body, some regions may show slight differences due to the arrangement of the blood vessels. This finding may be related to such features as skin thickness or a high density of hair follicles that can impede heat loss, though differences also occurred in the regions that allow heat loss (15, 113). Hristov et al. (120) evaluated the efficiency of IRT for determining temperatures in calves. Their work compared reference regions in the chest, shoulders, and legs to rectal temperatures and respiratory rates. They found that temperatures in the shoulders and chest had correlations of r = 0.9 and r = 0.65 with rectal temperature and respiratory rate, respectively, demonstrating that peripheral regions of ruminants respond to core body temperatures. This finding may help us better understand the buffalo as a model of precocial species.

In conclusion, IRT is a valuable tool that can be applied to recognize hypothermia in newborn ruminants. There is ample opportunity for its use in sheep, goats, cattle, and water buffaloes due to the limited information on this species. However, there is also a clear need for additional information on the effectiveness and reliability of different thermal windows and their capacity to indicate the ability of newborns to reestablish thermoneutrality.

Perspectives

Although thermoregulation capacity in newborn ruminants such as lambs, kid goats, and calves can be similar to precocial species, some studies show anatomical-physiological differences between these species. For example, it is widely recognized that sheep have the greatest distribution of BAT in the hips and the interscapular region, which this species can use for heat production through NST (114). In contrast, kid goats have more type II muscle fibers in the neonatal stage than adults (49).

To date, it is not yet clear whether these differences could confer an advantage in some species as might be expected in large ruminants, where it is suggested that the



presence of large muscle masses improves heat production by shivering. Species like the water buffalo and its limited available literature make them a potential field for future research within these animals. The water buffalo is a species recently introduced into production in numerous areas, so there are large areas of opportunity for research on the newborns of this species since we lack knowledge on the efficiency of their thermoregulation mechanisms (37). Reports mention mortality rates for water buffalo calves in Pakistan that range from 0.09% (121) to 7.59 \pm 13.49% (122) and contrast to figures reported for domestic cattle (0.6-9.2%) (36, 37). However, factors such as season have been associated with variations in mortality rates, indicating that more neonatal casualties are observed in winter and spring (123), possibly due to low temperatures and increased rainfall. Likewise, because this species is being introduced into regions with

extreme climates, mortality rates could be closely related to climatological phenomena, as observed in the variability in its thermal responses (124). Therefore, the study of the thermoregulatory mechanisms in these animals and breeding strategies could prevent hypothermia or, where appropriate, counteract this condition in this species.

BAT is another relevant study area in these species due to the differences in its distribution. Some authors have found that the degree of BAT presentation may be related to the expression of genes responsible for BAT differentiation and its deposit in regions such as the back (125). Similarly, the excessive deposit of BAT is related to the nutritional status of the dam. Therefore, designing strategies aimed at the mother's nutrition and, consequently, the body condition and weight at birth of the fetus could increase the effectiveness of the thermoregulatory mechanisms of newborn ruminants and their survival (126). Within the thermoregulatory system of newborns, the activation of peripheral thermoreceptors such as transient potential receptors (TPR) is the first step to initiating every thermal response. The key role of these receptors, particularly TRPA1, TRPM8, and TRPC5 are triggered by cold stimuli and promote the vasomotor changes or contraction of skeletal muscle (91). However, to date, the available data is focused on small rodents. Therefore, studies targeting these receptors are a wide area of opportunity to investigate the functionality of TRP in ruminants.

The concentration of endogenous energy sources in the form of liver is essential because it is the first metabolic pathway to produce heat (53). However, both muscle and liver glycogens are a limited resource in the postpartum period, and variable according to the pregnancy characteristics, such as malnutrition present in the mother, which generates hypoglycemia in the ewe fetus (55). In this sense, using the mentioned resource, when colostrum is not ingested in the first 24 h of life, could ensure constant plasma glucose levels in calves (53), increasing the newborn's ability to thermoregulate at calving adequately.

On the other hand, the behaviors and postural changes that most mammals develop during exposure to cold to avoid heat loss by transfer, such as grouping or approaching warm areas, are another relevant issue in ruminants (17). These behavioral changes are not evident in ruminants, and it is suggested that they may be due to the specific anatomical characteristics such as the presence of hair, wool, and the color of the coat, elements that prevent active loss of heat in cold environments (14, 16). Similarly, it is important to study whether the phenotypic characteristics of adults, such as hair length, skin thickness, or hair follicles, influence the thermoregulatory capacity and mechanisms of newborn ruminants, as observed in wildlife (127). As we have seen, precocial species like ruminants have certain traits that make them more or less well-adapted to cope with hypothermia. Anatomy-physiological differences among newborn ruminants constitute the physiological basis for the various thermoregulation mechanisms found in different ruminant species.

The application of IRT as a tool to assess thermal status in mammals has been described by different authors (1, 17, 18, 128). But it is relevant to note that in current agricultural settings, using a hand-held thermographic camera may not be plausible in most large production units. This failure could be resolved by the automatization and optimization of IRT technologies that could precisely inform about thermal changes (129). For example, Schaeffer et al. (130) automatically detected the onset of bovine respiratory disease (BRD) in 65 Herford X Angus calves by placing an IRT scanning station around a feedlot pen. The corresponding software controlled the camera, collected thermal data, analyzed the image, and stored the information in a database. With the daily automatic monitoring of the orbital area, every time the animal accessed the water station, the authors obtained an average temperature of $33.85 \pm 0.66^{\circ}$ C for all calves, while true positive (TP) and true negative BRD animals had average temperatures of $35.44 \pm 0.58^{\circ}$ C and $34.71 \pm 0.57^{\circ}$ C, respectively. Therefore, it was possible to automatically record a 1°C elevation in the temperature of TP calves during the experimental period. Likewise, Zaninelli et al. (131) analyzed cow udder health status automatically taken through thermographic images, obtaining a significant relation between udder surface temperature and somatic cell counts with a sensitivity of 78.6% and a specificity of 77.9%. Technologies based on algorithms to detect a specific region such as the eye or the cheek in calves help to determine the maximum temperature of the area and were validated by comparing its measurements with a manual camera. The images taken by the algorithm were highly correlated to the hand-held device. They showed correlations (R2) of 0.99 for the eye and between 0.85 and 0.90 for the cheek (132). These studies present the possibility to integrate these automated systems for a field application of IRT on commercial farms.

Finally, the potential for utilizing remote tools like IRT means that we must determine the effectiveness of the various thermal windows that have been described for large ruminants (17, 133). Although the ocular and auricular regions have been mentioned as areas that indicate body temperature, another promising option is the appendicular region since it has been shown to be more sensitive to hypothermia due to the vascular supply it receives (2, 18).

Conclusions

To confront the adverse effects of hypothermia, precocial species, including ruminants, are born with anatomical, physiological, and morphological characteristics that allow them to maintain their body temperatures. For example, one of the primary mechanisms is vasoconstriction of peripheral blood vessels to reduce heat loss through radiation. However, prolonged vasoconstriction can induce cellular hypoxia and impact the outcome of the newborn.

On the other hand, neonates have BAT deposits that serve as a substrate to NST to produce heat and prevent a sudden drop in core temperature, especially evaporative loss due to their wet coats at birth. The amount of BAT depends on the species and anatomical site (e.g., goats in the perirenal and inguinal region and cattle in the perirenal and subscapular). Moreover, its activation requires energy resources to produce heat by NST. Therefore, they can have consequences, such as inducing anaerobic metabolism that can lead to a state of acidosis. Finally, shivering thermogenesis requires muscular development of type II fibers in metabolically active muscles such as semitendinosus and biceps femoris, and its thermogenesis needs high energy reserves. One of them is glucose, an element that is limited in newborn ruminants and predisposes them to fast hypoglycemia. For this reason, critical factors like birth weight, available energy resources, and prompt colostrum ingestion need to be considered to prevent cases of hypothermia.

All these changes in microcirculation or metabolic activation of adipose tissue and their reflection of the superficial temperature of ruminant newborns allow the use of IRT as a valuable tool for recognizing hypothermia or identifying critical temperature drops during the first hours of life. The implementation of IRT on determining thermal windows such as ocular, auricular, flank, limbs, and neck, among others, have been shown to provide crucial information on the thermal status of newborn and the amount of heat radiation. However, additional validation is required to determine which ones are most appropriate for evaluation as a complementary step to installing preventive practices in ruminant neonates. Although, it should be noted that the lack of information on the application of IRT in newborn ruminants is a limitation and future studies may focus on this aspect.

References

1. Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, Orihuela A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez-Prado J, Torres-Bernal F, et al. Physiological and behavioral mechanisms of thermoregulation in mammals. *Animals*. (2021) 11:1733. doi: 10.3390/ani11061733

 Reyes-Sotelo B, Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Olmos-Hernández A, Hernández-Ávalos I, José N, et al. Thermal homeostasis in the newborn puppy: behavioral and physiological responses. J Anim Behav Biometeorol. (2021) 9:1– 25. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21012

3. Rowan TG. Thermoregulation in neonatal ruminants. BSAP Occas Publ. (1992) 15:13-24. doi: 10.1017/S0263967X00004055

4. Gordon CJ. Thermal physiology of laboratory mice: defining thermoneutrality. J Therm Biol. (2012) 37:654–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2012.08.004

5. Mellor DJ, Stafford KJ. Animal welfare implications of neonatal mortality and morbidity in farm animals. *Vet J.* (2004) 168:118–33. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2003.08.004

6. Edwards S. Perinatal mortality in the pig: environmental or physiological solutions? *Livest Prod Sci.* (2002) 78:3–12. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00180-X

7. Khounsy S, Nampanya S, Inthavong P, Yang M, Khamboungheung B, Avery M, et al. Significant mortality of large ruminants due to hypothermia in northern and central Lao PDR. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2012) 44:835–42. doi: 10.1007/s11250-011-9975-1

8. Refshauge G, Brien FD, Hinch GN, van de Ven R. Neonatal lamb mortality: factors associated with the death of Australian lambs. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2016) 56:726. doi: 10.1071/AN15121

9. Hassan N, Shaheen M. Bashir S. Hypothermia in a Lamb: A case report. (2020) 8:1777-8.

10. Osilla EV, Sharma S. *Physiology, Temperature Regulation*. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing (2019). p. 1.

11. Christopherson RJ, Kennedy PM. Effect of th thermal environment on digestion in ruminants. *Can J Anim Sci.* (1983) 63:477–96. doi: 10.4141/cjas83-058

12. Kennedy AD, Bergen RD, Christopherson RJ, Glover ND, Small JA. Effect of once daily 5-h or 10-h cold-exposures on body temperature and resting heat production of beef cattle. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2005) 85:177–83. doi: 10.4141/A04-021

13. Carstens GE. Cold thermoregulation in the newborn calf. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract. (1994) 10:69–106. doi: 10.1016/S0749-0720(15)30590-9

Author contributions

All authors contributed to the conceptualization, writing, reading, and approval of the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. Silva FLM, Bittar CMM. Thermogenesis and some rearing strategies of dairy calves at low temperature-a review. *J Appl Anim Res.* (2019) 47:115–22. doi: 10.1080/09712119.2019.1580199

 Bertoni A, Napolitano F, Mota-Rojas D, Sabia E, Álvarez-Macías A, Mora-Medina P, et al.. Similarities and differences between River Buffaloes and cattle: Health, physiological, behavioral and productivity aspects. J Buffalo Sci. (2020) 9:92-109. doi: 10.6000/1927-520X.2020.09.12

16. Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, de Mira Geraldo A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez J, Hernández-Ávalos I, et al. Efficacy and function of feathers, hair, and glabrous skin in the thermoregulation strategies of domestic animals. *Animals.* (2021) 11:3472. doi: 10.3390/ani11123472

17. Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AMF, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Hernández-Avalos I, et al. Clinical applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows used in infrared thermography in cattle and River Buffalo to assess health and broductivity. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2247. doi: 10.3390/ani11082247

18. Casas-Alvarado A, Martínez-Burnes J, Mora-Medina P, Hernández-Avalos I, Domínguez-Oliva A, Lezama-García K, et al. Thermal and circulatory changes in diverse body regions in dogs and cats evaluated by infrared thermography. *Animals.* (2022) 12:789. doi: 10.3390/ani12060789

19. Starck JM, Ricklefs RE. Avian Growth and Development Evolution Within the Altricial Precocial Spectrum. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1998). p. 1–400.

20. Le Dividich J, Herpin P, Geraert PA. Cold stress. In: Phillips R, Piggins D, editors. *Farm Animals and the Environment*. Wallingford: CAB International (1992). p. 3–25.

21. Webster AJF. Environmental stress and the physiology, performance and health of ruminants. J Anim Sci. (1983) 57:1584–93. doi: 10.2527/jas1983.5761584x

22. Nicol AM, Young BA. Short-term thermal and metabolic responses of sheep to ruminal cooling: Effects of level of cooling and physiological state. *Can J Anim Sci.* (1990) 70:833–43. doi: 10.4141/cjas90-102

23. Currie B. Structure and Function of Domestic Animals. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (1992). p. 464.

24. Blaxter K. Energy Metabolism in Animals and Man. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press (1989). p. 336.

25. Kleiber M. The Fire of Life: An Introduction to Animal Energetics. New York, USA: Krieger Publishing (1975). p. 478.

26. Sanin LY, Cabrera AMZ, Morales AMT. Adaptive responses to thermal stress in mammals. *Rev Med Vet.* (2016) 31:121–35.

27. Petko M, Myung RJ, Volk LE, Judkins AR, Ittenbach RF, Gaynor JW. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest in cyanotic piglets is associated with increased neuronal necrosis. *Cardiol Young.* (2021) 31:769–74. doi: 10.1017/S1047951120004606

28. Tyler H, Ramsey H. Hypoxia in neonatal calves: effect on selected metabolic parameters. *J Dairy Sci.* (1991) 74:1957–62. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78362-8

29. Cambier C, Clerbaux T, Detry B, Marville V, Frans A, Gustin P. Blood oxygen binding in hypoxaemic calves. *Vet Res.* (2002) 33:283-90. doi: 10.1051/vetres:2002016

30. Marcato F, van den Brand H, Kemp B, van Reenen K. Evaluating potential biomarkers of health and performance in Veal calves. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:133. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00133

31. Woods SC. Interactions between hypoxia and hypothermia. Annu Rev Physiol. (1991) 53:71-85. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ph.53.030191.000443

32. Dividich J LE, Rooke JA, Herpin P. Nutritional and immunological importance of colostrum for the new-born pig. *J Agric Sci.* (2005) 143:469-85. doi: 10.1017/S0021859605005642

33. Hammon HM, Steinhoff-Wagner J, Flor J, Schönhusen U, Metges CC. Lactation biology symposium: Role of colostrum and colostrum components on glucose metabolism in neonatal calves1,2. *J Anim Sci.* (2013) 91:685–95. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5758

34. Besser TE, Szenci O, Gay CC. Decreased colostral immunoglobulin absorption in calves with postnatal respiratory acidosis. *J Am Vet Med Assoc.* (1990) 196:1239–43.

35. Drewry JJ, Quigley JD, Geiser DR, Welborn MG. Effect of high arterial carbon dioxide tension on efficiency of immunoglobulin G absorption in calves. *Am J Vet Res.* (1999) 60:609–14.

36. Nasr M. The impact of cross-breeding Egyptian and Italian buffalo on reproductive and productive performance under a subtropical environment. *Reprod Domest Anim.* (2017) 52:214–20. doi: 10.1111/rda.12881

37. Martínez- Burnes J, Mota-Rojas D, Napolitano F, López-Mayagoitia A, González- Lozano M, Braghieri A, et al. Mortinatos en la búfala de agua: factores de riesgo fetal y materno. In: Napolitano F, Mota- Rojas D, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Orihuela-Trujillo A, editors. *El búfalo de Agua en Latinoamerica, Hallazgos Recientes*. Mexico City: BM Editores (2020). p. 564–81.

38. Richardson SJ, Wijayagunaratne RC, D'Souza DG, Darras VM, Van Herck SLJ. Transport of thyroid hormones via the choroid plexus into the brain: the roles of transthyretin and thyroid hormone transmembrane transporters. *Front Neurosci.* (2015) 9:66. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00066

39. Mellor D, Diesch T. Birth and hatching: Key events in the onset of awareness in the lamb and chick. N Z Vet J. (2007) 55:51–60. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2007.36742

40. Shayit M, Nowak R, Keller M, Weller A. Establishment of a preference by the newborn lamb for its mother: the role of opioids. *Behav Neurosci.* (2003) 117:446–54. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.117.3.446

41. Nowak R, Poindron P. From birth to colostrum: early steps leading to lamb survival. *Reprod Nutr Dev.* (2006) 46:431–46. doi: 10.1051/rnd:2006023

42. Regueiro M, López-Mazz C, Jorge-Smeding E, Baldi F, Banchero G. Duration of phase II of labour negatively affects maternal behaviour and lamb viability in wool-type primiparous ewes under extensive rearing. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2021) 234:105207. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2020.105207

43. Allan CJ, Holst PJ, Hinch GN. Behaviour of parturient Australian bush goats. I Doe behaviour and kid vigour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1991) 32:55-64. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(05)80163-7

44. Muir GD. Early ontogeny of locomotor behaviour: a comparison between altricial and precocial animals. *Brain Res Bull.* (2000) 53:719-26. doi: 10.1016/S0361-9230(00)00404-4

45. Haman F, Blondin DP, Imbeault M-A, Maneshi A. Metabolic requirements of shivering humans. *Front Biosci.* (2010). S2:124. doi: 10.2741/s124

46. Blondin DP, Haman F. Shivering and nonshivering thermogenesis in skeletal muscles. In: Romavosky AA, editor. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*. Oxford, UK: Elsevier (2018). p. 153–73. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63912-7.00010-2

47. Knight CA, Kamen G. Superficial motor units are larger than deeper motor units in human vastus lateralis muscle. *Muscle Nerve*. (2005) 31:475– 80. doi: 10.1002/mus.20265 48. Schiaffino S, Reggiani C. Fiber types in mammalian skeletal muscles. *Physiol Rev.* (2011) 91:1447–531. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00031.2010

49. Peinado B, Latorre R, Vaquez-Auton JM, Poto A, Ramirez G, Lopez-Albors O, et al. Histochemical skeletal muscle fibre types in the sheep. *Anat Histol Embryol J Vet Med Ser C*. (2004) 33:236–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0264.2004.00545.x

50. Yates DT, Cadaret CN, Beede KA, Riley HE, Macko AR, Anderson MJ, et al. Intrauterine growth-restricted sheep fetuses exhibit smaller hindlimb muscle fibers and lower proportions of insulin-sensitive Type I fibers near term. *Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol*. (2016) 310:1020–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00528.2015

51. Mota D, Orozco H, Villanueva D, Bonilla H, Suárez X, Hernandez R, et al. Foetal and neonatal energy metabolism in pigs and humans: a review. *Vet Med.* (2011) 56:215–25. doi: 10.17221/1565-VETMED

52. Dühlmeier R, Voigt J, Breves G, Sallmann HP. [Contents of the glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4 in oxidative and glycolytic muscles of goat kids and adult goats]. *Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr.* (2005) 112:408–13.

53. Hammon HM, Steinhoff-Wagner J, Schönhusen U, Metges CC, Blum JW. Energy metabolism in the newborn farm animal with emphasis on the calf: endocrine changes and responses to milk-born and systemic hormones. *Domest Anim Endocrinol.* (2012) 43:171–85. doi: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2012.02.005

54. Gemmell RT, Bell AW, Alexander G. Morphology of adipose cells in lambs at birth and during subsequent transition of brown to white adipose tissue in cold and in warm conditions. *Am J Anat.* (1972) 133:143–63. doi: 10.1002/aja.1001330203

55. Habibu B, Kawu M, Aluwong T, Makun H. Postnatal hypoglycemia and blood glucose concentrations in neonatal tropical goat kids. *Vet Clin Pathol.* (2021) 50:525–34. doi: 10.1111/vcp.13028

56. Vannucchi CIC, Rodrigues JJA, Silva LLCG, Lúcio CCF, Veiga GALG, A. clinical and hemogasometric survey of neonatal lambs. *Small Rumin Res.* (2012) 108:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2012.05.013

57. Chen H-J, Ihara T, Yoshioka H, Itoyama E, Kitamura S, Nagase H, et al. Expression levels of brown/beige adipocyte-related genes in fat depots of vitamin A-restricted fattening cattlel. *J Anim Sci.* (2018) 96:3884–96. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky240

58. Lee Y-H, Mottillo EP, Granneman JG. Adipose tissue plasticity from WAT to BAT and in between. *Biochim Biophys Acta-Mol Basis Dis.* (2014) 1842:358-69. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.011

59. Ailhaud G, Grimaldi P, Négrel R. Cellular and molecular aspects of adipose tissue development. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (1992) 12:207–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nu.12.070192.001231

60. Rowland LA, Bal NC, Periasamy M. The role of skeletal-muscle-based thermogenic mechanisms in vertebrate endothermy. *Biol Rev.* (2015) 90:1279–97. doi: 10.1111/brv.12157

61. Smith S, Carstens G. Ontogeny and metabolism of brown adipose tissue in livestock species. In: Burrin D, Mersmann H, editors. *Biology of Growing Animals*. Philadephia, USA: Elsevier (2005). p. 303–22. doi: 10.1016/S1877-1823(09) 70019-0

62. Mostyn A. Endocrine regulation of adipose tissue thermogenesis in the fetal and neonatal sheep. [PhD thesis]. University of Nottingham, Nottingham, NG.

63. Clarke L, Buss D, Juniper D, Lomax M, Symonds M. Adipose tissue development during early postnatal life in ewe-reared lambs. *Exp Physiol.* (1997) 82:1015–27. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.1997.sp004077

64. Thompson GE, Jenkinson M. Adipose tissue in the new-born goat. Res Vet Sci. (1970) 11:102-4. doi: 10.1016/S0034-5288(18)34380-7

65. Louveau I, Perruchot M-H, Bonnet M, Gondret F. Invited review: Pre- and postnatal adipose tissue development in farm animals: from stem cells to adipocyte physiology. *Animal.* (2016) 10:1839–47. doi: 10.1017/S1751731116000872

66. Soppela P, Sormunen R, Saarela S, Huttunen P, Nieminen M. Localization, cellular morphology and respiratory capacity of "brown" adipose tissue in newborn reindeer. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Physiol.* (1992) 101:281–93. doi: 10.1016/0300-9629(92)90534-W

67. Alexander G, Bennett JW, Gemmell RT. Brown adipose tissue in the new-born calf (*Bos taurus*). *J Physiol.* (1975) 244:223–34. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1975.sp010793

68. Tan CL, Knight ZA. Regulation of body temperature by the nervous system. *Neuron.* (2018) 98:31–48. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.02.022

69. Francisco MA, Minson CT. Cutaneous active vasodilation as a heat loss thermoeffector. In: Romavosky AA, editor. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2018). p. 193–209. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63912-7.00012-6

70. Romanovsky AA. Skin temperature: its role in thermoregulation. Acta Physiol. (2014) 210:498–507. doi: 10.1111/apha.12231

71. Robertshaw D. Temperature regulation and the thermal environment. In: Reece WO, editor. *Dukes' Physiology of Domestic Animals*. New York, USA: Cornell University Press (2004). p. 962–973.

72. Tansey EA, Johnson CD. Recent advances in thermoregulation. Adv Physiol Educ. (2015) 39:139-48. doi: 10.1152/advan.00126.2014

73. Bligh J, Cottle WH, Maskrey M. Influence of ambient temperature on the thermoregulatory responses to 5-hydroxytryptamine, noradrenaline and acetylcholine injected into the lateral cerebral ventricles of sheep, goats and rabbits. *J Physiol.* (1971) 212:377–92. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1971.sp009330

74. Knobel RB, Holditch-Davis D, Schwartz TA, Wimmer JE. Extremely low birth weight preterm infants lack vasomotor response in relationship to cold body temperatures at birth. *J Perinatol.* (2009) 29:814–21. doi: 10.1038/jp.2009.99

75. Knobel-Dail RB, Holditch-Davis D, Sloane R, Guenther BD, Katz LM. Body temperature in premature infants during the first week of life: Exploration using infrared thermal imaging. *J Therm Biol.* (2017) 69:118–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2017.06.005

76. Le Dividich J, Noblet J. Thermoregulation and energy metabolism in the neonatal pig. *Ann Rech Vet.* (1983) 14:375–81.

77. Le Dividich J, Noblet J. Colostrum intake and thermoregulation in the neonatal pig in relation to environmental temperature. *Neonatology.* (1981) 40:167–74. doi: 10.1159/000241486

78. Caldara FR, dos Santos LS, Machado ST, Moi M, de Alencar Nääs I, Foppa L, et al. Piglets' surface temperature change at different weights at birth Asian-Australasian. *J Anim Sci.* (2014) 27:431–8. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2013.13505

79. Kozat S. Hypothermia in newborn calves. J Istanbul Vet Sci. (2018) 2:30–7. doi: 10.30704/http-www-jivs-net.409147

80. Harri M, Mononen J, Haapanen K, Korhonen H. Postnatal changes in hypothermic response in farmborn blue foxes and raccoon dogs. *J Therm Biol.* (1991) 16:71–6. doi: 10.1016/0306-4565(91)90001-I

81. Schrank M, Mollo A, Contiero B, Romagnoli S. Bodyweight at birth and growth rate during the neonatal period in three canine breeds. *Animals.* (2019) 10:8. doi: 10.3390/ani10010008

82. Asakura H. Fetal and neonatal thermoregulation. J Nippon Med Sch. (2004) 71:360–70. doi: 10.1272/jnms.71.360

83. Hohtola E. Facultative and obligatory thermogenesis in young birds: a cautionary note. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol.* (2002) 131:733–9. doi: 10.1016/S1095-6433(02)00011-9

84. Hohtola E. Shivering Thermogenesis in Birds and Mammals. In: Barnes M, Carey HV, editors. In: *Life in the Cold: Evolution, Mechanisms, Adaptation, and Application.* Alaska: ARCUS (2004). p. 241–52.

85. Talbot DA, Hanuise N, Rey B, Rouanet J-L, Duchamp C, Brand MD. Superoxide activates a GDP-sensitive proton conductance in skeletal muscle mitochondria from king penguin (*Aptenodytes patagonicus*). Biochem Biophys Res Commun. (2003) 312:983–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.11.022

86. Vanden Hole C, Goyens J, Prims S, Fransen E, Ayuso Hernando M, Van Cruchten S, et al. How innate is locomotion in precocial animals? A study on the early development of spatio-temporal gait variables and gait symmetry in piglets. *J Exp Biol.* (2017) 220:2706–16. doi: 10.1242/jeb.157693

87. Morrison SF, Nakamura K, Madden CJ. Central control of thermogenesis in mammals. *Exp Physiol.* (2008) 93:773–97. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2007.041848

88. Tanaka M, McKinley MJ, McAllen RM. Roles of two preoptic cell groups in tonic and febrile control of rat tail sympathetic fibers. *Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol.* (2009) 296:1248–57. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.91010.2008

89. Madden CJCJ, Morrison SFSF. Central nervous system circuits that control body temperature. *Neurosci Lett.* (2019) 696:225-32. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2018.11.027

90. Alexander G, Williams D. Shivering and non-shivering thermogenesis during summit metabolism in young lambs. *J Physiol.* (1968) 198:251–76. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1968.sp008605

91. Lezama-García K, Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AMF, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Domínguez A, et al. Transient Receptor Potential (TRP) and thermoregulation in animals: structural biology and neurophysiological aspects. *Animals.* (2022) 12:106. doi: 10.3390/ani12010106

92. Buckley BA, Baker JF, Dickerson GE, Jenkins TG. Body composition and tissue distribution from birth to 14 months for three biological types of beef heifers. *J Anim Sci.* (1990) 68:3109–23. doi: 10.2527/1990.68103109x

93. Lammoglia MA, Bellows RA, Grings EE, Bergman JW. Effects of prepartum supplementary fat and muscle hypertrophy genotype on cold tolerance in newborn calves. *J Anim Sci.* (1999) 77:2227. doi: 10.2527/1999.778 2227x

94. Dietz RE, Hall JB, Whittier WD, Elvinger F, Eversole DE. Effects of feeding supplemental fat to beef cows on cold tolerance in newborn calves1. *J Anim Sci.* (2003) 81:885–94. doi: 10.2527/2003.814885x

95. Basse AL, Dixen K, Yadav R, Tygesen MP, Qvortrup K, Kristiansen K, et al. Global gene expression profiling of brown to white adipose tissue transformation in sheep reveals novel transcriptional components linked to adipose remodeling. *BMC Genomics.* (2015) 16:215. doi: 10.1186/s12864-015-1405-8

96. Robertshaw D. The environmental physiology of animal production. In: Clark J, editor. *Environmental Aspects of Housing for Animal Production*. London, UK: Butterworths (1981). p. 3–18. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-408-10688-7.50007-2

97. Verduzco-Mendoza A, Bueno-Nava A, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Olmos-Hernández A, Casas A, et al. Experimental applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows using infrared thermography to assess the health and thermostability of laboratory animals. *Animals*. (2021) 11:3448.

98. Symonds ME, Pope M, Budge H. Adipose tissue development during early life: novel insights into energy balance from small and large mammals. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2012) 71:363–70. doi: 10.1017/S0029665112000584

99. Clarke L, Heasman L, Firth K, Symonds ME. Influence of route of delivery and ambient temperature on thermoregulation in newborn lambs. *Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol.* (1997) 272:1931–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1997.272.6. R1931

100. Chi QS Li XS, Zhao Z, Wang DH. Changes in thermogenic properties of brown adipose tissue and liver during postnatal development in Brandt's voles (*Lasiopodomys brandtii*). Acta Theriol Sin. (2006) 26:274–9.

101. Smith SB, Sweatt CR, Carstens GE. Supplementary prenatal copper increases plasma triiodothyronine and brown adipose tissue uncoupling protein-1 gene expression but depresses thermogenesis in newborn lambs. *Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci.* (2020) 33:506–14. doi: 10.5713/ajas.18.0179

102. Dwyer CM. The welfare of the neonatal lamb. Small Rumin Res. (2008) 76:31-41. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2007.12.011

103. Silva FLM, Miqueo E, da Silva MD, Torrezan TM, Rocha NB, Salles MSV, et al. Thermoregulatory responses and performance of dairy calves fed different amounts of colostrum. *Animals.* (2021) 11:703. doi: 10.3390/ani11030703

104. Casas-Alvarado A, Mota-Rojas D, Hernández-Ávalos I, Mora-Medina P, Olmos-Hernández A, Verduzco-Mendoza A, et al. Advances in infrared thermography: Surgical aspects, vascular changes, and pain monitoring in veterinary medicine. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 92:102664. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102664

105. Villanueva-García D, Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Olmos-Hernández A, Mora-Medina P, Salmerón C, et al. Hypothermia in newly born piglets: Mechanisms of thermoregulation and pathophysiology of death. J Anim Behav Biometeorol. (2021) 9:1–10. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21001

106. Aarts NJM, Gautherine M, Ring EFJ. Thermography. In: 1st European Congress, Organized by the European Thermographic Association with the Collaboration of the American Thermographic Society. Amsterdam: Karger Publishers (1975). p. 262.

107. Luzi F, Mitchell M, Nanni Costa L, Radaelli V. *Thermography: Current Status and Advances in Livestock Animals and in Veterinary Medicine*. Brescia, Italy: Fondazione Iniziative Zooprofilattiche e zootecniche (2013). p. 216.

108. Zanghi BM. Eye and ear temperature using infrared thermography are related to rectal temperature in dogs at rest or with exercise. *Front Vet Sci.* (2016) 3:111. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2016.00111

109. Riemer S, Assis L, Pike TW, Mills DS. Dynamic changes in ear temperature in relation to separation distress in dogs. *Physiol Behav.* (2016) 167:86–91. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.09.002

110. Cebulj-Kadunc N, FrangeŽ R, Kruljc P. Infrared thermography in equine practice. Vet Stanica. (2020) 51:425–32. doi: 10.46419/vs.51.2.1

111. Soroko M, Morel MC. Equine Thermography in Practice. Oxfordshire, UK: CAB International (2014). p. 8.

112. Tattersall GJ. Infrared thermography: a non-invasive window into thermal physiology. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol.* (2016) 202:78–98. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.02.022

113. Mota-Rojas D, Napolitano F, Braghieri A, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Bertoni A, Martínez-Burnes J, et al. Thermal biology in river buffalo in the humid tropics: neurophysiological and behavioral responses assessed by infrared thermography. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2021) 9:1–12. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21003

114. Labeur L, Villiers G, Small AH, Hinch GN, Schmoelzl S. Infrared thermal imaging as a method to evaluate heat loss in newborn lambs. *Res Vet Sci.* (2017) 115:517–22. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.09.023

115. Herpin P, Damon M, Le Dividich J. Development of thermoregulation and neonatal survival in pigs. *Livest Prod Sci.* (2002) 78:25–45. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00183-5

116. McCoard SA, Henderson H V, Knol FW, Dowling SK, Webster JR. Infrared thermal imaging as a method to study thermogenesis in the neonatal lamb. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2014) 54:1497–501. doi: 10.1071/AN14301

117. Deak FLGB, Chacur MGM, de Souza CD, Andrade IB, Cornacini GF, Garcia AR, et al. Effects of physiological stage and season on infrared thermograms of different body areas of dairy cows raised under tropical conditions. *Anim Reprod.* (2019) 16:311–6. doi: 10.21451/1984-3143-AR2017-0023

118. Bertoni A, Mota-Rojas D, Álvarez-Macias A, Mora-Medina P, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Morales-Canela A, et al. Scientific findings related to changes in vascular microcirculation using infrared thermography in the river buffalo. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2020) 8:288–97. doi: 10.31893/jabb. 20038

119. de Souza JBF, de Queiroz JPAF, dos Santos VJS, Dantas MRT, de Lima RN, de Oliveira Lima P, et al. Cutaneous evaporative thermolysis and hair coat surface temperature of calves evaluated with the aid of a gas analyzer and infrared thermography. *Comput Electron Agric.* (2018) 154:222-6. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2018.09.004

120. Hristov H, Dimitrov K, Penev T. Use of infrared thermography to monitor the physiological condition of dairy cows. 2021 12th National Conference with International Participation. IEEE (2021). p. 1–4. doi: 10.1109/ELECTRONICA52725.2021.9513724

121. Prasad S, Prasad RB. Measures of reproductive estimates in rural buffalo herds of Meerut district of Uttar Pradesh (India). *Buffalo Bull*. (1998) 17:27–9.

122. Hashmi HA, Tarique TM, Yang S, Zubair M, Qiu J, Chen G, et al. Factors affecting mortality in buffaloes and calves. *Int J Vet Sci Med.* (2013) 1:1–9.

123. Boro P, Bharali D, Saharia J, Sarma M, Sonowal M, Brahma J. Productive and reproductive performances of Murrah buffalo cows: a review. *J Entomol Zool Stud.* (2020) 8:290–3.

124. Bertoni A, Álvarez-Macías A, Mota-Rojas D, Álvarez-Macias A, Mota-Rojas D. Productive performance of buffaloes and their development options in tropical regions. *Soc Rur Prod Med Amb.* (2019) 19:59–80.

125. Hausman GJ, Basu U, Wei S, Hausman DB, Dodson MV. Preadipocyte and adipose tissue differentiation in meat animals: influence

of species and anatomical location. Annu Rev Anim Biosci. (2014) 2:323–51. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-022513-114211

126. Zhang Y, Otomaru K, Oshima K, Goto Y, Oshima I, Muroya S, et al. Maternal nutrition during gestation alters histochemical properties, and mRNA and microRNA expression in adipose tissue of wagyu fetuses. *Front Endocrinol.* (2022) 12:797680. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.797680

127. McCafferty DJ, Pandraud G, Gilles J, Fabra-Puchol M, Henry P-Y. Animal thermoregulation: a review of insulation, physiology and behaviour relevant to temperature control in buildings. *Bioinspir Biomim.* (2017) 13:011001. doi: 10.1088/1748-3190/aa9a12

128. Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Gómez-Prado J, Carvajal-de la Fuente V, Ghezzi M, et al. Pathophysiology of fever and application of infrared thermography (IRT) in the detection of sick domestic animals: recent advances. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2316. doi: 10.3390/ani11082316

129. Schaefer AL, Cook NJ. Developments in thermal imaging techniques to assess livestock health. In: Berckmans D, editor. *Advances in Precision Livestock Farming*. Cambridge, UK: Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing (2022). p. 442 doi: 10.19103/AS.2021.0090.02

130. Schaefer AL, Cook NJ, Bench C, Chabot JB, Colyn J, Liu T, et al. The non-invasive and automated detection of bovine respiratory disease onset in receiver calves using infrared thermography. *Res Vet Sci.* (2012) 93:928–35. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2011.09.021

131. Zaninelli M, Redaelli V, Luzi F, Bronzo V, Mitchell M. Dell'Orto V, et al. First evaluation of infrared thermography as a tool for the monitoring of udder health status in farms of dairy cows. *Sensors*. (2018) 18:862. doi: 10.3390/s18030862

132. Lowe G, McCane B, Sutherland M, Waas J, Schaefer A, Cox N, et al. Automated collection and analysis of infrared thermograms for measuring eye and cheek temperatures in calves. *Animals.* (2020) 10:292. doi: 10.3390/ani100 20292

133. Bertoni A, Mota-Rojas D, Napolitano F, Crudeli G, Serrapica F, Berdúgo JA, et al. Ventanas térmicas en el búfalo de agua: aspectos prácticos para la valoración reproductiva. In: Napolitano F, Mota- Rojas D, Guerrero- Legarreta J, Orihuela A, editors. *El búfalo de agua en Latinoamérica, hallazgos recientes.* Mexico City, Mexico: BM Editores (2020). p. 690–719. Available online at: https://www.lifescienceglobal.com/journals/journal-of-buffalo-science/97-abstract/jbs/ 4550-el-bufalo-de-agua-en-latinoamerica-hallazgos-recientes (accessed June 5, 2021).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Clara Mancini, The Open University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY

Alexandra Protopopova, University of British Columbia, Canada Ambrose Tinarwo, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Clara Palestrini clara.palestrini@unimi.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 20 June 2022 ACCEPTED 01 August 2022 PUBLISHED 02 September 2022

CITATION

Palestrini C, Minozzi G, Mazzola SM, Lopez A and Cannas S (2022) Do intense weather events influence dogs' and cats' behavior? Analysis of owner reported data in Italy. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:973574. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.973574

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Palestrini, Minozzi, Mazzola, Lopez and Cannas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Do intense weather events influence dogs' and cats' behavior? Analysis of owner reported data in Italy

Clara Palestrini*, Giulietta Minozzi, Silvia Michela Mazzola, Annalaura Lopez and Simona Cannas

Department of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, University of Milan, Lodi, LO, Italy

Climate change is a threat to global health and can affect both veterinary and human health. Intense weather events, including sudden and violent thunderstorms or periods of extreme heat, are predicted to rise in frequency and severity and this could lead owners to significantly change their habits and schedules based on the weather, could modify human management and could aggravate pre-existing behavioral problems in pets. The aims of the present study were to identify and quantify possible weather events impact on management, behavior, and behavioral problems of Italian dogs and cats, based on previous owners' experiences with their animals. Two questionnaires were prepared, one for dogs and one for cats, investigating owners' perceptions of the impact of weather events on their pets' behavior. A number of 392 dogs and 426 cats' owners answered the questionnaire. Our study showed that many behaviors in both species were equally modified by environmental temperature. Play and activity increased with cold weather and decreased with heat, and sleep increased with drops in temperature and with hot weather. In particular, the increase in activity in correspondence with the thermic drop was more significant in males, while the increase in playing behavior was statistically greater in the Sheepdogs and Cattle dogs group1. Weather events did not affect aggressive and house soiling behaviors in both dogs and cats, but weather events, including wild thunderstorms, torrential rains influenced the pets' behavior. Understanding how pets modify their behaviors based on a different owners' schedule and to weather events can help to refine prevention strategies through societal changes and owner education.

KEYWORDS

dog, cat, behavioral problems, owners, extreme weather events

Introduction

Around the world, companion animals are part of human societies (1, 2), and provide people with companionship, improved mental and physical health (including reduced depression, increased levels of oxytocin and decreased blood pressure and cholesterol levels), and expanded social networks. Many of these roles depend on physical activity, but it has been shown that also children and teenage development may benefit from living with pets (3-6). Many aspects of human society benefit from pets: simple companionship, but also work services, such as visual and hearing assistance dogs, medical detection dogs, and military working dogs (7, 8). Worldwide, the statistics describing the numbers of companion animals are scarce. However, according to Vetnosis and European Pet Food Industry Federation, in 2014, there were 223 million registered companion dogs and 220 million registered companion cats worldwide. Many owners consider their dogs and cats as family members and show great concern for their wellbeing. Those owners are prone to invest considerable resources for food and water requirements, living spaces, health conditions, and even pet's emotions and feelings (9-11). Over the years, co-evolution shaped the relationship between humans and pets, influencing human management and pets' behavior. Intense weather events could affect both factors, modifying human management and aggravating pre-existing behavioral problems, since owners could significantly change their habits and schedules based on the weather.

Global climate change is a One Health crisis, threatening both animal and human health (12, 13). Climate change is listed among the World Health Organization's top ten threats to Global Health in 2019, with heat-related illness predicted to contribute to an additional 250,000 human deaths annually by 2030 (14). All organisms live within a limited range of body temperatures, and temperature extremes result in functional constraints. Thermal windows evolved to be as narrow as possible to minimize maintenance costs, resulting in functional differences, between species and subspecies in various climate zones and between populations of a species (15). Direct effects of climatic warming are related to decrements in the organism's performance in growth, reproduction, foraging, immune competence, competitiveness, and behaviors. Moreover, performance in animals falls below its optimum during cooling and warming (15). Since extreme weather events, including thunderstorms, torrential rains, and flooding, are predicted to rise in frequency and severity (16), increased attention is necessary to identify and implement adaptation strategies (17). During last years, changes in temperatures and precipitation patterns have been evidenced in Italy, with events of extreme heat, torrential rains lasting for days and sudden and violent thunderstorms increasingly frequent (18), likely leading owners to change their routine based on the weather conditions. Unfortunately, in these circumstances, pre-existing pathological conditions, such as pathological anxiety or fear, thunderstorm phobia, and cognitive dysfunction in older dogs could worsen (19). Changes in daily routines can create a condition of distress with consequent modification of the main behavioral patterns (20), worsening all forms of anxiety and exacerbating problems such as urinary marking (21, 22), separation anxiety (23) and cognitive dysfunction in elderly subjects (24). Furthermore, subjects who previously suffered from fears or phobias toward loud noises can worsen the symptoms during sudden and violent thunderstorms (25).

At present, there is no specific literature on the subject. To the authors' knowledge, only one study in English (26) has examined the potential environmental impacts related to a dog's entire life cycle. Few studies investigated the most common triggers of heat-related illness and injuries in dogs in the UK (7, 17, 27) and the environmental impacts of companion dog's and cat's food consumption (26). However, limited attention has been given to the environmental factors contributing to canine and feline behavioral changes.

Therefore, the present study aimed to identify and quantify the possible climate change impact on management, behavior, and behavioral problems in an Italian pet dog and cat population.

Methods

Data collection

Two questionnaires were created to obtain owner-reports of the impact of weather events on caretaking as well as their pets' behavioral changes and administered to owners online through social media channels, personal contacts, and information disseminated to veterinarians.

Participants were given written information about the aim and the procedures of the study and the right to withdraw. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant. Participation was voluntary. No sensitive data were collected in both questionnaires, and complete anonymity was guaranteed. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee (reference number 5021, date 18/05/2021). All methods were performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. To meet key requirements for enrolment the survey targeted Italian participants older than 18 years, primary caregivers of a least one dog or one cat.

The questionnaires included three sections (see Supplementary materials 1, 2). The first section contained demographic information on participants (age, gender, number of adults and children in the household), the dog/cat's characteristics and history, and the physical and social environment of the dog/cat. Questions inquired about the home environment (apartment vs. house, urban vs. rural), pets "management (strictly indoor or the number of walks outdoor, place to rest, daily routine), age (current, age at acquisition), sex, reproductive status (entire or neutered/spayed), breed, source of dog/cat (breeder, pet store, shelter, rescue, family, friends, or stray), and the number of dogs or cats in the household. The second section targeted questions on specific behavioral patterns (sleeping, feeding, drinking, activity level). The survey also investigated whether the weather events change modifies the owners" animal management and the animal behavioral

patterns based on previous experiences with their dogs or cats, including the most common behavioral problems (such as aggression, urine marking, fear of loud noises, thunderstorm phobia, etc.) that could be influenced by intense weather events.

Data analysis

Data were entered into Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, 2010, Washington, DC), before being analyzed with SPSS statistical package (SPSS Statistic 27, IBM, Armonk, NY). Descriptive statistics (frequencies and percentages) were calculated to provide a general description of the sample. The data were not normally distributed, so were analyzed using non-parametric test: Kruskal-Wallis and X square test was used to investigate possible associations between the characteristics (e.g., age, sex, and breed) and management of pets and changing in behavior during weather events. Statistical significance was accepted at p < 0.05. A multivariate statistical analysis, principal component analysis (PCA) was used to analyze behavioral traits based on i) increased temperature and ii) after thunderstorms to determine the role of variables and detect common features. PCA plot was used to evaluate the distribution of the subjects according to the considered variables and contribution of the behavioral traits in the two settings. PCA analysis was conducted with the "princomp" function included in the default "stats" package, in R statistical environment version 3.6.2 (www.r-project.org). All PCA graphical representations were produced using R (www.r-project.org).

Results

We collected reports from 392 people who answered the dog questionnaire and 426 the cat questionnaire. In both cases, the highest percentage was represented by women (87% dogs and 87.3% cats) aged between 21 and 40 years (55.1% dogs and 49.7% cats) living in couple (dogs 44.4% and cats 46.7%) without children (80%). Most of the owners who answered the questionnaire lived in northern Italy (69.4% for dogs and 68.1% for cats) in an urban environment (65% dogs, 71.1% cats). Owners believed that weather events had an effect on their pet's behavior (65.3% dogs, 66.9% cats). In particular, the number of purebred cat owners who believe that weather events influenced their cats' behavior was statistically greater than that of European shorthair owners (p < 0.05).

Dogs

FCI classification was used to identify dog breeds. The most represented dogs were crossbreeds (44.4%), followed by Sheepdogs and Cattle dogs (except Swiss Cattle dogs) - group 1-(13%) and Retrievers-Flushing Dogs-Water Dogs-group 8-(9.2%). All other breeds were represented in a smaller percentage. Most dogs were adopted between 2 and 4 months of age (69.6%) and, to a lesser extent, after 5 months (28.1%). Many came from a private individual (34.4%), although a fair number were adopted from kennels (27.3%) or breeders (27%). Dogs included in the study were almost equally distributed between males and females (spayed female 39.3%, intact male 32.9%, neutered male 14.3%, and intact female 13.5%), and were mainly between the ages of 3 and 7 (37.8%) and between 13 months and 3 years (25%). Senior dogs aged 8 to 10 years represented a smaller percentage (15.6%). Most dogs (54.3%) were the only pet in the house. A specific daily routine was followed by most of the dogs (87%) even if the number and duration of walks varied in relation to the outside temperature both in periods of extreme heat (number 79.1%, duration 87.5%), and extreme cold (number 66.1%, duration 76.4%). The walk for 71.7% of dogs lasted from 15 to 60 min and was repeated two to four times a day (79.8%).

Dogs' play behavior and activity were considered normal by 79.1% of owners. These behaviors increased with sudden temperature drops (activity 60.7%, play 56.6%). In particular, the increase in activity in correspondence with the thermic drop was more significant in males (p < 0.05), while the increase in playing behavior was statistically greater (p < 0.05) in the Sheepdogs and Cattle dogs –group1. Most dogs had their own place to sleep (98%), evidenced by having a personal bed (45.7%), although some of them (20.2%) preferred the owners' bed. Sleeping behavior, defined as normal by most owners (92.1%), increased both when the temperature dropped (58.2%) and when the air temperature was excessively hot (66.6%).

Eating behavior, defined normal by most owners (74.5%), increased when there was sudden thermic drops (63%) and decreased with hot temperature (58.7%). Owners reported a significant decrease in appetite due to heat in intact males (p < 0.05).

Most owners (68.9%) defined their dogs' grooming behavior as normal. According to owners, this behavior tended to increase (39.3%) in the warmer seasons slightly.

In our sample, 41.1% of dogs never showed aggressive behavior toward owners, while inter-dog aggression was reported in 33.2% of dogs. House soiling was never reported by 59.9% of the owners, although a fair number of dogs (40.1%) have had episodes of inappropriate elimination in the home. Climatic change didn't seem to have any effect on aggressive and house soiling behaviors.

Owners defined 58.4% of dogs as very reactive/nervous in response to environmental stimuli, but only 11% of owners believed that their dog barked excessively, while 25% believed that their dog's vocalizations were normal.

About half (49.7%) of the dogs considered in our sample were not afraid of loud noises, gunshots and thunderstorms, while a smaller percentage sought for owner attention (21.4%).

In correspondence with heavy thunderstorms or high-intensity incessant rains, dogs showed an increase in nervousness and reactivity (45.9%), fearful behaviors (47.7%), tendency to hide (38.8%), and vocalizations (26.5%). There was also a reduction in activity (48%) and play behavior (33.7%).

Fear behaviors (14%) and vocalizations (7%) are significantly less present in dogs adopted from breeders (p < 0.05). Owners' and dogs' ages did not affect the behaviors considered in the questionnaire.

Cats

European shorthair was the most represented in the questionnaire (85%), followed by smaller percentages of cats of different breeds. Most of the cats were adopted between 2 and 4 months of age (75.6%) and, to a lesser extent, after 5 months (18.8%). Many cats came from colonies -feral cats living outdoors in groups- (34.3%), and about the same number came from a private individuals (31.9%), although a fair number came from rescues (23.7%); cats adopted from breeders were a small percentage (8.5%).

Our sample of cats was almost equally distributed between males and females (spayed female 47.2%, spayed male 44.6%, intact female 4.5%, and intact male 3.8%), mainly between the ages of 3 and 7 (35.9%) and between 13 months and 3 years (26.3%). Senior cats (over 10 years) represented a smaller percentage (12.9%). Most cats (42.5%) were the only pet in the house, although as many (41.8%) lived with another cat.

Most of the cats followed a specific daily routine (78.4%). Cats mostly (63.4%) lived in apartments, and 53.3% were exclusively indoor, while 46.7% had access outdoor. Number and duration of outside activities varied in relation to the outside temperature, both in periods of extreme heat (number 65.1%, duration 75.3%) and extreme cold (number 69.5%, duration 75.8%).

Cats' play behavior and activity were considered normal by 70% of the owners. Owners reported that these behaviors changed during weather events. In particular, extreme heat led to a decrease in the level of activity (76.6%), while this behavior tends to increase with cold temperature (66.1%). Play behavior also increased in relation to temperature lowering (63.8%).

Most cats had their own place to rest (93.7%), and in 38.7% the preferred resting place was the owners' bed. Sleeping behavior, defined as normal by most owners (91.1%), increased both when the temperature dropped (76.4%) and when the climate was excessively hot (77.2%). Eating behavior, defined as normal by most owners (76.5%) increased with sudden thermic drops (78.7%) and decreased with hot temperature (71.8%). Food was always available for most of the cats (81%).

Most owners (87.1%) described grooming behavior as normal. This behavior tended to slightly increase (46.9%) in the colder seasons. In our sample, 37.1% of cats never showed



aggressive behavior toward owners, while inter-cat aggression was reported in 25.3% of cats.

Inappropriate elimination was never reported by 58.7% of the owners, although a fair number of cats (41.3%) have had episodes of house soiling. Marking behavior by rubbing their face or scratching on objects was shown by 70.7% of the cats considered in our sample. Climatic change did not appear to have any effect on aggressive and house soiling behaviors.

64.8% of the owners defined their cats as very reactive/nervous in response to environmental stimuli, but only 15.3% of owners believed that their cat vocalized excessively, while 61.5% believed that their cat's vocalizations were normal.

Most (60%) of the cats considered in our sample were afraid of loud noises, gunshots, and thunderstorms, while a smaller percentage (31.9%) did not show any behavioral reaction toward these stimuli. In correspondence with heavy thunderstorms or high-intensity incessant rains, cats showed an increase in nervousness and reactivity (46.8%), fearful behaviors (57.7%), tendency to hide (55.6%), and vocalizations (30.8%). Fear behaviors were significantly higher in cats older than 1 year of age and adopted from rescues (p < 0.05).

The age of the owners and the age of the cats did not affect the behaviors considered in the questionnaire.

PCA analysis

PCA results are shown using the first two components (PC1 and PC2) as axis (Figures 1–8). These two components together explained 48.2% of the variation for dogs and 49.2% for cats with the increase in temperature, and 65.5% of the variation for dogs and 62.5% for cats with the increase in thunderstorm.





For both cats and dogs, the PCA analysis showed homogeneity of the sample: we did not find any clustering based on individuals' sex or age. Individuals with a similar profile are grouped together in the graph of individuals (cats or dogs) (Figures 1, 3, 5, 7). In the graph of variables (Figures 2, 4, 6, 8), positively correlated variables point to the same side of the plot, while negatively correlated variables point to opposite sides of the graph. The contribution of the variables is colored depending on their importance. With the increase in temperature, dogs were more differentiated by behaviors such as play and activity, thunderstorm and noise fear (Figure 2), while cats were more differentiated by behaviors such as play and activity (Figure 6). With the increase in thunderstorms, both dogs and cats were more differentiated by behaviors such as thunderstorm and noise fear, and hiding (Figures 4, 8).

Discussion

Veterinary and medical public health are threatened by global climate change, which is considered a One Health crisis (12, 13). Weather events can directly affect dogs' and cats' behavior, since their organism implements complex physiological mechanisms to restore body homeostasis. Moreover, owners could be induced to change their management routine based on the weather conditions, and this could be a factor that indirectly influences pets' behavior. It is known that changes in daily routines create a condition of distress that modifies the main behavioral patterns (18) and worsen pre-existing pathological conditions, such as anxiety, fear and loud noises or thunderstorm phobia. Behavioral





problems such as urinary marking (21, 22), separation anxiety (23), and cognitive dysfunction in elderly subjects (24) may also be exacerbated. In literature, limited attention has been given to the environmental factors that may contribute to canine and feline behavior change.

Our sample resulted to be very homogeneous in terms of both owners and pets. Our results showed that owners' and pets' age did not affect the behaviors considered in the questionnaire. As confirmed by the PCA analysis, little difference was found comparing dogs and cats, which were equally distributed between sex and age. Most owners followed a specific daily routine, even if the number and duration of outside activities were adapted to the outside temperature in extreme heat or cold periods. Heat-related illness is a potentially fatal condition inflicted on pets, bound to be more frequent as global temperatures rise. Older animals are at greater risk of developing a heat-related illness, even from sitting outside in hot weather. Extreme heat events are known to typically affect socially vulnerable patients, such as those with advanced age or chronic medical conditions, which may be confined indoors and be less resilient to natural hazards such as heatwaves (7, 28-30). Older dogs are more likely to suffer from underlying health conditions that impact thermoregulation, such as metabolic dysfunction or heart disease (31), which could increase the likelihood of environmental illnesses (32). Global warming will lead to the need to expand cooling strategies, which will inevitably include our canine and feline companions, as they can suffer fatal consequences when we fail to keep them safe (7, 27).

Our study showed that many behaviors in both species were equally modified by environmental temperature. Play and activity increased with cold weather and decreased with heat, and sleep increased with drops in temperature and with hot weather. Different factors appear to influence sleep in dogs, including diet and frequency of feeding (33), changes in housing conditions (34), changes in working routine (35), and activity levels during the day (36), but to our knowledge, no studies reported a relation of sleep and activity level to



environmental temperature. Our results are possibly related to the direct influence of temperature on behavior but also to the consequence of the temperature-induced changes in daily routine.

The increase in activity in correspondence with the thermic drop was more significant in whole males; this result may be related to testosterone, which exerts a positive action on energy metabolism (37) and it could also relate to the difference in activity level between males and females and between gonadectomized and no-gonadectomized subjects (38–41).

We found a statistically significant increase in Sheepdogs and Cattle dogs (group 1) playing behavior in the presence of thermic drop: this result could be related to breed activity needs.

A lower propensity to play in high ambient temperatures could be considered a factor of rapid environmental adaptation since Hall et al. (7) found that exercise was the most common trigger of heat-related illness in dogs. Heatstroke caused by exercise was just as likely to kill as heatstroke from a hot car. Respiratory diseases, such as brachycephalic obstructive airway disorder (BOAS), have been shown to accelerate the increase in body temperature during exercise (42), and brachycephalic dogs have intrinsically greater odds of developing heat-related illness compared to dogs with longer muzzle (27). Heat regulation problems are reported to affect around a third of brachycephalic dogs (42) and obesity has been reported as a significant risk factor for death in dogs presenting with heat-related illness (44).

Our survey evidenced that feeding behavior was also affected by weather events, with an increase of feed intake during the cold season and a decrease in the heat: this type of feed control is part of the body temperature and metabolism homeostasis system



(21). In cats, an increase in grooming behavior was observed in correspondence with temperature increases, probably due to the evaporative cooling losses through the skin and the hair licking (43, 45).

Weather events did not affect aggressive and house soiling behaviors in both dogs and cats.

Weather events, including wild thunderstorms, torrential rains influenced our pets' behavior. In correspondence with heavy thunderstorms or high-intensity incessant rains, increased nervousness and reactivity, fearful behaviors, tendency to hide, and vocalizations were observed. When an animal lives in a stressful situation, physiological changes occur, to prepare the animals' response to the perceived danger. From a behavioral viewpoint, the most frequently observed signs of fear are avoidance, immobility, and flight (46–48). Behavioral signs of



fear may include increased vigilance, reactivity, and motor activity (pacing). There may also be excessive demands for human attention and reassurance in sociable individuals (cats or dogs). Equally, a fearful animal may show behavioral inhibition, shyness, avoidance, reduction of locomotor activity (freezing), hiding, and running away (49, 50). Stress associated with fear and anxiety can have negative impacts on health, welfare, behavior, and lifespan (49, 50), depending on both the nature of the stressor (intensity, duration, persistence, etc.) and the coping skills of the individual (51–53).

Our results evidenced that fear behaviors and vocalizations during thunderstorms were significantly less present in dogs adopted from breeders and higher present in cats older than 1 year of age and adopted from rescues. Behavioral responses to noises have a relatively high prevalence in the owned dog and cat population and are related to early sensitive periods, suggesting that early experience is an essential factor in the development of fear responses (54–56). Rescues animals therefore could have higher risk to develop high sensitivity to noise fear.

The result of this study represents a step toward the improvement of owners' awareness on management tools that can limit their animal exposure to sudden weather events. Without appropriate mitigation strategies, as extreme weather events continues to increase, also the frequency of heatwave and heavy thunderstorm events and the number of dogs and cats experiencing environmental stressors will likely to increase.

This study highlights canine and feline behavioral modification related to weather events in Italy. The main limitation of this study relates to the use of a questionnaire and the use of self-reported data. Our data refer to owners' perceptions, who detect the behaviors of their pet in the daily routine and in the presence of intense atmospheric events. Since the behaviors are not directly observed, there is a level of uncertainty in the accuracy of the results. Moreover, survey participants were recruited *via* social media and veterinarians, meaning the study likely selected for a demographic of dog and cat owners more actively engaged with their pet's health.

Understanding how dogs and cats modify their behaviors based on weather events can help to refine prevention strategies through owner education and societal changes (57). Domestic dogs and cats often share their owners' home and leisure activities, including walking, running, and other sports (55). Dogs increasingly accompany their owners to the workplace (58) and are often included in travel and holiday plans. No other species more intimately intertwines with the human lifestyle, meaning dogs potentially face similar levels of both environmental and exertional heat exposure to humans. How dogs are transported, housed, and managed will also influence heat-related illness risk. As the frequency of extreme weather events such as heat waves or intense thunderstorms is increasing, society needs to prepare strategies to mitigate their effects (59) to protect both human and canine health (44).

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee (reference number 5021, date 18/05/2021) University of Milan, Italy. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The animal study was reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee (reference number 5021, date 18/05/2021) University of Milan, Italy. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

Author contributions

Conceptualization, methodology, supervision, project administration, funding acquisition, and investigation: CP and SC. Data curation: SC, AL, and GM. Formal analysis: GM. Writing—original draft preparation: CP. Writing—review and editing: CP, SC, AL, SM, and GM. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

The authors declare that this study received funding from MSD Animal Health Srl. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication.

Acknowledgments

Thanks to Liliana Colombo for supporting and collaboration.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fvets.2022.973574/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Martens P, Su B, Deblomme S. The ecological paw print of companion dogs and cats. *Bioscience*. (2019) 69:467–74. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biz044

2. Amiot C, Bastian B, Martens P. People and companion animals: it takes two to tango. *Bioscience*. (2016) 66:552–60. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biw051

3. Wood L, Giles-Corti B, Bulsara M. The pet connection: pets as a conduit for social capital? *Soc Sci Med.* (2005) 61:1159– 73. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.01.017

4. Cutt H, Giles-Corti B, Knuiman M, Burke V. Dog ownership, health and physical activity: a critical review of the literature. *Health Place.* (2007) 13:261–72. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2006.01.003

5. Beverland MB, Farrelly F, Lim EAC. Exploring the dark side of pet ownership: Status- and control-based pet consumption. *J Bus Res.* (2008) 61:490–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.08.009

6. Okin GS. Environmental impacts of food consumption by dogs and cats. *PLoS ONE*. 12:e0181301. (2017). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181301

7. Hall EJ, Carter AJ, O'neill DG. Dogs don't die just in hot cars—exertional heat- related illness (Heatstroke) is a greater threat to UK dogs. *Animals.* (2020) 10:1–21. doi: 10.3390/ani10081324

8. Hoffman JM, Creevy KE, Franks A, O'Neill DG, Promislow DEL. The companion dog as a model for human aging and mortality. *Aging Cell.* (2018) 17. doi: 10.1111/acel.12737

9. Flynn CP. Battered women and their animal companions: symbolic interaction between human and nonhuman animals. *Soc Anim.* (2000) 8:99–127. doi: 10.1163/156853000511032

10. Martens P, Enders-Slegers MJ, Walker JK. The emotional lives of companion animals: attachment and subjective claims by owners of cats and dogs. *Anthrozoos*. (2016) 29:73–88. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2015.1075299

11. Su B, Koda N, Martens P. How Japanese companion dog and cat owners' degree of attachment relates to the attribution of emotions to their animals. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0190781. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190781

12. Bell JE, Brown CL, Conlon K, Herring S, Kunkel KE, Lawrimore J, et al. Changes in extreme events and the potential impacts on human health. *J Air Waste Manag Assoc.* (2018) 68:265–87. doi: 10.1080/10962247.2017.1401017

13. Rabaiotti D, Woodroffe R. Coping with climate change: limited behavioral responses to hot weather in a tropical carnivore. *Oecologia*. (2019) 189:587–99. doi: 10.1007/s00442-018-04329-1

14. World Heath Organization. Ten *Threats to Global Health in 2019*. Available online at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/ten-threats-to-global-healthin-2019

15. Pörtner HO, Farrell AP. Physiology and climate change. Science. (2008) 322:690-2. doi: 10.1126/science.1163156

16. John DA, Leventhal JS. Bioavailability of Metals (1995).

17. Moon KE, Wang S, Bryant K, Gohlke JM. Environmental Heat Exposure Among Pet Dogs in Rural and Urban Settings in the Southern United States. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:742926. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.742926

18. Zollo AL, Rillo V, Bucchignani E, Montesarchio M, Mercogliano P. Extreme temperature and precipitation events over Italy: assessment of high-resolution simulations with COSMO-CLM and future scenarios. *Int J Climatol.* (2016) 36:987–1004. doi: 10.1002/joc.4401

19. Protopopova A, Ly LH, Eagan BH, Brown KM. Climate change and companion animals: identifying links and opportunities for mitigation and adaptation strategies. *Integr Comp Biol.* (2021) 61:166-81. doi: 10.1093/icb/icab025

20. Palestrini C. Situational sensitivies. In: Horwitz D, Mills D, editors. BSAVA Manual of Canine and Feline Behavioural Medicine 2nd Ed. Gloucester, MA: BSAVA Publications (2010). p. 164. doi: 10.22233/9781905319879.16

21. Houpt K. A Housesoiling: treatment of a common feline problem. *Vet Med.* (1992) 86:1000–6.

22. Frank D, Dehasse J. Differential diagnosis and management of humandirected aggression in cats. *Vet Clin Small Anim Pract.* (2003) 33:269– 86. doi: 10.1016/S0195-5616(02)00131-6

23. Cannas S, Frank D, Mineroa M, Aspesia A, Benedettia R, Palestrini C, et al. Video analysis of dogs suffering from anxiety when left home alone and treated with clomipramine *J Vet Behav Clin Appl Res.* (2014) 9:50-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2013.12.002

24. Gunn-Moore DA. Cognitive dysfunction in cats: clinical assessment and management. *Top Companion Anim Med.* (2011) 26:17–24. doi: 10.1053/j.tcam.2011.01.005

25. Grigg EK, Chou J, Parker E, Gatesy-Davis A, Clarkson ST, Hart LA, et al. Stress-related behaviors in companion dogs exposed to common household noises, and owners' interpretations of their dogs' behaviors. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:760845. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.760845

26. Yavor KM, Lehmann A, Finkbeiner M. Environmental impacts of a pet dog: an LCA case study. *Sustain.* (2020) 12:3394. doi: 10.3390/su12083394

27. Hall EJ, Carter AJ, O'Neill DG. Incidence and risk factors for heat-related illness (heatstroke) in UK dogs under primary veterinary care in 2016. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-66015-8

28. Su B, Martens P. Environmental impacts of food consumption by companion dogs and cats in Japan. *Ecol Indic.* (2018) 93:1043– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.06.015

29. Lewis AM. Heatstroke in older adults: in this population it's a short step from heat exhaustion. *Am J Nurs.* (2007) 107:52-6. doi: 10.1097/01.NAJ.0000271850.53462.06

30. Gaudio FG, Grissom CK. Cooling Methods in Heat Stroke. J Emerg Med. (2016) 50:607–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2015.09.014

31. Mattin MJ, Boswood A, Church DB, López-Alvarez J, McGreevy PD, O'Neil DG, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for degenerative mitral valve disease in dogs attending primary-care veterinary practices in England. *J Vet Intern Med.* (2015) 29:847–54. doi: 10.1111/jvim.12591

32. Kuzuya M. Heatstroke in older adults. Japan Med Assoc J. (2013) 56:193-8.

33. Zanghi BM, Kerr W, Gierer J, de Rivera C, Araujo JA, Milgram NW, et al. Characterizing behavioral sleep using actigraphy in adult dogs of various ages fed once or twice daily. *J Vet Behav Clin Appl Res.* (2013) 8:195–203. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2012.10.007

34. Adams GJ, Johnson, KG. Sleep-wake cycles and other night-time behaviours of the domestic dog Canis familiaris. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1993) 36:233–48. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(93)90013-F

35. Adams GJ, Johnson KG. Sleep, work, and the effects of shift work in drug detector dogs Canis familiaris. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1994) 41:115–26. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(94)90056-6

36. Kis A, Szakadát S, Kovács E, Gácsi M, Simor P, Gombos F, et al. Development of a non-invasive polysomnography technique for dogs (Canis familiaris). *Physiol Behav.* (2014) 130:149–56. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014. 04.004

37. Bermingham EN, Thomas DG, Cave NJ, Morris PJ, Butterwick RF, German AJ, et al. Energy requirements of adult dogs: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e0109681. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109681

38. Hart BL. Behavioral effects of castration. Canine Pract. (1976) 3:10-21.

39. Heidenberger E, Unshelm J. Changes in the behavior of dogs after castration. *Tierarztl Prax.* (1990) 18:69–75. 40. Hopkins SG, Shubert TA, Hart BL. Castration of adult male dogs: effects on roaming, aggression, urine marking, and mounting. *J Am Vet Med Assoc.* (1976) 168:1108–10.

41. Palestrini C, Mazzola SM, Caione B, Groppetti D, Pecile AM, Minero M, et al. Influence of gonadectomy on canine behavior. *Animals.* (2021) 11:1–2. doi: 10.3390/ani11020553

42. Lilja-Maula L, Lappalainen AK, Hyytiäinen HK, Kuusela E, Kaimio M, Schildt K, et al. Comparison of submaximal exercise test results and severity of brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome in English bulldogs. *Vet J.* (2017) 219:22–6. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2016.11.019

43. Packer RMA, O'Neill DG, Fletcher F, Farnworth MJ. Great expectations, inconvenient truths, and the paradoxes of the dog-owner relationship for owners of brachycephalic dogs. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0219918. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219918

44. Bruchim Y, Klement E, Saragusty J, Finkeilstein E, Kass P, Aroch I, et al. Heat stroke in dogs: a retrospective study of 54 cases (1999-2004) and analysis of risk factors for death. J Vet Intern Med. (2006) 20:38-46. doi:10.1111/j.1939-1676.2006.tb02821.x

45. Hart BL. Feline behavior: the role of grooming activity. *Feline Pract.* (1976) 3:14-6.

46. Scott JP, Fuller JL. *Genetics and the Social Behavior of the Dog.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press (1965).

47. King T, Hemsworth PH, Coleman GJ. Fear of novel and startling stimuli in domestic dogs *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2003) 82:45–64. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(03)00040-6

48. Hydbring-Sandberg E, von Walter LW, Höglund K, Svartberg K, Swenson L, Forkman B. Physiological reactions to fear provocation in dogs. *J Endocrinol.* (2004) 180:439–48. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1800439

49. Sheppard G, Mills DS. Evaluation of dog-appeasing pheromone as a potential treatment for dogs fearful of fireworks. *Vet Rec.* (2003) 152:432-6. doi: 10.1136/vr.152.14.432

50. Overall KL. Noise phobia in dogs. In: Horwitz DF, Mills DS, editors. BSAVA Manual of Canine and Feline Behavioural Medicine. Gloucester, MA: Wiley (2002).

51. Landsberg GM, Mougeot I, Kelly S, Milgram NW. Assessment of noiseinduced fear and anxiety in dogs: modification by a novel fish hydrolysate supplemented diet. *J Vet Behav.* (2015) 10:391–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2015.05.007

52. Dreschel NA. The effects of fear and anxiety on health and lifespan in pet dogs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2010) 125:157– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.04.003

53. Maccariello CEM, Franzini de Souza CC, Morena L, Dias DPM, de Medeiros MA. Effects of acupuncture on the heart rate variability, cortisol levels and behavioural response induced by thunder sound in beagles. *Physiol Behav.* (2018) 186:37–44. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.01.006

54. Appleby DL, Bradshaw JWS, Casey RA. Relationship between aggressive and avoidance behaviour by dogs and their experience in the first six months of life. *Vet Rec.* (2002) 150:434–8. doi: 10.1136/vr.150.14.434

55. Dale AR, Walker JK, Farnworth MJ, Morrissey SV, Waran NK. A survey of owners' perceptions of fear of fireworks in a sample of dogs and cats in New Zealand. *N Z Vet J.* (2010) 58:286–91. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2010.69403

56. Blackwell EJ, Bradshaw JWS, Casey RA. Fear responses to noises in domestic dogs: prevalence, risk factors and co-occurrence with other fear related behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 145:15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.12.004

57. Bartlett PC, Van Buren JW, Neterer M, Zhou C. Disease surveillance and referral bias in the veterinary medical database. *Prev Vet Med.* (2010) 94:264–71. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.01.007

58. Foreman AM, Glenn MK, Meade BJ, Wirth O. Dogs in the workplace: a review of the benefits and potential challenges. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2017) 14:498. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14050498

59. Environmental Audit Committee. Heatwaves: Adapting to Climate Change Ninth Report of Session 2017-19 Report. The House of Commons. (2018). p. 1–51.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, University of São Paulo, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Ibrar Muhammad Khan, Fuyang Normal University, China Muhammad Zahoor Khan, University of Agriculture, Pakistan Saqib Umer, University of Agriculture, Pakistan

*CORRESPONDENCE

Severino Guilherme Caetano Gonçalves dos Santos guilhermeufpb@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 07 July 2022 ACCEPTED 27 October 2022 PUBLISHED 16 November 2022

CITATION

Santos SGCG, Saraiva EP, Gonzaga Neto S, Maia MIL, Lees AM, Sejian V, Maia ASC, Medeiros GR and Fonséca VFC (2022) Heat tolerance, thermal equilibrium and environmental management strategies for dairy cows living in intertropical regions. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:988775. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.988775

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Santos, Saraiva, Gonzaga Neto, Maia, Lees, Sejian, Maia, Medeiros and Fonsêca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Heat tolerance, thermal equilibrium and environmental management strategies for dairy cows living in intertropical regions

Severino Guilherme Caetano Gonçalves dos Santos^{1*}, Edilson Paes Saraiva², Severino Gonzaga Neto³, Maria Isabelly Leite Maia², Angela M. Lees⁴, Verassamy Sejian⁵, Alex Sandro Campos Maia⁶, Geovergue Rodrigues de Medeiros¹ and Vinícius de França Carvalho Fonsêca^{6,7}

¹Department of Animal Production, National Institute of Semiarid (INSA), Campina Grande, Brazil, ²Research Group in Bioclimatology, Behavior and Animal Welfare (BIOET), Department of Animal Science, Federal University of Paraiba (UFPB), Areia, Brazil, ³Research Group in Cattle Farming (GEABOV), Department of Animal Science, Federal University of Paraiba (UFPB), Areia, Brazil, ⁴School of Agriculture and Food Sciences, Animal Science Group, The University of Queensland, Gatton, QLD, Australia, ⁵Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Veterinary Education and Research (RIVER), Kurumbapet, India, ⁶Innovation in Thermal Comfort and Animal Welfare (INOBIO-MANERA), São Paulo State University, Jaboticabal, Brazil, ⁷Brain Function Research Group, School of Physiology, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa

This review makes an attempt to characterize the physical attributes of heat tolerance, thermal equilibrium and thermal stress thresholds for dairy cows living in tropical environments, with a particular emphasis on pasture-based systems. Under such circumstances, the radiant heat load is the principal climatic factor that determines rates of heat and mass exchanges between cows and the environment. This fact may explain why simple mechanistic models based on air temperature and humidity are not adequately predicting thermal stress thresholds for cattle in tropical regions. To overcome this limitation, the Index of Thermal Stress for Cows (ITSC) and Index for the time spent in shade (ITS), which account for various sources of thermal radiation, were proposed to predict autonomous and behavioral thermoregulation of cows. Overall, the evolutionary adaptation of cattle in tropics favored animals that have cutaneous surface with a skin well protected against penetration of ultraviolet solar radiation (UV), covered by a coat surface with high thermal conductivity. For Holstein breed, although predominantly black animals absorb greater levels of short-wave solar radiation, they may present better protection of skin than white ones. However, dark-colored cows in tropical pastures have potential to absorb as much as $640 \text{ W} \text{ m}^{-2}$ of thermal radiation. This amount of heat load would require close to 1,300 g h^{-1} of cutaneous evaporative water loss through sweating to prevent increases to body temperature, where cows do not have access to shade. Cows are motivated to reduce time spent grazing and to seek shade when solar irradiance exceeds 550 W m⁻², levels that in equatorial latitudes are likely to occur between 08:00 and 16:00h. This information may help producers improve the welfare of cows, as they can determine more comfortable hours for them to graze, for example, by employing nocturnal grazing. Over the daytime, cows should have access to areas with shade and this could include shade provided *via* solar panels, which has the potential to improve thermal comfort and sustainability of dairy production in tropical areas.

KEYWORDS

dairy cows, thermoregulation, evolutionary adaptation, thermal equilibrium, solar radiation

Introduction

Over the last century the dairy cattle populations originated from temperate climates, and that were introduced in tropical regions have acquired phenotypic characteristics that have supported thermal tolerance, *via* either natural or artificial evolutionary adaptation (1, 2). Cows in tropical environments may be exposed to higher radiant heat load than cows in temperate climates, as high levels of solar irradiance in tropics are nearly constant throughout the year, and most cows are kept in open field conditions (3–5). The most appropriate cattle phenotype for better thermal tolerance includes a set of radiative and physical properties of body surface characteristics (1, 6) that protect skin against deep penetration of ultraviolet radiation (UV) and facilitates mass and heat transference to the environment (7, 8).

The combination of a light-colored coat surface over a well-pigmented skin results more incident short-wave solar radiation being reflected, and less being transmitted throughout the skin (9). Regarding the morphological aspects of coat surface, the combination of well-settled and thick hairs favors less resistance to the diffusion of heat and water vapor throughout the boundary layer (10). While these characteristics of skin and coat surface are prominent in Bos indicus cattle breeds as Nellore (9), Holstein cattle and other Bos taurus breeds, with exception of Jersey, have skin pigmentation accompanying the coat color. In other words, predominantly white (or red) Holstein cows have a low-pigmented skin, which make them more susceptible to skin damage when exposed to high levels of short-wave solar radiation. This may explain reasons for greater abundance of predominantly black Holstein cows in these regions, as they are better protected against negative effects of UV transmission (1).

Dark-colored cows may however absorb heat by thermal radiation twice as much as the light-colored ones (Figure 1), therefore would need to sustain greater rates of cutaneous evaporation to maintain the thermal equilibrium (11), if they are kept in tropical pastures without access to shade. The thermal radiation is the principal meteorological factor that



FIGURE 1 Pictures of purebred white and black Holstein cows taken in a commercial farm, Latitude = 7° S. Source: Courtesy of Severino Guilherme C.G. dos Santos.

influences thermal equilibrium of cows in tropical conditions, and consequently heat stress thresholds (12–14). This fact implies that more simplistic mechanistic models based on air temperature and humidity are very misleading to predict impacts of the thermal environment on thermoregulation and productive performance of cows in tropical areas (5, 15), as usually has been done (16). One topic of this review is to provide more appropriate approaches to improve the characterization of the thermal environment faced by a cow in a tropical environment.

Previous reviews have highlighted physiological responses of thermoregulation and productive performance outcomes of dairy cows exposed to heat stress events in temperate climates, yet few attempt to characterize the physical attributes of heat tolerance, thermal equilibrium, heat stress thresholds, and ameliorative strategies for dairy cows living in intertropical zones, particularly in Brazil, where thermal radiation is abundant and constant throughout the year. This review aims to address these topics with an emphasis on Holstein cattle. This breed was introduced in tropical areas many years ago, and currently, at least in Brazil, is the most used breed in dairy production systems. Ultimately, concerning the possible adaptive strategies to ameliorate negative impacts of solar radiation on cows, we want to highlight the Animal Agrivoltaic (17), a solution that uses photovoltaic panels to generate renewable electrical energy and to project shade for animals.

Evolutionary adaptation of dairy cattle in Brazilian tropical regions: An emphasis on heat tolerance traits

Cattle were introduced to Brazil during the early colonization and exploration attempts; the surviving animals then reproduced and adapted to the new environment, being known as "crioulo", "local" or naturalized (18). Zebu cattle (*Bos indicus*) were imported from India at the end of the nine-teeth century and largely disseminated over the Brazilian territory, crossing with naturalized breeds (19). With the aim at improving dairy productivity, during the 1920s and 1930s, there were attempts to introduce several European cattle breeds as Holstein, Jersey, and Brown Swiss (20). Although more productive, these animals were not adaptable to the new environment, especially to the thermal conditions (2).

Around the 1940s Brazilian farmers began to cross the Gir (an imported Bos indicus breed) with the Holstein (20-22), in order to attain the hybrid vigor, and to develop a high producing yet heat-tolerant breed. Indeed, milk yield of Holstein x Gir crosses averaged 2,574 kg per 305 days, significantly higher than the 1,600 kg produced by Gir in India (23, 24); this superiority increases with the Holstein contribution (e.g., from 1/2 to 7/8) (22). Most dairy cattle population in Brazil is currently represented by crossbreds (mainly Holstein x Gir), mostly kept under pasture based-systems (21). Furthermore, as a result of almost 100 years of evolution in tropical regions, the phenotypic aspects of purebred Holstein cattle are much different when compared with contemporary Holsteins living in temperate climates, particularly that associated with heat tolerance (8-10). For instance, the effective thermal conductivity (W m⁻² K⁻¹) of body surface of Holstein cows living in Brazil was reported to be much higher than those in temperate conditions, which is explained due to the lower coat thickness of the Brazilian cows (2.4 vs. 25 mm) (1).

Heat tolerance is determined by the relationship between metabolic heat production and the ability to dissipate body heat (2). The coat color is the primary determinant of the amount of radiant heat absorbed over the body surface, sourced from short-wave solar radiation (i.e., spectral range from 300 to 3,600 nm). Although black-haired cows absorb more incident radiation (*circa* 91%) than the white-haired ones (close to 35%) ((9), Figure 2), Holstein cattle population in Brazil is mostly represented by black animals (6, 8, 9, 25, 26, 60). This information seems to evidence that adaptation of Holstein cattle in tropical regions favored selection of traits that are of greater importance to animal fitness than a body surface that absorbs less radiant heat.

Light coats of European cattle breeds, with exception of Jersey, coexists with a low-pigmented skin (9, 10) in response to a gene action that blocks melanogenesis (27). Breeds or animals with this characteristic are likely to be more susceptible to the harmful effects, e.g., skin burns and neoplasia (Figure 2), of the ultraviolet radiation (spectral range between 200 and 390 nm). Mixed colored Holstein cows in equatorial regions of Brazil were reported with serious cutaneous tissue damage only in white spots (25). Because black spots are over a well pigmented skin, less UV radiation is transmitted throughout dermis and epidermis (Figure 2).

Black cows however present higher absorption of thermal radiation and therefore have more body heat to be dissipated than white-haired cows, particularly if they are exposed to solar radiation. The thermal balance of the body surface is determined by a combination of radiative properties and arrangement of individual hairs, which in turn, is a function of density and inclination angle of the hairs at the skin surface (28). A body surface with a less-dense coat, thick, short, and well settled hairs characterize most cattle breeds well adapted to tropical conditions, including Holstein (7). These characteristics favor less still air to be trapped within the boundary layer, which in turn, gives less resistance to the diffusion of heat and water vapor, and enhances dissipation of heat and mass (mainly through sweating) to the environment (1).

The set of black and well-pigmented skin (h = 0.75), hair diameter (h = 0.63), sweating rate (h = 0.43), age at first calving (h = 0.23), and milk yield (h = 0.34) were found to have relatively high values of heritability, and favorable genetic correlations between them (29-31). Breeding programs therefore can select more heat tolerant, but still productive Holstein and Jersey cows to be raised in open field conditions of tropical regions. Moreover, with advances of genomic tools, it was possible to identify a specific gene that confers animals with a short and sleek hair coat, the SLICK haplotype (slick hair), which allows faster selection in order to enhance thermal conductivity of the body surface, and heat tolerance of cows. Holsteins cows with slick hair gene had superior thermoregulatory ability and lesser decay in milk yield during the summer, when compared to wild-type Holstein cows that did not have the slick hair gene (32). Further discussion about other possible genes that confer better thermal tolerance of dairy cattle can be found at Silpa et al. (33).

Thermal equilibrium of cows in tropical areas: An emphasis on thermal radiant environment

Living organisms are physical systems in which thermal energy is produced continuously by means of metabolic processes and exchanged (gains and losses) with the surrounding environment (34). The thermal equilibrium of a cow can be



described as:

$\mathbf{M} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{C}}\alpha + \mathbf{S} \pm \mathbf{R}_{L} \pm \mathbf{C}_{S} \pm \mathbf{K} - \mathbf{C}_{R} - \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{S}} - \mathbf{E}_{R} = 0 (1)$

Where *M* represents the metabolic heat production; for lactating Holstein and Jersey cows (Average milk yield of 25 kg) in tropical regions the metabolic heat production was reported to be between 180 and 230 W m⁻² (34, 35). *R*_C is the heat absorbed by short-wave solar radiation, which depends of the absorptance of the coat surface (α); *R*_L is the thermal energy exchanged by long-wave radiation; *S* is the rate of thermal energy storage; *C*_S is the heat exchanged by surface convection; *C*_R is the heat transferred by respiratory convection; *E*_S is the heat transferred by respiratory evaporation.

The sensible heat transfer encompasses conductive (K), convective $(C_R \text{ and } C_S)$ and radiative heat transfer $(R_C \text{ and } R_L, \text{Figure 3})$, while the evaporative heat transfer encompasses cutaneous (E_S) and respiratory (E_R) evaporation. The direction and rate of heat transfer by each of the three sensible routes depend on a temperature difference between the surface of the animal and that of the environment. However, the temperature of the surrounding air is not the most relevant meteorological variable for determining rates of sensible heat exchanges by a cow (at standing position) in a tropical pasture (16). In

this case, sensible heat exchanges, particularly by long-wave radiation, are totally dependent of a mean radiant temperature, an environmental temperature that accounts all sources of thermal radiation emitted from the surrounding environment, i.e., ground-surface, objects, trees and sky (14).

Holstein and Jersey cows kept indoor partially offset the metabolic heat production by means of surface convection and long-wave radiation when the temperature of the surrounding air ranges between 15 and 25°C. Under such circumstances, evaporative heat transfer, mainly through cutaneous surface may account for only 20-30% of the metabolic heat dissipated to the environment. On the other hand, when the air temperature is above 28°C, the rates of cutaneous evaporative water loss become the principal route of heat elimination, by accounting for 80% of the total metabolic heat production (35, 36). Indeed, the upper critical temperature for dairy cows is predicted to be within 25 and 28°C, depending on its levels of metabolic heat production (37). This temperature threshold is however not relevant for cows outdoors, especially if they are exposed to high levels of thermal radiation. Recent research shows that Holstein cows kept outdoor in a tropical environment, and experiencing same level of air temperature of their counterparts kept indoor, increased by 50% the rates of cutaneous evaporative water loss, were more vasodilated, and stored more body heat (Fonsêca et al.; in preparation).



This result emphasizes thermal radiation as the principal meteorological component at determining thermal balance of cows in tropical environment. A black-haired Holstein cow in a pasture have potential to absorb as much as 640 W m⁻² of thermal radiation during the hottest hours of the day, e.g., from 09:00 to 16:00h (14; Figure 3). The short-wave solar radiation may account to 298 W m⁻² or 47 % of the total thermal radiation absorbed, while long-wave radiation (342 W m⁻²), most of which emitted from the ground surface, accounts to 53%. This amount of heat load can represent threefold the metabolic heat produced by a cow (~ 200 W m⁻²), which in turn, would need to dissipate close to 850 W m⁻² in order to maintain their thermal equilibrium. For doing so, cows would need to produce and to evaporate up to 260 g h m⁻² or 1,300 g h^{-1} of sweat (Surface area of a cow, m² = ~ 5).

By adjusting behavior, cows however can manipulate rates of heat exchanges with the surrounding environment; for example, by seeking shade, they can avoid absorption of high amount of radiant heat load, thus decreasing requirements for evaporative water loss through cutaneous surface. Moreover, by lying down in a shaded surface, cows may be able to dissipated body heat by conduction depending on ground surface temperature. The critical level of short-wave solar radiation that motivates cows to stop grazing and to seek shade is between 500 and 700 W m⁻² (38). In the absence of shading resources, cows can also employ conductive and convective cooling by lying down in sources of water (12, 13; Figure 4). It is possible to see that the two cows in the Figure 4 can lose body heat due to a positive

thermal gradient between body and water surfaces. However, this behavior can be critical in terms of dissemination of diseases as mastitis, especially soon after the post dipping procedures.

Predicting heat stress responses of dairy cows living in tropical regions

Several indexes have been extensively used to predict the environmental thermal comfort threshold for cattle, such as the temperature-humidity index, THI (39); effective temperature, ET (40); black globe humidity index, BGHI (41); equivalent temperature index, ETI (42), heat load index, HLI (43). Overall, some of these indices were based on animal responses under temperate region, and in controlled climatic chambers, which in turn do not well represent complexity of the thermal radiant environment faced by dairy cows in tropical regions (34). The effectiveness of five indices against thermoregulatory responses of Holstein cows kept in open field conditions of an equatorial region of Brazil were tested (5). Unsurprisingly, results confirmed that THI and BGHI were not correlated with rectal and respiratory rate of cows. On the other hand, the Heat Load Index [HLI; (44)] presented significant correlations with thermal responses of cows, a single variable who accounts effects of air temperature, humidity, wind speed and solar irradiance, which was initially developed for feedlot cattle in Australia.

Although the importance of air temperature and humidity for the heat exchange processes between animals and



environment, thermal radiation assumes greater importance for cows kept in tropical pastures. A Thermal Stress Index for Cows (ITSC) was proposed by DaSilva et al. (5) based on meteorological measurements in an equatorial region, in addition to physiological responses of 814 Holstein cows. By using a principal component analyses the physiological variables respiratory rate (R_R , breath min⁻¹), rectal temperature (T_R , °C), skin temperature (T_{Skin} , °C), body surface temperature (T_S , °C), cutaneous (E_C , W m⁻²) and respiratory (E_R , W m⁻²) water loss of cows were summarized into a single variable, the



ITSC. The ITSC was then fitted against air temperature (T_A , °C), wind speed (U, m s⁻¹), humidity (P_V ,kPa), and effective radiant heat load (ERHL, W m⁻²) (a meteorological variable who accounts effects of short-wave and long-wave radiation), by employing multiple regression analyses. The best fitted equation chosen based on higher R^2 in order to determine values of ITSC was:

 $ITSC = 77.1747 + 4.8327 T_A - 34.8189 U + 1.111 U^2$ $+ 118.6981 P_V - 14.7956 P_V^2 - 0.1059 ERHL$

The values obtained for ITSC were fitted against physiological responses of cows, and significant correlations were observed with rectal temperature (r = 0.472), respiratory rate (r = 0.793), skin surface temperature (r = 0.755) and sweating rate (r = 0.570). These correlations derived five heat stress thresholds for cows (Figure 5). For instance, when value of ITSC is greater than 200, cows must be provided with access to shade. Even for cows managed in free-stalls under semi-intensive production systems, with occasional or free access to external paddocks, values of ITSC may indicate when they should be housed again. Complementary to the ITSC, another thermal stress index was proposed to predict the time spent in the shade by dairy cows in tropical areas, the shade time index (ITS) (45). The ITS can be calculated based on local values obtained for air temperature (T_A , $^{\circ}C$), relative humidity (R_H , %), solar irradiance (S_R , W m⁻²), and black-globe temperature in the shade (T_G, $^{\circ}$ C), as follow: IST = - 14.32 (0.79T_A) - $(0.56R_H) + (0.041S_R) + (1.58T_G)$. In addition to the ITSC, the IST can be employed in order to improve daily management

of cows kept under pasture based-systems, for example, by determining more comfortable hours for them to graze.

Heat abatement strategies for dairy cows in tropical environment: An emphasis on shade use

Shade is any region of space not traversed by a radiation beam (34). Benefits coming from shade use by animals are due to the abatement of radiant heat gain through two main sources. First, from direct and diffuse short-wave solar radiation, where on hottest times, by seeking shade, animals could avoid levels of impinging solar irradiance as much as $1,200 \text{ W m}^{-2}$. Second, animals in shade may also have decrease radiant heat gain due to less long-wave radiation emitted from a shaded surface, which in turn, is directly proportional to its absolute temperature. Ultimately, animals could also avoid heat gain by conduction when lying down on cooler shaded surfaces. The provision of shade (natural or artificial) is therefore of particular importance at alleviating heat stress of cows kept under pasture basedsystems of tropical areas. In particular, by taking into account shade availability and level of solar blockage provided by the shade structure (46-48).

A cow should be provided with minimum of 3 m² of shaded area, otherwise benefits of its use is likely to be minor, thus reducing cow's motivation to keep in the shade (34, 49). High density of animals in the shade may impair air displacement, thus decreasing efficiency of the convective evaporation over the body surface of animals. Studies have shown that cows with access to 9.6 m² of shade/cow spent twice as much time in shade compared to the availability of only 2.4 m² shade/cow, had lower panting scores and expressed less agonistic behaviors (50, 51). A cow also should be provided with a shade structure that blocks as much as possible the direct and diffuse solar radiation (52). Indeed, they spent greater time within the shade projected from structures that blocked 100% of solar radiation against shade-cloth structures that blocked 50 and 70% (45).

One good option is a shade provided by photovoltaic panels, by using the concept of "Animal Agrivoltaic", recently developed by the Innovation Group of Thermal Comfort and Animal Welfare [Inobio-Manera; (17)]. The Animal Agrivoltaic is a type of co-generation system that provides high quality shade for animals, production of sustainable animal protein, and generation of renewable electrical energy in the same area. Cows in the shade projected by photovoltaic panels can experience nearly by 100 W m⁻² less radiant heat load than if they were in a shade projected by shade-cloth structure that blocks 90% of solar radiation (Figure 6). The possibility of such integrated systems cast the interest of policy makers and governmental agencies in Brazil and around the world, as a potential solution to offset carbon emissions derived from livestock production systems (17, 53, 54). Another strong motivation for the implementation



Holstein cows using shade projected from photovoltaic panels Latitude = 21° S (Source: Courtesy of Alex S. C. Maia, Innovation Group of Thermal Comfort and Animal Welfare (INOBIO-MANERA).

of sustainable co-generation systems using photovoltaic panels is the continuous decrease in the price of photovoltaic panels (from US\$ 3.90 Wp in 2006 to US\$ 0.39 Wp in 2016; 5% expected annual price drop; (55)) as well as the development of new technologies expected to increase the efficiency of energy conversion (from 18 to 45% using Single-Junction GaAs, Thin-Film Crystal).

Even in the shade cows may experience levels of air temperature higher than its body surface, a condition that makes heat to be absorbed by the animal from the surrounding environment. Under such circumstances, spraying water over the skin can enhance mass and heat transfer through the cutaneous surface, thus avoiding body heat storage and thermal stress (56, 57). Although several studies have been showed benefits of sprinklers on thermoregulation and performance of dairy cows kept in housed conditions (58, 59), applicable solutions are needed to be proposed for cows managed in open pastures. For instance, shading and water spraying cows with a simple hand-held pump every 1 h, from 10:00 to 15:00, decreased body heat storage, requirements for evaporative water loss through panting, and increased milk yield by 3.0 kg day⁻¹ cow⁻¹. This type of solution can be practical in small dairy farms (57). However, further studies should determine optimum amount of water that must be sprayed in order to offset requirements of cows for evaporative cooling mechanisms through sweating and panting.

Final remarks

This review highlighted the significance of the thermal radiant environment as the principal meteorological stressor for dairy cows living in intertropical regions, and discussed about more appropriate mechanistic models in order to predict heat stress thresholds for them. A coat surface with high thermal conductivity over a well-pigmented skin is the best phenotype for cows kept in open pasture, and for Holstein, a combination that only occurs in black-haired cows. As black cows receive large amount of thermal radiation sourced from short-wave and long-wave radiation, the provision of shade is then mandatory, particularly when solar irradiance exceeds 550 Wm^{-2} , levels that motivate cows to stop grazing. Ultimately, shade could be provided by solar panels, as they can efficiently buffer the radiant heat load on cows, generate clean and renewable electrical energy, thus improving sustainability of dairy cow production in tropical environment.

Author contributions

Conceptualization, methodology, and writing original draft—manuscript: SS and VF. Writing original draft—figures: VF, SS, MM, and AM. Writing—review and editing: VF, ES, AL,

References

1. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Bertipaglia ECA. Environmental and genetic variation of the effective radiative properties of the coat of Holstein cows under tropical conditions. *Livest Prod Sci.* (2005) 92:307–15. doi: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2004.0 9.004

2. Berman A. Invited review: Are adaptations present to support dairy cattle productivity in warm climates? *J Dairy Sci.* (2011) 77:1–6. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3962

3. DaSilva RG. *Biofísica Ambiental: os Animais e Seu Ambiente*. São Paulo: Funep. (2008). 393 p.

4. DaSilva RG, Maia ASC, Costa LLM, Queiroz JPAF. Latent heat loss of dairy cows in an equatorial semi-arid environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2012) 56:927–32. doi: 10.1007/s00484-011-0501-y

5. DaSilva RG, Maia ASC, Costa LLM. Index of thermal stress for cows (ITSC) under high solar radiation in tropical environments. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2015) 59:551–9. doi: 10.1007/s00484-014-0868-7

6. DaSilva RG, LaScala Junior N, Pocay PLB. Transmission of ultraviolet radiation through the haircoat and the skin of cattle. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2001) 30:1939-47. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982001000700034

7. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Souza Junior JB, Silva RB, Domingos HGT. Effective thermal conductivity of the hair coat of Holstein cows in a tropical environment. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2009) 38:2218–23. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982009001100022

8. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Loureiro CMB. Sensible and latent heat loss from body surface of Holstein cows in a tropical environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2005) 50:17–22. doi: 10.1007/s00484-005-0267-1

9. DaSilva RG, LaScala Junior N, Tonhati H. Radiative properties of the skin and haircoat of cattle and other animals. *Trans ASAE*. (2003) 46:913-8. doi: 10.13031/2013.13567

10. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Bertipaglia ECA. Haircoat traits in Holstein cows in tropical environments: a genetic and adaptative study. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2003) 32:843–53. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982003000400009

11. Fonsèca VFC, DaSilva RG, Moura GA, Snelling EP, Fuller A, Mitchell D, et al. Reliability of methods to determine cutaneous evaporative water loss rate in furred and fleeced mammals. *J Exp Zool A Ecol Integr Physiol.* (2022) 337:356–5. doi: 10.1002/jez.2572

12. DaSilva RG. Estimation of the thermal balance by radiation in Holstein cows exposed to sun and shade in a tropical environment. *Rev Bras Zootec*. (1999) 28:1403–11. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35981999000600031

VS, AM, GM, and SG. Visualization: VF and AL. Supervision: ES and VF. Funding acquisition: ES and SG. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

13. DaSilva RG, A. model for the determination of the thermal equilibrium of cattle in tropical environments. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2000) 29:1244–52. doi: 10.1590/S1516-3598200000400039

14. DaSilva RG, Guilhermino MM, Morais DAEF. Thermal radiation absorbed by dairy cows in pasture. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2010) 54:5–11. doi: 10.1007/s00484-009-0244-1

15. DaSilva RG, Morais DAEF, Guilhermino MM. Evaluation of thermal stress indexes for dairy cows in tropical regions. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2007) 36:1192–8. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982007000500028

16. Mitchell D, Snelling EP, Hetem RS, Maloney SK, Strauss WM, Fuller A. Revisiting concepts of thermal physiology: predicting responses of mammals to climate change. *J Anim Ecol.* (2018) 87:956–73. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.12818

17. Maia ASC, Culhari EA, Fonsèca VFC, Milan HFM, Gebremedhin KG. Photovoltaic panels as shading resources for livestock. *J Clean Prod.* (2020) 258:120551. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120551

18. Mariante AS, Egito AA. Animal genetic resources in Brazil: result of five centuries of natural selection. *Theriogenology*. (2002) 57:223–35. doi: 10.1016/S0093-691X(01)00668-9

19. McManus C, Barcellos JOJ, Formenton BK, Hermuche PM, Carvalho Jr OA, Guimarães RF, et al. Dynamics of cattle production in Brazil. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0147138. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147138

20. Vilela D, Resende JC, Leite JB, Alves E. The evolution of milk in Brazil in five decades. *Rev Polit Agric.* (2017) 27:5–24.

21. Alvim MJ, Paciullo DSC, Carvalho MM, Aroeira LJM, Carvalho LA, Novaes LP, et al. Milk production system with rearing of heifers in silvopastoral systems. *Prod System*. (2005) 7:1–8.

22. Barbosa SBP, Ramalho RP, Monardes HG, Dias FM, Santos DC, Batista AMV. Milk and fat production of crossbred Holstein-Gir cows (*Bos taurus taurus-Bos taurus indicus*) in the Agreste region of the Brazilian state of Pernambuco. *Genet Mol Biol.* (2008) 31:468–74. doi: 10.1590/S1415-47572008000300012

23. Facó O, Lôbo RNB, Martins Filho R, Moura AAA. Analysis of productive performance of Different Holstein x Gir genetic groups in Brazil. *Rev Bras Zootec*. (2002) 31:1944–52. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982002000800010

24. Joshi NR, Phillips RW. Zebu Cattle of India and Pakistan. Rome: Agricultural Studies FAO (1953).

25. Morais DAEF. Variation of characteristics of the coat, levels of thyroid hormones and production of dairy cows in hot and dry environment (PhD thesis), State University of São Paulo, Brazil (2002).

26. Façanha DAE, DaSilva RG, Maia ASC, Guilhermino MM, Vasconcelos AM. Annual variation of morphologic traits and hair coat surface temperature of Holstein cows in semi-arid environment. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2010) 38:837–44. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982010000400020

27. Schleger AV, Bean KG. The melanocyte system of cattle skin II. Melanotic melanocytes of epidermis and dermis. *Aust J Biol Sci.* (1973) 26:985–98. doi: 10.1071/BI9730985

28. Cena K, Monteith JL. Transfer processes in animal coats. I. Radiative transfer. Proc R Soc Lond B. (1975) 188:377–93. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1975.0026

29. DaSilva RG, Arantes Neto JG, Holtz-Filho SV. Genetic aspects of the variation of the sweating rate and coat characteristics of Jersey cattle. *Braz J Genet.* (1988) 11:335–347.

30. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Bertipaglia ECA, Muñoz MC. Genetic variation of the hair coat properties and the milk yield of Holstein cows managed under shade in a tropical environment. *Braz J Vet Res Anim Sci.* (2005) 42:181–187. doi: 10.11606/issn.1678-4456.bjvras.2005.26429

31. Bertipaglia ECA, DaSilva RG, Maia ASC. Fertility and hair coat characteristics of Holstein cows in a tropical environment. *Anim Reprod.* (2005) 2:187–194.

32. Dikmen S, Alava E, Pontes E, Fear JM, Dikmen BY, Olson TA, et al. Differences in thermoregulatory ability between slick-haired and wild-type lactating Holstein cows in response to acute heat stress. *J Dairy Sci.* (2008) 91:3395–402. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1072

33. Silpa MV, König S, Sejian V, Malik PK, Nair MRR, Fonseca VFC, et al. Climate-resilient dairy cattle production: applications of genomic tools and statistical models. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:625189. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.625189

34. DaSilva RG, Maia ASC. Principles of Animal Biometeorology. New York, NY: Springer (2013). 261 p.

35. Nascimento ST, Maia ASC, Fonsêca VFC, Nascimento CCN, Carvalho MD, Pinheiro MG. Physiological responses and thermal equilibrium of Jersey dairy cows in tropical environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2019) 63:1487–96. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01734-w

36. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Loureiro CMB. Respiratory heat loss of Holstein cows in a tropical environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2005) 49:332-6. doi: 10.1007/s00484-004-0244-0

 Berman A, Folman Y, Kaim M, Mamen M. Herz Z,Wolfenson D, Arieli A, Graber Y. Upper critical temperatures and forced ventilation effects for high-yielding dairy cows in a subtropical climate. *J Dairy Sci.* (1985) 68:1488– 95. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(85)80987-5

38. Oliveira SEO, Costa CCM, Souza Junior JBF, Queiroz JPAF, Maia ASC, Costa LLM. Short-wave solar radiation level willingly tolerated by lactating Holstein cows in an equatorial semi-arid environment. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2014) 46:1413–20. doi: 10.1007/s11250-014-0657-7

39. Thom EC. The discomfort index. Weatherwise. (1959) 12:57-60. doi: 10.1080/00431672.1959.9926960

40. Bianca W. Relative importance of dry- and wet-bulb temperature in causing heat stress in cattle. *Nature*. (1962) 195:251–252. doi: 10.1038/195251a0

41. Buffington DE, Collazo-Arocho A, Canton GH, Pitt D. Black globe-humidity index (BGHI) as comfort equation for dairy cows. *Trans ASAE*. (1981) 24:711–4. doi: 10.13031/2013.34325

42. Baeta FC, Meador NF, Shanklin MD, Johnson HD. Equivalent temperature index at temperatures above the thermoneutral for lactating dairy cows. In: *Proceedings of the Summer Meeting of American Society of Agricultural Engineers.* ASAE, St. Joseph. Baltimore, MD (1987). p. 21.

43. Gaughan JG, Goopy J, Spark J. Excessive heat load index for feedlot cattle. In: *Report of the Meat and Livestock Australia Project*. FLOT, MLA Ltd., Sydney (2002). p. 316.

44. Gaughan JB, Mader TL. Holt SM, Lisle A. A new heat load index for feedlot cattle. J Anim Sci. (2008) 86:226–34. doi: 10.2527/jas.2007-0305

45. Oliveira SEO, Costa CCM, Chiquitelli Neto M, Dalla Costa FA. Maia ASC. Effects of shade location and protection from direct solar radiation on the behavior of Holstein cows. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2019) 63:1465–74. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01747-5

46. Tucker CB, Rogers AR, Schütz KE. Effect of solar radiation on dairy cattle behaviour, use of shade and body temperature in a pasture-based system. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 109:141–54. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.015

47. Collier RJ, Dahl GE, VanBaale MJ. Major advances associated with environmental effects on dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2006) 89:1244–53. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72193-2

48. Hahn, G.L. Management and housing of animals in hot environments. In: MK. Yousef, editor *Stress Physiology in Livestock*. CRC Press: Boca Raton (1985). p. 151–74

49. Schütz KE, Cox NR, Tucker CB, A. field study of the behavioral and physiological effects of varying amounts of shade for lactating cows at pasture. J Dairy Sci. (2014) 97:3599–605. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7649

50. Schütz KE, Rogers AR, Poulouin YA, Cox NR, Tucker CB. The amount of shade influences the behavior and physiology of dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2010) 93:125–33. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2416

51. Kamal R, Dutt T, Patel M, Dey A, Bharti PK, Chandran PC. Heat stress and effect of shade materials on hormonal and behavior response of dairy cattle: a review. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2018) 50:701–6. doi: 10.1007/s11250-018-1542-6

52. Schütz KE, Rogers AR, Cox NR, Tucker CB. Dairy cows prefer shade that offers greater protection against solar radiation in summer: Shade use, behaviour, and body temperature. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 116:28–33. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.07.005

53. Sobrosa Neto RDC, Berchin II, Magtoto M, Berchin S, Xavier W G, Andrade JBSO. An integrative approach for the water-energy-food nexus in beef cattle production: A simulation of the proposed model to Brazil. *J Clean Prod.* (2018) 204:1108–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.08.200

54. Adeh EH, Selker JS, Higgins CW. (2018) Remarkable agrivoltaic influence on soil moisture, micrometeorology and water-use efficiency. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0203256. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203256

55. Ferreira A, Kunh SS, Fagnani KC, De Souza TA, Tonezer C, Dos Santos GR, et al. Economic overview of the use and production of photovoltaic solar energy in Brazil. *Renew Sust Energ Ver.* (2018) 81:181–91. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.06.102

56. Berman A. Predicted limits for evaporative cooling in heat stress relief of cattle in warm conditions. *J Dairy Sci.* (2009) 87:3413–13417. doi: 10.2527/jas.2008-1104

57. Domingos HGT, Maia ASC, Souza Jr JBF, Silva RB, Vieira FMC, DaSilva RG. Effect of shade and water sprinkling on physiological responses and milk yields of Holstein cows in a semi-arid region. *Livest Sci.* (2013) 154:169–74. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2013.02.024

58. DaSilva RG, Maia ASC. Evaporative cooling and cutaneous surface temperature of Holstein cows in tropical conditions. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2011) 40:1143-7. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982011000500028

59. Almeida BCN, Menezes WB, Costa CCM, Silva LF, Maia ASC. Orientation with relation the solar radiation and look for by shade of Holstein cows managed in the semi-arid region. In: *Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Brazilian Animal Science Society*. Lavras, MG (2008). P. 1–3.

60. Santos SGCG, Saraiva EP, Pimenta Filho EC, Gonzaga Neto S, Fonseca VFC, Almeida MEV, et al. The use of simple physiological and environmental measures to estimate the latent heat transfer in crossbred Holstein cows. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2017) 61:217–25. doi: 10.1007/s00484-016-1204-1

TYPE Original Research PUBLISHED 22 November 2022 DOI 10.3389/fvets.2022.1018625

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, University of São Paulo, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Amira El-Deghadi, Animal Production Research Institute (APRI), Egypt Mohamed Farghly, Assiut University, Egypt

*CORRESPONDENCE Mohamed Ragab mragab@agr.kfs.edu.eg

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 13 August 2022 ACCEPTED 20 October 2022 PUBLISHED 22 November 2022

CITATION

Ragab M, Elkhaiat I, Younis H, Ahmed M and Helal M (2022) Genotype by heat conditions interaction effects on growth and litter traits in rabbits. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:1018625. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.1018625

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Ragab, Elkhaiat, Younis, Ahmed and Helal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Genotype by heat conditions interaction effects on growth and litter traits in rabbits

Mohamed Ragab^{1,2*}, Ibrhim Elkhaiat¹, Hassan Younis¹, Marwa Ahmed³ and Mostafa Helal⁴

¹Poultry Production Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafrelsheikh, Egypt, ²Institute for Animal Science and Technology, Universitat Politècnica de València, Camino de Vera S/N, Valencia, Spain, ³Department of Animal Production, National Reserach Center, Dokki, Giza, Egypt, ⁴Department of Animal Production, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo University, Giza, Egypt

Heat stress has severe impacts on rabbit performance because they have difficulty getting rid of excess heat. The interaction between genetic and environmental factors plays a vital role in the adaptation process. The current study aimed to evaluate the effects of interaction between the genotype and heat conditions (G×H) on litter size and growth traits. Two rabbit lines were used in the current study, Egyptian maternal line (APRI) and New Zealand White (NZW). The rabbits were raised under normal (22°C) or heat stress (35°C) conditions. The does were raised in individual cages, and their kits were reared under the same conditions. Negative effects of heat conditions were noted for litter traits, as heat stress had significantly reduced the number of born alive, total born, and marketed number rabbits by about 16, 11, and 25%, respectively. Moreover, growth traits were reduced under heat stress conditions compared to normal temperature conditions. Significant differences between genotypes were observed, APRI rabbits were higher than NWZ rabbits in the total born, number of born alive, number weaned, and the number of marketed rabbits by 10, 8, 11, and 10%, respectively. Genotype by heat conditions interaction effects were observed, APRI litters under normal conditions showed significantly higher litter traits than NWZ litters, whereas relevant reductions in litter traits of APRI line than NZW litters when reared in heat conditions. For growth traits, the differences between the two lines under normal conditions were reduced when animals of the two lines were raised under heat stress, for BW_{28} , BW_{42} , BW_{63} , ADG_{28-42} , and DF_{28-42} while these differences were increased for ADG₄₂₋₆₃, DF₂₈₋₄₂ and feed conversion during the whole fattening period. Based on the observed $G \times H$ interactions, it is important to select the animals under the same production conditions to raise rabbits that can cope with the expected global warming conditions.

KEYWORDS

G x E interaction, heat stress, litter size, growth traits, rabbits

Introduction

Recently, global warming is leading to an increase in the atmospheric temperature by about 0.07°C per year, with predicted increases ranging from 2.6 to 4.7°C by the year 2100 (1). Rabbit is a good source of meat and can contribute to filling the gap between the production and consumption of animal protein. Nevertheless, rabbit is susceptible to heat stress (HS) conditions (2, 3). This change in atmospheric temperature will generate heat stress conditions in tropical and subtropical regions like the south of the Mediterranean, especially in the open production system, which is the most common farm type in Egypt (4). Rabbit is sensitive to high environmental temperatures and has a low capacity to cope with high ambient temperatures (5), which negatively affect health, behavior, physiology, reproduction, welfare, meat quality, and production performance of rabbits (6, 7). Therefore, heat stress is associated with economic losses to the rabbit industry. Moreover, this impact could be measured either directly via the performance of the animal, or indirectly through biological stress markers (8, 9).

On the other hand, the responses to heat stress differ between animals of different genetic backgrounds, in which different breeds and lines respond differently to the different environments (10, 11). In general, local or indigenous animals have more capability for adaptation to the changes in local environmental conditions compared with exotic animals, this can be attributed to the genetic compositions that enable them to adapt the local environmental conditions (12, 13). To cope with the rapid changes in the environmental conditions, a better understanding of the role of $G \times E$ interaction in environmental adaptation is needed which is one of the main components of robustness. The $G \times E$ interaction is observed when the effects of the environmental factors differ from one breed to another, and the presence of $G \times E$ interaction may result in the re-ranking of genotypes (14), which makes one breed more sensitive to thermal stress than other. Moreover, in cattle, Misztal et al. (15) indicated that the selection for milk production, without considering the HS, will produce animals more susceptible to HS. With the desire for lines for robustness in the rabbit industry, an Egyptian Hispanic project developed a long and extensive genetic research program to develop new lines of interest for both extensive and intensive rabbit production. During this project, the Spanish maternal line (Line V), which is adapted to hot conditions, was crossed with local Egyptian rabbit breeds to produce lines that maintain a reasonable productive capacity and adaptation to heat. By this project, three rabbit lines were founded called Alexandria, Moshtohor, and APRI (16-18).

In rabbits, reproductive performance of does is important, and litter traits are the most important traits, which affect the economic benefits of rabbit production that provide the needed animal protein with low capital outlay and time (7). In this way, Cartuche et al. (19) reported that feed conversion rate during the fattening period, litter size, weaning survival, fattening survival and daily gain during the fattening period are the most economic traits in rabbits. These traits are severely affected when rabbits are subjected to heat stress conditions. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to compare the genetic response of Egyptian maternal line and exotic rabbit breed under normal and heat stress conditions.

Materials and methods

The study was carried out at the experimental rabbit farm of the Faculty of Agriculture, Kafrelsheikh University (Kafr Elsheikh, Egypt). This study was conducted after the approval of the Animal Care and Ethics Committee of Kafrelsheikh University (approval number, KFS1345/10) and also approved by IACUC at Cairo University (CU/II/F/19/19).

Animals and management

The animals used in the current study belonged to line APRI and New Zealand White breed (exotic breeds raised at the commercial level in Egypt many years ago). APRI line is an Egyptian maternal line developed in 2008, by crossing bucks of Baladi Red rabbits (a local breed) with does of V line rabbits (18). After its foundation, the generated rabbits were then selected for weaning weight (20).

The first mating of the does was done around 18 weeks of age. The does were then served 10–12 days post kindling by its assigned buck. On day 12 post-mating, the does were palpated to detect pregnancy, and non-pregnant does were returned to a new mating. The mating system was designed to avoid inbreeding. The maximum number of weekly services allowed to a buck was two. Five days before the expected day for kindling, the nest boxes were prepared. Litters born were examined and recorded for total born and number born alive. The litter born stayed with their mothers, without fostering, for about 35 days the young rabbits were weaned and then individually identified by tattooed number in the ear.

All rabbits were fed *ad libitum* commercial pelleted diet (17.5% crude protein, 15%-16% crude fiber, 2.5% either extract, 0.6% minerals mixture, 67.4% soluble carbohydrates, and 2300:2500 kcal/kg diet). Water was also provided *ad libitum* from nipple drinkers. The rabbits were housed in cages, where 100 cages were distributed equally for each rabbit line. Sixty cages were used to raise does under the normal environmental temperatures (NC), with an average of $18-26^{\circ}$ C. Whereas, the heat-stress room included 40 cages, to keep the does under heat conditions (HC, $33-37^{\circ}$ C). The heat conditions were applied for 7 h daily from 9:00 to 16:00, where it peaked daily temperatures during the summer season in Egypt, followed by the daily temperature cycle.

At first mating age, 100 does were used in this experiment, females were distributed almost the same between the two genetic groups, and animals were housed in individual cages. When one of the does died or was culled, it was replaced by another doe of the same genetic line. After weaning, during the fattening period (i.e., from 28 to 63 days of age), the kits produced under each environmental condition were grown under the same condition as their mothers. All weaned rabbits (2037 rabbits) were housed in collective cages ($50 \times 60 \times 30$ cm) of six animals in the same environmental conditions (normal or heat stress) until they reached the marketing age (around 63 days).

Traits and statistical analyses

The considered traits were litter traits including total born (TB), number born alive (NBA), number weaned (NW), number marketed (NM), in addition to growth traits including individual body weights [at weaning (BW28), at 42 days of age (BW₄₂), at marketing age (BW₆₃)], average daily weight gain [from weaning to marketing (ADG₂₈₋₆₃), from weaning to 42 days of age (ADG₂₈₋₄₂), from 42days of age to marketing (ADG₄₂₋₆₃)], daily feed intake (calculated by dividing total feed consumption by the number of animals in each cage, and to avoid the biased calculation for feed intake, if an animal died in a cage during any week, the feed intake was calculated immediately including the dead and live animals) was calculated from weaning to marketing (DF $_{28-63}$), from weaning to 42 days of age (DF₂₈₋₄₂), from 42 days of age to marketing (DF_{42-63}) , and feed conversion ratio during the fattening period (FC₂₈₋₆₃).

All the obtained data were subjected to analysis, the univariate mixed model was fitted to a total of 504 parities for APRI and NZW were analyzed.

Litter traits were analyzed using the following univariate mixed model:

$$Y_{ijkl} = LRYS_i + PS_j + p_k + e_{ijkl},$$

where Y_{ijkl} is the record l^{th} of litter traits being analyzed (TB, NBA, NW and NM), corresponding to the k^{th} doe which was in the physiological status j^{th} and belongs to the line-roomyear-season combination i^{th} ; *LRYS_i* is the fixed effect of the line-room-year-season combination [combination of each line by room by year season (every 3 months): 10 levels]; *PS_j* is the fixed effect of the doe physiological state (three levels depending on the parity order and lactation state at mating, one is for nulliparous does, two for primiparous, and three for multiparous lactating); p_k is the random permanent environmental plus non-additive genetic effects of the doe; and e_{ijkl} is the random residual of the model. The model for growth traits was:

$$Y_{ijkl} = LRYS_i + OP_j + \beta(NBA)_k + lo_l + e_{ijk}$$

where: Y_{ijkl} is the record of the growth trait of animal *l*; *LRYS_i* is the effect of line-room-year-season combination, line of animal *l* and the year-season of parity (one year-season every 3 months: nine levels for all lines); *OP_j* is the effect of the order of parity (five levels: 1st, 2nd, and >2nd), *NBA_k* is the number of born alive in the litter in which the young rabbit was born and β is the regression coefficient on this covariate; *lo_k* is the random effect of the litter in which the animal was born and *e_{ijkl}* is the residual effect. Sex effect was not included because sexual dimorphism in rabbits is thought to either not exist or to arise only late in life (21). The prior distribution for the permanent environmental effect (**p**) and litter effect (**lo**) were **p** ~ $N(0, \mathbf{I}\sigma_p^2)$ and **lo** ~ $N(0, \mathbf{I}\sigma_{lo}^2)$, respectively, where **I** is an identity matrix.

Feed intake and feed conversion data were analyzed using the following model:

$$Y_{iikl} = LRYS_i + \beta(N)_i + e_{iik}$$

Where, Y_{ijkl} is the record trait; *LRYS_i* is the effect of lineroom-year-season combination; N_k is the number of young rabbits per cage β is the regression coefficient on this covariate and e_{iik} is the residual effect.

A linear model was used to analyze the studied traits to test the significant differences between the levels of fixed effects and the probability of the estimated contrast being different than 0 by using the program Rabbit developed by the Institute for Animal Science and Technology (València, Spain) applying the previous model without the random effects. After some exploratory analyses, results were based on Markov chain Monte Carlo chains consisting of 60,000 iterations, with a burn-in period of 10,000, and only 1 of every 10 samples was saved for inferences.

Results and discussion

Descriptive statistics including overall means and standard deviations of the studied traits are presented in Table 1. All the entire data was considered.

Effects of genotype and heat conditions

The observed least square means of litter and growth traits for genotypes and environmental conditions are presented in Table 2. The present results are similar to production levels previously reported for studies carried out in similar production conditions by APRI line (16–18). As expected, litter traits were negatively impacted by heat conditions, which are in agreement with most of the studies on this subject in environmental conditions. In both genotypes, TB, NBA, and NM were reduced with relevant values due to heat stress (ranged from 15 to 25%). Concerning the effects of heat conditions on the growth traits, as expected, heat stress remarkably affected all growth traits,

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics [mean, standard deviation (SD), and extreme values] of the studied traits.

Traits	Number	Mean	SD	Minimum	Maximum	
ТВ	504	8.78	2.80	1	16	
TBA	504	7.88	2.96	0	14	
NW	504	6.69	2.90	0	13	
NM	504	5.69	2.90	0	13	
BW ₂₈	2037	575.72	151.83	138.16	1020.16	
BW ₄₂	1847	992.19	198.39	409.28	1690.53	
BW ₆₃	1672	1620.46	282.86	712.70	2615.32	
ADG ₂₈₋₄₂	2037	29.93	8.61	-8.73	53.87	
ADG ₄₂₋₆₃	1672	29.92	5.89	8.19	58.90	
ADG ₂₈₋₆₃	1672	29.91	6.59	5.17	55.03	
DF ₂₈₋₄₂	340	67.75	18.25	21.14	128.39	
DF ₄₂₋₉₃	340	121.67	21.93	28.61	214.91	
DF ₂₈₋₆₃	340	113.44	20.58	30.51	182.96	
FCR ₂₈₋₆₃	340	3.83	0.39	1.81	11.21	

TB, total born; NBA, number born alive; NW, number weaned; NM, number marketed; BW, body weight (g); ADG, average daily gain (g/day); DF, daily feed intake (g); FCR, feed conversion ratio (g feed/ g body weight); SD, standard deviation.

TABLE 2 Effects of heat conditions and genotypes on the litter and growth traits^a.

with important reductions. The observed reduction in body weight was associated with heat-stress conditions at all ages. The reduction was 3% at weaning age, and increased with age, reaching 12 and 14% at 42 and 63 days of age, respectively. Bassuny et al. (22) reported a reduction of 7% in body weight at 28 days of age due to the increase in ambient temperatures. In addition, there was a negative effect of heat stress on the average daily gain and daily feed intake. The observed reduction in ADG ranged from 18 to 23%. Furthermore, HC environment limited the feed intake (-14% to -21%) of animals and negatively affected feed conversion (+5%) compared with NC. Similar results were obtained in previous studies (16, 23-25). The deleterious effect of heat stress on the reproductive traits in mammals is well documented (26, 27). Since rabbits are susceptible to heat stress conditions (3), lower litter traits are usually associated with an increase in ambient temperatures (28, 29).

Independent of environmental conditions, APRI rabbits showed important increases in TB, NBA, NW, and NM of 10, 8, 11, and 10% compared to NZW, respectively (Table 1). The superior reproductive traits of APRI rabbits could be due to the foundation of this line which was founded by the crossing between Red Baladi with the Spanish maternal line (V line) selected for litter size at weaning which has high values for litter traits (30). Moreover, after the APRI line foundation, it has been selected for litter weight at weaning (20).

Moreover, the NZW rabbits showed significantly higher body weights at all ages compared with APRI rabbits. It is worth mentioning that although the APRI line had fewer

Trait	Environmen	tal conditions	Genotypes			
	Normal	Heat stress	APRI	NZW		
TB	9.21 ± 0.17	7.74 ± 0.21	8.89 ± 0.19	8.06 ± 0.21		
NBA	8.34 ± 0.19	6.82 ± 0.26	7.88 ± 0.33	7.28 ± 0.23		
NW	7.00 ± 0.20	5.95 ± 0.23	6.80 ± 0.20	6.13 ± 0.23		
NM	$\boldsymbol{6.18\pm0.19}$	4.63 ± 0.26	5.66 ± 0.21	5.16 ± 0.24		
BW ₂₈	586.78 ± 4.64	568.05 ± 5.48	557.76 ± 4.24	598.50 ± 5.13		
BW ₄₂	1049.8 ± 9.95	922.1 ± 12.43	901.9 ± 9.9	1070.0 ± 9.66		
BW ₆₃	1727.8 ± 12.79	1476.5 ± 19.34	1490.9 ± 12.86	1713.2 ± 19.04		
ADG ₂₈₋₄₂	33.19 ± 0.48	25.30 ± 0.91	24.69 ± 0.48	33.85 ± 0.66		
ADG ₄₂₋₆₃	32.31 ± 0.30	26.46 ± 0.69	28.06 ± 0.39	30.62 ± 0.46		
ADG ₂₈₋₆₃	32.69 ± 0.34	25.93 ± 0.74	26.75 ± 0.62	31.91 ± 0.83		
DF ₂₈₋₄₂	73.8 ± 0.86	58.4 ± 1.80	57.3 ± 1.16	74.9 ± 1.49		
DF ₄₂₋₆₃	127.4 ± 1.16	109.2 ± 3.12	117.0 ± 2.06	120.6 ± 2.30		
DF ₂₈₋₆₃	120.4 ± 1.03	100.0 ± 2.60	105.3 ± 1.58	116.9 ± 2.01		
FCR ₂₈₋₆₃	3.72 ± 0.02	3.92 ± 0.05	3.98 ± 0.02	3.66 ± 0.03		

TB, total born; NBA, number born alive; NW, number weaned; NM, number marketed; BW₂₈, body weight at 28 days of age (g); BW₄₂, body weight at 42 days of age (g); BW₆₃, body weight at 63 days of age (g); ADG, average daily gain (g/day); DFI, daily feed intake (g); FCR, feed conversion ratio (g feed/ g body weight). ^aThe presented vales are posterior least-squares means \pm SE.

Traits	APRI			NZW			
	Normal vs. heat	HPD _{95%}	Р	Normal vs. heat	HPD _{95%}	Р	
ТВ	1.92	1.11, 2.75	1	0.90	0.03, 1.87	0.97	
NBA	2.22	1.30, 3.05	1	0.54	-0.38, 1.58	0.86	
NW	1.84	1.03, 2.75	1	0.09	-0.89, 1.01	0.58	
NM	1.99	1.11, 2.85	1	1.00	-1.16, 0.91	0.97	
BW ₂₈	4.78	-10.09, 19.57	0.72	37.59	21.07, 55.5	1	
BW ₄₂	84.93	66.39, 102.1	1	183.18	164.2, 202.7	1	
BW ₆₃	230.62	203.7, 255.6	1	281.67	252.6, 311.5	1	
ADG ₂₈₋₄₂	5.74	5.00, 6.47	1	10.39	9.55, 11.26	1	
ADG ₄₂₋₆₃	6.95	6.36, 7.52	1	4.69	4.02, 5.36	1	
ADG ₂₈₋₆₃	6.47	5.88, 7.12	1	6.98	6.27, 7.64	1	
DF ₂₈₋₄₂	11.11	9.51, 12.79	1	20.87	19.01, 22.74	1	
DF ₄₂₋₆₃	19.22	17.18, 21.11	1	15.83	13.57, 18.12	1	
DF ₂₈₋₆₃	22.6	17.65, 24.69	1	20.78	18.51, 23.1	1	
FCR ₂₈₋₆₃	-0.23	-0.27, -0.18	1	-0.13	-0.18, -0.08	1	

TABLE 3 Response of genotypes to environmental conditions for litter and growth traits.

TB, total born; NBA, number born alive; NW, number weaned; NM, number marketed; BW, body weight (g); ADG, average daily gain (g/day); DF, daily feed intake (g); FCR, feed conversion ratio (g feed/g body weight). HPD_{95%}, Marginal Posterior highest density region covering 95% of the density; P, probability of the difference being greater than zero.

values in body weight measurements, it was superior in the reproductive traits measurements, this is mainly due to the negative phenotypic and genetic correlations between growth and reproductive traits. Ezzeroug et al. (31) reported highly negative genetic correlations between growth and litter traits in rabbits, where weaning weight was negatively correlated with litter size at birth (-0.85), number born alive (-0.92), and litter size at weaning (-0.85). Furthermore, NZW rabbits were significantly superior to the APRI line in average daily gain and daily feed intake during all periods. The average daily gain in rabbits is a very important trait in rabbit breeding, and consider one of the selection criteria in the paternal line (32, 33). Drouilhet et al. (34) reported that ADG has a high genetic correlation with BW at 63 days of age (0.81), and a low correlation with weaning weight (-0.2). Marco-Jiménez et al. (35) commented that the ambient temperature needed for rabbits is ranging from 14 to 22°C, and exceeding this range will prone rabbits to stress affecting their litter traits and the growth of young rabbits negatively. They observed significant differences between reproductive performance and body weight traits of young rabbits reared under normal conditions and those of animals under HS conditions. Within this context, Boddicker et al. (36) observed that HC during the first half of gestation may have a negative consequence on postnatal offspring growth and development. Furthermore, Habeeb (37) and Bakr (38) observed that heat conditions had a negative and significant effect on daily feed intake and body weight at weaning. Decreased feed intake results in a lower supply of nutrients, thus reducing the weight and growth rate of rabbits. This effect is in agreement with that observed by Savietto (39)

and Savietto et al. (24) where heat stress reduced dry matter and digestible energy intake encountered in rabbits. Jimoh et al. (40) reported that heat conditions decreased feed intake which results in a lower supply of nutrients, thus reducing body weight, growth rate, and reproduction and increasing mortality in rabbits. Similar results, for growth traits, were obtained by Ragab et al. (41).

To evaluate the response of genotypes to environmental changes, the contrasts of each genotype under the two environmental conditions for litter traits and growth performance were calculated (Table 3). Despite their higher litter traits, APRI does showed higher reductions due to HC compared with NZW for all litter traits with relevant values, including TB (1.92 in APRI compared with 0.90 in NZW), NBA (2.22 vs. 0.54), NW (1.84 vs. 0.09), and NM (1.99 vs. 1.00), these differences indicate that the two breeds responded differently to HC, and on the whole, APRI rabbits were more sensitive to HC (the probability of contrasts being higher than 0 was 1 in the most traits) high than NWZ rabbits which seemed to be more adapted to climatic stressors. Moreover, the observed reductions in body weight were associated with HC and increased with age. The reductions were higher in NZW compared with APRI rabbits for BW at 28, 42, and 63 days of age, ADG from 28 to 42 and from 28 to 63 days of age. Similar responses for daily feed intake were observed by the two genotypes. The different responses and environmental sensitivity of genotypes were described previously by many authors (42-44), which could be due to the capacity of does to manage their body reserves usage in providing rabbits with adaptive and maintain their litter size during a stress period.

Traits	Normal conditions			Heat conditions			Pc
	APRI vs. NZW	HPD _{95%}	Р	APRI vs. NZW	HPD _{95%}	Р	
ТВ	1.18	0.47, 1.89	1	0.15	-0.92, 1.13	0.61	0.97
NBA	1.19	0.54, 1.93	1	-0.50	-1.57, 0.53	0.82	0.89
NW	1.26	0.59, 1.99	1	-0.48	-1.52, 0.53	0.82	0.79
NM	0.87	0.11, 1.65	0.99	-0.13	-1.16, 0.91	0.6	0.65
BW ₂₈	-50.47	-64.03, -35.16	1	-17.66	-36.51, 0.24	0.97	0.73
BW ₄₂	-203.9	-219.0, -186.4	1	-104.80	-126.6, -84.03	1	0.66
BW ₆₃	-237.6	-262.9, -215	1	-186.54	-217.9, -155.4	1	0.93
ADG ₂₈₋₄₂	-10.93	-11.53, -10.12	1	-6.23	-7.11, -5.31	1	0.93
ADG ₄₂₋₆₃	-1.63	-2.18, -1.08	1	-3.90	-4.59, -3.17	1	0.68
ADG ₂₈₋₆₃	-5.34	-5.92, -4.79	1	-4.83	-5.55, -4.11	1	0.70
DF ₂₈₋₄₂	-21.17	-22.75, -19.58	1	-11.44	-13.32, -9.36	1	0.76
DF ₄₂₋₆₃	-1.64	-3.51, 0.14	1	-5.03	-7.58, -2.69	1	0.71
DF ₂₈₋₆₃	-11.88	-13.82, -10.08	1	-10.19	-12.60, -7.75	1	0.69
FCR ₂₈₋₆₃	0.25	0.20, 0.29	1	0.39	0.33, 0.45	1	0.78

TABLE 4 Effects of genotype by heat interaction on litter and growth traits.

TB, total born; NBA, number born alive; NW, number weaned; NM, number marketed; BW, body weight (g); ADG, average daily gain (g/day); DF, daily feed intake (g); FCR, feed conversion ratio (g feed/ g body weight). HPD_{95%}, Marginal Posterior highest density region covering 95% of the density; P, probability of the difference being differ than zero; Pc, probability of the difference between the two contrasts being differ than zero.

Genotype by heat conditions interaction

Genotype by environmental conditions interaction can be observed when the difference in the performance of two genotypes depends on the environment in which the performance is measured. Therefore, G × E interaction plays an important role in the adaptation and resilience of genotypes. Table 4 shows the effects of genotype \times heat conditions interaction on litter and growth traits. The presented differences between APRI and NZW genotypes under normal conditions, confirm the goodness of crossing local breeds with selected lines, such as V-line that has been selected in Spain in a climate similar to that of Egypt and used in the development of APRI line. Moreover, the obtained results indicate interaction effects on all litter traits. It can be noticed that the differences between the two lines under NC were reduced under HC, which reflect the different response of genotypes to environmental changes. Under NC, APRI litters showed relevant higher values for TB (+1.18), NBA (+1.19), NW (+1.26), and NM (+0.87) than NZW litters when reared under the same conditions, while there were relevant reductions in litter traits of APRI line in HC with significant differences (different HPD₉₅ and probability of the difference between the two contrasts being greater than zero is close to 1) in NBA and NW, in which the NZW compensated for the previous differences under NC and showed higher values (0.5 and 0.48, respectively) compared with APRI litters. These results are signs of the G×H interaction and confirmed that the environmental conditions produce different physiological consequences on female rabbits, whereas

the NZW breed was more flexible and less sensitive to heat stress due to the fact that NZW has been colonized and raised for many years under Egyptian conditions. The superiority of the APRI line is due to the foundation and selection process after its foundation. But, as confirmed in previous studies, does at higher production levels are more sensitive to heat stress. Marai et al. (28) reported that heat stress has negative effects on the growth of embryos, pregnancy rate, litter size, litter weight, and milk yield of does. In a similar study in rabbits, Savietto et al. (24) observed important genotype by environment interaction, where the does of the V line (which was used to develop the APRI line) showed higher litter traits than does of LP lines and the opposite occurred under heat stress conditions.

Genotype by heat condition interaction effects on growth, feed intake and feed conversion traits are presented in Table 4. Under normal conditions, NZW does had higher body weight and growth rates at different ages than APRI rabbits, these differences were significantly different than 0 to with values of 50.47 g at weaning and 237.6 g at marketing with ADG of 10.89 g/day at the first two weeks after weaning. However, these differences were changed when animals of the two lines were subjected to heat stress for BW₂₈, BW₄₂, BW₆₃, ADG₂₈₋₄₂, DF₂₈₋₄₂ and DF₂₈₋₆₃, while these differences were increased for ADG₄₂₋₆₃, DF₄₂₋₆₃ and feed conversion during the whole fattening period. As commented before, these changes of differences between the two lines, in the different environment conditions, are a good indicator for G × H, and the probability of the difference between the two contrasts being greater than zero
is higher in the most traits. Therefore, it is important to take into account the environmental conditions when we will rear a line or genotype. In the same context, Sánchez et al. (45) concluded that the selection of animals should be realized under the conditions in which they will produce. Therefore, under tropical conditions, the genetic improvement of rabbits by crossbreeding between local and exotic breeds should be followed by selection in conditions similar to commercial production conditions in order to select well-adapted animals to tolerate heat stress and increase their ability to survive, grow and reproduce.

Conclusion

Crossbreeding between local and exotic breeds helped to improve rabbits' performance. The observed results confirmed the existence of $G \times H$ interactions that affected growth and litter size traits, as different genotypes responded differently under different environmental conditions. Our results also indicated that heat stress, as a part of the environmental factors, has negatively impacted the gestation and fattening period in both genotypes, and therefore, $G \times H$ interaction should receive more attention whenever designing breeding programs.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Animal Care and Ethics Committee of Kafrelsheikh University, Egypt (license number, KFS1345/10).

References

1. Collins M, Knutti R, Arblaster J. *The Physical Science Basis. IPCC Working Group I Contribution to AR5.* (2013). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

2. Dalmau A, Catanese B, Rafel O, Rodriguez P, Fuentes C, Llonch P, et al. Effect of high temperatures on breeding rabbit behaviour. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:1207–14. doi: 10.1071/AN13440

3. El-Sabry MI, Zaki MM, Elgohary FA, Helal MM. Sustainable rabbit production under the global warming conditions in southern mediterranean region. *World's Vet J.* (2021) 11:543–8. doi: 10.54203/scil.2021.wvj69

 El-Raffa AM. Rabbit production in hot climates. In Proceedings of the 8th Congress of the World Veterinary Rabbit Association. Puebla (2004). p. 1172– 80. Available online at: http://world-rabbit-science.com/WRSA-Proceedings/ Congress-2004-Puebla/Papers/FAO-Rabbit-Science-Dev-Countries/S0-El-Raffa. pdf (accessed on September 7-10, 2004)

5. Nielsen SS, Alvarez J, Bicout DJ, Calistri P, Depner K, Drewe JA, et al. Stunning methods and slaughter of rabbits for human

Author contributions

MR: formal analysis, methodology, validation, supervision, and writing—original draft. IE: conceptualization, resources, methodology, and writing. HY: writing—review and editing. MA: visualization, formal analysis, and writing—original draft. MH: methodology, validation, investigation, and writing review and editing.

Acknowledgments

We want to acknowledge the effort and dedication of KafrElsheikh's Poultry Farm personnel for taking care of the animals and their thorough labor on data recording. Also, we acknowledge the enago language editing service provided by the Egyptian Knowledge Bank (EKB-enago) for editing the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

consumption. EFSA J. (2020) 18:e05927. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2020. 5927

7. Liang ZL, Chen F, Park S, Balasubramanian B, Liu WC. Impacts of heat stress on rabbit immune function, endocrine, blood biochemical changes, antioxidant capacity and production performance, and the potential mitigation strategies of nutritional intervention. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.906084

8. Bernabucci U, Lacetera N, Baumgard LH, Rhoads RP, Ronchi B, Nardone A, et al. Metabolic and hormonal acclimation to heat stress in domesticated ruminants. *Animal.* (2010) 4:1167–83. doi: 10.1017/S175173111000090X

9. Hoffmann G, Herbut P, Pinto S, Heinicke J, Kuhla B, Amon T, et al. Animalrelated, non-invasive indicators for determining heat stress in dairy cows. *Biosyst Eng.* (2020) 199:83–96. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2019.10.017

^{6.} Marai I, Haeeb A, Gad A. Biological functions in young pregnant rabbit does as affected by heat stress and lighting regime under subtropical conditions of Egypt. *Trop Subtrop Agroecosystems*. (2007) 7:165–76.

10. Renaudeau D, Collin A, Yahav S, Basilio VD, Gourdine JL, Collier RJ, et al. Adaptation to hot climate and strategies to alleviate heat stress in livestock production. *Animal.* (2012) 6:707–28. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111002448

11. Sejian V, Bhatta R, Gaughan JB, Dunshea FR, Lacetera N. Review: Adaptation of animals to heat stress. *Animal.* (2018) 12:S431-44. doi: 10.1017/S1751731118001945

12. Hoffmann I. Climate change and the characterization, breeding and conservation of animal genetic resources. *Anim Genet.* (2010) 41:32–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2052.2010.02043.x

13. Perini F, Cendron F, Rovelli G, Castellini C, Cassandro M, Lasagna E, et al. Emerging genetic tools to investigate molecular pathways related to heat stress in chickens: A review. *Animals.* (2020) 11:46. doi: 10.3390/ani110 10046

14. Sae-Lim P, Gjerde B, Nielsen HM, Mulder H, Kause A. A review of genotypeby-environment interaction and micro-environmental sensitivity in aquaculture species. *Rev Aquac.* (2016) 8:369–93. doi: 10.1111/raq.12098

15. Misztal I, Bohmanova J, Freitas M, Tsuruta S, Norman HD, Lawlor T, et al. Issues in genetic evaluation of dairy cattle for heat tolerance. In *Proceedings of 8th World Congress on Genetics Applied to Livestock Production*. Belo Horizonte (2006). p. 13–8.

16. Abou Khadiga GSM. *Performance of the Spanish synthetic line (V) and the local Baladi Black rabbits and their crosses under Egyptian conditions* Doctoral dissertation, M. Sc. Thesis, Faculty of Agriculture, Kafr El-Sheikh, Tanta University, Egypt (2004).

17. Al-Saef AM, Khalil MH, Al-Homidan AH, Al-Dobaib SN, Al-Sobayil KA, García ML, et al. Crossbreeding effects for litter and lactation traits in a Saudi project to develop new lines of rabbits suitable for hot climates. *Livest Sci.* (2008) 118:238–46. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2008.01.025

18. Youssef YMK, Baselga M, Khalil MH, Gad-Alla S, Garcia ML. Evaluation of litter traits in a crossing project of V-line and Baladi Red rabbits in Egypt. *Livest Res Rural Dev.* (2008) 20:1–6. Available online at: http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd20/9/ yous20135.htm

19. Cartuche L, Pascual M, Gómez EA, Blasco A. Economic weights in rabbit meat production. *World Rabbit Sci.* (2014) 22:165–77. doi: 10.4995/wrs.2014. 1747

20. Abou Khadiga G, Youssef YMK, Saleh K, Nofal RY, Baselga M. Genetic trend in selection for litter weight in two maternal lines of rabbits in Egypt. *World Rabbit Sci.* (2010) 18:27–32. doi: 10.4995/WRS.2010.18.04

21. Ozimba CE, Lukefahr SD. Comparison of rabbit breed types for postweaning litter growth, feed efficiency, and survival performance traits. *J Anim Sci.* (1991) 69:3494–500. doi: 10.2527/1991.6993494x

22. Bassuny SM. Performance of doe rabbits and their weanlings as affected by heat stress and their alleviation by nutritional means, under Egyptian conditions. *Egypt J Rabbit Sci.* (1999) 9:73–89.

23. Khalil MH. Heterosis, maternal and direct additive effects for litter performance and postweaning growth in Gabali rabbits and their F1 crosses with New Zealand White. In *Proceedings of the 7th World Rabbit Congress, Valencia, Spain* (1999).

24. Savietto D, Cervera C, Blas E, Baselga M, Larsen T, Friggens NC, et al. Environmental sensitivity differs between rabbit lines selected for reproductive intensity and longevity. *Animal.* (2013) 7:1969–77. doi: 10.1017/S175173111300178X

25. Apori SO, Hagan JK, Osei D. The growth and reproductive performance of different breeds of rabbits kept under warm and humid environments in ghana. *Online J Anim Feed Res.* (2014) 4:51–9.

26. Hansen PJ. Effects of heat stress on mammalian reproduction. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2009) 364:3341–50. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2009.0131

27. Takahashi M. Heat stress on reproductive function and fertility in mammals. *Reprod Med Biol.* (2012) 11:37–47. doi: 10.1007/s12522-011-0105-6

28. Marai IFM, Habeeb AAM, Gad AE. Rabbits' productive, reproductive and physiological performance traits as affected by heat stress: a review. *Livest Prod Sci.* (2002) 78:71–90. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00091-X

29. Tusell L, David I, Bodin L, Legarra A, Rafel O, López-Bejar M, et al. Using the product threshold model for estimating separately the effect of temperature on male and female fertility. *J Anim Sci.* (2011) 89:3983–95. doi: 10.2527/jas.2011-3924

30. Ragab M, Baselga M. A comparison of reproductive traits of four maternal lines of rabbits selected for litter size at weaning and founded on different criteria. *Livest Sci.* (2011) 136:201–6. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2010.09.009

31. Ezzeroug R, Belabbas R, Argente MJ, Berbar A, Diss S, Boudjella Z, et al. Genetic correlations for reproductive and growth traits in rabbits. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2020) 100:317–22. doi: 10.1139/cjas-2019-0049

32. Estany J, Camacho J, Baselga M, Blasco A. Selection response of growth rate in rabbits for meat production. *Genet Sel E 24.* (1992) 527–37. doi: 10.1186/1297-9686-24-6-527

33. Piles M, David I, Ramon J, Canario L, Rafel O, Pascual M, et al. Interaction of direct and social genetic effects with feeding regime in growing rabbits. *Genet Sel E*. (2017) 49:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s12711-017-0333-2

34. Drouilhet L, Gilbert H, Balmisse E, Ruesche J, Tircazes A, Larzul C, et al. Genetic parameters for two selection criteria for feed efficiency in rabbits. *J Anim Sci.* (2013) 91:3121–8. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-6176

35. Marco-Jiménez F, García-Diego FJ, Vicente JS. Effect of gestational and lactational exposure to heat stress on performance in rabbits. *World Rabbit Sci.* (2017) 25:17–25. doi: 10.4995/wrs.2017.5728

36. Boddicker RL, Seibert JT, Johnson JS, Pearce SC, Selsby JT, Gabler NK, et al. Gestational heat stress alters postnatal offspring body composition indices and metabolic parameters in pigs. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e110859. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110859

37. Habeeb AAM. Influence of exposure to high temperature on daily gain, feed efficiency and blood components of growing male Californian rabbits. *Egypt J Rabbit Sci.* (1993) 3:73–80.

38. Bakr MH, Tusell L, Rafel O, Terré M, Sánchez JP, Piles M, et al. Lactating performance, water and feed consumption of rabbit does reared under a Mediterranean summer circadian cycle of temperature v. comfort temperature conditions. *Animal.* (2015) 9:1203–9. doi: 10.1017/S1751731114003310

39. Savietto D, Blas E, Cervera C, Baselga M, Friggens NC, Larsen T, et al. Digestive efficiency in rabbit does according to environment and genetic type. *World Rabbit Sci.* (2012) 20:131–40. doi: 10.4995/wrs.2012.1152

40. Jimoh OA, Oyeyemi BF, Oyeyemi WA. Soursop juice enhanced seminal antioxidant defence and semen quality of rabbit bucks in extremely dry climatic condition of Southwestern Nigeria. *J Therm Biol.* (2021) 100:103034. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2021.103034

41. Ragab M, Mostfa SM, El-Kholy KH, Radwan LM, El-Shafie A, El-Ratel IT, et al. Effects of genotype and weaning age interaction on growth traits in rabbits. *World's Vet J.* (2021) 11:249–56. doi: 10.54203/scil.2021.wvj32

42. Theilgaard P, Sánchez JP, Pascual JJ, Berg P, Friggens NC, Baselga M. Late reproductive senescence in a rabbit line hyper selected for reproductive longevity, and its association with body reserves. *Genetic Selection Evol.* (2007) 39:207–23. doi: 10.1186/1297-9686-39-2-207

43. Theilgaard P, Baselga M, Blas E, Cervera C, Pascual JJ. Differences in productive robustness in rabbits selected for reproductive longevity or litter size. *Animal.* (2009) 3:637–46. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109003838

44. Ferrian S, Blas E, Larsen T, Sánchez JP, Friggens NC, Corpa JM, et al. Comparison of immune response to lipopolysaccharide of rabbit does selected for litter size at weaning or founded for reproductive longevity. *Res Vet Sci.* (2013) 94:518–25. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2013.01.008

45. Sánchez JP, Ragab M, Mínguez C, Piles M. Genotype by feeding regimen interactions for slaughter traits in rabbit and expected responses under restricted and full feeding. *J Anim Breed Genet*. (2022) 139:530–9. doi: 10.1111/jbg.12719

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fabio Luis Henrique, Associated Colleges of Uberaba, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Francesca Arfuso, University of Messina, Italy Ute Knierim, University of Kassel, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Daniel Mota-Rojas dmota100@yahoo.com.mx

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 19 August 2022 ACCEPTED 17 November 2022 PUBLISHED 01 December 2022

CITATION Gómez-Prado J, Pereira AMF, Wang D, Villanueva-García D. Domínguez-Oliva A, Mora-Medina P, Hernández-Avalos I. Martínez-Burnes J, Casas-Alvarado A, Olmos-Hernández A. Ramírez-Necoechea R, Verduzco-Mendoza A, Hernández A, Torres F and Mota-Rojas D (2022) Thermoregulation mechanisms and perspectives for validating thermal windows in pigs with hypothermia and hyperthermia: An overview. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:1023294. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.1023294

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Gómez-Prado, Pereira, Wang, Villanueva-García, Domínguez-Oliva, Mora-Medina, Hernández-Avalos, Martínez-Burnes, Casas-Alvarado, Olmos-Hernández, Ramírez-Necoechea. Verduzco-Mendoza, Hernández, Torres and Mota-Rojas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Thermoregulation mechanisms and perspectives for validating thermal windows in pigs with hypothermia and hyperthermia: An overview

Jocelyn Gómez-Prado¹, Alfredo M. F. Pereira², Dehua Wang³, Dina Villanueva-García⁴, Adriana Domínguez-Oliva¹, Patricia Mora-Medina⁵, Ismael Hernández-Avalos⁵, Julio Martínez-Burnes⁶, Alejandro Casas-Alvarado¹, Adriana Olmos-Hernández⁷, Ramiro Ramírez-Necoechea¹, Antonio Verduzco-Mendoza⁷, Astrid Hernández¹, Fabiola Torres¹ and Daniel Mota-Rojas^{1*}

¹Neurophysiology, Behavior and Animal Welfare Assessment, DPAA, Xochimilco Campus, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Mexico City, Mexico, ²Mediterranean Institute for Agriculture, Environment and Development (MED), Institute for Advanced Studies and Research, Universidade de Évora, Polo da Mitra, Évora, Portugal, ³School of Life Sciences, Shandong University, Qingdao, China, ⁴Division of Neonatology, Hospital Infantil de México Federico Gómez, Mexico City, Mexico, ⁵Facultad de Estudios Superiores Cuautitán, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico, ⁶Animal Health Group, Facultad de Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia, Universidad Autónoma de Tamaulipas, Ciudad Victoria, Mexico, ⁷Division of Biotechnology–Bioterio and Experimental Surgery, Instituto Nacional de Rehabilitación-Luis Guillermo Ibarra Ibarra, Mexico City, Mexico

Specific anatomical characteristics make the porcine species especially sensitive to extreme temperature changes, predisposing them to pathologies and even death due to thermal stress. Interest in improving animal welfare and porcine productivity has led to the development of various lines of research that seek to understand the effect of certain environmental conditions on productivity and the impact of implementing strategies designed to mitigate adverse effects. The non-invasive infrared thermography technique is one of the tools most widely used to carry out these studies, based on detecting changes in microcirculation. However, evaluations using this tool require reliable thermal windows; this can be challenging because several factors can affect the sensitivity and specificity of the regions selected. This review discusses the thermal windows used with domestic pigs and the association of thermal changes in these regions with the thermoregulatory capacity of piglets and hogs.

KEYWORDS

hypothermia, heat stress, infrared thermography, piglet, hog

Introduction

The regulation of body temperature in homeotherms is ensured by mechanisms of thermolysis and thermogenesis (1). Thermoregulatory adjustments can be induced by changes in environmental temperature and various physiological situations, including age, fasting, food intake, and stress conditions (2– 4). Therefore, the evaluation of body temperature represents a valuable tool to monitor animals' physiologic status, welfare, and stress responses. Under stressful conditions, the activation of the sympathetic system and the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) releases effector hormones such as catecholamine and glucocorticoids, respectively. Stressinduced hyperthermia, a condition triggered by the sympathetic system, consists of increasing core body temperature and the consequences on the thermoregulatory mechanism of animals (5).

The thermoregulation mechanisms of domesticated swine face challenges during all stages of growth due to certain anatomical-physiological characteristics of this species (6) that make these animals sensitive and susceptible to neonatal hypothermia, or hyperthermia in adulthood (7, 8), events that can trigger not only physiological alterations but also a predisposition to pathologies and mortality due to thermal stress (9). This impact productive and reproductive parameters and the quality of meat, milk, and other products of animal origin (10). The anatomical features that influence thermoregulation in swine include fine hair that helps reduce heat loss to a small degree under exposure to cold climates (11) and protects the skin from direct solar radiation in hot environments (12). The lack of functional sweat glands (13, 14) and low amounts of brown adipose tissue (BAT) at birth also impact the thermal response of domesticated pigs to diverse stimuli (15). However, some of these characteristics -like the lack of hair and heat-insulating fat behind the ears and near the sternum- make certain body regions candidates as thermal windows that can reflect heat exchange between the animal and its environment (16).

Infrared thermography (IRT) is used to measure the amount of heat that a body radiates (17, 18) as a result of vasomotor control that dilates or constricts peripheral capillaries (8). The discovery of this relationship suggested that IRT could be useful in veterinary medicine to evaluate circulatory changes caused by inflammatory or infectious processes, wounds, thermal stress, and stressful events (19). IRT could help perform detailed analyses of thermoregulation and the compensation mechanisms involved in returning to a state of homeothermy. However, achieving this goal requires identifying adequate anatomical regions and the information they can provide depending on their vasculature and location.

To date, the ocular, auricular, and nasal regions are most often employed to quantify the heat that animals dissipate or conserve (17, 20, 21). In species like swine and canines, appendicular regions are recognized as being more sensitive to temperature decreases due to prominent blood vessels that contract to prevent active heat loss (7, 22). IRT can detect changes of this kind in the surface vasculature of the skin, depending on the anatomical components of the region (15, 23). The use of IRT is, however, still controversial because studies have shown variability in indices of sensitivity and specificity, two parameters that can be affected by diverse factors, both internal (e.g., presence of hair, bare skin, and hair length, among others) (24), and external, that limit its use in veterinary medicine (11, 24).

This review aims to analyze (i) the thermoregulation mechanisms of piglets and adult pigs (hogs); (ii) the thermoregulatory adjustments that pigs of different ages confront; (iii) evidence for the use of various thermal windows with domesticated swine; (iv) the factors that affect their validation; and (v) possible limitations on applying IRT with this species.

Review methodology

The search was conducted in Web of Science, Scopus, PubMed, and CAB Reviews databases. The keywords used to find the literature were: "pig thermoregulation", "pig surface temperature", "infrared thermography", "pig thermal windows", and "infectious or inflammatory disease". The inclusion criteria for the articles and books cited in the present review (n =174) were those regarding the changes in surface temperature in domestic pigs in response to environmental, physiological, or biological stressors. In addition, articles between the years 2000 and 2022 were considered. Studies that did not meet the inclusion criteria or reported the use of infrared thermography in other species were excluded. Figure 1 describes the overall methodology for this review.

Thermoregulatory contrasts between piglets and hogs, anatomical-physiological aspects, and differences in thermo-stabilization

The anatomical-physiological particularities that affect thermoregulation in pigs include scarce fine hair (25), apocrine glands distributed throughout the body, and the absence of eccrine sweat glands (26). However, these characteristics differ in distinct stages of development and growth. For example, due to the absence of BAT and microfibril mass and low fat and glycogen reserves, the piglet's thermoregulatory immaturity (27) helps explain why newborns are vulnerable to environmental challenges when the temperature is around 18–20°C. Piglets require the activation of compensatory mechanisms such as



shivering thermogenesis, piloerection, and vasoconstriction in the first hours and days of life to impede heat loss from vital organs.

In hogs, in contrast, the disposition of adipose tissue is considered a factor that affects their heat-dissipating capacity, especially during exposure to high environmental temperatures. Hogs rely on peripheral vasodilation and panting to dissipate excess heat. However, due to their few functional sweat glands and the subcutaneous layer of backfat that impedes heat loss, they are susceptible to thermal shock that can also lead to death (Figure 2) (28–30).

Regarding behavioral thermoregulatory responses such as panting, pigs use a wide repertoire of changes to maintain their core temperature. For example, newborns huddle as the primary method to prevent heat loss, representing around 61.2–73.8% of their time (31). In sows, responses to cold environments include postural changes (sternal recumbency) (32), decreased locomotion (33), and an increase in food and water intake (34). In contrast, wallowing is the first reaction, when exposed to heat stress, and reduction in feed intake and motivation to search for warm places are frequently observed (27, 35).

A significant difference between piglets and hogs is the thickness of the skin and its supporting structures. The dermis and subcutaneous tissue of hogs measures around 3 mm, 21–26 μ m (36). The thickness of the epidermis varies from one anatomical site to another, but ranges around 30–140 μ m, which can be considered a barrier against cold temperatures (37). The skin is thicker and has numerous crests in the shoulders and snout but is thin around the dorsum and hips (38). In contrast, studies of one-day-old piglets report a skin thickness of 0.3–1.4 mm, a stratum corneum of 11–48 μ m, and an epidermis of 33–68 μ m (39). This influences their thermoregulatory capacity, tolerance to extreme climates, and interaction with the vascular anatomy that, in neonates, is similar to that of human skin (36).

Two other factors related to the skin are glandular structures and the presence of hair follicles. Piglets have a capillary: follicle ratio of $730/\text{cm}^2$, but reports on hogs estimate just 10.16 follicles/cm² (36). The importance of these structures during the first days of life lies in their heat-conserving function generated by piloerection. In this regard, while swine are considered a species with scarce hair distribution, a study of Hampshire hogs weighing 100–120 kg reported the union of an arrector pili muscle with the outer root sheath (40) that supports the effects of piloerection and heat retention.

Another important characteristic that distinguishes swine from other species is the structure of their sweat glands. Unlike human sweat glands of the eccrine type and function mainly to cool the skin, pigs have apocrine glands that end in the epidermis, near hair follicles (41). They have been loosely described as simple, though the ones in the snout are considered more complex, as they are coiled and distributed in a ratio of 1:1 with respect to the follicles (40, 41).

Adipose tissue is another essential element for thermoregulation that differs significantly among swine of distinct ages. Neonate piglets have small fat deposits (around 15 g Kg⁻¹) available in the abdomen and on the back (42), limiting their capacity to produce heat through food consumption (43, 44). Research has shown that piglets -which lack BAT at birth- use the process called "browning of white adipose tissue" (WAT) to perform non-shivering thermogenesis (45). Mersmann et al. (46) reported that the piglet's organism has 4% fat immediately postpartum. Other authors mention just 1%, but this can increase to 16.4% during the first 24 days of life (47, 48). In pigs, the fat-producing process begins in the fetal stage. From 0 to 68 days of gestation, the fat content has been reported to be around 0.06 g/d, but increases to 1.09 g/d at day 69 (47). As the age of the animal advances, the fat percentage increases to 9.3-24.3% (49), with an average of 30% of extramuscular fat (44). This means that mortality by hypothermia is not a major challenge in hogs as it is in piglets. Instead, the increase in the thickness of the layer of adipose tissue reduces emissions of cutaneous heat into the environment through



vasodilatation. This situation becomes complicated, however, when we consider the reduced functionality of sweat glands in swine, and the limited effectiveness of thermoregulatory behaviors like panting. These elements can cause imbalances when hogs are exposed to high environmental temperatures of $24-30^{\circ}$ C and leave them susceptible to hyperthermia (known as an elevation of body temperature caused by an imbalance of thermoregulatory mechanisms that leaves them unable to eliminate heat at the same rate as it is produced) or heat stroke (50, 51).

Regarding the characteristics of the muscle required to perform shivering thermogenesis, skeletal muscle fibers are classified into "slow-twitch" (type I) and "fast-twitch" (type II with subsequent subtypes IIa, IIb, IIx), according to the isoform of myosin heavy chain and the contraction speed, where type IIb is the fastest (52). Vanden Hole et al. (53) determined that the percentage of type II muscle fibers in the pelvic limbs of piglets represents 95.58% of total muscle fiber. It has been reported that piglets have predominantly secondary muscle fibers, that these correlate positively with muscle weight (r = 0.39) (54), and that low temperatures of $15 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C in 21-day-old piglets increase the expression of type IIa fibers (55). In hogs, an immunohistochemical study of muscle tissue samples showed a higher proportion of type-II muscle fibers (56), which can increase quadratically with parity (3^{rd} birth, r2 = 0.44; 4th birth, r2 = 0.54). Other studies of animals weighing 100 kgshowed that the longissimus muscle expresses three isoforms of type II muscle fibers but not IIb, which were not observed in Lefaucheur et al.'s work (56). These fibers' distribution consists in islets of type I fibers surrounded by peripherally-located IIaand IIb-type fibers (56). In hogs, the percentages of type I, IIa, and IIb fibers are 4, 8, and 88%, respectively (57), lower than the figures for piglets. The importance of the predominance of certain fibers is that while type II are fast, they require ATP production to initiate non-shivering thermogenesis, a substrate that may be limited in piglets. In contrast, type I rely on oxidative metabolism to thermoregulate (58), and a shift toward oxidative muscle can occur in piglets (55). Finally, reduced muscle irrigation, added to the absence of microfibril mass that controls the potency of muscular contraction, also compromises the mechanism of shivering thermogenesis (43), leaving piglets susceptible to neonatal hypothermia.

Concerning the metabolic mechanisms that pigs use for thermoregulation, glycogen reserves in skeletal muscle (around $30-35 \text{ g Kg}^{-1}$) and liver are the main sources of energy in the first hours of life (43, 59). Glycogen concentrations in the skeletal muscle, front and hind legs, and liver of 32 neonates of a Topigs x German Pietrain breed were studied in the first 96 h of life. In that study, low birth weight in the piglets (body mass = $0.79 \pm 0.26 \text{ kg}$) was associated with reduced



glycogen utilization in the hind legs, as those reserves were not utilized until 8h postpartum. Moreover, those newborns had as much as 50% less glycogen than normal-weight piglets (mass body = 1.37 \pm 0.29 kg). An evaluation of the amount of glycogen in the liver showed that low-weight piglets did not utilize their reserves for 96 h, in contrast to the normalweight ones that consumed half of that glycogen in the first 8 h of life (P = 0.0238) (60). Another energy reserve available at birth is glucose. Staarvik et al. (61) evaluated this in oneday-old piglets, finding average blood glucose concentrations of 5.48 mmol/l. Interestingly, they also found that male piglets had higher glucose levels than females, while those born in large litters had glucose concentrations as much as 0.07 mmol/l lower. Because glycogen and glucose are energy reserves that can be depleted quickly, consuming colostrum is essential for providing the energy newborns require for thermoregulation and the passive immunity needed to reduce the risks of low vitality (43, 59).

Recognizing the anatomical differences between newborn and adult pigs allows us to determine the resources each age group utilizes when exposed to environmental challenges like thermal stress, and also helps identify the responses that occur when those mechanisms are activated. Moreover, this information serves as a guide for planning strategies to prevent, diagnose, and manage affectations of the thermoregulation of swine in relation to their physiological stage of development.

Thermoregulation in the newborn piglet

At birth and during the first 48 h of life, piglets rely on shivering thermogenesis as their principal thermoregulation mechanism (62) (Figure 3) to compensate for low environmental temperatures of $20-22^{\circ}$ C (43, 63), which can cause a drastic drop in body temperature, perhaps as great as 2° C (15, 64). The placental fluids (including amniotic liquid) that cover piglets together with the high body conductance and the high specific surface area at birth worsen this temperature drop due to the evaporation of 50% of those liquids that usually occurs in the first 5–30 min post-birth (65, 66). Hence, the main challenge for piglets is hypothermia. Their immature thermoregulatory center also plays an important role during birth; in fact, neuroimaging studies suggest that their thalamus and hypothalamus do not reach maturity until week 5 of life (67). This immaturity added to their relative physiological and metabolic immaturity, helps explain the incapacity of neonate pigs to thermoregulate when facing environmental challenges (15).

Because they do not have a mature thermoregulatory center (67, 68), newborn piglets first mobilize energy reserves (glycogen, fat, skeletal muscle, in descending order) to produce heat and survive in the extrauterine environment (7). The lack of microfibril mass that controls the potency of muscle fiber contraction (56) and the predominance of secondary muscle fibers help piglets produce heat through a muscular contraction so they can remain metabolically active. This may confer a particular advantage for achieving thermoregulatory success, but only in a limited way. Causes of thermoregulatory incapacity in piglets include reduced muscular irrigation, low mitochondrial mass responsible for the oxidative potential of muscle and, hence, the energy supply, and the level of bioavailability of carbohydrates as an energy source that leads to a biochemical modification of the oxidation of non-structural fatty acids, compromising the mechanism of shivering thermogenesis and leaving piglets susceptible to neonatal hypothermia (43).

The total amount of fat in piglets at birth and usually 42% of the limited muscle glycogen reserves are used in the first 12h of life to satisfy its energy requirements. Nonetheless, the expenditure depends on factors such as body mass and vitality since piglets with low vitality have less muscle volume and liver glycogen stored at birth (69). Therefore, for this species, colostrum intake is critical for their survival. Reports show that colostrum provides around 5.4% of fat and 2.0% of lactose as bioavailable carbohydrates that support the newborn's survival. However, colostrum also gives piglets passive immunity by supplying immunoglobulin G, substantially reducing susceptibility to infections by agents like E. coli (70, 71). Under these conditions, piglets that are born weak with body weights $<\!800\,g$ (72) are rarely able to ingest colostrum and milk, their two main sources of energy, because of (i) low energy reserves in their muscles that impede initial attempts to suckle, and (ii) insufficient insulation given their higher surface/body mass ratio that can lead to hypothermia (73).

 Inanition and hypothermia hinder locomotion, increasing the risk of crushing and death in the first 24 h post-birth. The piglet's organism may consume glycogen reserves in the liver or muscles during the first 6 h of life, striving to achieve thermoregulation despite hypoglycemia and limited glycogen reserves (74), but this can trigger metabolic acidosis, which that can end in coma or death by cardiac arrhythmia (7, 75). Studies show that piglets' 10–13% of perinatal mortality is due to underlying events like crushing and cold stress (43). Due to the reported correlation between piglet survival and the degree and duration of postnatal hypothermia (76), swine producers are interested in studies of hypothermia that may help prevent this condition that causes significant economic losses (77) as the leading cause of perinatal death (7, 78). The main threat to neonate piglets is a cold extrauterine environment that provokes active heat loss through evaporation and exposure to low temperatures and cold objects or fluids. Their limited thermoregulatory capacity exacerbates this due to scarce energy resources that are quickly depleted in such a challenging environment. Therefore, the timely recognition of hypothermia is crucial to avoid dire physiological consequences.

Thermoregulation of hogs at the slaughterhouse

In contrast to piglets, hogs may be exposed to elevated environmental temperatures that affect growth, food conversion, reproduction, health, and welfare. Though hogs have a mature thermoregulatory center, they are susceptible to heat stress because they have few functional sweat glands (30/cm²) (79). Hogs radiate heat by convection and evaporation through vasodilatation by increasing their respiratory rate and changing postures (80). However, when temperatures exceed their body's thermoneutral zone (81), they cannot lose heat at the same rate as acquired. Stressful situations can also compromise the mechanism of peripheral vasodilatation and, hence, thermoregulation (82). Moreover, the effectiveness of the evaporative thermoregulatory response varies with the degree of humidity in the environment: the higher the humidity (50% or more), the less effective evaporative cooling will be. Hogs can suffer heat stress at lower temperatures than when the air is drier because less liquid evaporates from the respiratory tract and skin in humid environments (80).

It is important to understand that the magnitude of heat production and exchange in hogs depends, as well, on the stage of growth, gestation, lactation, diet, stocking density [1 *vs.* 2 m^2 /pig (83)], the air movement index, and convection and conduction methods (80). Animals in stages marked by high metabolic activity (e.g., early growth, lactation) tend to be more susceptible to heat stress, so sows, boars, and finishing hogs weighing over 50 kg may begin to experience the adverse effects of heat stress at temperatures that barely exceed 20°C (79).

Another critical characteristic of hogs is the layer of subcutaneous fat that insulates the skin but impedes thermolysis, leaving them especially sensitive to heat stress (84). The thickness of the hog's back fat is another relevant trait. Autochthonous, non-selected breeds like Iberian pigs have a thick layer of subcutaneous fat that can increase their sensitivity to high temperatures compared to leaner breeds (85). According to Usala et al. (86), the heritability of back fat depth is greater in conditions free of heat stress ($h^2 = 0.34$ vs. 0.28). In line

with these results, studies have proven that hogs weighing over 51.4 kg are more susceptible to heat stress than lighter animals, likely due to a limited heat-dissipating capacity because they have more adipose tissue (87). This corroborates the idea that certain anatomical features of hogs promote greater susceptibility to heat stress.

During transport to an abattoir, hogs may be exposed to stressors like dense loading densities and high ambient temperatures that can compromise homeothermy (88). When unable to maintain a balance between heat gain and loss, hogs suffer heat stress that can trigger myocardial and circulatory insufficiency, perhaps ending in death (89). The development of these insufficiencies is due to metabolic disorders like an increased flow of Ca^{2+} and consumption of adipose tissue, which foster a sustained temperature increase (90, 91) that can lead to oxygen deficiency, electrolyte imbalance, and oxidative stress caused by the activation of myeloperoxidase and eosinophil peroxidase enzymes which serve as indicators of ischemic changes (92).

Adverse effects of hyperthermia for the health of hogs

In hyperthermic conditions, blood irrigation of the splanchnic tissues is channeled toward the periphery to dissipate heat. When this increase in body temperature is sustained for a certain time, it is classified as acute hyperthermia (93). Greater susceptibility to acute hyperthermia has been registered in hogs raised in tropical zones and during summertime in regions with temperate climates. This predisposition is greater than in other species; one of the factors is the lack of functional sweat glands. Heat dissipation occurs through two evaporative mechanisms (respiratory and dermal), but hogs dissipate <50% of the heat produced via respiratory evaporation. Evaporation through the skin involves two types of processes: one passive, when water diffuses through the skin, and the other active, called sweating. However, hogs have a very low density of sweat glands (30/cm²) compared to species like bovines (800-2,000/cm²), and the few they have are not stimulated by heat stress, so little heat is lost by sweating. The second factor is subcutaneous fat. Heavier hogs (e.g., gestating or lactating sows and hogs of commercial weight) require greater energy consumption in relation to their productive stage but also present a lower heat-dissipating capacity because of a low surface: mass ratio (volume) and larger amounts of fatty subcutaneous tissues that impede heat dissipation (93, 94).

At the organ level, during hyperthermia, the gastrointestinal system is affected by hypoxia of the intestinal mucosa because blood flow (nutrients and blood) is diverted to the periphery. This damages the intestinal tract by reducing the height of the villi and the depth of crypts, increasing permeability, and intensifying the inflammatory response (93). There are also reports of tachycardia, hypertension, and supraventricular or ventricular arrhythmias, possibly indicative of cardiovascular damage after an hyperthermia episode (94, 95). Chen et al. (96) identified polymorphonuclear leucocytes in heart tissue sections from hogs affected by heat stress, suggesting that the animals were in an acute stage and may have developed myocardial lesions. As environmental temperatures rise, efficiency is compromised because maintaining a stable body temperature becomes the priority, so nutrients are channeled to achieve euthermia, pushing the synthesis of products (meat, milk) to a second plane. Hyperthermia also affects numerous intracellular signaling pathways responsible for survival and productivity (97). The effects of high temperatures on production can vary widely. Sows may present late-onset puberty and long intervals between weaning and estrus. In addition, the proportion of impregnated sows that give birth may be low. In boars, seminal quality may decrease (94), causing economic losses in the industry due to reduced efficiency, higher outlays for veterinary care, low meat quality because of increased lipids and reduced proteins, and higher mortality, especially especially under challenging stages for dissipating heat (e.g., gestation, fattening) (97).

Unfortunately, common hyperthermia is not the only condition threatening existing swine populations, for recent increases in demand for pork have intensified the breeding of genetic lines that reach the meat-production stage more quickly. While this process produces pigs with a higher muscle-to-fat ratio, it also brings undesirable traits, including a recessive, monogenic hereditary autosomal syndrome called malignant hyperthermia or porcine stress syndrome (PSS) (98). This pathology is described as a hypermetabolic reaction of skeletal muscle caused primarily by alterations of calcium channels in skeletal muscle cells and the central nervous system (Purkinje cells). If untreated, it can be fatal. Studies have described a mutant ryanodine 1 receptor gene (RYR1) that can cause episodes of malignant hyperthermia under adverse or stressful conditions, such as high environmental temperatures, intense exercise, reproductive activity, transport to the abattoir, or the application of inhaled halogenated anesthetic agents (95). Unlike the hyperthermia described earlier, which develops progressively, malignant hyperthermia is characterized by a sudden increase in body temperature and metabolic index. It usually ends in death. The dysfunction of calcium channels in skeletal muscle cells caused by mutations of the RYR1 gene produces a high concentration of intraplasmatic calcium because the Ca2+- releasing channels anchored to the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum stay open (99). This disorder has become more rare due to the extensive removal of carriers of this gene mutation (100-102); the environment and the facilities where the animals are kept continue to be a factor in the development of disrupted thermal states.

The evolution of PSS passes through 3 phases. The first is marked by increased skeletal muscle metabolism, greater oxygen and glucose consumption, hypercapnia, and higher CO² concentrations at the end of expirations that lead to hyperventilation. As energy supplies are consumed, the hog presents hypoxemia and hypoglycemia. Then, attempting to revert this, it intensifies glycolysis, which can produce lactacidemia. In the second phase, local hypoxia, an acidbase imbalance, and fever lead muscle cells to suffer necrosis. Combined with edema, this can trigger compartment syndrome. The rupturing of skeletal muscle fibers releases their content into the bloodstream (rhabdomyolysis). The electrolytes that enter the blood can cause fatal organ damage, while increases in plasma myoglobin and creatine phosphate kinase (CK) levels can trigger acute renal insufficiency. In stage three, the hog suffers systemic metabolic disorders, core hyperthermia, arrhythmia, heart damage, and continuous rupturing of myocytes that, finally, cause disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), multiple organ failure and death (95).

Nevertheless, even hogs that do not present the RYR1 gene mutation can die of heat stroke. A hog exposed to excessive heat may develop hyperthermia and activation of the sympathetic-adrenal-medullary axis (SAM), as in other stressful situations. Activation of this axis culminates in increased catecholamines synthesis and secretion, increasing gluconeogenesis, tachycardia, and tachypnea (103). It is important to understand that tachypnea –that is, panting– helps eliminate heat by evaporating liquid from the respiratory tract (27). Hyperventilation and greater oxygen consumption lead to hypercapnia and hypoxia, aggravated by hyperlactatemia due to increased anaerobic glycolysis. Finally, all these conditions together produce metabolic acidosis that affects heart function and, possibly, death (Figure 4) (103).

In recent years, besides changes in pig farm management and handling, alternative tools have been proposed to aid in assessing the thermal states of piglets and hogs. One of these complementary tools is IRT (104, 105).

Infrared thermography (IRT) as a tool to evaluate the thermal and physiological state of swine

IRT measures surface temperature non-invasively by quantifying the radiation emitted by a biological body that reflects modifications in peripheral blood circulation (18, 23). Using IRT with humans and animals requires identifying body regions with specific characteristics called thermal windows, characterized by a high density of blood capillaries, arteriovenous anastomosis, and glabrous skin. In veterinary medicine, the eye, auricular pavilion, and tail are usually the foci of IRT used in species like rats, dogs, and large ruminants (23, 75, 106). However, the usefulness of IRT has been questioned because physiological and circulatory responses can differ among individuals and species depending on the region chosen due, for example, to the properties of hair in dogs or the skin thickness of large ruminants (11).

In newborn piglets, the entire body is considered a thermal window because of its low-fat content. In contrast, in adults, as the fat levels increase and reduce heat emissivity (50, 51), the main thermal windows proposed are the eyes (50, 107), ears, vulva, udder (108), armpit, back, shoulder, and snout, all of which have successfully been correlated positively with average rectal temperature values. However, the sites with reports of greatest reliability and accessibility are the base of the ear, shoulder, and udder (50, 108). Scientific evidence for thermoregulation in swine demonstrates that environmental temperatures play a particular role, so any attempt to determine the efficiency of thermal windows must consider this external factor.

To date, IRT has been used to detect febrile viral states, diagnose pathologies of public interest in pigs (109, 110), or inflammatory processes such as lameness in reproductive females (111).

Thermal window: Orbital zone (periocular area and lacrimal caruncle)

Two thermal windows have been identified in the orbital region: the lacrimal caruncle and periocular area. The infraorbital and supraorbital arteries pass through this region as ramifications of the maxillary artery, supplying blood to the eyelids and ocular muscles (112). The infraorbital artery also has ramifications of the facial nerve, sympathetic fibers that permit vasomotor control by activating the autonomous nervous system (ANS) (113) (Figure 5).

The ocular window has been studied mainly to determine the thermal state of animals and evaluate body temperature non-invasively due to its contiguity to the CNS (114, 115). This was proven in a study by Barbieri et al. (107), who evaluated if this thermal window could help to determine body temperature in 108 pigs. They obtained temperature readings with IRT and a calibrated digital rectal thermometer. The mean rectal temperature was $38.9 \pm 0.4^{\circ}$ C (min = 37.9° C; max = 40.1° C), while the mean ocular temperature was $36.7 \pm 0.1^{\circ}C$ (min = 34.8°C; max = 38.8°C). In general, the authors observed a moderate correlation between ocular and rectal temperatures (r = 0.58, P < 0.01), meaning that surface ocular readings and rectal values increased; however, the correlation varied from strong in recently-weaned pigs (r = 0.73, P < 0.01) to weak in fattening animals (r = 0.23, P < 0.05). This correlation may be because food intake and the age of the individual are factors that affect the animal's thermoregulation level. This situation has become evident in piglets, where the colostrum intake





FIGURE 5

Ocular window in pigs. (A) The periocular window is outlined by an ellipse (El1) that surrounds the entire ocular surface, including a few millimeters of the upper and lower eyelids. (B) Irrigation to the ocular region, mainly by the supraorbital and infraorbital arteries and veins, which are branches of the maxillary artery and vein. IRT can detect changes in the muscle tone of these vascular structures and the heat radiated through them.



FIGURE 6

Auricular window in pigs. (A) The window is delimited by an ellipse (E1) that includes the central cartilage. (B) Circulation from the facial artery and external jugular vein, with their respective branches, spreads into the *ramus auricularis medialis*, *intermedius*, and *lateralis*, which are responsible for transporting blood to the ear pavilion and that respond to activation of the ANS.



improves their thermoregulatory capacity and compensates for the limited availability of energy resources at birth. In older animals, food intake helps to maintain the temperature within the thermoneutrality zone which tends to be narrow. Therefore, during a state of hyperthermia, Therefore, the pig decreases feed intake (7, 43). These studies demonstrate the validity of IRT for determining thermal states in animals when significant temperature alterations occur. Results coincided with those mentioned in a scientific review, which stated that temperatures recorded in the ocular region reflect the circulatory control present in that area and its close relation to the ANS (8).

The physiological explanation of the temperature increase is based on greater cardiac activity in response to the catecholamine neurosecretion (adrenaline, noradrenaline) stimulating sympathetic nervous system activity (SNSi), affecting body temperature, a condition called stress-induced hyperthermia (88). Since this phenomenon induces a state of hyperthermia, IRT could serve to detect the increase. Pulido-Rodríguez et al. (116) evaluated the relation between temperatures in the ocular region (thermographic images taken while keeping a distance of 0.50-1 m) and cortisol levels in 66 piglets for 7 weeks post-weaning. They found that in the first 2 weeks, saliva cortisol levels and ocular temperatures presented a strong positive correlation (r = 0.89, P < 0.05) and concluded that higher temperatures in this region serve as a reliable indicator for detecting stress-induced hyperthermia and adrenal response.

These findings were confirmed by Machado et al. (117) in their study of 192 hogs transported for 170 km, where they recorded rectal and ocular temperatures (with a fixed distance of 0.50 m between the animal and the observer), saliva cortisol levels, respiratory rate, and lactate levels, while also comparing the influence of the upper and lower transport levels inside the vehicle. They observed that the average post-transport temperature in the animals at the upper level was higher than those below (upper = 39.9° C, lower = 38.1° C; P = 0.022). That finding coincided with higher lactate levels (upper = 61.63mg/dL, lower = 58.26 mg/ dL; P < 0.001) to indicate that temperature readings provide information on both the thermal state of animals and their welfare levels (51, 114).

When considering hyperthermia, Weschenfelder et al. (118) evaluated 258 hogs prior to sacrifice to determine the effect of the pre-slaughter process and the influence of meat quality. Those authors measured ocular temperatures using IRT (keeping a distance of 0.25 m) and the pH of mass in the long dorsal, semi-membranous, and adductor muscles. Although observations showed that ocular temperatures correlated with plasma lactate levels (r = 0.20, P = 0001), with pH at 1-hour postmortem (r = 0.18, P = 0.03), and with pH of the semi-membranous muscle (r = 0.20, P = 0.02), the degree of correlation was weak. The authors concluded that the accuracy of IRT should consider elements such as dirt, hair, and humidity. Results coincided with those mentioned in a scientific review, which stated that temperatures recorded in the ocular region reflect the circulatory control present in that area and its close relation to the ANS (8).

The use of the ocular region to detect hyperthermia could also be used to identify other conditions, such as febrile states. Mota-Rojas et al.'s scientific review (104) observed that because IRT is used to detect anatomical regions with increased radiated heat, the ocular area could be utilized to recognize febrile states caused by infection. During infection, the physiological difference that causes the temperature increase during the fever must be the release of cytokines like interleukin-1, interleukin-6, and prostaglandin. Those substances are classified as pyrogenic molecules that stimulate the preoptic area of the hypothalamus to increase body heat (104).

The effects of febrile states were proven in a study of 124 Landrace x Yorkshire pigs diagnosed with *Actinobacillus sp.* infection. The researchers found that IRT taken at a distance of 0.50–1 m predicted body temperature increases of 0.80 and 0.35° C (119). That evidence was confirmed byLoughmiller et al. (120), who evaluated febrile responses in 28 pigs using IRT (keeping a distance of 2 m). In the six animals inoculated with *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*, the authors observed a significant interaction between IRT temperature readings and inoculation with the pathogenic agent (P < 0.001), as temperatures were significantly higher than in the control animals (infected = $39.6 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ C *vs.* non-infected = $32.6 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ C, P < 0.05). These results demonstrate IRT's sensitivity for detecting febrile states and the need to analyze this thermal window for evaluating body temperature.

Febrile responses are not necessarily associated with pathological conditions in animals, as they can also occur as biomarkers of immune responses to vaccination (109). This was proven in a study of vaccinated pigs in which IRT (thermographic images of a group of pigs were taken keeping a distance of 2 m) detected a temperature increase of $1^{\circ}C$ in the 3–8 h post-injection (121). Scientific evidence thus conclusively shows that the ocular region has useful clinical applications for treating sick animals. Other authors, however, argue in favor of using the lacrimal caruncle region because it is innervated by sympathetic fibers and responds to ANS activity and, therefore, could be a biomarker of stress (23, 24).

The thermal window of the lacrimal caruncle has been utilized in studies like one by Lonardi et al. (122) that evaluated 2500 Large White and Belgian Landrace pigs' eye temperature (keeping a distance of 0.8 m between camera and skin surface) under two conditions: castration and non-surgical handling. Those researchers observed that the temperature of the lacrimal caruncle was higher in the first group than in the one that received only handling at 3 h post-surgery (35.6 \pm 0.08°C vs. $35.4 \pm 0.09^{\circ}$ C, *P* < 0.05). They also found that the temperature increase had a weak correlation with rectal temperatures (r =0.31, P < 0.01), perhaps indicating that the ocular window is more specific for painful conditions or stress in swine. However, it has also been suggested that this window may be more helpful in identifying temperature decreases caused by increased sympathetic activity. This precise increase that triggers neurosecretion of catecholamines which causes vasoconstriction of the capillaries to reduce heat radiation, as has been reported in other species (18, 123). The behavior of this window continues to be studied, but its clinical utility is undeniable, as is the assistance it offers veterinarians. For this reason, it is necessary to gather additional data to efficiently demonstrate the

information obtained from the ocular region in order to achieve a strong validation.

Another important factor is the thickness of the skin because it influences heat radiation. Moreover, the capacity to dissipate heat differs among anatomical sites like the ear, eye, back, and buttocks (108). This situation explains that thicker skin impedes dissipation, in contrast to thinner-skinned animals like the water buffalo (124-126) (pig: 30-140 µm vs. water buffalo: 50-115 μ m) (24, 38). Zhang et al. (127) suggest that these variations are related to the reflection of radiant energy and emissivity, which vary at different anatomical sites, given that infrared cameras detect infrared radiation of 0.75-1.4 µm and thermal radiation of 8–15 μ m (128). For example, the recommended emissivity values for pigs range from 0.94 to 0.98 (129, 130). However, the thoracic limbs and eyes values are 0.94 and 0.93, respectively. Therefore, the anatomical characteristics of the pig must be considered to achieve precise evaluations of surface temperatures in real-time. It is also essential to emphasize that other techniques must confirm IRT diagnoses. Thus, the best approach is to use IRT and other tools to optimize pig farm management.

Thermal window: Auricular

Another area that has been shown to satisfy the characteristics for consideration as a thermal window is the auricular region. Figure 6 shows the vasculature of the auricular pavilion, mediated by the caudal auricular artery (*auricularis caudalis*) divided into three regions: lateral (*lateralis*), intermediate (*intermedius*), and medial (*medialis*) (131). Innervation of this region depends on the auriculopalpebral nerve (*auriculopalpebralis*), a ramification of the facial nerve (*facialis*) (112).

Contrary to observations of the ocular window and its capacity to recognize hyperthermic states, the auricular area has been used to recognize hypothermia in piglets (7). In animals aged 1–13 days, the surface temperature of the auricular region presented a strong correlation (r = 0.89, P < 0.01) with rectal temperatures (132), so it may be indicative of the information provided by the pavilion. This theory was posited by Schmitt and O'Driscoll (133) to validate IRT for evaluating temperature in piglets. The authors assessed 67 animals by recording temperatures of the ear and back. Results showed that, in general, the temperature of the ear was lower in low-weight animals ($1.5 \text{ kg} = 35.2 \pm 0.36^{\circ}\text{C} vs$. $1.74 \text{ kg} = 36.5 \pm 0.35^{\circ}\text{C}$, P < 0.001). This finding was similar to observations of low rectal temperatures in animals with severe growth delay (severe = $35.8 \pm 0.46^{\circ}\text{C} vs$. mild = $37.2 \pm 0.42^{\circ}\text{C}$, P < 0.05).

Some authors concur with this idea, according to Schmitt et al. (134), who evaluated the thermoregulatory capacity (taking thermographic images of the auricular window at a distance of 1 m) of two lines of piglets with differences in food consumption.

They found that post-birth, the high-consumption animals had lower temperatures than those with low consumption (24.7 \pm 0.37°C vs. 26.3 \pm 0.36°C, P < 0.005). The explanation offered is that exposure to cold induces heat production by metabolic thermogenesis, which intensifies consumption of energy resources like BAT, while in neonates with scarce energy resources, food consumption increases to compensate forand regulate temperature (27). This explanation makes it possible to argue that the performance of thermoregulation in the first weeks of life, up to weaning -when the temperature is strongly influenced by factors like humidity and the animal's weight and average food consumption- corroborates the importance of monitoring this condition (7, 135). Vascularization and innervation of the auricular window responding to changes in ANS tone as an activation of the SNSi, as we saw in the section on the ocular window. This was posited in a study by Yañez et al. (136) based on an evaluation of 64 piglets weaned with or without social disruption who did or did not receive environmental enrichment. The study animals received environmental enrichment in suspended ropes, aromatized bottles, toys, and balls, while the control group did not. The authors found that temperatures in the auricular pavilion did not present changes under any of the treatments but that the temperature of the lacrimal caruncle was 1.7°C lower in the animals that did not receive enrichment but experienced disruption of the social order (P < 0.05; at a uniform distance of 1 m). In contrast, the animals without disruption and with environmental enrichment had higher lacrimal caruncle temperatures than controls (P < 0.05). From a comparative perspective, these results demonstrate that the meaning of the thermal response observed differed with the condition to which the animals were exposed and that areas like the ocular region, specifically the lacrimal caruncle, can help evaluate acute stress responses. In contrast, the ear region may indicate an animal's overall thermal state (137).

The results just reviewed contrast to those of Rocha et al. (138), who set out to validate anatomical sites like the ear, ocular region, neck, and rump (taking thermographic images at a distance of 1.50 and 2.6 m) in 120 pigs under two treatments, in this case, rough vs. gentle handling. They evaluated physiological parameters like heart and respiratory rate and body temperature, in addition to surface temperatures at the anatomical sites chosen for study. Observations included increased heart rate, body temperature, and saliva cortisol levels in the animals that received rough handling, with temperature increases in the ocular region and the ears of 7 \pm 0.29°C and 5.86 \pm 0.46°C, respectively. It is important to mention that those authors found moderate correlations for the regions of the eye and ear as saliva cortisol levels increased in the animals handled roughly (r =0.49 and r = 0.50, respectively, P < 0.001). This study provides sufficient evidence to validate the lacrimal caruncle and ear region as areas where stress responses in pigs can be evaluated. Some authors, however, mention that readings from these areas

can be affected by other factors, such as the distance at which they are taken, the specific region evaluated, humidity, and skin thickness, so these elements must be considered when choosing and evaluating anatomical sites (24, 132).

The auricular region, then, can be considered a thermal window due to its vascularization, which makes it especially sensitive to changes in environmental temperatures. It is a good site for detecting hypothermic states in neonates. Its innervation plays a vital role in changes in the diameter of the capillaries that can respond to catecholamine levels under stressful conditions, but it has the additional advantage of having been validated, like the ocular window (138).

Thermal window: Nasal

The nasal thermal window, located in the region of the same name, receives blood flow from the nasal artery, a ramification of the maxillary artery (*artery maxillaris*) (139) (Figure 7). This window has been used to evaluate the temperature of the nostrils because they can lose heat by evaporation through respiration (140).

Research on humans has analyzed the effects of stressful psychosocial and physical conditions on vasomotor control of the nose (141). The blood supply to the nose region is sensitive to activation of the SNSi, and, therefore, vasoconstriction of surface blood capillaries, translates into the reduced blood flow and less heat irradiating into the environment (136). However, interpretations of surface temperature readings from the nostrils must consider that respiration produces vapor. While the presence of this inspired vapor is undoubtedly a drawback regarding the usefulness of this thermal window, it can also be considered an advantage because it permits quantifying other parameters, such as respiratory rate. Ricci et al.'s (19) 7-day study of 26 pregnant sows collected data on the parameters of respiratory rate and rectal temperature together with IRT readings from the nasal window (from a distance of 1 and 1.5 m) in the morning and at night. The animals showed a moderate correlation between nasal temperature and respiratory rate (r = 0.350), meaning that as the temperature of the nasal region increases, the respiratory rate increases due to tachypnea as a thermoregulatory compensation mechanism, although there is no direct relationship between these two variables.

Similarly, Jorquera-Chavez et al. (142) conducted a pilot study with pigs infected with *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*. They determined that the respiratory rate in the sick animals, evaluated by IRT of the nasal area, increased by an average of 10 breaths/min (rpm) compared to the healthy animals. This coincides with reports on bovines, where the use of this window has been explored as a non-invasive way to record respiratory function (24). However, this application requires additional study because free-moving pigs infected in a normal on-farm environment have not been tested (142). Furthermore, as was reported in a study of 24 male growing pigs exposed to heat stress (at 34°C), to date only rectal temperature has been associated efficiently to determine respiratory rate, with R2 values of 0.997 and 0.993 for acute and chronic heat stress, respectively (143). These findings reaffirm that said thermal window could be associated with the causal factors of heat stress.

Taking into account that rectal temperature is considered the gold standard for quantifying body temperature, Malmkvist et al. (144) analyzed the influence of the thermal environment (15°, 20°, 25°C) on sows during farrowing and lactation based on thermal responses in the head and body regions, as well as in rectal temperature. In their analysis of the data, the authors found that the temperature of the snout increased gradually in relation to the temperature of the holding room, as they recorded average values of 33°, 35°, and 36°C, respectively. They further reported that the rectal temperatures behaved similarly, showing influence by room temperature (38.0°, 38.7°, and 39.0°C, respectively). However, the nasal temperature of the sows maintained a weak correlation coefficient of 0.10 with rectal temperature, a value lower than those obtained for the ocular window (0.24) and udder (0.36). It is worth mentioning that the temperature increase of the snout was accompanied by tachypnoea, as rpm increased from 29 to 58 in rooms maintained at 15° and 25°C, respectively. Due to these findings, it is possible to affirm that the nasal window could be used to associate it with respiratory rate, not with rectal temperature, but it is subject to environmental variations and the effect of social stress factors (145).

These data provide a better understanding of the influence of the environment on the thermoregulation mechanisms of swine in different production stages. In the case of 16 guilts (primiparous sows), pregnant sows, lactating sows, and suckling piglets, IRT was evaluated in seven body regions, including the nose. In general, in all groups, this window showed the lowest temperature values, with an average of 33° C, in contrast to the temperatures registered in the ear root or the tail base (36.2° and 37.1° C, respectively). Their findings led the authors to suggest that IRT could serve to frequently monitor environmental temperatures or early disease states (146) since temperatures reflect the health status of animals (147).

Other thermal windows of the body

Pigs are endothermic animals that retain or dissipate heat depending on environmental and physiological conditions. They use metabolism for thermogenesis or vasomotor changes to perform heat exchange (148). Assessment of body temperature in pigs helps determine their health status noninvasively (127, 138). The ocular, nasal, and auricular zones are considered the main thermal windows, but they are not free of difficulties. In the case of the ocular window, the size of the orbital surface can affect temperature readings, and periocular structures like the eyelashes can occlude images. Likewise, animals tend to close their eyes when in agony, precluding the use of IRT. In the auricular zone, meanwhile, the conformation and position of the ear may restrict IRT's usefulness. Differences between breeds with erect or droopy ears can also cause temperature variations due toblood vessels' projection and hair's presence (149, 150).

The alternative proposed is to evaluate the temperature in broader regions like the back, flanks, thorax, or abdomen. A study of 99 Landrace x Yorkshire pigs by Feng et al. (119) found that shoulder, center-back, and rump temperatures (taken at a distance of 0.5 and 1 m) had an overall moderate to strong and positive correlation of 0.5-0.7 with rectal temperatures. Therefore, IRT can potentially evaluate the core temperature of animals. Similarly, a report on 91 newborn piglets captured back and flank temperatures at 11- time points between birth and 48 h postpartum. Due to the strong correlation (r = 0.82) with rectal temperatures found, the authors determined maximum surface temperature and rectal values, discovering that they were affected by time. At 25 and 30 min, respectively, those values decreased by 0.25 and 0.42°C. Moreover, they found that a maximum surface temperature of 30°C was indicative of rectal values $< 32^{\circ}$ C (65). What these authors observed would confirm that other regions may be related to thermoregulation processes. For example, local temperature in the nostril is affected by other factors, while regions such as the shoulder or back are known as a pathway to losing heat, then body temperature influences its values (104).

The thermal response of the back can also be used to indicate the mental state of animals. In 46 pigs involved in agonistic interaction, back and ear temperatures decreased significantly, by 0.9° C, during a conspecific confrontation event, and this variation had a moderate negative correlation with higher lactate (r = -0.49) and glucose (r = -0.32) levels, where temperature decreases were accompanied by increases in both endocrine markers (149). The branches of the vertebral arteries that supply the transverse spinal muscles are the biological foundation of these changes, as the branches of the spinal nerves are susceptible to sympathetic stimulation during stress responses, in which they also participate (112).

Other regions that have been suggested as thermal windows? are the gluteal and vulvar areas. Scolari et al. (151) mention that these areas (monitored from a distance of 0.61 m) tend to change the temperature during estrus. Specifically, the vulvar region increased its temperature by 1.5° C 12 h before ovulation due to the hemodynamic changes that occur during estrus. This was confirmed by Simöes et al. (152), who found that vulvar-gluteal temperatures (monitored from a distance of 1 m) increased during proestrus and 25 h before estrus but decreased by $1.1 \pm 0.9^{\circ}$ C 6 h after estrus. These changes suggest the possibility of adopting this window to predict estrus and increase reproductive success. In addition, a high success rate of IRT in detecting estrus and ovulation in 80 sows was achieved by assessing these conditions in conjunction with ultrasonic sensors (153).

Regardless of the region used as a thermal window, it is important to consider that environmental, technical, and individual factors can cause variations in the results (154). In the case of environmental factors, Basak et al. (155) determined the relation of temperature and humidity inside pig barns to surface temperatures measured on the right and left flanks, forehead, and back. They found an association between the temperatures of the barn and the body. In addition to these two variables, they concluded that other elements –wind speed, air pressure, body weight, and food consumption– require models to determine their influence on IRT. Those findings are similar to the observations by Barreto et al. (156), who found a positive correlation between solar radiation, environmental humidity, and wind with body surface temperatures.

Regarding technical factors, the distance between the camera and the animal, the angle of view, and the resolution of the thermographic image are the main ones (154). Leizi et al. (157), after evaluating the influence of camera angle on body surface temperature readings, determined differences >2°C between angles of 74° vs. 76°. A technical report on six pigs published by Banhazi et al. (158) stated that perpendicular images taken at angles $\leq 60^{\circ}$ minimized the error percentage of readings and made it possible to detect a thermal response called a cooling effect 10–15 min after wetting, even though the percentage of the wetting effect was registered only during the first minute. Strategies for minimizing the effect of the angle of view include using IRT with kinetic sensors, as this reduced temperature differences in a febrile swine model from 2°C without the sensor to 0.03–1.2°C with it (157).

On the other hand, the distance between the camera and the animal also shows ample variation from one study to another that can affect thermographic readings. Playá-Montmany and Tattersall (159) found a negative and moderate correlation between ocular temperatures (r = -0.58) and distance. They observed less temperature variation at a distance of 1.5 m than at 10–15 m. This can be attributed to the dynamics of radiation which tends to disperse toward other objects in the environment, causing a reduction in the values registered by IRT, which is why some authors recommend that thermograms should not be taken at a distance >1 meter (129). However, others recommend distances of 60 (130) or just 20 cm and maintaining a position perpendicular to the body (155). Given this variation, studies must be conducted to identify how distance affects temperature readings, and establish a standard.

Finally, within the individual factors, the presence of hair has been shown to cause temperature variations as large as $0.2^{\circ}C$ (23), while a dark-colored layer can increase heat retention by impeding dissipation (11, 24). Pigs, however, have only fine hair that, on the one hand, impedes heat retention (160) but, on the other, leaves them susceptible to sudden temperature decreases, above all in the neonatal stage.

Future directions

Research into the use of IRT with swine seeks to confirm its applicability in new areas of study due to its information on physiological states and animal health. One possibility could be to implement IRT continuously to evaluate the temperature in real time on production units in both individual animals and entire herds and so determine the presence of lesions or infectious diseases (161, 162). Although these future applications would be the areas to be developed, it is necessary to establish the reliability of IRT at different body regions. For example, the ocular window has been shown to suffer less surface temperature variation than areas such as the back, where solar radiation, humidity, or dirt can alter the reading (107).

In this regard, IRT could aid in the early identification of sick animals that present clinical signs of fever (163). The presence of fever, and the vasomotor responses at the peripheral level t it generates, constitute an area of opportunity for applying IRT in farming systems since it can identify pathological processes based on changes in surface temperature (128). For example, Islam et al. (129) used IRT with piglets' head, body, and tail regions to detect signs of gastrointestinal infection caused by Salmonella typhimurium and Escherichia coli. They found increases in body surface temperatures at 24 h with a peak at 72 h (41° and 37.4°C, respectively; p<0.005). In relation to the respiratory disease caused by Actinobacillus pleuropneuomoniae in pigs, thermography detected changes in ocular and auricular temperatures (an increase of up to 1.8° and 8.1° C, respectively, in sick pigs) 4-6 h before the appearance of the first clinical signs (142), while at the thoracic level, IRT achieved 100% specificity and sensitivity (Cl 95%: 69-100%) as a method for orienting lung biopsies (110). Determining such temperature increases could also be applied in pigs sent for slaughter to identify those with systemic infections and then program quarantine measures for them (164). However, it is important to emphasize that its use is recommended in conjunction with other innovative methods, such as accelerometers, to evaluate the activity of animals (165). Other diagnostic tools are computerized tomography (166), radio-frequency identification, and machine-learning technologies that can estimate animals' productive parameters (161).

Likewise, IRT monitoring may help reduce economic losses for producers while simultaneously procuring animal welfare by allowing early detection of diseased individuals (162) or recognizing injured animals during transport and the association that this might have on meat quality due to acute stress or dehydration (8, 162). Applying IRT prior to slaughter, for example, makes it possible to estimate levels of well-being (118). In that period, pigs are susceptible to increases in body temperature due to transport and environmental temperatures inside the vehicle (167). IRT could be applied during transport to identify states of fatigue or hyperemia caused by travel, as

Warriss et al. (168) demonstrated in their study of 28 pigs in which increases in ear temperatures (from 27.3 to 35.0°C) had a strong-to-moderate correlation with higher blood temperatures (r = 0.71, p < 0.001) and creatine kinase (r = 0.55) and serum cortisol concentrations (r = 0.50). Because increases in body temperature and the activation of metabolic pathways can impact meat quality, IRT has been suggested as a way to determine animal welfare and predict pork quality (118), given that pre-slaughter stress involves a physiological response that alters thermoregulation and affects meat quality, as has been shown in cattle (169). In the case of pigs, an IRT study of the dorsal region from neck to rump of 500 pre-stunning animals successfully detected animals with defective carcasses. In pigs with skin surface temperatures above 32.2°C, 71% of 49 animals showed such defects as pale, soft, exudative meat (PSE, 6%) and dark, firm, dry meat (DFD, 22%) (130).

IRT may also make it possible to evaluate other key parameters, such as respiratory rates, based on changes in local thermal patterns in the nasal region. Indeed, this has been suggested to assess states of health continuously and noninvasively, and has been tested in cattle (24). The reproductive efficiency and fertility of breeding boars are affected by heat stress and its effects on spermatogenesis (170), a process that requires scrotal temperatures 4-6°C below the boar's body temperature to maintain semen quality and prevent infertility (171). Stravogianni et al. (172) evaluated this in five boars, reporting a strong, significant negative correlation ($r^2 > 0.5$) between increases in scrotal temperature measured by IRT and a rapid, progressive reduction of sperm motility and velocity. These applications suggest that IRT could help detect thermal changes that alter fertility in boars. However, additional information is required on the sensitivity of this tool in such assessments.

The mammary window of sows is another region that could yield more sensitive information on states of health, as Rosengart et al. (173) argued in their study of 513 postpartum hybrid Viktoria sows. After birth, the piglets produced were divided into three groups: healthy, sick, and suspicious, by measuring the surface temperature of the sows' mammary glands. The authors found that the temperature of this window increased by 1.1° C in sick animals compared to healthy ones (*P* < 0.05). This could indicate a discrepancy in the sensitivity of other windows compared to the mammary region, which might mean that this anatomical region is ideal for determining pathological states due to its particular characteristics (108). This same window might also be useful for complementing diagnoses of conditions like postpartum dysgalactia, which causes a temperature increase in the mammary gland. Studies have proven that IRT can detect this pathology with a sensitivity of 94.4% and a specificity of 89.5%, so it may be able to corroborate that the anatomomorphological characteristics of this window make it effective for evaluating states of health (174).

Finally, the vulvar region of sows has been studied due to the possibility that certain circulatory changes in those animals may indicate of their physiological condition; that is, IRT could help identify the estrus cycle and support assisted reproduction (175). Some authors suggest that a temperature increase of 2° C in this region can be indicative of estrus, which can be associated with the number of navicular cells (176). However, no reports have yet determined the sensitivity and specificity that would lead to validating this window in sows.

IRT has promising applications for the continuous monitoring of animal health. However, it is necessary to recognize that future research must consider some parameters that still need to be discovered,, such as the cut-off points for identifying when an animal is outside its thermo neutrality zone, a field that has only been studied in large ruminants (24). Likewise, improving a sensitive automatic technique that can reduce the influence of intrinsic and extrinsic factors that alter heat radiation must be considered to reduce the underestimation of thermal changes at critical points during the pig production process.

Conclusions

Scientific evidence for the anatomical-physiological differences between piglets and adult hogs is clear. Because neonate piglets have immature thermoregulation systems and limited energy resources to compensate for ambient temperatures, their most important challenge is to prevent hypothermia during the drastic change from intrauterine to extrauterine conditions. In contrast, the adipose tissue deposits in adults can aid heat retention, though their scarce sweat glands impede dissipation. Hence, their greatest challenge is to avoid thermal stress. In light of this evidence, continuously evaluating these animals' thermal state is imperative.

Up to now, thermal windows like the armpit, back, shoulder, and snout are considered to have the greatest similarity to average rectal temperatures values, though the sites with reports of the best reliability and accessibility are the base of the ear, shoulder, and udder. The ocular and auricular thermal windows have emerged as viable options for evaluating thermal states in

References

1. Giannetto C, Arfuso F, Giudice E, Gianesella M, Fazio F, Panzera M, et al. Infrared methodologies for the assessment of skin temperature daily rhythm in two domestic mammalian species. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 92:102677. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102677

2. Rizzo M, Arfuso F, Giudice E, Abbate F, Longo F, Piccione G. Core and surface temperature modification during road transport and physical exercise in horse after acupuncture needle stimulation. *J Equine Vet Sci.* (2017) 55:84–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2017.03.224

pigs and also for identifying stressful conditions since specific characteristics of this species make it possible to validate their effectiveness. The structure of the nasal window allows noninvasive evaluations of physiological parameters like respiratory rates, an obvious clinical application. On the other hand, the results obtained after evaluating the temperature of the dorsal, scrotal, mammary, and vulvar regions, suggest its efficacy in detecting defective carcasses and changes that alter fertility in boars, postpartum dysgalactia, and estrus, respectively. Scientific evidence for pigs, then, has demonstrated that the thermal windows analyzed herein aid in obtaining information on this species's general state of health.

Most studies have sought to validate thermal windows to ensure greater objectivity when using IRT with this species. However, to obtain accurate evaluations of the surface temperature, it must be considered that factors such as environmental temperature, the thickness of the hair or fur of each individual, and perfusion in the zones considered thermal windows cause considerable variations in the results.

Author contributions

All authors contributed to the conceptualization, writing, reading, and approval of the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

89

^{3.} Gianesella M, Arfuso F, Fiore E, Giambelluca S, Giudice E, Armato L, et al. Infrared thermography as a rapid and non-invasive diagnostic tool to detect inflammatory foot diseases in dairy cows. *Pol J Vet Sci.* (2018) 21:299–305.

^{4.} Rizzo M, Arfuso F, Alberghina D, Giudice E, Gianesella M, Piccione G. Monitoring changes in body surface temperature associated with treadmill exercise in dogs by use of infrared methodology. *J Therm Biol.* (2017) 69:64–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2017.06.007

5. Arfuso F, Acri G, Piccione G, Sansotta C, Fazio F, Giudice E, et al. Eye surface infrared thermography usefulness as a noninvasive method of measuring stress response in sheep during shearing: Correlations with serum cortisol and rectal temperature values. *Physiol Behav.* (2022) 250:113781. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2022.113781

6. Seibert JT, Graves KL, Hale BJ, Keating AF, Baumgard LH, Ross JW. Characterizing the acute heat stress response in gilts: I. Thermoregulatory and production variables. *J Anim Sci.* (2018) 96:941–9. doi: 10.1093/jas/skx036

7. Villanueva-García D, Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Olmos-Hernández A, Mora-Medina P, Salmerón C, et al. Hypothermia in newly born piglets: Mechanisms of thermoregulation and pathophysiology of death. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2021) 9:2101. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21001

 Flores-Peinado S, Mota-Rojas D, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Mora-Medina P, Cruz-Monterrosa R, Gómez-Prado J, et al. Physiological responses of pigs to preslaughter handling: infrared and thermal imaging applications. *Int J Vet Sci Med.* (2020) 8:71–84. doi: 10.1080/23144599.2020.1821574

9. Mayorga EJ, Renaudeau D, Ramirez BC, Ross JW, Baumgard LH. Heat stress adaptations in pigs. Anim Front. (2019) 9:54-61. doi: 10.1093/af/vfy035

10. Gonzalez-Rivas PA, Chauhan SS, Ha M, Fegan N, Dunshea FR, Warner RD. Effects of heat stress on animal physiology, metabolism, and meat quality: a review. *Meat Sci.* (2020) 162:108025. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2019.108025

11. Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, de Mira Geraldo A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez J, Hernández-Ávalos I, et al. Efficacy and function of feathers, hair, and glabrous skin in the thermoregulation strategies of domestic animals. *Animals.* (2021) 11:3472. doi: 10.3390/ani11123472

12. Madzimure J, Chimonyo M, Zander K, Dzama K. Diurnal heat-related physiological and behavioural responses in South African indigenous gilts. *J Arid Environ.* (2012) 87:29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2012.05.010

13. Montagna W, Yun JS. The skin of the domestic pig. J Invest Dermatol. (1964) 43:11-21. doi: 10.1038/jid.1964.110

14. Rittié L, Sachs DL, Orringer JS, Voorhees JJ, Fisher GJ. Eccrine sweat glands are major contributors to reepithelialization of human wounds. *Am J Pathol.* (2013) 182:163–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.09.019

15. Lezama-García K, Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Villanueva-García D, Domínguez-Oliva A, Gómez-Prado J, et al. Strategies for hypothermia compensation in altricial and precocial newborn mammals and their monitoring by infrared thermography. *Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:246. doi: 10.3390/vetsci9050246

16. Racewicz P, Ludwiczak A, Skrzypczak E, Składanowska-Baryza J, Biesiada H, Nowak T, et al. Welfare health and productivity in commercial pig herds. *Animals.* (2021) 11:1176. doi: 10.3390/ani11041176

17. Travain T, Valsecchi P. Infrared thermography in the study of animals' emotional responses: a critical review. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2510. doi: 10.3390/ani11092510

18. Casas-Alvarado A, Mota-Rojas D, Hernández-Ávalos I, Mora-Medina P, Olmos-Hernández A, Verduzco-Mendoza A, et al. Advances in infrared thermography: Surgical aspects, vascular changes, and pain monitoring in veterinary medicine. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 92:102664. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102664

19. Ricci G, Dela, da Silva-Miranda KO, Titto CG. Infrared thermography as a non-invasive method for the evaluation of heat stress in pigs kept in pens free of cages in the maternity. *Comput Electron Agric.* (2019) 157:403–9. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2019.01.017

20. Giannetto C, Di Pietro S, Falcone A, Pennisi M, Giudice E, Piccione G, et al. Thermographic ocular temperature correlated with rectal temperature in cats. *J Therm Biol.* (2021) 102:103104. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2021.103104

21. Aragona F, Di Pietro S, Arfuso F, Fazio F, Piccione G, Giudice E, et al. Correlation between ocular and rectal temperature with intra ocular pressure in horse during exercise. *Animals.* (2022) 12:1850. doi: 10.3390/ani12141850

22. Reyes-Sotelo B, Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Olmos-Hernández A, Hernández-Ávalos I, José N, et al. Thermal homeostasis in the newborn puppy: behavioral and physiological responses. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2021) 9:1–25. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21012

23. Casas-Alvarado A, Martínez-Burnes J, Mora-Medina P, Hernández-Avalos I, Domínguez-Oliva A, Lezama-García K, et al. Thermal and circulatory changes in diverse body regions in dogs and cats evaluated by infrared thermography. *Animals.* (2022) 12:789. doi: 10.3390/ani12060789

24. Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AM, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Hernández-Avalos I, et al. Clinical applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows used in infrared thermography in cattle and river buffalo to assess health and productivity. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2247. doi: 10.3390/ani11082247

25. Clarkson ED, Gordon RK. Rapid decontamination of chemical warfare agents from the skin. In: Gupta RC, editor. *Handbook of Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents*. San Diego: Academic Press (2015). p. 1127–39.

26. Ignacio G, El-Amin I, Mendenhall V. Animal models for wound healing. In: Albanna MZ, Holmes IVJH, editors. *Skin Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*. San Diego: Academic Press (2016). p. 387–400.

27. Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, Orihuela A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez-Prado J, Torres-Bernal F, et al. Physiological and behavioral mechanisms of thermoregulation in mammals. *Animals*. (2021) 11:1733. doi: 10.3390/ani11061733

28. Moreira VE, Veroneze R, Teixeira ADR, Campos LD, Lino LFL, Santos GA, et al. Effects of ambient temperature on the performance and thermoregulatory responses of commercial and crossbred (Brazilian Piau purebred sires × commercial dams) growing-finishing pigs. *Animals*. (2021) 11:3303. doi: 10.3390/ani11113303

29. Kozak LP, Young ME. Heat from calcium cycling melts fat. Nat Med. (2012) 18:1458–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2956

30. Zhao J, Tao C, Chen C, Wang Y, Liu T. Formation of thermogenic adipocytes: what we have learned from pigs. *Fundam Res.* (2021) 1:495–502. doi: 10.1016/j.fmre.2021.05.004

31. Conrad L, Aubé L, Heuchan E, Conte S, Bergeron R, Devillers N. Effects of farrowing hut design on maternal and thermoregulatory behaviour in outdoor housed sows and piglets. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2022) 251:105616. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2022.105616

32. Hayne S, Tennessen T, Anderson D. The responses of growing pigs exposed to cold with varying amounts of straw bedding. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2000) 80:539–46. doi: 10.4141/A00-003

33. Swiergiel A. Decrease in body temperature and locomotor activity as an adaptational response in piglets exposed to cold on restricted feeding. *Physiol Behav.* (1987) 40:117–25. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(87)90193-4

34. Whittemore E, Kyriazakis I, Emmans G, Tolkamp B. Tests of two theories of food intake using growing pigs 1. The effect of ambient temperature on the intake of foods of differing bulk content. *Anim Sci.* (2001) 72:351-60. doi: 10.1017/S1357729800055855

35. Huynh T, Aarnink A, Verstegen M. Reactions of pigs to a hot environment. *Livestock Environment VII; 2005 May 18-20; Beijing, China.* Beijing: American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers (2005). p. 544.

36. Fujita AKL, da Rocha RW, Escobar A, de Nardi AB, Bagnato VS, Campos PF. Correlation between porcine and human skin models by optical methods. In: Blumenberg M, editor. *Human Skin Cancers - Pathways, Mechanisms, Targets and Treatments.* London: InTech (2018) p. 161–74.

37. Renaudeau D, Leclercq-Smekens M, Herin M. Differences in skin characteristics in European (Large White) and Caribbean (Creole) growing pigs with reference to thermoregulation. *Anim Res.* (2006) 55:209–17. doi: 10.1051/animres:2006012

38. Branski LK, Mittermayr R, Herndon DN, Norbury WB, Masters OE, Hofmann M, et al. A porcine model of full-thickness burn, excision and skin autografting. *Burns*. (2008) 34:1119–27. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2008.03.013

39. Gauthier BE, Penard L, Bordier NF, Briffaux J-PJ, Ruty BM. Specificities of the skin morphology in juvenile minipigs. *Toxicol Pathol.* (2018) 46:821–34. doi: 10.1177/0192623318804520

40. Mowafy M, Cassens R. Microscopic structure of pig skin. J Anim Sci. (1975) 41:1281–90. doi: 10.2527/jas1975.4151281x

41. Ferry LL, Argentieri G, Lochner DH. The comparative histology of porcine and guinea pig skin with respect to iontophoretic drug delivery. *Pharm Acta Helv.* (1995) 70:43–56. doi: 10.1016/0031-6865(94)00050-6

42. Hausman GJ. The origin and purpose of layers of subcutaneous adipose tissue in pigs and man. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig.* (2018) 33:20180001. doi: 10.1515/hmbci-2018-0001

43. Herpin P, Damon M, Le Dividich J. Development of thermoregulation and neonatal survival in pigs. *Livest Prod Sci.* (2002) 78:25-45. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00183-5

44. Hood RL, Allen CE. Cellularity of porcine adipose tissue: effects of growth and adiposity. J Lipid Res. (1977) 18:275–84. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)41676-1

45. Hou L, Xie M, Cao L, Shi J, Xu G, Hu C, et al. Browning of pig white preadipocytes by co-overexpressing pig PGC-1 α and mice UCP1. Cell Physiol Biochem. (2018) 48:556–68. doi: 10.1159/000491885

46. Mersmann H, Goodman J, Brown L. Development of swine adipose tissue: morphology and chemical composition. J Lipid Res. (1975) 16:269-79. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)36714-6

47. He T, He L, Gao E, Hu J, Zang J, Wang C, et al. Fat deposition deficiency is critical for the high mortality of pre-weanling newborn piglets. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol.* (2018) 9:66. doi: 10.1186/s40104-018-0280-y

48. Frondas-Chauty A, Louveau I, Le Huërou-Luron I, Rozé J-C, Darmaun D. Air-displacement plethysmography for determining body composition in neonates: validation using live piglets. *Pediatr Res.* (2012) 72:26–31. doi: 10.1038/pr.2012.35

49. Mitchell AD, Conway JM, Potts WJ. Body composition analysis of pigs by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. J Anim Sci. (1996) 74:2663. doi: 10.2527/1996.74112663x

50. Soerensen DD, Clausen S, Mercer JB, Pedersen LJ. Determining the emissivity of pig skin for accurate infrared thermography. *Comput Electron Agric.* (2014) 109:52–8. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2014.09.003

51. Soerensen DD, Pedersen LJ. Infrared skin temperature measurements for monitoring health in pigs: a review. *Acta Vet Scand.* (2015) 57:5. doi: 10.1186/s13028-015-0094-2

52. Talbot J, Maves L. Skeletal muscle fiber type: using insights from muscle developmental biology to dissect targets for susceptibility and resistance to muscle disease. *WIREs Dev Biol.* (2016) 5:518–34. doi: 10.1002/wdev.230

53. Vanden Hole C, Cleuren S, Van Ginneken C, Prims S, Ayuso M, Van Cruchten S, et al. How does intrauterine crowding affect locomotor performance in newborn pigs? A study of force generating capacity and muscle composition of the hind limb. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0209233. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0209233

54. da Silva A, Dalto D, Lozano A, de Oliveira E, Gavioli D, de Oliveira J, et al. Differences in muscle characteristics of piglets related to the sow parity. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2013) 93:471–5. doi: 10.4141/cjas2013-049

55. Yu J, Chen S, Zeng Z, Xing S, Chen D, Yu B, et al. Effects of cold exposure on performance and skeletal muscle fiber in weaned piglets. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2148. doi: 10.3390/ani11072148

56. Lefaucheur L, Ecolan P, Plantard L, Gueguen N. New insights into muscle fiber types in the pig. J Histochem Cytochem. (2002) 50:719–30. doi: 10.1177/002215540205000513

57. Lefaucheur L, Edom F, Ecolan P, Butler-Browne GS. Pattern of muscle fiber type formation in the pig. *Dev Dyn.* (1995) 203:27–41. doi: 10.1002/aja.1002030104

58. Lévy F, Nowak R. The role of olfaction in maternal care and offspring survival. In: Nielsen BL, editor. *Olfaction in Animal Behaviour and Welfare*. Wallingford: CABI (2017). p. 102–22.

59. De Vos M, Huygelen V, Hesta M, Willemen SA, Fransen E, Casteleyn C, et al. Birthweight has no influence on chemical body composition and muscle energy stores in suckling piglets. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2016) 56:844. doi: 10.1071/AN13467

60. Vanden Hole C, Ayuso M, Aerts P, Prims S, Van Cruchten S, Van Ginneken C. Glucose and glycogen levels in piglets that differ in birth weight and vitality. *Heliyon.* (2019) 5:e02510. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02510

61. Staarvik T, Framstad T, Heggelund M, Brynjulvsrud Fremgaarden S, Kielland C. Blood-glucose levels in newborn piglets and the associations between blood-glucose levels, intrauterine growth restriction and pre-weaning mortality. *Porc Heal Manag.* (2019) 5:22. doi: 10.1186/s40813-019-0129-6

62. Berg F, Gustafson U, Andersson L. The uncoupling protein 1 gene (UCP1) is disrupted in the pig lineage: a genetic explanation for poor thermoregulation in piglets. *PLoS Genet.* (2006) 2:e129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020129

63. Vasdal G, Østensen I, Melišová M, Bozděchová B, Illmann G, Andersen IL. Management routines at the time of farrowing—effects on teat success and postnatal piglet mortality from loose housed sows. *Livest Sci.* (2011) 2–3:225–31. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2010.09.012

64. Vande KD, Tolosa AF, Shull CM, Brown CB, Alencar SA, Ellis M. Effect of drying and/or warming piglets at birth on rectal temperature over the first 24 h after birth. *Transl Anim Sci.* (2020) 4:1–9. doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa183

65. Kammersgaard T, Malmkvist J, Pedersen L. Infrared thermography – a non-invasive tool to evaluate thermal status of neonatal pigs based on surface temperature. *Animal.* (2013) 7:2026–34. doi: 10.1017/S1751731113001778

66. Muns R, Nuntapaitoon M, Tummaruk P. Non-infectious causes of pre-weaning mortality in piglets. *Livest Sci.* (2016) 184:46–57. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2015.11.025

67. Conrad MS, Dilger RN, Nickolls A, Johnson RW. Magnetic resonance imaging of the neonatal piglet brain. *Pediatr Res.* (2012) 71:179–84. doi: 10.1038/pr.2011.21

68. Poore KR, Fowden AL. The effect of birth weight on hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenal axis function in juvenile and adult pigs. *J Physiol.* (2003) 547:107– 16. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2002.024349

69. Farmer C, Edwards S. Review: Improving the performance of neonatal piglets. *animal.* (2022) 16:100350. doi: 10.1016/j.animal.2021.100350

70. Kielland C, Rootwelt V, Reksen O, Framstad T. The association between immunoglobulin G in sow colostrum and piglet plasma. *J Anim Sci.* (2015) 93:4453–62. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-8713

71. Brandenburg AC, Wilson MR. Immunity to *Escherichia coli* in pigs: IgG immunoglobulin in passive immunity to *E. coli* enteritis. *Immunology*. (1973) 24:119–27.

72. Herpin P, Vincent A, Damon M. Effect of breed and body weight on thermoregulatory abilities of European (Piétrain×(Landrace×Large White)) and Chinese (Meishan) piglets at birth. *Livest Prod Sci.* (2004) 88:17– 26. doi: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2003.11.006

73. Svendsen J, Svendsen S, Bengtsson A. Reducing perinatal mortality in swine. In: Leman A, Straw B, Glock R, Penny E, editors. *Diseases of Swine*. Ames: Iowa State University Press (1986). p. 813–24.

74. Elliot J, Lodge G. Body composition and glycogen reserves in the neonatal pig during the first 96 hours postpartum. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2011) 57:141–50. doi: 10.4141/cjas77-017

75. Mota-Rojas D, Olmos-Hernández A, Verduzco-Mendoza A, Lecona-Butrón H, Martínez-Burnes J, Mora-Medina P, et al. Infrared thermal imaging associated with pain in laboratory animals. *Exp Anim.* (2021) 70:1– 12. doi: 10.1538/expanim.20-0052

76. Tuchscherer M, Puppe B, Tuchscherer A, Tiemann U. Early identification of neonates at risk: traits of newborn piglets with respect to survival. *Theriogenology*. (2000) 54:371–88. doi: 10.1016/S0093-691X(00)00355-1

77. PigChamp. Benchmarking Summaries. (2019). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC7672461/#CIT0009 (accessed October 1, 2022).

78. Kammersgaard T, Pedersen L, Jorgensen E. Hypothermia in neonatal piglets: Interactions and causes of individual differences. *J Anim Sci.* (2011) 89:2073– 85. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-3022

79. Gourdine JL, Rauw WM, Gilbert H, Poullet N. The genetics of thermoregulation in pigs: A review. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:770480. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.770480

80. Martin W. Effects of heat stress on thermoregulation, reproduction and performance of different parity sows. Master's thesis. Columbia: University of Missouri (2012).

81. Nielsen SS, Alvarez J, Bicout DJ, Calistri P, Depner K, Drewe JA, et al. Welfare of pigs at slaughter. *EFSA J.* (2020) 18:e06148. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2020.6148

82. Bonelli A, Schifferli C. Síndrome estrés porcino. Arch Med Vet. (2001) 33:125–35. doi: 10.4067/S0301-732X2001000200001

83. Kerr CA, Giles LR, Jones MR, Reverter A. Effects of grouping unfamiliar cohorts, high ambient temperature and stocking density on live performance of growing pigs. *J Anim Sci.* (2005) 83:908–15. doi: 10.2527/2005.834908x

84. Pardo Z, Seiquer I, Lachica M, Nieto R, Lara L, Fernández-Fígares I. Exposure of growing Iberian pigs to heat stress and effects of dietary betaine and zinc on heat tolerance. *J Therm Biol.* (2022) 106:103230. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2022.103230

85. Barea R, Nieto R, Lara L, García M, Vílchez M, Aguilera J. Effects of dietary protein content and feeding level on carcass characteristics and organ weights of Iberian pigs growing between 50 and 100 kg live weight. *Anim Sci.* (2006) 82:405–13. doi: 10.1079/ASC200645

86. Usala M, Macciotta NPP, Bergamaschi M, Maltecca C, Fix J, Schwab C, et al. Genetic parameters for tolerance to heat stress in crossbred swine carcass traits. *Front Genet.* (2021) 11:1821. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.612815

87. Renaudeau D, Gourdine J, St-Pierre N. A meta-analysis of the effects of high ambient temperature on growth performance of growing-finishing pigs. *J Anim Sci.* (2011) 89:2220–30. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-3329

88. Mota-Rojas D, Orihuela A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez J, Mora-Medina P, Alavez B, et al. Neurological modulation of facial expressions in pigs and implications for production. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2020) 8:232–43. doi: 10.31893/jabb.20031

89. Renaudeau D, Noblet J. Effects of exposure to high ambient temperature and dietary protein level on sow milk production and performance of piglets. *J Anim Sci.* (2001) 79:1540–8. doi: 10.2527/2001.7961540x

90. Seibert JT, Abuajamieh M, Sanz MV, Johnson JS, Kvidera SK, Horst EA, et al. Effects of heat stress and insulin sensitizers on pig adipose tissue. *J Anim Sci.* (2018) 96:510–20. doi: 10.1093/jas/skx067

91. Lassche G, Frenzel T, Mignot MH, Jonker MA, van der Hoeven JG, van Herpen CML, et al. Thermal distribution, physiological effects and toxicities of extracorporeally induced whole-body hyperthermia in a pig model. *Physiol Rep.* (2020) 8:e14366. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14366

92. Urban-Chmiel R, Pyz-Łukasik R, Dudzic A, Wernicki A. Oxidative parameters and expression of 70kDa heat shock proteins in pig heart tissue after transport and slaughter. *Pol J Vet Sci.* (2014) 17:433–9. doi: 10.2478/pjvs-2014-0062

93. Kpodo KR, Duttlinger AW, Radcliffe JS, Johnson JS. Time course determination of the effects of rapid and gradual cooling after acute hyperthermia on body temperature and intestinal integrity in pigs. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 87:102481. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.102481

94. Renaudeau D, Collin A, Yahav S, De Basilio V, Gourdine J, Collier R. Adaptation to hot climate and strategies to alleviate heat stress in livestock production. *Animal.* (2012) 6:707–28. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111002448

95. Bin X, Wang B, Tang Z. Malignant hyperthermia: a killer if ignored. J PeriAnesthesia Nurs. (2022) 37:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jopan.2021.08.018

96. Chen M-Y, Lin J-H, Tai D-Y, Chang W-F, Lin C-C, Hseu T-H, et al. Alteration of arterial blood pressure and myocardial injury induced by whole body hyperthermia in pigs. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* (2006) 40:1009. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2006.03.260

97. Baumgard LH, Rhoads RP. Effects of heat stress on postabsorptive metabolism and energetics. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci.* (2013) 1:311–37. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-031412-103644

98. Acosta DB, Español LÁ, Figueroa CE, Marini SJ, Mac Allister ME, Carpinetti BN, et al. Wild pigs (*Sus scrofa*) population as reservoirs for deleterious mutations in the RYR1 gene associated with Porcine Stress Syndrome. *Vet Anim Sci.* (2021) 11:100160. doi: 10.1016/j.vas.2020.100160

99. Ríos E. Calcium-induced release of calcium in muscle: 50 years of work and the emerging consensus. *J Gen Physiol.* (2018) 150:521–37. doi: 10.1085/jgp.201711959

100. Hao Y, Cui Y, Gu X. Genome-wide DNA methylation profiles changes associated with constant heat stress in pigs as measured by bisulfite sequencing. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:27507. doi: 10.1038/srep27507

101. Band G de O, Guimarães SEF, Lopes PS, Schierholt AS, Silva KM, Pires AV, et al. Relationship between the Porcine Stress Syndrome gene and pork quality traits of F2 pigs resulting from divergent crosses. *Genet Mol Biol.* (2005) 28:88–91. doi: 10.1590/S1415-47572005000100015

102. Cobanovic N, Stajkovic S, Grkovic N, Suvajdzic B, Vasilev D, Karabasil N. Effects of RYR1 gene mutation on the health, welfare, carcass and meat quality in slaughter pigs. *IOP Conf Ser: Earth Environ Sci.* (2019) 333:012051. doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/333/1/012051

103. Mota-Rojas D, Velarde A, Maris-Huertas S, Cajiao MN, editors. Animal Welfare, A Global Vision in Ibero-America. 3rd ed. Elsevier: Barcelona (2016). p. 1-516.

104. Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Gómez-Prado J, Carvajal-de la Fuente V, Ghezzi M, et al. Pathophysiology of fever and application of infrared thermography (IRT) in the detection of sick domestic animals: recent advances. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2316. doi: 10.3390/ani11082316

105. Mota-Rojas D, Habeeb A, Ghezzi MD, Kanth P, Napolitano F, Lendez PA, et al. Water buffalo thermoregulation: neurobiological mechanisms, microcirculatory changes and practical applications of infrared thermography. In: Napolitano F, Mota-Rojas D, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Orihuela A, editors. *El búfalo de agua en Latinoamérica, hallazgos recientes*. Ciudad de México: BM Editores (2020). p. 923–58.

106. Verduzco-Mendoza A, Bueno-Nava A, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Olmos-Hernández A, Casas A, et al. Experimental applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows using infrared thermography to assess the health and thermostability of laboratory animals. *Animals*. (2021) 11:3448. doi: 10.3390/ani11123448

107. Barbieri S, Talamonti Z, Nannoni E, Heinzl EUL, Minero M, Canali E. Use of thermography in pigs: relationship between surface and core temperature. *Vet Ital.* (2021) 57:79–82. doi: 10.12834/VETIT.1077.5873.2

108. Schmidt M, Lahrmann KH, Ammon C, Berg W, Schön P, Hoffmann G. Assessment of body temperature in sows by two infrared thermography methods at various body surface locations. *J Swine Heal Prod.* (2013) 21:203–9.

109. Cook N, Chabot B, Lui T, Bench C, Schaefer A. Infrared thermography detects febrile and behavioural responses to vaccination of weaned piglets. *Animal.* (2015) 9:339–46. doi: 10.1017/S1751731114002481

110. Menzel A, Beyerbach M, Siewert C, Gundlach M, Hoeltig D, Graage R, et al. *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* challenge in swine: diagnostic of lung alterations by infrared thermography. *BMC Vet Res.* (2014) 10:199. doi: 10.1186/s12917-014-0199-2

111. Kroustallas FG, Papadopoulos GA, Chalvatzi S, Skampardonis V, Leontides L, Fortomaris P. Infrared thermography evaluation of feet temperature and its association with claw lengths and anisodactylia in purebred sows of three greek herds. *Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:309. doi: 10.3390/vetsci8120309

112. International Committee Veterinary Gross Anatomical Nomenclature. *Nómina Anatómica Veterinaria*. Hanover: Editorial Committee Hanover; Ghent, Columbia, MO: Rio de Janeiro (2017). 113. Henker R, Scholz M, Gaffling S, Asano N, Hampel U, Garreis F, et al. Morphological features of the porcine lacrimal gland and its compatibility for human lacrimal gland xenografting. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e74046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074046

114. Nääs I, Garcia R, Caldara F. Infrared thermal image for assessing animal health and welfare. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2014) 2:66–72. doi: 10.14269/2318-1265/jabb.v2n3p66-72

115. Zhang Z, Zhang H, Liu T. Study on body temperature detection of pig based on infrared technology: a review. *Artif Intell Agric.* (2019) 1:14–26. doi: 10.1016/j.aiia.2019.02.002

116. Pulido-Rodríguez LF, Titto EAL, Henrique FL, Longo ALS, Hooper HB, Pereira TL, et al. Termografia infravermelha da superfície ocular como indicador de estresse em suínos na fase de creche. *Pesqui Veterinária Bras.* (2017) 37:453– 8. doi: 10.1590/s0100-736x2017000500005

117. Machado NA, Barbosa-Filho JA, Ramalho GL, Pandorfi H, Da Silva IJ. Trailer heat zones and their relation to heat stress in pig transport. *Eng Agrícola.* (2021) 41:427–37. doi: 10.1590/1809-4430-eng.agric.v41n4p427-437/2021

118. Weschenfelder AV, Saucier L, Maldague X, Rocha LM, Schaefer AL, Faucitano L. Use of infrared ocular thermography to assess physiological conditions of pigs prior to slaughter and predict pork quality variation. *Meat Sci.* (2013) 95:616–20. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.06.003

119. Feng Y-Z, Zhao H-T, Jia G-F, Ojukwu C, Tan H-Q. Establishment of validated models for non-invasive prediction of rectal temperature of sows using infrared thermography and chemometrics. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2019) 63:1405–15. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01758-2

120. Loughmiller JA, Spire MF, Dritz SS, Fenwick BW, Hosni MH, Hogge SB. Relationship between mean body surface temperature measured by use of infrared thermography and ambient temperature in clinically normal pigs and pigs inoculated with *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*. *Am J Vet Res.* (2001) 62:676–81. doi: 10.2460/ajvr.2001.62.676

121. Cook N, Bench C, Liu T, Chabot B, Schaefer A. The automated analysis of clustering behaviour of piglets from thermal images in response to immune challenge by vaccination. *Animal.* (2018) 12:122–33. doi: 10.1017/S1751731117001239

122. Lonardi C, Scollo A, Normando S, Brscic M, Gottardo F. Can novel methods be useful for pain assessment of castrated piglets? *Animal.* (2015) 9:871–7. doi: 10.1017/S1751731114003176

123. Stewart M, Webster J, Verkerk G, Schaefer A, Colyn J, Stafford K. Noninvasive measurement of stress in dairy cows using infrared thermography. *Physiol Behav.* (2007) 92:520–5. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.04.034

124. Bertoni A, Napolitano F, Mota-Rojas D, Sabia E, Álvarez-Macías A, Mora-Medina P, et al. Similarities and differences between river buffaloes and cattle: Health, physiological, behavioral and productivity aspects. *J Buffalo Sci.* (2020) 9:92–109. doi: 10.6000/1927-520X.2020.09.12

125. Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Martínez-Burnes J, Villanueva-García D, Lezama K, et al. Neonatal infrared thermography images in the hypothermic ruminant model: anatomical-morphological-physiological aspects and mechanisms for thermoregulation. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:963205. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.963205

126. Bertoni A, Mota-Rojas D, Álvarez-Macias A, Mora-Medina P, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Morales-Canela A, et al. Scientific findings related to changes in vascular microcirculation using infrared thermography in the river buffalo. J Anim Behav Biometeorol. (2020) 8:288–97. doi: 10.31893/jabb.20038

127. Zhang K, Jiao L, Zhao X, Dong D. An instantaneous approach for determining the infrared emissivity of swine surface and the influencing factors. *J Therm Biol.* (2016) 57:78–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.03.003

128. Arulmozhi E, Bhujel A, Moon B-E, Kim H-T. The application of cameras in precision pig farming: an overview for swine-keeping professionals. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2343. doi: 10.3390/ani11082343

129. Islam MM, Ahmed ST, Mun H-S, Bostami A, Kim Y-J, Yang C-J. Use of thermal imaging for the early detection of signs of disease in pigs challenged orally with and *Escherichia coli*. *African J Microbiol Res*. (2015) 9:1667–74. doi: 10.5897/AJMR2015.7580

130. Gariepy C, Amiot J, Nadai S. Ante-mortem detection of PSE and DFD by infrared thermography of pigs before stunning. *Meat Sci.* (1989) 25:37–41. doi: 10.1016/0309-1740(89)90064-8

131. Duisit J, Debluts D, Behets C, Gerdom A, Vlassenbroek A, Coche E, et al. Porcine ear: a new model in large animals for the study of facial subunit allotransplantation. *JPRAS Open*. (2017) 12:47–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jpra.2017.01.004

132. Schmid SM, Büscher W, Steinhoff-Wagner J. Suitability of different thermometers for measuring body core and skin temperatures in suckling piglets. *Animals.* (2021) 11:1004. doi: 10.3390/ani11041004

133. Schmitt O, O'Driscoll K. Use of infrared thermography to noninvasively assess neonatal piglet temperature. *Transl Anim Sci.* (2021) 5:txaa208. doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa208

134. Schmitt O, Reigner S, Bailly J, Ravon L, Billon Y, Gress L, et al. Thermoregulation at birth differs between piglets from two genetic lines divergent for residual feed intake. *Animal.* (2021) 15:100069. doi: 10.1016/j.animal.2020.100069

135. Ramírez-de la Torre H, Sánchez-Chipres D, Moreno-Llamas G, Jiménez-Cordero A. Noninvasive thermography evaluation of the thermal condition of piglets in the first month of life. *J Environ Sci Nat Resour.* (2021) 7:29-37. doi: 10.35429/JESN.2021.20.7.13.29.37

136. Yañez P, Mota-Rojas D, Ramírez-Necoechea R, Castillo-Rivera M, Santiago R, Mora-Medina P, et al. Application of infrared thermography to assess the effect of different types of environmental enrichment on the ocular, auricular pavilion and nose area temperatures of weaned piglets. *Comput Electron Agric.* (2019) 156:33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2018.11.010

137. Sutherland M, Dowling S, Backus B, Stewart M. The use of infrared thermography to assess stress in pigs. In: Guarino M, Berckmans D, editors. *7th European Conference on Precision Livestock Farming*. Milan: Universitá degli Studi di Milano (2015). p. 691–9.

138. Rocha LM, Devillers N, Maldague X, Kabemba FZ, Fleuret J, Guay F, et al. Validation of anatomical sites for the measurement of infrared body surface temperature variation in response to handling and transport. *Animals.* (2019) 9:425. doi: 10.3390/ani9070425

139. Ghoshal NG, Khamas WA. Blood supply of the nasal cavity of the normal pig. *Anat Histol Embryol.* (1986) 15:14–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0264.1986.tb00528.x

140. Godyń D, Herbut P, Angrecka S, Corrêa Vieira FM. Use of different cooling methods in pig facilities to alleviate the effects of heat stress—a review. *Animals.* (2020) 10:1459. doi: 10.3390/ani10091459

141. Cho Y, Bianchi-Berthouze N, Oliveira M, Holloway C, Julier S. Nose heat: Exploring stress-induced nasal thermal variability through mobile thermal imaging. In: 8th International Conference on Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction (ACII). Cambridge: IEEE (2019). p. 566–72.

142. Jorquera-Chavez M, Fuentes S, Dunshea FR, Warner RD, Poblete T, Morrison RS, et al. Remotely sensed imagery for early detection of respiratory disease in pigs: a pilot study. *Animals*. (2020) 10:451. doi: 10.3390/ani10030451

143. de Oliveira RF, Ferreira RA, Abreu LH, Yanagi Júnior T, Lourençoni D. Estimation of respiratory frequency and rectal temperature on pigs in heat stress by fuzzy logic. *Eng Agrícola.* (2018) 38:457–70. doi: 10.1590/1809-4430-eng.agric.v38n4p457-470/2018

144. Malmkvist J, Pedersen L, Kammersgaard T, JØrgensen E. Influence of thermal environment on sows around farrowing and during the lactation period. J Anim Sci. (2012) 90:3186–99. doi: 10.2527/jas.2011-4342

145. Lowe G, Sutherland M, Waas J, Schaefer A, Cox N, Stewart M. Infrared thermography—A non-invasive method of measuring respiration rate in calves. *Animals.* (2019) 9:535. doi: 10.3390/ani9080535

146. Xie Q, Wu M, Yang M, Bao J, Li X, Liu H, et al. A deep learning-based fusion method of infrared thermography and visible image for pig body temperature detection. In: *International Symposium on Animal Environment and Welfare*. Chongqing, China (2021). p. 326–33.

147. Arfuso F, Rizzo M, Giannetto C, Giudice E, Fazio F, Piccione G. Age-related changes of serum mitochondrial uncoupling 1, rumen and rectal temperature in goats. *J Therm Biol.* (2016) 59:47–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.05.002

148. Cook N, Chabot B, Liu T, Froehlich D, Basarab J, Juarez M. Radiated temperature from thermal imaging is related to feed consumption, growth rate and feed efficiency in grower pigs. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 94:102747. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102747

149. Boileau A, Farish M, Turner SP, Camerlink I. Infrared thermography of agonistic behaviour in pigs. *Physiol Behav.* (2019) 210:112637. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112637

150. Stukelj M, Hajdinjak M, Pusnik I. Stress-free measurement of body temperature of pigs by using thermal imaging – Useful fact or wishful thinking. *Comput Electron Agric.* (2022) 193:106656. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2021.106656

151. Scolari SC, Clark SG, Knox RV, Tamassia MA. Vulvar skin temperature changes significantly during estrus in swine as determined by digital infrared thermography. *J Swine Heal Prod.* (2011) 19:151–5.

152. Simões VG, Lyazrhi F, Picard-Hagen N, Gayrard V, Martineau G-P, Waret-Szkuta A. Variations in the vulvar temperature of sows during proestrus and estrus as determined by infrared thermography and its relation to ovulation. *Theriogenology*. (2014) 82:1080–5. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2014.07.017 153. Lee JH, Lee DH, Yun W, Oh HJ, An JS, Kim YG, et al. Quantifiable and feasible estrus detection using the ultrasonic sensor array and digital infrared thermography. *J Anim Sci Technol.* (2019) 61:163–9. doi: 10.5187/jast.2019.61.3.163

154. Fernández-Cuevas I, Bouzas JC, Arnáiz J, Gómez PM, Piñonosa S, García-Concepción MÁ, et al. Classification of factors influencing the use of infrared thermography in humans: a review. *Infrared Phys Technol.* (2015) 71:28–55. doi: 10.1016/j.infrared.2015.02.007

155. Basak JK, Arulmozhi E, Khan F, Okyere FG, Park J, Kim HT. Modeling of ambient environment and thermal status relationship of pig's body in a pig barn. *Indian J Anim Res.* (2020) 54:1049–54. doi: 10.18805/ijar.B-1186

156. Barreto CD, Alves FV, de Oliveira CEC, de Paula MC, Leite LC, Junior NK. Infrared thermography for evaluation of the environmental thermal comfort for livestock. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2020) 64:881–8. doi: 10.1007/s00484-020-01878-0

157. Jiao L, Dong D, Zhao X, Han P. Compensation method for the influence of angle of view on animal temperature measurement using thermal imaging camera combined with depth image. *J Therm Biol.* (2016) 62:15–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.07.021

158. Banhazi T, Kitchen J, Tivey D. Potential of using infrared thermography for determination of skin wetness and thus perceived thermal comfort of pigs. *Aust J Multi-Disciplinary Eng.* (2009) 7:47–54. doi: 10.1080/14483388.2009.11464798

159. Playà-Montmany N, Tattersall GJ. Spot size, distance and emissivity errors in field applications of infrared thermography. *Methods Ecol Evol.* (2021) 12:828–40. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.13563

160. Bracke M. Review of wallowing in pigs: description of the behaviour and its motivational basis. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2011) 132:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011.01.002

161. Mahfuz S, Mun H-S, Dilawar MA, Yang C-J. Applications of smart technology as a sustainable strategy in modern swine farming. *Sustainability*. (2022) 14:2607. doi: 10.3390/su14052607

162. Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Casas-Alvarado A, Gómez-Prado J, Hernández-Ávalos I, Domínguez-Oliva A, et al. Clinical usefulness of infrared thermography to detect sick animals: frequent and current cases. *CABI Rev.* (2022) 17:1–17. doi: 10.1079/cabireviews202217040

163. Schaefer A, Cook N, Tessaro S, Deregt D, Desroches G, Dubeski P, et al. Early detection and prediction of infection using infrared thermography. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2004) 84:73–80. doi: 10.4141/A02-104

164. Ross J, Hale B, Gabler N, Rhoads R, Keating A, Baumgard L. Physiological consequences of heat stress in pigs. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2015) 55:1381–90. doi: 10.1071/AN15267

165. Stewart M, Wilson M, Schaefer A, Huddart F, Sutherland M. The use of infrared thermography and accelerometers for remote monitoring of dairy cow health and welfare. *J Dairy Sci.* (2017) 100:3893–901. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-12055

166. Menzel A, Siewert C, Gasse H, Seifert H, Hoeltig D, Hennig-Pauka I. Infrared thermography of the pig thorax: an assessment of selected regions of interest by computed tomographical and anatomical parameters. *Anat Histol Embryol.* (2015) 44:107–17. doi: 10.1111/ahe. 12115

167. Cockram M. Condition of animals on arrival at the abattoir and their management during lairage. In: Grandin T, Cockram M, editors. *The Slaughter of Farmed Animals: Practical Ways of Enhancing Animal Welfare*. Oxfordshire: CAB International (2020). p. 49–77.

168. Warriss P, Pope S, Brown S, Wilkins L, Knowles T. Estimating the body temperature of groups of pigs by thermal imaging. *Vet Rec.* (2006) 158:331–4. doi: 10.1136/vr.158.10.331

169. Jorquera-Chavez M, Fuentes S, Dunshea FR, Jongman EC, Warner RD. Computer vision and remote sensing to assess physiological responses of cattle to pre-slaughter stress, and its impact on beef quality: a review. *Meat Sci.* (2019) 156:11–22. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2019.05.007

170. Bao Z-Q, Liao T-T, Yang W-R, Wang Y, Luo H-Y, Wang X-Z. Heat stress–induced autophagy promotes lactate secretion in cultured immature boar Sertoli cells by inhibiting apoptosis and driving SLC2A3, LDHA, and SLC16A1 expression. *Theriogenology*. (2017) 87:339–48. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2016. 09.016

171. Peña Jr ST, Gummow B, Parker AJ, Paris DB. Revisiting summer infertility in the pig: could heat stress-induced sperm DNA damage negatively affect early embryo development? *Anim Prod Sci.* (2017) 57:1975. doi: 10.1071/AN16079

172. Stravogianni V, Samaras T, Boscos CM, Markakis J, Krystallidou E, Basioura A, et al. The use of animal's body, scrotal temperature and motion

monitoring in evaluating boar semen production capacity. *Animals.* (2022) 12:829. doi: 10.3390/ani12070829

173. Rosengart S, Chuppava B, Schubert DC, Trost L-S, Henne H, Tetens J, et al. Infrared thermography of the mammary gland in sows with regard to health and performance. *Agriculture*. (2021) 11:1013. doi: 10.3390/agriculture11101013

174. Latynina ES, Dyulger GP, Leontiev LB. Informative value of the use of infrared thermography in the complex diagnosis of

postpartum dysgalactia syndrome in sows. *BIO Web Conf.* (2021) 37:00104. doi: 10.1051/bioconf/20213700104

175. Stiehler T, Heuwieser W, Pfützner A, Burfeind O. The course of rectal and vaginal temperature in early postpartum sows. *J Swine Heal Prod.* (2015) 23:72–83.

176. Weng R-C. Variations in the body surface temperature of sows during the post weaning period and its relation to subsequent reproductive performance. *Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci.* (2020) 33:1138–47. doi: 10.5713/ajas.19.0576

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, Faculty of Animal Science and Food Engineering, University of São Paulo, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Ranjit Singh Kataria, National Bureau of Animal Genetic Resources (NBAGR), India Messy Pantoja, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Kadirvel Govindasamy velvet.2007@rediffmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 01 September 2022 ACCEPTED 14 November 2022 PUBLISHED 15 December 2022

CITATION

Govindasamy K, Gonmei C, Singh NS and Singh NM (2022) Thermal stress-related physiological, behavioral, and serum biochemical responses in indigenous pigs adapted to Eastern Himalayan region. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:1034635. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.1034635

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Govindasamy, Gonmei, Singh and Singh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Thermal stress-related physiological, behavioral, and serum biochemical responses in indigenous pigs adapted to Eastern Himalayan region

Kadirvel Govindasamy*, Chamniugongliu Gonmei, Ningthoujam Suraj Singh and Nakambam Manoranjan Singh

Division of Animals and Fisheries Sciences, ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Shillong, Meghalaya, India

Introduction: The current study was carried out to investigate the effect of micro-environmental variations on physiological, behavioral, and serum biochemical parameters of indigenous (Niang Megha), Hampshire, and crossbred (75% Hampshire X 25% Niang Megha).

Methods: Rectal temperature (T_R) , skin surface temperature (T_{SS}) , respiration rate (RR), and heart rate (HR) were recorded at 0,900 and 1,600 h weekly once for 2 months for each season in grower pigs of each genotype. CCTV video cameras were utilized to observe the behavioral changes. Five milliliters of blood samples was collected to estimate different biochemical parameters.

Results: Season affected (p < 0.05) all physiological parameters which generally increased during summer except T_R and RR of indigenous pig. T_R, T_{SS}, RR, and HR were significantly (p < 0.05) higher for Hampshire than for indigenous and crossbred in the summer season. The frequency and behavioral activities to heat loss or to conserve heat such as shivering and wallowing were lower except for physical activity that was higher at all times in indigenous pigs. Seasonal variations influenced metabolic activity and serum activity of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and alanine transaminase (ALT), which rose in summer in all genotypes. Serum ALP and thyroxine (T₄) were significantly (p < 0.05) higher in indigenous pigs with no significant difference between Hampshire and crossbred in summer whereas there was significant difference among the genotypes in winter. However, superoxide dismutase (SOD) showed no significant difference in the study. Indigenous pigs had the lowest serum cortisol concentrations, whereas Hampshire had the highest.

Conclusion: The current study's findings on several parameters of three different genotypes suggest that indigenous pigs in this region are more adaptable to the region's changing climatic conditions.

KEYWORDS

adaptation, behavior, indigenous, pig, thermal stress, response

Introduction

The Eastern Himalayas are one of the most biologically rich areas on the Earth. In India, the Northeastern Hill (NEH) region represents the Eastern Himalayan region and has a total geographical area covering ~2,62,379 sq. km. area and lies between 21°34 -29°50 N latitudes and 87°32 -97°52 E longitudes in the Eastern Himalayan hill region (1). This region is well-known for the diverse culture of human races and home to a large number of ethnic people (2), providing a diverse range of habitats to about 225 tribes in India, out of 450 in the country (3). Agriculture is the primary source of income for the majority of the rural population of this region (85%), who conducts mixed farming, with livestock accounting for 18% of the value of output from the agricultural sector (4). Moreover, the livestock sector plays a major role in the socioeconomic development in this region, and it is the major source of livelihood for 20 million people, especially women (5), also an important contributor to sustainable food security for many nations, particularly in low-income areas and marginal habitats that are unsuitable for crop production (6). Among all the livestock, pig husbandry is one of the popular livestock and total pig population is mainly dominated by local non-descript pigs (65-75%) in the region (7). Indigenous pig breeds bear unique features such as better heat tolerance, disease resistance, good maternal qualities, early sexual maturity (8), and good quality bristles (9) compared with exotic and crossbreds. The body coat color of indigenous pigs of this region is predominantly black in color and has long and dense hairs extending from wither to the hindquarter.

Climate change is a major worldwide challenge and leads to various environmental stresses that have an impact on the production of livestock (10). Animals can adapt to climatic stressors by different types of adaptive mechanisms including genetic or biological adaptation, phenotypic or physiological adaptation, acclimatization, and habituation (11). However, the response mechanisms that ensure survival are detrimental to performance and productivity (12). The physiological changes when exposed to environmental stress can be measured by the variation in respiration rate, rectal temperature, heart rate, and skin surface temperature (13). Increased respiration or panting increases airflow and evaporation of water from the lungs and hence releases additional heat (14). The physiological response of the animal to its internal and external environment is also reflected in the blood profiles. Changes in hematobiochemical parameters are useful methods for determining the degree of stress caused by environmental and dietary factors (15) and adaptability to given environmental conditions of an animal (16). Metabolic hormones affecting thermogenesis can also be estimated as the physiological index of environmental adaptation of an animal (17). Similarly, pigs exhibit natural behavioral responses to thermal stress, which include huddling together and shivering when cold, seeking shade, wallowing in water, and changing from diurnal to nocturnal feeding times when heat stressed during the day (18). Pigs have a thick subcutaneous adipose tissue layer and fewer sweat glands; therefore, pigs control their body temperature by behavioral thermoregulation instead of sweating (19). To enhance heat dissipation, they increase direct contact with cool surfaces (20), modifying their lying position, increased excretion, and wallowing in their excreta (21). According to anecdotal evidence, indigenous pigs of this region are better adapted to harsh climatic conditions and subsistence farming, but there is little scientific evidence to back up the statement. Indigenous breeds are more thermotolerant than crossbred and purebred animals in terms of the adaptation potential of the livestock species (22). Indigenous breeds that have evolved in tropical and subtropical regions have a higher adaptive capacity to such stress than exotic breeds. The South African indigenous Windsnyer pigs had better thermoregulatory mechanisms than the large white pigs of the temperate region in the semiarid climate of South Africa (23). Indian breeds of cattle such as Bos indicus perform well as compared to exotic cattle such as Bos taurus under stressful tropical environments (24). These are some examples of unique adaptive characteristics of the indigenous breeds, which evolved in stressful tropical environments enabling them to survive adverse environments. Therefore, it was hypothesized that indigenous pigs (Niang Megha) have better thermoregulatory mechanisms under changing climatic conditions of this region than exotic or crossbred pigs.

The objective of this study was set out to investigate the physiological, behavioral, and serum biochemical changes in response to thermal stress challenges in indigenous, crossbred, and exotic breeds of pigs.

Materials and methods

Location of the study

The present study was carried out in a pig farm of ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Meghalaya. The study site is located at $25^{\circ} 41' 21''$ N latitude and $91^{\circ} 55' 25''$ E longitude with an altitude of 1,010 m above the mean sea level which falls in humid subtropical high rainfall area and receives rain in the range from 2,239 mm to 2,953 mm annually. In this region, the hottest months are usually July and August, while the coldest months are December and January.

Meteorological measurements

The meteorological data were collected from the Division of System Research and Engineering (DSRE) of the institute during the experimental months. The temperature humidity index (THI) was calculated for each season using the formula, THI = 0.8T+ (RHT-14.4)/100 + 46.4 (25). The thermoneutral zone for a pig is between 18 and 20°C (26). The THI value \leq 75 means no stress, 75 to 78 stressful, and \geq 78 extreme stress (27). The THI value of 79–83 is considered danger, and exceeding this causes severe stress and death (28).

Experimental animals and experimental design

Two experiments were conducted separately for summer (July-August) and winter (December-January) to study the effect of heat stress (summer) and cold stress (winter) on three genotypes of pigs, namely, indigenous (Niang Megha), Hampshire, and crossbred (having 75% Hampshire and 25% Niang Megha inheritance). Niang Megha is a registered indigenous pig breed of Meghalaya in India (accession no.: INDIA_PIG_1300_NIANGMEGHA_09002), with a small body size at maturity, having dense and long hairs and known for being better adapted to its native climatic conditions. Crossbred pig used in the present study is a crossbred pig variety called "Lumsniang" developed in the ICAR Research Complex for the Northeastern Hill Region, Meghalaya, for better adaptability and performance in the hill ecosystem of the Eastern Himalaya region. Six grower pigs (5-6 months) from each genetic group were selected for each experiment. The experimental animals were maintained in the pen system of housing and fed with balanced concentrate mesh feed two times daily and drinking water was provided ad libitum throughout the period. The experimental pigs were maintained under the standard and uniform managemental conditions. The animals were dewormed on a routine basis and regularly vaccinated. The welfare of the pigs was protected, and the study was approved by the Institutional Animal Ethics Committee (IAEC).

Physiological responses to summer and winter

Physiological parameters including rectal temperature (T_R), skin surface temperature (T_{SS}), heart rate (HR), and respiration rate (RR) were recorded at 0,900 and 1,600 h weekly once for 2 months for each season, and the mean values were considered. Rectal temperature was recorded by inserting a clinical digital thermometer into the rectum of the pigs with proper restraining to avoid stress. The measurement for skin surface temperature was taken at the lumbar region of the pig using an infrared thermal imager Testo 875i (Testo India Pvt. Ltd., Pune, India). The emissivity of 0.95 was taken as the standard emissivity of the pig body surface in the study. Heart rate was determined by counting the number of heartbeats per minute using a

stethoscope. Respiration rate was taken when the pig was at the resting phase by visual observation of flank movement to detect breaths per minute. All the parameters were taken by two trained personnel for all the experimental animals to avoid variation between individuals.

Behavioral response to summer and winter

Behavioral mechanisms associated with heat and cold stress were observed in summer and winter, respectively. The pigs were monitored for different lying positions, such as huddling, shivering, standing, wallowing, and physical activity, by using CCTV video cameras. A total of six CCTV video cameras were used for this study. The thermoregulatory behavior patterns of each genetic group were recorded for 60 days in both the seasons. The duration (min) and frequency (%) for each activity during 24 h (from 6.00 a.m. until 6.00 a.m. of the next day) for 8 days were taken weekly once (for 8 weeks) in each season from pre-recorded videos for each animal.

Serum biochemical changes in response to summer and winter

Blood samples were collected from all the experimental animals separately at 15-day interval during two experimental seasons. Five milliliters of blood samples was aseptically collected before feeding in the morning by venipuncture of the anterior vena cava using sterilized plastic disposable syringes from each animal. The collected samples were immediately transferred to a sterile serum separator vacutainer tube (Becton Dickinson, Franklin, USA), allowed to clot, and then centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 15 min at room temperature. During blood collection, pigs were handled very carefully to avoid handling stress, and the experimental animals were restrained in the ventro-dorsal position. The collected sera samples were stored at -20° C until further analysis. To assess the metabolic and serum biochemical changes in grower pigs in response to heat stress (summer) and cold stress (winter), commercially available kits were used to analyze the following parameters: alkaline phosphatase (ALP), insulin, thyroxine (T4), superoxide dismutase (SOD), acid phosphatase, alanine transaminase (ALT), and cortisol. All the parameters were estimated as per the manufacturer's instruction.

Statistical analysis

The data on physiological, behavioral, and serum biochemical parameters in different genetic groups and

between the seasons were analyzed by comparing the means through multivariate analysis of variance (ANOVA). The data on behavioral activities were first transformed using log 10 to normalize it before analysis. The mean differences of different genetic groups for different parameters and between the seasons were tested for statistical significance (at a 5% level of significance) by Duncan's multiple range test (DMRT) using SPSS version 22.0 statistical software.

Results

Meteorological measurements

The maximum and minimum temperature, relative humidity, and temperature humidity index for the study period are presented in Table 1. The present study recorded a maximum THI of 93–96 and a minimum THI of 73–79 during the summer months. Similarly, a maximum THI of 83–87 and a minimum THI of 53–63 were recorded during winter. The highest temperature, relative humidity, and THI were recorded in the months of June (temp. 29.3°C, RH 86%, THI 95.89) and July (temp. 29.70°C, RH 88.90 %, THI 96.47) during the study period. The lowest temperature, relative humidity, and THI were recorded in January (temp. 5.50°C, RH 44.6%, THI 53.11) and February (temp. 8°C, RH 40.8%, THI 55.92).

Physiological measurements

Physiological measurements of different genetic groups during summer and winter are presented in Table 2. In the summer season, indigenous pigs had significantly lower (p < 0.05) T_R with no significant difference between Hampshire and crossbreed pigs. Skin surface temperature was significantly higher (p < 0.05) in Hampshire with no significant difference between indigenous and crossbred pigs. There were significant differences in RR and HR among the genetic groups. Indigenous pigs had significantly lower (p < 0.05) RR and HR followed by crossbred pigs and the highest was recorded in Hampshire.

In the winter season, there were no significant differences in T_R and T_{SS} among the genetic groups. Although RR was significantly higher (p < 0.05) in Hampshire, but had no significant (p < 0.05) difference between indigenous and crossbred pigs. Heart rate had a significant (p < 0.05) difference among the genetic groups. Hampshire had significantly higher (p < 0.05) HR followed by indigenous, and the lowest was recorded in crossbred pigs.

Behavioral mechanisms response to summer and winter

Different behavioral mechanisms were observed among the genetic groups when exposed to heat and cold stresses in the experimental animals (Table 3). Hampshire showed significantly (p < 0.05) higher duration and frequency of lateral and halflateral lying positions in both the seasons followed by crossbred and indigenous pigs, while the duration and frequency of sternal lying were significantly (p < 0.05) higher in indigenous pigs followed by crossbred and Hampshire pigs. Similarly, indigenous pigs showed higher duration and frequency of standing and physical activity in both the seasons. Wallowing behavior was observed only in the summer season, while huddling and shivering behavior were observed in the winter season in all the genetic groups. Wallowing and shivering thermogenesis behavior were observed significantly (p < 0.05) highest in Hampshire followed by crossbred pigs during heat and cold stresses, respectively, whereas huddling behavior was observed significantly (p < 0.05) highest in indigenous pigs followed by crossbred pigs during cold stress.

Serum biochemical response to summer and winter

The serum biochemical responses to heat and cold stresses are presented in Table 4. The result revealed that during heat stress, the serum concentrations of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and thyroxine (T_4) were significantly (p < 0.05) higher in indigenous pigs followed by crossbred and Hampshire. Among different genetic groups, the serum insulin level was significantly (p < 0.05) higher in indigenous pigs; however, there was no significant difference between crossbred and Hampshire. The serum concentrations of alanine transaminase (ALT) differed significantly (p < 0.05) among different genetic groups. It was significantly (p < 0.05) higher in crossbred followed by Hampshire and indigenous pigs. The activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD) and acid phosphatase showed no significant difference among the genetic groups during heat stress. The cortisol level was significantly (p < 0.05) lowest in indigenous pigs followed by crossbred and highest in Hampshire during heat stress.

Similarly, during cold stress the serum concentrations of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and thyroxine (T₄) were significantly (p < 0.05) higher in indigenous pigs followed by crossbred and Hampshire. The serum insulin levels and ALT concentrations were significantly (p < 0.05) different among the genetic groups. The insulin levels were recorded highest in Hampshire followed by crossbred and indigenous pigs; however, the ALT concentrations were recorded highest in crossbred pigs followed by Hampshire and indigenous pigs. No significant

Season	Months	Temperature (°C)		R.H (%)		THI	
		Max	Min	Max	Min	Max	Min
Summer	July	29.70	21.40	88.90	76.00	96.42	79.64
	August	28.00	20.90	90.50	77.30	94.00	79.13
Winter	December	22.90	8.60	86.40	54.70	84.36	57.84
	January	22.10	5.50	85.90	44.60	82.92	53.11

TABLE 1 Maximum and minimum temperature, relative humidity, and THI recorded during experimental period.

R.H, relative humidity; THI, temperature humidity index.

TABLE 2 Means ± SE for physiological parameters of indigenous, Hampshire, and crossbred pigs during the study period.

Seasons	Indigenous $(n=6)$	Hampshire $(n = 6)$	Crossbred $(n = 6)$
Summer	38.32 ± 0.06^a	$39.39 \pm 0.02^{\mathrm{b}}$	$39.10\pm0.05^{\rm b}$
Winter	38.04 ± 0.07^a	38.59 ± 0.1^a	38.49 ± 0.06^a
Summer	28.49 ± 0.03^{a}	$30.51\pm0.3^{\text{b}}$	28.35 ± 0.03^a
Winter	21.66 ± 0.04^{a}	21.58 ± 0.5^{a}	21.64 ± 0.06^{a}
Summer	$22.42\pm0.13^{\text{a}}$	$34.42\pm0.06^{\rm b}$	27.67 ± 0.11^{c}
Winter	17.17 ± 0.9^{a}	$20.17\pm0.09^{\rm b}$	$17.83\pm0.17^{\text{a}}$
Summer	62.75 ± 0.17^{a}	$76.58\pm0.15^{\rm b}$	64.58 ± 0.18^{c}
Winter	55.42 ± 0.08^{a}	63.25 ± 0.08^{b}	52.75 ± 0.12^{c}
	Summer Winter Summer Winter Summer Winter Summer	Summer 38.32 ± 0.06^a Winter 38.04 ± 0.07^a Summer 28.49 ± 0.03^a Winter 21.66 ± 0.04^a Summer 22.42 ± 0.13^a Winter 17.17 ± 0.9^a Summer 62.75 ± 0.17^a	$(n = 6)$ $(n = 6)$ Summer 38.32 ± 0.06^a 39.39 ± 0.02^b Winter 38.04 ± 0.07^a 38.59 ± 0.1^a Summer 28.49 ± 0.03^a 30.51 ± 0.3^b Winter 21.66 ± 0.04^a 21.58 ± 0.5^a Summer 22.42 ± 0.13^a 34.42 ± 0.06^b Winter 17.17 ± 0.9^a 20.17 ± 0.09^b Summer 62.75 ± 0.17^a 76.58 ± 0.15^b

Values are the average of measurements taken at different times (0,900 and 1,600 h for 4 days) of the day during each season. a^{-c} Values in the same row with different superscripts differ significantly (p < 0.05).

difference in SOD and acid phosphatase was observed among the genetic groups. The cortisol level was significantly (p < 0.05) higher in Hampshire with no significant difference between indigenous and crossbred pigs.

Discussion

It is important to know that pigs are susceptible to heat and cold stresses. The present study revealed that the microclimate conditions of the present study location cause heat stress and cold stress in pigs during the summer and winter seasons, respectively. The maximum and minimum THI values during the summer season were above the established normal THI values of 75 or less for pigs (27). The THI values observed in the current study were those that have previously been reported to cause extreme stress in pigs and may even be fatal (27, 28). The primary response of animals under thermal stress is an increase in respiration rate, rectal temperature, and heart rate (29). Rectal temperature is a delayed indicator of heat stress only responding when the temperature is over 27° C or the THI is >80 (30, 31). In the present study, Hampshire and crossbred pigs had higher T_R during heat stress than indigenous pigs. Given that an increase in T_R is an indication of heat stress, higher T_R in Hampshire and crossbred pigs may indicate that they are more susceptible

to heat stress. This is confirmed by the previous study, where pigs exposed to heat stress had a higher rectal temperature (32). While lower TR in indigenous pigs suggest that indigenous pigs might have a better thermoregulatory mechanism to dissipate heat from the body. T_R for indigenous and exotic pigs under heat stress, however, did not differ according to some studies (23, 33). During heat stress, Hampshire pigs were found to have higher T_{SS} than indigenous and crossbred pigs, which may indicate that they are more susceptible to heat stress. Elevated $T_{\ensuremath{SS}}$ with an increase in ambient temperature was reported in pigs (23). Furthermore, exposure of ruminants to high environmental temperature also increased skin temperature (34), documented in Nguni and Boran cattle breeds (35) and Osmanabadi goats (36). This higher T_{SS} might be directly attributable to the vasodilatation of the skin capillary bed, which would enhance blood now to the cutaneous blood vessels, allowing more efficient heat transfer to the surroundings and sensible heat loss (36). The fact that indigenous and crossbred pigs had lower T_{SS} may be related to their long hair and high hair density, which serve as insulation and reduce heat loss, as demonstrated by Silanikove (30). Stress triggers the hypothalamus, which enhances respiratory activity to speed up heat escape from the body through respiratory evaporation (37). In animals, there is a correlation between respiration rate and the surrounding temperature and microenvironments (28). Thus,

Behavioral parameters	Season	Duration (minutes/day)			Frequency/day (%)			
		Indigenous $(n = 6)$	Hampshire $(n = 6)$	Crossbred $(n = 6)$	Indigenous $(n = 6)$	Hampshire $(n = 6)$	Crossbred $(n = 6)$	
Lateral lying	Summer	204.02 ± 1.99^a	$613.69\pm1.58^{\text{b}}$	453.69 ± 0.67^{c}	$14.17\pm0.14^{\rm a}$	$42.62\pm0.11^{\text{b}}$	31.51 ± 0.05^{c}	
	Winter	284.96 ± 0.57^a	396.69 ± 1.43^{b}	353.54 ± 0.51^{c}	19.79 ± 0.04^{a}	27.55 ± 0.1^{b}	24.55 ± 0.04^{c}	
Sternal lying	Summer	364.38 ± 2.08^a	$105.38\pm1.52^{\text{b}}$	215.19 ± 1.24^{c}	23.30 ± 0.14^{a}	$7.32\pm0.11^{\rm b}$	$14.94\pm0.09^{\rm c}$	
	Winter	152.54 ± 0.57^a	$101.42\pm1.45^{\text{b}}$	147.06 ± 0.85^a	10.59 ± 0.04^{a}	$7.04\pm0.1^{\rm b}$	$10.21\pm0.06^{\text{a}}$	
Half lateral lying	Summer	$81.83 \pm 1.82^{\text{a}}$	$310.63\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	$202.35\pm1.35^{\rm c}$	5.68 ± 0.13^{a}	$21.57\pm0.27^{\rm b}$	$14.05\pm0.09^{\rm c}$	
	Winter	77.38 ± 0.62^{a}	$119.88 \pm 1.04^{\text{b}}$	$111.42\pm0.43^{\rm c}$	5.37 ± 0.04^{a}	8.32 ± 0.07^{b}	$7.74\pm0.03^{\rm c}$	
Huddling	Summer	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Winter	404.52 ± 0.64^a	380.73 ± 0.97^{b}	401.42 ± 0.92^{c}	28.09 ± 0.04^{a}	$26.44\pm0.07^{\rm b}$	27.88 ± 0.06^{c}	
Shivering	Summer	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Winter	79.69 ± 0.44^{a}	$146.27\pm1.31^{\text{b}}$	120.79 ± 0.93^{c}	5.53 ± 0.30^{a}	$10.16\pm0.09^{\rm b}$	$14.19\pm5.41^{\rm c}$	
Standing	Summer	411.35 ± 4.92^a	92.19 ± 3.24^{b}	205.23 ± 1.25^{c}	28.57 ± 0.34^a	6.40 ± 0.23^{b}	14.25 ± 0.09^{c}	
	Winter	99.88 ± 2.02^{a}	$55.15 \pm 1.76^{\mathrm{b}}$	60.94 ± 1.30^{c}	6.94 ± 0.14^{a}	3.83 ± 0.12^{b}	$7.43\pm3.01^{\text{c}}$	
Wallowing	Summer	105.79 ± 1.59^a	$180.44\pm2.38^{\text{b}}$	140.25 ± 1.33^{c}	7.35 ± 0.11^{a}	$12.53\pm0.17^{\text{b}}$	$9.74\pm0.09^{\rm c}$	
	Winter	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Physical activity	Summer	272.63 ± 1.64^a	$137.69\pm1.02^{\text{b}}$	223.29 ± 0.38^{c}	$18.93\pm0.11^{\rm a}$	9.56 ± 0.07^{b}	$15.51\pm0.03^{\rm c}$	
	Winter	$341.04 \pm 1.14^{\text{a}}$	$239.88\pm0.66^{\text{b}}$	244.83 ± 2.16^{c}	23.68 ± 0.08^{a}	$16.66\pm0.05^{\rm b}$	17 ± 0.15^{c}	

TABLE 3 Means ± SE for behavioral parameters of indigenous, Hampshire, and crossbred pigs in response to heat and cold stress observed under a CCTV video camera during the experimental period.

 $^{\rm (a-c)}$ Values in the same row with different superscripts differ significantly (p < 0.05).

when animals are exposed to high ambient temperatures, they have an increased rate of respiration and perspiration (31). However, it was well-documented that porcine sweat glands are non-functional (19). Respiration rate is the first sign of heat stress and can be affected by temperatures as low as 21.3°C (31) or a THI of 73 (30). In the present study, RR of indigenous and crossbred pigs was within the normal range, that is, 15-30 breaths per minute as reported by Silanikove (30); however, it was higher than the normal range during heat stress in Hampshire, suggesting the susceptibility to heat stress. Among the genetic groups, higher RR in Hampshire and crossbred pigs during heat stress in the study could be the mechanism to dissipate more heat from the body by evaporating to the surrounding. Our finding of lower respiratory rate of indigenous pigs when exposed to heat stress corroborates with the finding of Moyo (38) in indigenous Windsnyer pigs of South Africa, which might be due to better adaptability of indigenous pigs to the agroclimatic condition of the region. An increase in RR was also reported in pigs exposed to high heat load (23, 39) and various cattle breeds (40). Heart rate is a stress marker that can be changed in response to thermal stress. Hampshire had higher HR than indigenous and crossbred pigs during heat stress, and this could be an attempt to dissipate excess heat to its surroundings by increasing blood flow to its peripheral tissues. A similar observation was earlier observed and documented by Madzimure et al. (23) who reported higher HR in large white than in indigenous Windsnyer pig in South Africa. Similar findings were also reported in sheep breeds reared in the Indian semiarid regions (41) and in other farm animals (36).

In the winter season, the temperature reaches a minimum of 5.5°C in the study location, which is below the lower limit of the thermoneutral zone $(18-20^{\circ}C)$ for a pig (26). Although pigs are susceptible to cold stress, there was not much variation in the physiological parameters during cold stress among the genetic groups. Pigs have a thick subcutaneous adipose tissue layer, which is attributed to maintain their normal physiological parameters during cold stress. Previous research has shown that when pigs are exposed to low temperature, they may increase heat production through muscular shivering thermogenesis (42), conserve heat through changing posture to reduce the body surface exposed to cold (43), build nests, huddling together, and select favorable microhabitats (42, 44). Similarly, on exposure to cold temperature, increased physical activity, huddling, and shivering were observed in the present study. Increased physical activity and huddling were observed highest in indigenous pigs followed by crossbred and Hampshire, while shivering was observed highest in Hampshire followed by crossbred pigs. Similarly, huddling together in cold temperature was observed in indigenous pigs (Windsnyer and Kolbroek) of South Africa (38). Increased physical activity was reported in large white (38) and crossbred (large white x Pietrain) pigs (45), which is contrary to the present study observation where it is highest in indigenous pigs.

Less time in standing and sitting and more time in lying postures in comparison with control during the cooling phase after the pigs are exposed to high temperature are reported in cooled sow (46). Similarly, more time in lying postures was observed during heat stress than cold stress and the highest lying behavior was observed in Hampshire followed by crossbred in the entire present study. Heat-stressed sows have been observed to show reduced standing posture (47) and consistently increase lying postures, especially lying laterally (48). Similarly, less standing time and more laterally lying posture were observed during heat stress, and the highest was observed in Hampshire followed by crossbred in the present study. Lying laterally appears to be a strategical posture when pigs suffer from heat stress, which is due to the skin surface in contact with the floor, which is greater than any other posture, enhancing heat loss through conduction (48). Reduced overall activity is one of the behavioral strategies used to help animals cope with heat stress. Physical activity was significantly reduced in heat stress in all the genotypes. Among the genetic groups, physical activity was observed highest in indigenous followed by crossbred than in Hampshire in both the seasons. Wallowing and standing behavior is one of the adaptive behavioral mechanisms to dissipate heat and reduce heat stress. When the heat load increased, animals spent more time standing to maximize heat dissipation by increasing the surface area of the skin exposed to air or wind flow (49). Standing behavior was observed highest in indigenous pigs, whereas wallowing behavior was highest in Hampshire. Pigs wallow for a variety of reasons, including cooling and protection from solar radiation and preventing attacks from insects (50). Wallowing allows pigs to lose heat more effectively during hot weather than sweating as well as during cold conditions; mud acts as insulation, allowing them to keep their body warm (14). However, wallowing behavior was not observed in all groups during the cold season in the present study as they are kept in an intensive system of rearing. Similar to previous findings, in this present study as well-different behavioral responses to conserve heat or dissipate heat during the cold and hot seasons were observed. In this study, indigenous pigs exhibited increased physical activity to generate body heat and huddled together in an attempt to conserve heat. On the contrary, Hampshire pigs attempt to increase heat production by shivering thermogenesis. Similarly, indigenous pigs showed the increased standing time to dissipate heat, while Hampshire and crossbred pigs presented a higher time of wallowing and reduced physical activity to reduce heat production. The fact that Hampshire and crossbred pigs spent more time in lying and wallowing could indicate that they were attempting to cool down to a comfortable temperature through evaporative cooling. However, physical activity was significantly higher and wallowing behavior was significantly lower in indigenous pigs followed by crossbred pigs. These behavioral responses indicate better

Parameters	Seasons	Indigenous $(n = 6)$	Hampshire $(n = 6)$	Crossbred $(n = 6)$	
Alkaline phosphatase (ng/ml)	Summer	$8.41\pm0.12^{\rm a}$	$3.56\pm0.01^{\rm b}$	$5.41\pm0.03^{\rm c}$	
	Winter	6.46 ± 0.03^{a}	$1.66\pm0.05^{\rm b}$	3.48 ± 0.06^{c}	
Alanine transaminase (U/l)	Summer	22.16 ± 0.03^{a}	$28.26\pm0.04^{\text{b}}$	38.23 ± 0.13^{c}	
	Winter	13.72 ± 0.03^{a}	$17.88\pm0.4^{\rm b}$	$19.47\pm0.09^{\rm c}$	
Insulin (µIU/ml)	Summer	$7.01\pm0.11^{\rm a}$	$4.18\pm0.1^{\rm b}$	$4.8\pm0.04^{\rm b}$	
	Winter	5.48 ± 0.03^{a}	$12.48\pm0.05^{\text{b}}$	7.42 ± 0.03^{c}	
T ₄ (ng/ml)	Summer	38.64 ± 0.27^a	$5.52\pm0.06^{\rm b}$	$18.08\pm0.04^{\rm c}$	
	Winter	45.64 ± 0.25^a	$11.64\pm0.04^{\rm b}$	26.64 ± 0.11^{c}	
SOD (U/l)	Summer	1.91 ± 0.05	1.73 ± 0.03	1.86 ± 0.06	
	Winter	1.83 ± 0.60	1.54 ± 0.01	1.79 ± 0.03	
Acid phosphatase (µmol/min/ml)	Summer	0.042 ± 0.00	0.12 ± 0.01	0.049 ± 0.00	
	Winter	0.07 ± 0.05	0.09 ± 0.00	0.026 ± 0.01	
Cortisol (ng/ml)	Summer	28.5 ± 0.15^a	$56.8\pm0.07^{\rm b}$	$40.2\pm0.02^{\rm c}$	
	Winter	27.64 ± 0.01^a	$47.8\pm0.02^{\rm b}$	28.3 ± 0.24^{a}	

TABLE 4 Means ± SE of indigenous, Hampshire, and crossbred pigs for serum biochemical parameters during the study period.

 $^{\rm (a-c)}$ Values in the same row with different superscripts differ significantly (p < 0.05).

homeostasis and adaptability of indigenous and crossbred pigs than Hampshire.

This study demonstrates that most of the metabolic and serum biochemical activities were influenced by thermal stress. Some metabolic enzymes increase their activity when exposed to high ambient temperatures. Among other enzymes, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) is one of the important metabolic enzymes that increased its activity when exposed to stress as frequently reported by several researchers. The increased activity of these enzymes was reported in goats (51), sheep (52), and pig (53, 54) during exposure to heat stress. A similar finding was observed in the present study. According to Banerjee et al. (55), an increase in the activity of this enzyme is related to the higher adaptive capability of the animals to cope with heat stress. It was also reported that ALT activity increases during stress (56), such as increased after severe exercise in humans (57) and restraint in rats (58). The enzyme activity of ALT was observed highest in Hampshire followed by crossbred pigs, suggesting that Hampshire pigs are more susceptible to stress than indigenous and crossbred pigs of this region. Acid phosphatase (ACP) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) are two key enzymes involved in animal metabolism. The levels of these enzymes are generally low in heat-stressed animals, which could be attributed to a metabolic shift in the animals (51). Several investigations have reported a decrease in ALP activity in heat-stressed animals (53, 59), including pigs (60), which is contradictory to our present finding. Why ALP activity is higher during summer than winter in the present study is not known. It is thought that reduced ALP activity is attributed to reduce the functioning of the liver during heat stress exposure (61). The present observation revealed that the activity of serum ALP was highest in indigenous followed by crossbred

pigs and lowest in Hampshire during the study periods. However, acid phosphatase did not differ significantly among genotypes in the present study. The above observations could suggest that indigenous pigs and crossbred are more resilient and have better adaptability to different climatic conditions than Hampshire.

The blood insulin concentration directly reflects the energy status of the animal to sustain production under extreme environmental conditions (62). An increase in basal and stimulated circulating insulin has been reported in a variety of species (63), including pigs (64), during heat stress. Ironically, Sejian et al. (17) reported a significant reduction in the insulin level after thermal exposure in goats. Similarly, we observed a higher level of insulin in indigenous pigs, which is inconsistent with the earlier findings (63, 64) and lower level of insulin in Hampshire and crossbred pigs (17) during heat stress. This difference in the level of insulin could be due to their nutritional status. A reduction in the level of insulin in Hampshire and crossbred pigs could be due to heat stress and resulted in reduced feed intake, as reported by Sejian et al. (65), and there was a significant reduction in the insulin level when thermal stress was combined with restricted feeding. Our findings also showed that exposure to a cold environment significantly reduced the level of insulin in indigenous pigs, but significantly increased in Hampshire and crossbred pigs. In rats, cold exposure decreased insulin secretion (66), stimulating the insulin signaling pathways in the brown adipose tissues for utilizing energy for thermogenesis (67). However, the increased level of insulin in Hampshire and crossbred pigs when exposed to a cold environment could be due to increased feed intake and elevated glucose concentration in the body, which stimulates the release of insulin.

The thyroid gland is extremely sensitive to temperature changes in the environment (68). Proper thyroid gland function and thyroid hormone activity are thought to be essential for domestic animals to maintain productive performance (69). Increased secretion of thyroid hormone increases body metabolism and hence heat production (28). Various researchers have reported a decrease in thyroid hormone (T₄ and T₃) blood concentrations in diverse species when exposed to heat stress (70, 71) including pigs (28). The serum concentrations of T₄ and T_3 were higher in cold stress than in heat stress conditions (52). The previous findings support the finding of the present study in that the serum concentration of T₄ was shown to be significantly lower during heat stress. Reduced concentrations of circulating T₃ and T₄ have been reported in heifers (72), sheep (73), and goat (69), suggestive of an attempt to reduce metabolic rate and thus metabolic heat production. Overall, during the study periods, indigenous pigs demonstrated a significantly higher T₄ serum concentration than either of the other genotypes. The lower level of T₄ in Hampshire and crossbred pigs might indicate that they are more prone to cold and heat stresses than that in indigenous pigs. When an animal is exposed to heat, reduced food intake and metabolism slow down, which leads to negative energy balance and results in hypofunction of the thyroid gland (74). Consequently, Sejian et al. (17) reported a decrease in the level of thyroid hormones (T₃ and T₄) in stressed animals. In the present study, higher thyroid hormone (T₄) secretion may be indicative of the superior adaptive capability of indigenous pigs to the different climatic conditions of this region.

Antioxidants, such as SOD and glutathione peroxidase, can efficiently eliminate reactive oxygen species (ROS) from the intracellular environment by detoxifying them (75). During hot and cold climate, there is an increase in the rate of reactive oxygen species (ROS) production leading to the activation of antioxidant enzymes to scavenge the ROS (76). Some researchers have also observed higher activity of SOD as a marker of oxidative stress in various species during hot ambient temperature (77). However, lower activity of SOD during heat stress pig was documented by Yang et al. (78). Kataria and Kataria (76) reported significantly higher activity of SOD during hot and cold environments as compared to moderate environment. However, in the present study, the enzymatic activity of SOD did not show a significant alteration among the genotypes during thermal stress.

The detection of cortisol is one of the most widely used methods to assess stress in animals. It has proven to be a major stress hormone and a reliable indicator of stress (79). An increase in circulating cortisol concentrations caused by the activation of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis is one of the most frequent and general responses of an animal to stressful situations (30). An increase in serum cortisol levels is related to the increase in adrenocortical activity, a characteristic linked to the activation of the autonomic nervous system by stress (80). Therefore, higher serum cortisol concentrations in Hampshire during the study periods suggest that they are more vulnerable to heat and cold stresses. It was also observed that there was a significant increase in serum cortisol concentrations during summer in crossbred pigs, suggestive of heat stress. Similarly, higher cortisol level in heat-stressed pig was reported from arid tracts in Rajasthan, India (81). However, indigenous pigs of this region maintained the serum cortisol concentrations during thermal stress. The findings indicate that the climatic conditions of this region are stressful to Hampshire and crossbred pigs than indigenous pigs of this region.

Conclusion

The results suggest that indigenous pigs had better adaptability to heat and cold stresses than Hampshire and crossbred pigs. The superior tolerance to thermal stress of indigenous pigs was associated with an ability to maintain their physiological and behavioral activities. Behavioral activities to heat loss or conserve heat such as shivering and wallowing were lower in indigenous pigs, but higher physical activity during thermal stress. The better adaptability is also related to higher metabolic activity, which is shown by higher T₄ activity and lower serum cortisol concentrations. Also, the better adaptability of indigenous pigs might be due to their unique anatomical features such as small body size, short legs, and long and dense bristles. Further detailed studies need to be carried out for a better understanding of the thermoregulatory mechanism of indigenous pigs and identifying the gene responsible for the resilient traits and developed adaptation signature that will be useful for the mainstreaming in the breeding program under changing climatic conditions.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Institutional Animal Ethics Committee (IAEC), ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Meghalaya, India.

Author contributions

Conception, design of study, and interpretation were done by KG. Data collection and analysis were performed by CG and NSS. The manuscript was drafted by CG, NSS, and KG. Critical revision of the manuscript was done by NMS. All authors contributed to the manuscript revision and have read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This research was funded by the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR) under the National Innovation on Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA) project.

Acknowledgments

The authors thankfully acknowledge the National Innovation on Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA) project, Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR), for providing funding and facilities to conduct the research.

References

1. Mao AA, Hynniewta TM, Sanjappa M. Plant wealth of Northeast India with reference to ethnobotany. *Indian J Tradit Knowl*. (2009) 8:96–103. Available online at: http://www.niscair.res.in/sciencecommunication/researchjournals/rejour/ijtk/ ijtk0.asp

2. Chakraborty R, De B, Devanna N, Sen S. North-East India an ethnic storehouse of unexplored medicinal plants. *J Nat Prod Plant Resour*. (2012) 2:143–52. Available online at: http://scholarsresearchlibrary.com/archive.html

3. Chatterjee S, Saikia A, Dutta P, Ghosh D, Pangging G, Goswami, AK. Background paper on "Biodiversity significance of North East India" for the study on natural resources, water and environment nexus for development and growth in North Eastern India. In: *WWF-India, New Delhi*, (2006). p. 1–71.

4. Kumar A, Staal S, Elumalai K, Singh DK. Livestock sector in North-Eastern region of India: an appraisal of performance. Agric Econ Res Rev. (2007) 20:255-72.

5. Borah M, Halim RA. Dynamics and performance of livestock and poultry sector in India: a temporal analysis. J Acad Ind Res. (2014) 3:1–9.

6. Godber OF, Wall R. Livestock and food security: vulnerability to population growth and climate change. *Glob Change Biol.* (2014) 20:3092–102. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12589

7. 20th The Livestock Census. Department of Animal Husbandry, Dairying and Fisheries, Ministry of Agriculture, New Delhi (2019).

 Karunakaran M, Mondal M, Rajarajan K, Karmakar HD, Bhat BP, Das J, et al. Early puberty in local Naga boar of India: assessment through epididymal spermiogram and *in vivo* pregnancy. *Anim Reprod Sci.* (2009) 111:112– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2008.02.009

9. Mohan NH, Debnath S, Mahapatra RK, Nayak LK, Baruah S, Das A, et al. Tensile properties of hair fibres obtained from different breeds of pigs. *Biosyst Eng.* (2014) 119:35–43. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2014.01.003

10. Theusme C, Avendaño-Reyes L, Macías-Cruz U, Correa-Calderón A, García-Cueto RO, Mellado M, et al. Climate change vulnerability of confined livestock systems predicted using bioclimatic indexes in an arid region of México. *Sci Total Environ.* (2021) 751:141779. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141779

11. Gaughan JB. Basic Principles Involved in Adaption of Livestock to Climate Change. In Environmental Stress and Amelioration in Livestock Production. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer (2012). p. 245–61.

12. Pragna P, Sejian V, Soren NM, Bagath M, Krishnan G, Beena V, et al. Summer season induced rhythmic alterations in metabolic activities to adapt to heat stress in three indigenous (Osmanabadi, Malabari and Salem Black) goat breeds. *Biol Rhythm Res.* (2018) 49:551–65. doi: 10.1080/09291016.2017.13 86891

13. Mirkena T, Duguma G, Haile A, Tibbo M, Okeyo AM, Wurzinger M, et al. Genetics of adaptation in domestic farm animals: a review. *Livest Sci.* (2010) 132:1–2. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2010.05.003

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. McGlone JJ. Managing heat stress in the outdoor pig breeding herd. In: Ina Symposium on Outdoor Pig Production in Brazil (1999).

15. Mmereole FUC. The effects of replacing groundnut cake with rubber seed meal on the haematological and serological indices of broilers. *Int J Poult Sci.* (2008) 7:622–4. doi: 10.3923/ijps.2008.622.624

16. Sejian V, Singh AK, Sahoo A, Naqvi SM. Effect of mineral mixture and antioxidant supplementation on growth, reproductive performance and adaptive capability of m alpura ewes subjected to heat stress. *J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr.* (2014) 98:72–83. doi: 10.1111/jpn.12037

17. Sejian V, Maurya VP, Naqvi SM. Adaptive capability as indicated by endocrine and biochemical responses of Malpura ewes subjected to combined stresses (thermal and nutritional) in a semi-arid tropical environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2010) 54:653–61. doi: 10.1007/s00484-010-0341-1

18. Ingram DL, Legge KF. Variations in deep body temperature in the young unrestrained pig over the 24-hour period. *J Physiol.* (1970) 210:989–98. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009253

19. Zumbach B, Misztal I, Tsuruta S, Sanchez JP, Azain M, Herring W, et al. Genetic components of heat stress in finishing pigs: parameter estimation. *J Anim Sci.* (2008) 86:2076–81. doi: 10.2527/jas.2007-0282

20. Algers BM, Sanaa T, Nunes B, Wechsler HAM, Spoolder MC, Meunier-Salaun LJ. Scientific report on animal health and welfare aspects of different housing and husbandry systems for adult breeding boars, pregnant, farrowing sows and weaned piglets. *EFSA J.* (2007) 572:1–107. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2007.572

21. Huynh TT, Aarnink AJ, Truong CT, Kemp B, Verstegen MW. Effects of tropical climate and water cooling methods on growing pigs' responses. *Livest Sci.* (2006) 104:278–91. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2006.04.029

22. Rashamol VP, Sejian V, Bagath M, Krishnan G, Archana PR, Bhatta R. Physiological adaptability of livestock to heat stress: an updated review. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2020) 6:62–71. doi: 10.31893/2318-1265jabb.v6n3p62-71

23. Madzimure J, Chimonyo M, Zander KK, Dzama K. Diurnal heat-related physiological and behavioural responses in South African indigenous gilts. *J Arid Environ*. (2012) 87:29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2012.05.010

24. Niyas PA, Chaidanya K, Shaji S, Sejian V, Bhatta R. Adaptation of livestock to environmental challenges. *J Vet Sci Med Diagn.* (2015) 4:2. doi: 10.4172/2325-9590.1000162

25. Mader TL, Davis MS, Brown-Brandl T. Environmental factors influencing heat stress in feedlot cattle. J Anim Sci. (2006) 84:712–9. doi: 10.2527/2006.843712x

26. Wathes C, Whittemore C. Environmental management of pigs. In: Whittemore CT, Kyriazakis I, editors. *Whittemore's Science and Practice of Pig Production.* 3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing (2006). p. 533–92. doi: 10.1002/9780470995624.ch17

27. Lamoureux VS. Current Research in Animal Physiology, 1st Edn. New York, NY: Apple Academic Press (2012). p. 1–318. doi: 10.1201/b12225

28. Pathak PK, Roychoudhury R, Saharia J, Borah MC, Dutta DJ, Bhuyan R, et al. Impact of seasonal thermal stress on physiological and blood biochemical parameters in pigs under different dietary energy levels. *Trop Anim health Prod.* (2018) 50:1025–32. doi: 10.1007/s11250-018-1526-6

29. Das R, Sailo L, Verma N, Bharti P, Saikia J, Kumar R. Impact of heat stress on health and performance of dairy animals: a review. *Vet world.* (2016) 9:260. doi: 10.14202/vetworld.2016.260-268

30. Silanikove N. Effects of heat stress on the welfare of extensively managed domestic ruminants. *Livest Prod Sci.* (2000) 67:1–8. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(00)00162-7

31. Lorschy ML. Definitions of Ambient Temperature Requirements for Pigs: A Review. Council Research News-Prairie Swine Centre Inc. (2005).

32. Huynh TT, Aarnink AJ, Verstegen MW, Gerrits WJ, Heetkamp MJ, Kemp B, et al. Effects of increasing temperatures on physiological changes in pigs at different relative humidities. *J Anim Sci.* (2005) 83:1385–96. doi: 10.2527/2005.8361385x

33. Renaudeau D, Huc E, Noblet J. Acclimation to high ambient temperature in Large White and Caribbean Creole growing pigs. *J Anim Sci.* (2007) 85:779–90. doi: 10.2527/jas.2006-430

34. Sejian V, Bhatta R, Gaughan JB, Dunshea FR, Lacetera N. Adaptation of animals to heat stress. *Animal.* (2018) 12:s431-44. doi: 10.1017/S1751731118001945

35. Katiyatiya CL, Bradley G, Muchenje V. Thermotolerance, health profile and cellular expression of HSP90AB1 in Nguni and Boran cows raised on natural pastures under tropical conditions. *J Therm Biol.* (2017) 69:85– 94. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2017.06.009

36. Shilja S, Sejian V, Bagath M, Mech A, David CG, Kurien EK, et al. Adaptive capability as indicated by behavioral and physiological responses, plasma HSP70 level, and PBMC HSP70 mRNA expression in Osmanabadi goats subjected to combined (heat and nutritional) stressors. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2016) 60:1311–23. doi: 10.1007/s00484-015-1124-5

37. Fukushi I, Yokota S, Okada Y. The role of the hypothalamus in modulation of respiration. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol.* (2019) 265:172–9. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2018.07.003

38. Moyo D. Comparison of Febrile Responses, Thermoregulation and Skin Morphology in the Local Kolbroek, Windsnyer and Exotic Large White Breeds of Pigs in South Africa (Doctoral dissertation). University of the Witwatersrand, Faculty of Health Sciences, Johannesburg (2017).

39. Seibert JT, Graves KL, Hale BJ, Keating AF, Baumgard LH, Ross JW. Characterizing the acute heat stress response in gilts: I. Thermoregulatory and production variables. *J Anim Sci.* (2018) 96:941–9. doi: 10.1093/jas/skx036

40. Valente ÉEL, Chizzotti ML, Oliveira CVR, Galvão MC, Domingues SS, Rodrigues AC, et al. Intake, physiological parameters and behavior of Angus and Nellore bulls subjected to heat stress. *Semina: Ciências Agrárias.* (2015) 36:4565–74. doi: 10.5433/1679-0359.2015v36n6Supl2p4565

41. Rathwa SD, Vasava AA, Pathan MM, Madhira SP, Patel YG, Pande AM. Effect of season on physiological, biochemical, hormonal, and oxidative stress parameters of indigenous sheep. *Vet world.* (2017) 10:650. doi: 10.14202/vetworld.2017.650-654

42. Berg F, Gustafson U, Andersson L. The uncoupling protein 1 gene (UCP1) is disrupted in the pig lineage: a genetic explanation for poor thermoregulation in piglets. *PLoS Genet.* (2006) 8:e129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020129

43. Hayne SM, Tennessen T, Anderson DM. The responses of growing pigs exposed to cold with varying amounts of straw bedding. *Can J Anim Sci.* (2000) 80:539–46. doi: 10.4141/A00-003

44. Olczak K, Nowicki J, Klocek C. Pig behaviour in relation to weather conditions-a review. Ann Anim Sci. (2015) 15:601. doi: 10.1515/aoas-2015-0024

45. Quiniou N, Noblet J, Van Milgen J, Dubois S. Modelling heat production and energy balance in group-housed growing pigs exposed to low or high ambient temperatures. *Br J Nutri*. (2001) 85:97–106. doi: 10.1079/BJN2000217

46. Parois SP, Cabezón FA, Schinckel AP, Johnson JS, Stwalley RM, Marchant-Forde JN. Effect of floor cooling on behavior and heart rate of late lactation sows under acute heat stress. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:223. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00223

47. Canaday DC, Salak-Johnson JL, Visconti AM, Wang X, Bhalerao K, Knox RV. Effect of variability in lighting and temperature environments for mature gilts housed in gestation crates on measures of reproduction and animal well-being. *J Anim Sci.* (2013) 91:1225–36. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5733

48. Muns R, Malmkvist J, Larsen ML, Sorensen D, Pedersen LJ. High environmental temperature around farrowing induced heat stress in crated sows. J Anim Sci. (2016) 94:377–84. doi: 10.2527/jas.2015-9623 49. Tucker CB, Rogers AR, Schütz KE. Effect of solar radiation on dairy cattle behaviour, use of shade and body temperature in a pasture-based system. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 109:141–54. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.015

50. Bracke MB. Review of wallowing in pigs: description of the behaviour and its motivational basis. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2011) 132:1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011.01.002

51. Gupta M, Kumar S, Dangi SS, Jangir BL. Physiological, biochemical and molecular responses to thermal stress in goats. *Int J Livest Res.* (2013) 3:27–38. doi: 10.5455/ijlr.20130502081121

52. Nazifi S, Saeb M, Rowghani E, Kaveh K. The influences of thermal stress on serum biochemical parameters of Iranian fat-tailed sheep and their correlation with triiodothyronine (T3), thyroxine (T4) and cortisol concentrations. *Comp Clin Path.* (2003) 12:135–9. doi: 10.1007/s00580-003-0487-x

53. Mayengbam P, Tolenkhomba TC. Seasonal variation of hemato-biochemical parameters in indigenous pig: Zovawk of Mizoram. *Vet World.* (2015) 8:732. doi: 10.14202/vetworld.2015.732-737

54. Pourouchottamane R, Pankaj PK, Banik S, Naskar S, Venkatsubramanian V, Ramana DB. Effect of micro-environmental variations on biomolecular profile and performance of pig. *J Agrometerol.* (2013) 15:1–6.

55. Banerjee D, Upadhyay RC, Chaudhary UB, Kumar R, Singh S, Ashutosh Das TK, et al. Seasonal variations in physio-biochemical profiles of Indian goats in the paradigm of hot and cold climate. *Biol Rhythm Res.* (2015) 46:221–36. doi: 10.1080/09291016.2014.984999

56. Luo Z, Zhu W, Guo Q, Luo W, Zhang J, Xu W, et al. Weaning induced hepatic oxidative stress, apoptosis, and aminotransferases through MAPK signaling pathways in piglets. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2016) 2016:4768541. doi: 10.1155/2016/4768541

57. Mashiko T, Umeda T, Nakaji S, Sugawara K. Effects of exercise on the physical condition of college rugby players during summer training camp. *Br J Sports Med.* (2004) 38:186–90. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2002.004333

58. Arakawa H, Kodama H, Matsuoka N, Yamaguchi I. Stress increases plasma enzyme activity in rats: differential effects of adrenergic and cholinergic blockades. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (1997) 280:1296–303.

59. Pearce SC, Gabler NK, Ross JW, Escobar J, Patience JF, Rhoads RP, et al. The effects of heat stress and plane of nutrition on metabolism in growing pigs. *J Anim Sci.* (2013) 91:2108–18. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5738

60. Wen X, Wu W, Fang W, Tang S, Xin H, Xie J, et al. Effects of long-term heat exposure on cholesterol metabolism and immune responses in growing pigs. *Livest Sci.* (2019) 230:103857. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2019.103857

61. Hooda OK, Singh G. Effect of thermal stress on feed intake, plasma enzymes and blood biochemicals in buffalo heifers. *Indian J Anim Nutr.* (2010) 27:122–7.

62. Sejian V, Srivastava RS, Varshney VP. Pineal-adrenal relationship: modulating effects of glucocorticoids on pineal function to ameliorate thermal-stress in goats. *Asian-Austr J Anim Sci.* (2008) 21:988–94. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2008.70482

63. Baumgard LH, Rhoads Jr RP. Effects of heat stress on postabsorptive metabolism and energetics. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci.* (2013) 1:311–37. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-031412-103644

64. Victoria Sanz Fernandez M, Johnson JS, Abuajamieh M, Stoakes SK, Seibert JT, Cox L, et al. Effects of heat stress on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in growing pigs. *Physiol Rep.* (2015) 3:e12315. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12315

65. Sejian V, Srivastava RS, Varshney VP. Effect of thermal stress on endocrine profile and phagocytosis index in goats. *Indian Vet J.* (2010) 87:11567. Available online at: http://www.indvetjournal.com

66. Gasparetti AL, de Souza CT, Pereira-da-Silva M, Oliveira RL, Saad MJ, Carneiro EM, et al. Cold exposure induces tissue-specific modulation of the insulin-signalling pathway in Rattus norvegicus. *J Physiol.* (2003) 552:149–62. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.050369

67. Wang X, Wahl R. Responses of the insulin signaling pathways in the brown adipose tissue of rats following cold exposure. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e99772. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099772

68. Rasouli A, Nouri M, Khajeh GH, Rasekh A. The influences of seasonal variations on thyroid activity and some biochemical parameters of cattle. *Iranian J Vet Res.* (2004) 5:1383–91.

69. Todini L. Thyroid hormones in small ruminants: effects of endogenous, environmental and nutritional factors. *Animal.* (2007)1:997–1008. doi: 10.1017/S1751731107000262

70. Salem MH, Elsherbiny AA, Khalil MH, Yousef MK. Diurnal and seasonal rhythm in plasma-cortisol, triiodothyronine and thyronine as affected by the wool coat in barki sheep. *Indian J Anim Sci.* (1991) 61:946–51.

71. Abdel-Samee AM. Heat adaptability of growing Bedouin goats in Egypt. Der Tropenlandwirt-J Agric Trop Subtrop. (1996) 97:137–47.

72. Pereira AM, Baccari F, Titto EA, Almeida JA. Effect of thermal stress on physiological parameters, feed intake and plasma thyroid hormones concentration in Alentejana, Mertolenga, Frisian and Limousine cattle breeds. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2008) 52:199–208. doi: 10.1007/s00484-007-0111-x

73. Indu S, Sejian V, Kumar D, Pareek A, Naqvi SM. Ideal proportion of roughage and concentrate for Malpura ewes to adapt and reproduce in a semi-arid tropical environment. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2015) 47:1487-95. doi:10.1007/s11250-015-0889-1

74. McManus C, Paludo GR, Louvandini H, Gugel R, Sasaki LC, Paiva SR. Heat tolerance in Brazilian sheep: physiological and blood parameters. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2009) 41:95–101. doi: 10.1007/s11250-008-9162-1

75. Dizdaroglu M, Olinski R, Doroshow JH, Akman SA. Modification of DNA bases in chromatin of intact target human cells by activated human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *Cancer Res.* (1993) 53:1269–72.

76. Kataria AK, Kataria N. Evaluation of oxidative stress in sheep affected with peste des petits ruminants. *J Stress Physiol Biochem*. (2012) 8:72–7.

77. Sakatani M, Balboula AZ, Yamanaka K, Takahashi M. Effect of summer heat environment on body temperature, estrous cycles and blood antioxidant levels in Japanese Black cow. *Anim Sci J.* (2012) 83:394–402. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-0929.2011.00967.x

78. Yang P, Hao Y, Feng J, Lin H, Feng Y, Wu X, et al. The expression of carnosine and its effect on the antioxidant capacity of longissimus dorsi muscle in finishing pigs exposed to constant heat stress. *Asian-Austr J Anim Sci.* (2014) 27:1763. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2014.14063

79. Sadoul B, Geffroy B. Measuring cortisol, the major stress hormone in fishes. J Fish Biol. (2019) 94:540–55. doi: 10.1111/jfb.13904

80. Rocha LM, Devillers N, Maldague X, Kabemba FZ, Fleuret J, Guay F, et al. Validation of anatomical sites for the measurement of infrared body surface temperature variation in response to handling and transport. *Anim.* (2019) 9:425. doi: 10.3390/ani9070425

81. Kataria N, Kataria AK. Alterations in prolactin and cortisol levels in heat stressed pigs from arid tracts in India. *Porc Res.* (2013) 3:4–8.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Cristiane Gonçalves Titto, Faculty of Animal Science and Food Engineering, University of São Paulo, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Ismael Hernández Avalos, Faculty of Higher Studies Cuautitlán, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico Daniel Mota-Rojas, Metropolitan Autonomous University, Mexico

*CORRESPONDENCE Alex S. C. Maia alex.maia@unesp.br

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 29 November 2022 ACCEPTED 03 January 2023 PUBLISHED 25 January 2023

CITATION

Maia ASC, Moura GAB, Fonsèca VFC, Gebremedhin KG, Milan HM, Chiquitelli Neto M, Simão BR, Campanelli VPC and Pacheco RDL (2023) Economically sustainable shade design for feedlot cattle. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1110671. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1110671

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Maia, Moura, Fonsèca, Gebremedhin, Milan, Chiquitelli Neto, Simão, Campanelli and Pacheco. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Economically sustainable shade design for feedlot cattle

Alex S. C. Maia^{1*}, Gustavo A. B. Moura¹, Vinicius F. C. Fonsêca^{1,2}, Kifle G. Gebremedhin³, Hugo M. Milan¹, Marcos Chiquitelli Neto⁴, Bruno R. Simão¹, Victor Paschoal Consentino Campanelli⁵ and Rodrigo Dias Lauritano Pacheco⁵

¹Innovation in Thermal Comfort and Animal Welfare (Inobio-Manera), Animal Biometeorology Laboratory, São Paulo State University, Jaboticabal, SP, Brazil, ²Brain Function Research Group, School of Physiology, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa, ³Department of Biological and Environmental Engineering, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, United States, ⁴Innovation in Thermal Comfort and Animal Welfare (Inobio-Manera), Animal Biometeorology Laboratory, São Paulo State University, Ilha Solteira, SP, Brazil, ⁵Agro-Pastoril Paschoal Campanelli, Research Center, Altair, São Paulo, Brazil

Provision of shade reduces radiant heat load on feedlot cattle, thus reducing demand of water and energy for thermoregulation. While the positive effects of shade on animal welfare are widely known, the literature lacks data on the magnitude of its economic impacts. In this study, we propose the concept of novel shade design to prove that a correctly oriented and dimensioned roof structure, which optimizes shade to be displaced within the pens, motivates cattle to seek shade, protect them from short-wave solar radiation, and is resilient to counteract weather adverse conditions. The beneficial outcome is improvement in animal welfare and productive performance, as well as increments on financial return and sustainability. To attest these benefits, eight hundred B. indicus × Bos taurus bulls were randomly assigned in pens with or without shade from a galvanized steel-roof structure. Performance data (e.g., dry matter intake, body weight gain, feed efficiency and hot carcass weight) and heat stress indicators (e.g., subcutaneous temperature, body-surface temperature, respiratory rate and water intake) were assessed along the study period. The economic outcomes derived from shade implementation were determined using the net present value. Meteorological variables were also monitored every 1 min, and grouped in a thermal comfort index for feedlot cattle, the InComfort Index (InCI). The shade structure efficiently reduced radiant heat load on cattle in pens with shade. According to the classification of the InCl, during very hot days (InCl > 0.6; around noon with mean solar radiation above 800 W m⁻² and mean air temperature above 33° C), greater proportion (80%) of animals in shaded pens were using shade. Under such circumstances, cattle in shade had water intake reduced by 3.4L per animal, body temperature was lower by 5° C, subcutaneous temperature was lower by 1° C and respiration rate was lower by 10 breaths min⁻¹ compared to animals in pens without shade (P = 0.0001). Although dry matter intake was similar (P = 0.6805), cattle in pens with shade had higher average daily gain reflected in a heavier hot carcass weight (8 kg animal⁻¹; P = 0.0002). Considering an initial investment of \$90 per animal to build a structure that lasts 15 years, the expected payback time is four finishing cycles (~110 days per cycle). In conclusion, this study confirms that the proposed novel shade design is economically profitable, improves performance, and enhances animal welfare.

KEYWORDS

animal welfare, heat load, cattle, shading, profitability, sustainable intensification
1. Introduction

Artificial shade is in the forefront of environmental modification to mitigate the negative impacts of heat stress and to improve welfare of beef cattle, particularly in tropical environments where animals face high levels of short-wave solar radiation (1, 2). The benefits of shade for animals come from reducing radiant heat gain (3, 4), body heat storage (5), evaporative cooling through panting and sweating (6-9) and by increasing the frequency of beneficial behaviors (e.g., lying down, ruminating, and playing (10-12).

Although the positive wellbeing and behavioral effects of providing shade for animals are unquestionable, their economic benefits are still inconclusive. Some studies have found positive outcomes on animal performance and economic gains (13, 14), others did not (10, 15). These economic uncertainties could perhaps be explained by the various shade structures and experimental designs tested in previous investigations. For example, use of 30 vs. 80%-blockage shade cloth, experiments with different animal categories (heifers, steers, and bulls), and different levels of heat load experienced by cattle (16). Some experiences of Brazilian beef producers were reported using shade cloth, mostly due to its lower cost of implementation over other shade materials (15, 17). However, limitation of this type of shade infrastructure lies on poor durability and life-span (18), especially if installed at locations with heavy windy and rainy conditions (19). The uncertainty on the economic return of shade implementation may therefore explain why beef producers are still reluctant on to the idea of providing artificial shades, e.g., <20% of feedlot in Brazil and US provide artificial shades (20-22).

In this study, we propose a novel concept of shade that could be used in tropical areas. It is a design that combines rectangular pens with a shade structure mounted in a north-south orientation. This design makes shade to be projected within the pens, motivates shading-seeking behavior of cattle, and efficiently protects them against short-wave solar radiation, while improves animal welfare, increases productivity performance, and offers an interesting 1-2 year payback time. To attest these benefits, 800 steers were randomly assigned in shaded and unshaded pens. The animals and the environment were monitored to (1) describe the thermal environment experienced by the animals, (2) determine the impact of shading on heat stress indicators, (3) assess the impacts of shading on dry matter intake, water intake, average daily gain, and hot carcass weight, and (4) provide analyses concerning economic outcomes of the shading structure. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first robust study to show the economic benefits of shade in feedlot cattle under commercial conditions of Brazil, where close to seven million cattle are kept in feedlots without shade (20). This issue is of great importance because Brazil is located in a tropical region where solar irradiance throughout the year is high and relatively constant, a climatic factor that poses great challenge to the welfare of livestock (4).

2. Material and methods

2.1. Location and design of the shading structure

The study was performed from November 2019 to March 2020 at the experimental facilities of a commercial feedlot in Altair, São Paulo, Brazil (Agro-Pastoril Paschoal Campanelli Research Center, 20°S latitude, altitude of 557 m) (Figure 1). Overall, climate classification according to Köppen-Geiger is B², with precipitation rate above 1200 mm year⁻¹ occurring at summer months (From November to February), and dry winters (From May to July). The novel concept of shade design used in this study comes from a shade structure that optimizes maximum availability and displacement of shade within pens, blockage against solar radiation, resilience to weather adverse conditions, and ease of daily management operations. We proposed rectangular pens with 15×50 m (width \times length) instead of square pens, and the shade structure installed on the north-south fence line. This design favors a moving shade from east to west within the pen, and motivates shade-seeking cattle to follow the shade, which results in reduced wet areas because of congregation of animals (Figure 2). Additional benefit of this design is that the shade structure on the fence line eliminates barriers to the equipment used to clean out the pens.

The shade structure was made from galvanized coated aluminum/zinc/silicon ($55\% \times 43.5\% \times 1.5\%$) steel-roof structure (Galvalume; Companhia Siderúrgica Nacional, CSN). The anchors were made of steel instead of wood because the cost of steel is the same as that of wood in Brazil. The frame assembly was made of tubular beams which is easier to assemble (Figure 3). Pillars anchored with polyvinyl chloride (PVC) and concrete provide protection against corrosion. The feedlot environment is very corrosive because of high concentration of urine and feces. The height of the roof was 5 m and consisted of parallel tiers mounted 10 cm apart tied with double steel cables. This design reduces tension and gives more flexibility to the shade structure during windy weather. Moreover, the shade area that is lost by the openings is minimal.

2.2. Experimental design

All animal procedures were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the São Paulo State University (Protocol number 016339/19). A total of 800 *B. indicus* × *Bos taurus*, predominantly Nellore bulls were used in the study. Approximately 2 weeks before the beginning of the study, the animals were treated with anthelmintic medication (1 mL 20 kg BW of 10% fenbendazole, MSD Saúde Animal, São Paulo, Brazil), immunized against bovine respiratory disease (1 mL 45 kg of BW; MSD Saúde Animal, São Paulo, Brazil), and clostridia (5 ml animal⁻¹; Valée S/A Produtos Veterinários, Montes Claros, Brazil).

Sixteen soil-surfaced pens were used, eight of them had the novel shade design that provided 3.0 m² of shade floor area/animal. The 800 bulls were equally divided between pens with shade, and pens without shade (50 animals pen⁻¹). Each bull was provided with 15 m² space, 0.30 cm of concrete bunk space, and $3.0 \times 0.8 \times 0.25$ m (length × width × height) water trough. The bulls were assigned in blocks by their fasted initial body weight (BW_i ± SEM) (Block 1 = 305 ± 0.10 kg; block 2 = 337.80 ± 0.10 kg; block 3 = 375.20 ± 0.01 kg; and block 4 = 413 ± 0.10 kg of BW_i), and weekly harvested (one block per week) in the order of heavier to lighter block. Furthermore, bulls were phenotypically characterized by a trained observer on the basis of muscularity, structure, body length, hip and wither height. They were then grouped into five different phenotypes: Nellore, Black Angus x Nellore, crossbred (Zebu breeds, mostly Nellore), crossbred (European dairy breeds), and crossbred (European beef breeds).



2.3. Nutritional management

Prior to the experiment, bulls were purchased from nine different locations (average transportation distance of 480 km) and allocated in three 16 ha pastures of Cynodon ssp., equipped with feeding bunk. During this phase, all animals received preexperimental (maintenance) diet (Table 1), for at least 15 days, in order to reestablish physiological and ruminal conditions. During the experimental period, bulls were fed with adaptation (days 1 to 14), growing (days 15 to 35) and finishing diets (block 4 =days 36 to 109; block 3 = days 36 to 114, block 2: days 36 to 119; and block 1: days 36 to 124), formulated to meet or exceed an average daily gain (ADG, kg day⁻¹) of 1.5 kg (Table 2) (24). Bulls were fed twice daily (08:30h and 15:00h), and visual bunk score calls were daily recorded at 06:45h (25). Diet dry matter adjustments of ingredients were then performed on a daily basis using a Koster Moisture Tester (Model D, Koster Crop Tester Inc. Medina Ohio, USA). Feed refusals of every pen were daily collected and weighted before the first meal. Treatment composite samples of ration, refusals and feedstuffs were daily and weekly collected (respectively) and then frozen at -20° C to determine dry matter intake (DMI, kg animal⁻¹ day⁻¹) and for chemical analyses. All the samples from diets were dried at 55°C in a forced-air oven for 72 h for DM determination. Dried samples were grounded with a Wiley-type mill (1 mm screen, MA-680, Marconi Ltda, Piracicaba, São Paulo, Brazil) and analyzed for ash (method 924.05) (26), NDF (27), CP (28) and EE (method 920.85) (29).

2.2.1. Water intake and performance data

Water was freely available. Each water trough was equipped with hydrometers to determine daily water intake (DWI; m^3 animal⁻¹

day⁻¹). Hydrometer readings were taken every morning. The average daily water intake (DWI, m^3 animal⁻¹ day⁻¹), dry matter intake (DMI, kg animal⁻¹ day⁻¹), average daily gain (ADG, kg animal⁻¹ day⁻¹), and conversion (FC, feed: gain ratio) were determined for each pen. The DWI was determined by measuring water flow to the water troughs as follows:

$$DWI_i = \frac{(H_2O)_{ij}}{N_{ij}}$$

Where, H₂O is the amount of water intake in the *i*th ordinal day of the experiment in the *j*th pen (j = 1,...,16) and N is the number of animals in the *i*th ordinal day of the experiment in the *j*th pen. The DMI was determined based on the difference of the offered and refused feed, as follows:

$$DMI_i = \frac{(f_o - f_r)_{ij}}{N_{ij}}$$

Where, f_o is the amount of dry matter offered (kg day⁻¹), while f_r is the amount of dry matter refused collected daily at the feed bunk. The ADG were calculated based on fasted initial body weight (B W_i , kg animal⁻¹; 16h of feed and water withdrawal) and fasted final body weight (B W_f , kg animal⁻¹, 16h of feed and water withdrawal) as follows,

$$ADG = \frac{BW_f - BW_i}{n}$$

Where, *n* is the total number of days on feeding. The BW_i and BW_f were obtained using a scale that was regularly calibrated with



450 kg standard-weight. The feed conversion (FC) was calculated as follows,

$$FC = \frac{DMI}{ADG}$$

After reaching their expected BW_f , the animals were transported (330 km) to a commercial packing plant, and hot carcass weight (HCW, kg animal⁻¹) was obtained after complete evisceration and remotion of kidney, pelvic and heart fat of the carcass.

2.2.2. Meteorological data

Solar irradiance (R_S, W m⁻²; CMP-22, Kipp and Zonen, Delft, Netherlands; spectral range = 0.3–3.6 μ m), ultraviolet solar radiation (U_V, W m⁻²; spectral range = 0.28–0.4 μ m), air temperature (T_A, °C; range = -40 to +70, accuracy \pm 0.1°C), black-globe temperature in the sun (T_{Gsun}, °C; accuracy \pm 0.1°C), relative humidity (R_H, %; accuracy \pm 3%), wind speed (W_S, m s⁻¹; accuracy \pm 0.44, m s⁻¹) and daily precipitation (P, mm h⁻¹), were all continuously recorded every minute with a portable weather station (WS-18 model 110, Nova Lynk, Auburn, CA, USA) placed near (~50 m) the pens with shade and without shade. Temperature sensors were also placed inside the pens and water troughs to better characterize the microclimate experienced by the bullocks in the shaded and unshaded pens. These measurements were recorded every 5 min.

A set of six black-globe devices were placed in two shaded pens (Figure 4), and three black globes were placed in three unshaded pens, positioned two meters above the ground surface. Miniature data loggers (i-bottom DS1925L, Maxim Integrated, Sao Jose, US; size = 0.60 × 1.70 cm, height × diameter; accuracy ± 0.5°C) were inserted inside globes for measuring black-globe temperature. The black-globe devices in pens with shade were placed underneath the roof (T_{Gshade1}, °C) and exposed to clear sky (T_{Gshade2}, T_{Gshade3}, °C). Three temperature sensors (i-buttom) were previously waxed (Sasol wax, GmbH D-20457) and placed inside the water troughs to obtain water temperature (°C). The ground surface temperature underneath the shade and in the full sun were periodically measured with an infrared thermal camera (FLIR SC660; Wilsonville, USA; temperature range = -40° C to 1500°C; spectral range = 7.5 to 13 µm; adjustable emissivity range = 0.1 to 1; resolution ± 0.04°C; accuracy ± 1°C).

2.2.3. Thermal stress indicators

Subcutaneous temperature (T_{SC},°C), respiratory rate (R_R, breaths min⁻¹), and body surface temperature (T_S,°C) were measured both in bulls housed in shaded and unshaded pens. Behavior of bulls in the shaded pens were also observed. Ten days before the experimental period, miniature implantable bio-loggers (i-buttom DS1922L, Maxim Integrated, Sao Jose, US; size = 0.60×1.70 cm, height × diameter; accuracy $\pm 0.06^{\circ}$ C) were surgically implanted in forty animals, twenty in the shaded pens, and the other twenty in the pens without shade. Before the implantation, all the loggers were calibrated at 2°C increments between 30 and 42°C in a thermally insulated box against a highly-accurate thermocouple (Type K; temperature range = -40 to 1300° C; accuracy $\pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C). Logging and storage of T_{SC} data was set to measure every 2 min during the experimental period.

The R_R and T_S were recorded every 30 min from 08:00 to 17:00 h, on 80 animals (40 in the shaded and another 40 in the unshaded



Principal components of the shade structure.

pens) during 20 days. Respiration rate was observed by five observers positioned outside the pens (~10 m apart from the animals) by visually counting the flank movements of the bulls. Body surface temperature was measured using an infrared thermal camera (FLIR SC660; emissivity = 0.98) scanning the dorsal right side of the animals at a distance of 3.0 m. For each bull, the T_S was considered as a mean of the scanned dorsal right side, from the scapular to rump region. Images were analyzed using FLIR Thermal Studio. Number of bulls using shade or at feed bunk was periodically monitored by using direct, focal and instantaneous samplings every 15 min, from 08:00 to 17:00 h. A total of 1500 observations from 250 animals were scanned along 20 days during adaptation, growing and finishing phase. Shade use was recorded whenever the head or one of the hooves of an animal was underneath the shade area. If not, it was considered as exposed to solar radiation. Feed bunk use was recorded whenever an animal was at standing position close (\sim 0.5 m) to the feed bunk.

2.3. Economic outcomes

To determine the economic outcomes and the payback time of the proposed shade design, we calculated the net present value (NPV) as

TABLE 1 Values used in the economic analyses of the shade structure.

Variables (Running costs)	Treatments (pens)			
	Shaded	Unshaded		
Carcass value, R\$ 15 kg ⁻¹	55.00	55.00		
Cost of shade implemented, R\$ animal ⁻¹	90.00	0		
Capital cost per feedlot cycle, %	5	5		
Funrural tax, %	2.1	2.1		
Earned income tax, %	10	10		
Animal transport guide fees, R $\$ animal ⁻¹	2.60	2.60		
Benefits				
Hot carcass weight, kg animal ⁻¹	326.51	317.97		
Carcass value at slaughter, R\$ animal $^{-1}$	55.00	55.00		
Lifespan of the shade structure, years	15	-		

All monetary values are in USD\$.

$$NPV = \left[\frac{CF_1}{(1+r)^1} + \frac{CF_2}{(1+r)^2} + \frac{CF_1}{(1+r)^3} + \frac{CF_n}{(1+r)^n}\right] - \Pi_0$$

TABLE 2 Ingredients and nutrients of feed diets used in the shaded and unshaded pens.

Feed ingredient (%, DM basis)		Diet	ts	
	Pre-exp	Adaptation	Growing	Finishing
High moisture corn	6.85	8.50	10.65	14.95
Citrus pulp	9.86	27.40	35.80	36.45
Cottonseed meal	-	8.90	8.70	10.30
Soybean meal	15.07	15.07	12.60	9.35
Sugar cane bagasse	20.55	5.50	5.80	3.75
Sugar cane silage	30.82	-	-	-
Corn silage	-	19.20	13.00	11.20
Protected fat ^b	-	-	2.30	3.10
Urea	0.91	0.90	0.95	1.00
Molasses	13.70	12.35	7.85	7.50
Tracemineral supplement ^a	3.15	2.30	2.40	2.45
Nutrients, %				
Dry matter	45.00	62.00	68.00	69.00
Crude protein	12.80	16.00	14.60	13.70
Degradable intake protein (% of crude protein)	79.00	80.00	77.00	79.00
Non-fibrous carbohydrates	42.00	47.00	48.00	49.00
Total digestible nutrients	75.00	86.00	85.00	88.00
peNDF ^d	21.00	19.00	17.00	16.00
Ca	0.93	1.25	1.45	1.47
Р	0.42	0.45	0.40	0.40
NEm, Mcal/kg ^c	1.49	1.85	1.85	1.90
NEg, Mcal/kg ^c	0.90	1.25	1.20	1.30

 a Calcium 165.0 g/kg, phosphorus 23.0 g/kg, cobalt 25.0 mg/kg, copper 420.0 mg/kg, sodium 40.0 g/kg, sulfur 14.0 g/kg, iodine 25.0 mg/kg, magnesium 15.0 g/kg, manganese 810.0 mg/kg, selenium 15.0 mg/kg, zinc 1,500.0 mg/kg, iron 0 mg/kg, vitamin A 72,000 IU/kg, vitamin D3 14,370 IU/kg, vitamin E 500 IU/kg, monensin 714.0 mg/kg, virginiamycin 714.0 mg/kg. b Calcium soap, approximately 86% of fatty acids and 14% of calcium.

^cEstimated by L.R.NS.

^dFraction of the fiber that stimulates chewing activity and maintains a healthy rumen environment by combining the chemical and physical properties of feeds (23).

Where, Π_0 is the initial investment of the shade structure (\$), $FC_{(n)}$ is net cash flow for a given period of days; *r* is the cost of the capital, and *n* is the number of days of each feedlot cycle (~110 days). We estimated the initial investment of the artificial shade structure

in USD\$ 90.00 animal $^{-1}$ (USD\$ 30.00 per m^2 of projected shade, assuming 3 m^2 animal $^{-1}$).

2.4. Statistical analyses

2.4.1. Heat load experienced by feedlot cattle

Principal component analyses (30–34) were used to observe dissimilarities of the days of feeding for the meteorological conditions (T_A, H_R, R_S, U, W_S and T_G) experienced by the animals. Principal components were obtained by computing eigenvalues (λ_i) and its respective eigenvectors $e_i^* = [e_{i1} e_{i2} e_{i3}]$ of the data correlation matrix. Bi-dimensional representation of the multidimensional set was created by using scores of the first (*PCA*_{1j} = $e_{11}T_A$ + $e_{12}H_R$ + $e_{13}R_S$ + $e_{14}U$ + $e_{15}W_S$ + $e_{16}T_G$), and second principal component (*PCA*_{2j} = $e_{21}T_A$ + $e_{22}H_R$ + $e_{23}R_S$ + $e_{24}U$ + $e_{25}W_S$ + $e_{26}T_G$). All principal components were used in order to develop an environmental index, the *InComfort Index* (InCI) based on the Membership Function Value Analysis:

$$InCI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[R\left(\lambda_{i}\right) W\left(e_{i}\right) \right]$$

Where, n is the number of principal components and InCI is the weighted membership value calculated with principal components for each day linked with its meteorological condition and level of heat stress experienced by the animals. The $R(\lambda_i)$ is given by

$$R\left(\lambda_{i}\right)=\frac{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{i(min)}}{\lambda_{i(max)}-\lambda_{i(min)}}$$

Where, λ_i is the value of i^{th} principal component, $\lambda_{i(min)}$ and $\lambda_{i(max)}$ are the maximum and minimum values of i^{th} principal component, respectively. The W(e_i) is given by

$$W\left(e_{i}\right)=e_{i}/\sum_{i=1}^{n}e_{i}$$

Where, $W(e_i)$ is the weight of the ith principal component among all the principal components selected for evaluating level of heat stress experienced by animals on ith day, and e_i is the contribution rate of the ith principal component. Based on daily water intake and respiratory rate, the InCI were grouped into four classes: rainy days, when the mean is $0 \le \text{InCI} \le 1$, and precipitation rate above 20 mm day⁻¹; cloudy days, when the mean is $0 \le \text{InCI} \le 0.4$; hot days, when $0.4 < \text{InCI} \le 0.6$; and very hot days, when the mean is $0.6 < \text{InCI} \le 1$.

2.4.2. Confirmatory models

In this study, we investigated the effects of the following independent variables on cattle performance and heat stress responses: shade vs. no shade, weight block, coat color (black vs. light-colored cattle), time of day, heat load experienced during the days of feeding and association between them. Confirmatory models were then fitted by applying conventional statistical techniques



Daily mean values of the InComfort Index (InCI) over the days on feeding. Rainy days ($0 \le InCI \ge 1$, and precipitation rate above 20 mm d⁻¹); cloudy days ($0 \le InCI \ge 0.4$); hot days ($0.4 \le InCI \ge 0.6$); very hot days ($0.6 \le InCI \ge 1$). There were 8 days classified as rainy, 24 as cloudy, 83 as hot, and 23 as very hot over the days on feeding. Refer to Table 3 and Figure 5 for details of meteorological conditions experience by feedlot cattle in each class of days.

TABLE 3 Meteorological variables (mean, min, and max) during the study period according to environmental index (InComfort, InCI).

Meteorological variables	Classes of InCl [†]						
	Rainy days ($n = 8$)	Cloudy days ($n = 24$)	Hot days (<i>n</i> = 83)	Very hot days ($n = 23$)			
Air temperature,°C	23.80 (18.0-37.5)	24.5 (14.0-37.7)	26.0 (15.7–38.5)	28.0 (18.0-41.0)			
∗Black globe temperature,°C	27.5 (16.8-48.2)	26.0 (12.3-48.3)	28.8 (14.5-53.5)	31.5 (16.8–55.0)			
Relative humidity, %	80.0 (35–100)	75.5 (23.0–97.0)	70.0 (21.0-98.0)	66.0 (25.0–98)			
Solar irradiance, W m ⁻²	265.75 (0-1100)	264.60 (0-1090)	488 (0-1199)	635 (0-1250)			
Daily precipitation, mm d ⁻¹	43 (21–106)	2.12 (0-14)	1.76 (0–18)	2.05 (0-4.5)			
Wind speed, m s ⁻¹	2.0 (0-15)	3.0 (0-14)	3.0 (0-15)	3.0 (0-10)			
Water temperature,°C	25 (23–30)	26 (22.8–28)	28 (23-30)	29 (22.9–31)			

*Black globe temperature taken in the shade; [†]Rainy days ($0 \le InCI \ge 1$, and precipitation rate above 20 mm d⁻¹); cloudy days ($0 \le InCI \ge 0.4$); hot days ($0.4 \le InCI \ge 0.6$); very hot days ($0.6 \le InCI \ge 1$).

through mixed model based on Generalized Least Squares (GLS) using the Statistical Analysis System [SAS Institute, Version 8; (35)]. Because of the repeated nature of the data (e.g., days on feeding and time of day), the covariance structure of the model must be chosen carefully (36). Different covariance structures were tested (compound symmetry, first-order auto regression, Toeplitz, first-order ante-dependence and others) and the best covariance structure was chosen based on the Akaike's information criterion (AIC), AIC corrected (AICC), and Bayesian information criterion (BIC). To choose the best fitted models that predict dry matter intake (a), daily water intake (b) average daily gain, and (c) hot carcass weight (d) the following independent variables were considered:

$$Y_{ijkl} = \mu + S_i + B_j + SB_{ij} + H_k + SH_{ik} + SBH_{ijk} + D_l(SBH)_{ijk} + \varepsilon_{ijklm} \qquad [a, b]$$

$$Y_{ijkl} = \mu + S_i + SP_{ij} + B_k + SB_{ik} + C_l(SB)_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijklm} \qquad [c, d]$$

Where, Y_{ijkl} is the *n*th measurement of the dependent variable; S is the fixed term of the *i*th shade treatment (S = shade and unshaded pens); B is the fixed effect of the *j*th class of initial fasted body weight [B = block 1 (305 kg), block 2 (337.80 kg), block 3 (375.20 kg), block 4 (413 kg)]; SB is the interaction between the *i*th shade treatment and jth class of body weight; H is the fixed effect of the kth class of the InComfort index (H = rainy, cloudy, hot and very hot days); SH is the interaction between the *j*th shade treatment and *k*th class of the InComfort index; SBH is the interaction between the *i*th shade treatment, *j*th class of body weight and *k*th class of the InComfort index; and D is the fixed effect of the *l*th days on feeding (D = 1,...,124 days) within the interaction between *i*th shade treatment, *j*th class of body weight and *k*th class of the InComfort index. Models c and d had SP as interaction between *i*th shade treatment and *j*th phenotypic trait of cattle, and C is the fixed effect of the *l*th corral pen within the interaction between *i*th shade treatment and *k*th class of body weight shade treatment. The μ is the parametric mean and



 ε_{ijklm} is the residual term. For subcutaneous temperature (e), body surface (f), and respiratory rate (g) the best fitted models were:

Procedure), by fitting air temperature, black-globe temperature, solar irradiance, and wind speed as independent variables.

Where, S is the fixed term of the *i*th shade treatment; C is the fixed effect of the *j*th coat color (C = Dark and light colored cattle); SC is the interaction between the *i*th shade treatment and *j*th coat color; H is the fixed effect of the *k*th class of the InComfort index; D is the fixed effect of the *l*th days on feeding within *k*th class of the thermal comfort; T is the fixed effect of the *m*th time of the day (T = 1,..., 24 h); and SCHT is the interaction between *i*th shade treatment, *j*th coat color, *k*th class of the InComfort index and *m*th time of the day. For models f, g, and h, SCT is the interaction between *i*th shade treatment, *j*th coat color and *k*th classes of solar irradiance. ε_{ijklm} and ε_{ijkl} are residual terms. Behavioral data were analyzed using nonparametric regression analyses through the Generalized Additive Models (GAM

3. Results and discussion

We confirmed the hypothesis that the proposed novel shade design not only benefits cattle comfort, but is also economically sustainable. Three main findings support this hypothesis: First, based on the radiant temperatures taken within the shade and full sun, the structure with shade efficiently reduced radiant heat load on the animals, especially on very hot days (Figure 7). During these days heat stress indicators were significantly reduced compared to bulls without access to shade. Overall, the values were 5°C lower in body-surface temperature, 1°C lower in subcutaneous temperature, 10 breaths min⁻¹ lower for respiration rate, and 3.4 L animal⁻¹ lower for water intake (Figures 6, 7, 9, 10; P = 0.0001). Even though dry matter intake was similar (P = 0.6805) for the bulls in shade and no shade (Table 4), those in pen with shade presented better feed conversion (P = 0.0004) and



Daily pattern of subcutaneous temperature in light (predominantly Nellore) and black colored (*Bos indicus* x *Bos taurus*), shaded and unshaded bulls in accordance to the classes of the InComfort Index (InCI). Classes of the InCI: Rainy days ($0 \le InCI \ge 1$, and precipitation rate above 20 mm d⁻¹); cloudy days ($0 \le InCI \ge 0.4$); hot days ($0.4 \le InCI \ge 0.6$); very hot days ($0.6 \le InCI \ge 1$).



FIGURE 7

Radiant heat load experienced by feedlot cattle; (A) thermogram of a shaded and unshaded ground surface. Meteorological conditions that this thermal image was captured were: Air temperature = 35° C; solar irradiance = 850 W m^{-2} ; (B) Least square means (\pm SEM) of the black globe temperature taken in full sun and shade in days classified as very hot ($0.6 \le \text{InCl} \ge 1$).

Maia et al.



heavier hot carcass weight (P = 0.0002; Figure 11). The increment on hot carcass weight of the bulls in pens with shade was sufficient reason to make the proposed shade design economically viable. The payback time is expected to be within four feeding cycles (Figure 12).

The meteorological conditions experienced by the feedlot cattle were characterized by a single variable, an environmental index for beef cattle (InComfort Index, InCI). The variable accounted for the combined effects of solar irradiance, black-globe and air temperature, humidity, wind speed, and precipitation rate. Feeding days were grouped into four classes (Table 3; Figures 4, 5). During the experimental period, the bullocks were exposed for 100 days to hot and very hot conditions (e.g., 23 very hot days and 83 hot days). During these days, from 10:00 to 15:00h, mean solar radiation exceeded 600 W m⁻², black-globe temperature was above 40°C, and air temperature was above $30^\circ \text{C}.$ In addition to hot conditions, bulls were exposed to 23 cloudy days, during which the mean solar irradiance remained below $600 \text{ W} \text{ m}^{-2}$, and mean air temperature was below 30°C. Bulls were also exposed to eight rainy days, during which the mean precipitation rate ranged from 0 to 0.25 mm h^{-1} . Based on our previous study with similar animals, feedlot cattle were outside their zone of least thermoregulation during the days classified as hot and very hot (8, 37-40). Indeed, bulls stored more heat during hot and very hot days compared to the cooler days (i.e., rainy and cloudy days), especially the animals with dark hair coat and with no access to shade (Figure 6).

Our study well attested that shade alleviated heat stress responses of cattle, mostly due to the abatement of radiant heat gain through two main sources: From direct and diffuse short-wave solar radiation, where on hottest times of hot and very hot days, by seeking shade, cattle could avoid levels of solar irradiance as much as 1200 W m⁻² (Table 3). Animals with dark hair coat absorb almost three times more solar radiation than those with light hair (4, 5, 41). This difference in solar load explains why the body surface temperature of dark bulls is higher compared to light-haired cattle (Figure 9). Animals in shade also received less long-wave radiation emitted from the shaded surface. During the hottest time of the very hot days, the radiant temperature of the shaded ground surface was 15°C lower than the unshaded areas, a difference that represents 100 W m⁻² less long-wave radiation being emitted from the ground surface (Figure 7). Bulls in pens with shade also experience less heat gain by conduction when lying down on shaded surfaces.

Maximum shade utilization of cattle occurred when levels of solar irradiance exceeded 800 W m⁻², either in the morning or afternoon (Figure 8; probability higher than 80%), a level of thermal radiation that also coincided with the fewer probabilities for bulls to be at feed bunk. Bulls in shade had their respiratory rate reduced and overall were less peripherally vasodilated than bulls in pens without shade as heat load increased (Figures 6, 9). The reduction was higher for cattle with dark hair coat. Similarly, Lees et al. (42) attested that both B. taurus dark hair coat (Black Angus) and B. indicus light hair coat cattle (Brahman) sought shade as the solar load increased, and panted less when they were in the shade. Considering that increments on respiratory rate and peripheral vasodilatation are positively correlated with mass and heat transfer through respiratory and cutaneous surface (8, 43), bulls in shade trigger less heat dissipation to maintain thermal equilibrium compared to bullocks with no access to shade.

When cattle are exposed to hot conditions and are unable to access shade, they can sustain high rates of evaporative water loss to maintain their thermal equilibrium, provided that body fluids can be replaced timeously (44), a physiological adjustment that increases requirements for water turnover. In this study, it was observed that bulls in pens with and without shade increased water intake during hotter days (Figure 10). However, bulls in pens without shade presented greater water intake than bullocks in shade (36.1 vs. 34.9 \pm 0.19 L animal d^{-1}). The increase was greater during the very hot days (40.73 vs. 37.30 \pm 0.47; Figure 10). (45) also reported greater water intake for B. taurus cattle housed in pens without shade compared to cattle in shade (53 vs. 49 L animal⁻¹ d⁻¹), particularly when exposed to hot days. In this study, using mean difference of $3.43 \,\mathrm{L}$ animal⁻¹ d⁻¹ for cattle in pens without shade vs. cattle in pens with shade during 23 very hot days, and extrapolating to 100 days in a year with similar meteorological conditions and for 20 000 animals, the use of shade would potentially save 6860 m³ of clean water. The saving emphasizes the effectiveness of using shade to alleviate heat stress of cattle and reduce water consumption.

Use of the proposed novel shade design increased efficiency in dry matter intake. Both groups of cattle in shade and no shade ate less during hotter and rainy days. Bulls may decrease intake during



FIGURE 9

Least square means (±SEM) of hair coat surface temperature and respiratory rate of shaded and unshaded light- and dark-haired cattle according to the classes of solar irradiance.



Least square means (\pm SEM) of daily water intake of feedlot cattle according to the classes of the InComfort Index (InCI). Classes of the InCI: Rainy days (0 \leq InCI \geq 1, and precipitation rate above 20 mm d⁻¹); cloudy days (0 \leq InCI \geq 0.4); hot days (0.4 \leq InCI \geq 0.6); very hot days (0.6 \leq InCI \geq 1). (A) Fixed effect of the InCI. (B) Effects of shade treatments within the InCI.

hotter days as a tentative mechanism to reduce heat generation by metabolism (2). During rainy days, we speculate that cattle consume less due to an overall reduction in activity and due to soaked feed in the bunks. The dry matter intake was not statistically different between cattle with or without shade availability (Table 4), an average of 11.45 and 11.51 ± 0.17 kg animal⁻¹ d⁻¹, for shaded and unshaded cattle, respectively. However, cattle in pens with shade presented better feed conversion (P = 0.0389), which was nearly improved by 4.5 % (6.83 vs. 7.15 ± 0.10) as well as increased average daily gain (P = 0.0004) by 5% (1.657 vs. 1565 ± 0.01 kg animal⁻¹ d⁻¹) compared to cattle housed in pens without shade (Table 4). This result shows that use of shade may reduce energy requirements for maintenance of feedlot cattle in tropical conditions.

The higher average daily gain of bulls in pens with shade reflected in heavier (P = 0.0002) hot carcass weight than those kept in pens without shade (327.02 ± 1.32 vs. 319.12 ± 1.27 kg; Figure 11). Phenotypes of cattle characterized as *B. indicus* Nellore, mean difference for hot carcass weight between cattle in shade and no shade pens was close to 5 kg, while those grouped as crossbred Angus x Nellore, the difference was nearly 15 kg, which suggests that less heat tolerant breeds of cattle can benefit more with heat alleviating strategies. Physiological, metabolic, and behavioral

mechanisms of combating heat stress may affect gain efficiency of growing cattle (46). For example, when exposed to high heat load, more blood flows toward the skin to increase heat loss (47), a

TABLE 4 Performance data (least square means $\pm \text{SEM}$) of shaded and unshaded cattle.

ltem	Treatment	s (Pens)	SEM	<i>P</i> -value	
	Unshaded	Shaded			
Initial body weight, kg	358.78	358.88	0.6895	0.9146	
Final body weight, kg	562.96	574.55	2.1034	0.0001	
Average daily gain, kg d ⁻¹	1.565	1.657	0.0182	0.0004	
Dry matter intake, kg d ⁻¹	11.43	11.51	0.1730	0.6805	
Dry matter intake, %	2.36	2.33	0.0383	0.6204	
Feed conversion	7.15	6.83	0.1036	0.0389	
Hot carcass weight, kg	317.97	326.51	1.5917	0.0002	
Dressing percentage	56.62	56.87	0.1091	0.1110	



Least square means (±SEM) of hot carcass weight (HCW, kg) of cattle housed in pens with shade and without shade. Dotted line is the least square mean of HCW for the shaded pens; dashed line is the least square mean of HCW for the unshaded pens.



physiological mechanism that can compromise nutrient absorption and post-absorptive metabolism (48). In this study, a higher level of peripheral vasodilatation may have contributed for the lower growth performance for bullocks in the pens without shade compared to those in pens with shade. In a recent meta-analytical study, Edwards-Callaway et al. (16) also reported that gain efficiency of cattle housed in pens with shade improved by 3.4%, by reflecting mean increments of hot carcass weight of 6 kg. Our study is the first to confirm that use of shade improves gain efficiency even for more heat tolerant breeds of cattle such as *B. indicus* Nellore.

The economic feasibility of this study was done on the basis of net present value. The increment in hot carcass weight resulted in a payback time within the first four feedlot cycles (Figure 12). Considering that feedlots may run three feeding cycles per year (or at least two), the payback time for this shade structure, which has an expected lifespan of 15 years, is <2 years. Also, the economic analysis shows that the break-even point is not reached if increments on hot carcass weight of finished cattle are lower than 2.5 kg animal⁻¹. Similarly, during the summer months in Australia, Sullivan et al. (13) reported gain efficiency of Black Angus heifers in pens with shade (using 80%-blockage shade-cloth), increments of AU\$ 60 animal⁻¹ on carcass value. It is important to note, however, that use of shade cloth will not fully protect animals from direct and diffuse short-wave solar radiation, and have poor durability and life-span (18), especially if installed at locations where heavy wind and rainy conditions exist (19). The shade structure design which was installed in 2019 have been highly resilient to heavy rain ($>50 \text{ mm hr}^{-1}$) and wind (80 km hr⁻¹).

The concept of this novel shade design proposed herein challenges the conventional east-west orientation design normally used for shade structures in tropical environments. The later design projects a "static" shade under the roof structure, and consequently becomes causes for cattle congregation, soil compression and mud formation. To alleviate these problems, we propose a combination of rectangular pens with a roof structure-oriented north-south that makes the shade to displace along the east-west direction along the pen (Figure 13). The outcome of using this design motivated cattle to seek shade, resulted in reduced heat stress indicators, decreased water intake and improved feed efficiency. We believe that the economic gains demonstrated from using this novel shade design will promote its use in feedlot operations in tropical climates. More robust economic outcomes however can be obtained through analyses of at least two feedlot cycles in a year, e.g., by taking into account period of the year with more days of moderate cold. At the latitude of the present study (20°S), cold days are likely to occur between May and July. Furthermore, further investigations are also needed



FIGURE 13

Displacement of shade projection from east to west (20° 31' 25" S; 49° 03' 32" W) at different hours of the day. (March, 20, 2020). Bulls seem to move in the pen following the displacement of the shade. Image source: Courtesy of Agro-Pastoril Paschoal-Campanelli.

to attest if benefits observed in this study can be replicated in other latitudes.

4. Conclusions

The following conclusions can be drawn from this study which involved 800 feedlot cattle randomly assigned in pens with and without shade access to determine the effectiveness and economic viability of shade use:

- (1) The proposed novel shade design combines a roof structure with a north-south orientation, rectangular instead of square pens (length at least three times higher than width), and roof height of at least five meters. This design allows almost 100% of the pen area to be in shade throughout the day.
- (2) Cattle in pens with shade presented higher average daily gain, reflecting in heavier hot carcass weight (8 kg per animal) compared to cattle with no access to shade.
- (3) The novel shade design effectively buffers the negative impacts of high radiant heat load on cattle and resists adverse weather impacts as high as 50 mm hr^{-1} precipitation combined with $> 80 \text{ km hr}^{-1}$ wind speed.
- (4) The expected payback period for the novel shade design was within four finishing cycles (~110 days per cycle), assuming an initial investment of USD\$90 per animal to build the structure that lasts 15 years.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

All protocols performed in the study were approved by the IACUC of the São Paulo State University, Brazil.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: AM, RP, GM, and VC. Methodology, validation, and data collection: AM, RP, and GM. Formal analysis: AM and GM. Writing original draft-manuscript: VF. Original draft-figures: AM, GM, and VF. Writing-review and editing: AM, HM, KG, and RP. Visualization: AM, KG, RP, GM, HM, MC, and VF. Supervision: AM and RP. Funding acquisition: AM, VC, and RP. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by the Research Center of the Agro-Pastoril Paschoal Campnelli, São Paulo Research (FAPESP Foundation awarded to AM grant number: 2018/19148-1), Coordination of Superior Level Staff Improvement (CAPES, Brazil), and National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq, Brazil), awarded to GM.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Caio Carmo, Valéria Araújo, Patric Castro, Caique Augusto Maia de Aguiar with data collection, and the assistance of Alan Maia with Figures 2, 3.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. DaSilva RG, Guilhermino MM, Morais DAEF. Thermal radiation absorbed by dairy cows in pasture. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2010) 54:5–11. doi: 10.1007/s00484-009-0244-1

2. Brown-Brandl T. Understanding heat stress in beef cattle. *Braz J Anim Sci.* (2018) 29:1–9. doi: 10.1590/rbz4720160414

3. Da Silva RG, Maia ASC, de Macedo Costa LL. Index of thermal stress for cows (ITSC) under high solar radiation in tropical environments. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2015) 59:551–9. doi: 10.1007/s00484-014-0868-7

4. Maia ASC, da Silva RG, Nascimento ST, Nascimento CCN, Pedroza HP, Domingos HGT. Thermoregulatory responses of goats in hot environments. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2015) 59:1025–33. doi: 10.1007/s00484-014-0916-3

5. Gebremedhin KG, Lee CN, Hillman PE, Brown-Brandl TM. Body temperature and behavioral activities of four breeds of heifers in shade and full sun. *Appl Eng Agric.* (2011) 27:999–1006. doi: 10.13031/2013.40620

6. Maia ASC, Da Silva RG, Battiston Loureiro CM. Sensible and latent heat loss from the body surface of Holstein cows in a tropical environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2005), 50:17–22. doi: 10.1007/s00484-005-0267-1

7. Milan HFM, Maia ASC, Gebremedhin KG. Technical note: device for measuring respiration rate of cattle under field conditions1. *J Anim Sci.* (2016) 94:5434-8. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016-0904

8. Moura GAB, de Melo Costa CC, Fonsêca VFC, Wijffels G, Castro PA, Neto MC, et al. Are crossbred cattle (F1, Bos indicus x Bos taurus) thermally different to the purebred Bos indicus cattle under moderate conditions? *Livest Sci.* (2021) 246:104457. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104457

9. Fonsèca VFC, da Silva RG, Moura GAB, Snelling EP, Fuller A, Mitchell D, et al. Reliability of methods to determine cutaneous evaporative water loss rate in furred and fleeced mammals. *J Exp Zool.* (2022) 337:356–65. doi: 10.1002/jez.2572

10. Mitlöhner FM, Morrow JL, Dailey JW, Wilson SC, Galyean ML, Miller MF, et al. Shade and water misting effects on behavior, physiology, performance, and carcass traits of heat-stressed feedlot cattle. *J Anim Sci.* (2001) 79:2327. doi: 10.2527/2001. 7992327x

11. Mitlöhner FM, Galyean ML, McGlone JJ. Shade effects on performance, carcass traits, physiology, and behavior of heat-stressed feedlot heifers1. *J Anim Sci.* (2002) 80:2043–50. doi: 10.1093/ansci/80.8.2043

12. Chiquitelli Neto M, Titto CG, Titto EA, Costa e Silva TS, Puoli Filho JN, Leme TM. Effect of artificial shading on performance and reproductive parameters of semi-confined young Brangus bulls. *Braz J Vet Res Anim Sci.* (2015) 52:68. doi: 10.11606/issn.1678-4456.v52i1p68-77

13. Sullivan ML, Cawdell-Smith AJ, Mader TL, Gaughan JB. Effect of shade area on performance and welfare of short-fed feedlot cattle1. *J Anim Sci.* (2011) 89:2911–25. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-3152

14. Blaine KL, Nsahlai IV. The effects of shade on performance, carcass classes and behaviour of heat-stressed feedlot cattle at the finisher phase. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2011) 43:609–15. doi: 10.1007/s11250-010-9740-x

15. Hayes MD, Brown-Brandl TM, Eigenberg RA, Kuehn LA, Thallman RM. Evaluating a new shade for feedlot cattle performance and heat stress. *Trans ASABE*. (2017) 60:1301–11. doi: 10.13031/trans.12104

16. Edwards-Callaway LN, Cramer MC, Cadaret CN, Bigler EJ, Engle TE, Wagner JJ. Impacts of shade on cattle well-being in the beef supply chain. J Anim Sci. (2021) 99:skaa375. doi: 10.1093/jas/skaa375

17. Rovira P. The effect of type of shade on physiology, behaviour and performance of grazing steers. *Animal.* (2014) 8:470–6. doi: 10.1017/S1751731113002413

18. Eigenberg RA, Brown-Brandl TM, Nienaber JA. Shade material evaluation using a cattle response model and meteorological instrumentation. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2010) 54:601–7. doi: 10.1007/s00484-010-0381-6

19. Cancer Council Western Australia. *The Shade Handbook: A Practical Guide for Shade Development in Western Australia.* West Perth, WA: Cancer Council Western Australia (2007).

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

20. Vale P, Gibbs H, Vale R, Christie M, Florence E, Munger J, et al. The expansion of intensive beef farming to the Brazilian amazon. *Global Environ Change*. (2019) 57:101922. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.05.006

21. Samuelson KL, Hubbert ME, Galyean ML, Löest CA. Nutritional recommendations of feedlot consulting nutritionists: the 2015 new Mexico state and Texas tech university survey. *J Anim Sci.* (2016) 94:2648–63. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016-0282

22. Simroth JC, Thomson DU, Schwandt EF, Bartle SJ, Larson CK, Reinhardt CD, et al. survey to describe current cattle feedlot facilities in the high plains region of the United States. *Prof Anim Sci.* (2017) 33:37–53. doi: 10.15232/pas.2016-01542

23. Mertens DR. Creating a system for meeting the fiber requirements of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (1997) 80:1463–81.

24. Tedeschi LO, Fox DG. The Ruminant Nutrition System: An Applied Model for Predicting Nutrient Requirements and Feed Utilization in Ruminants. Acton, MA: XanEdu (2018).

25. Pritchard RH, Bruns KW. Controlling variation in feed intake through bunk management. J Anim Sci. (2003) 81:133–8. doi: 10.2527/2003.8114_suppl_2E133x

26. AOAC. Official Methods of Analysis. 16th Edn. Arlington, VA: AOAC (1995).

27. Van Soest PJ, Robertson JB, Lewis AB. Symposium: carbohydrate methodology, metabolism, and nutritional implications in dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (1991) 74:3583–97. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78551-2

28. AOAC. Official Method of Analysis: Association of Analytical Chemists. 19th Edn. Washington DC: AOAC, p. 121–30 (2012).

29. AOAC. Official Methods of Analysis. 14th Edn. Washington, DC: AOAC (1986).

30. Manly BFJ. Multivariate Statistical Methods: A Primer. New York, NY: Chapman and Hall (1986).

31. Rencher AC. Methods of Multivariate Analysis. New York, NY: Wiley, New York (1995).

32. Liu S, Ye T, Li Z, Li J, Jamil AM, Zhou Y. Identifying hub genes for heat tolerance in water buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) using transcriptome data. *Front Genet.* (2019) 10:209. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2019.00209

33. Liu S, Yue T, Ahmad MJ, Hu X, Zhang X, Deng T. Transcriptome analysis reveals potential regulatory genes related to heat tolerance in holstein dairy cattle. *Genes.* (2020) 11:68. doi: 10.3390/genes11010068

34. Oliveira SEO, de Melo Costa CC, Chiquitelli Neto M, Dalla Costa FA, Maia ASC. Effects of shade location and protection from direct solar radiation on the behavior of Holstein cows. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2019) 63:1465–74. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01747-5

35. Statistical Analysis System (SAS) Institute. (2002). SAS/STAT User's Guide. Version 8. 6th ed. Cary: SAS Institute.

36. Littell RC. SAS for Mixed Models. Cary, NC: SAS Institute, Inc (2006).

37. Camerro LZ, Maia ASC, Chiquitelli-Neto M, Costa CCM, Castro PA. Thermal equilibrium responses in Guzerat cattle raised under tropical conditions. *J Therm Biol.* (2016) 60:213–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.07.007

38. DeMelo Costa CC, Maia ASC, Nascimento ST, Nascimento CCN, Chiquitelli-Neto M, Fonsêca VFC. Thermal balance of nellore cattle. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2018) 62:723–31. doi: 10.1007/s00484-017-1349-6

39. DeMelo Costa CC, Maia ASC, Brown-Brandlt TM, Chiquitelli-Neto M, Fonsêca VFC. Thermal equilibrium of Nellore cattle in tropical conditions: an investigation of circadian pattern. *J Therm Biol.* (2018) 74:317–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.04.014

40. Nascimento ST, Maia ASC, Fonsèca VFC, Nascimento CCN, Carvalho MD, Pinheiro MG. Physiological responses and thermal equilibrium of Jersey dairy cows in tropical environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2019) 63:1487–96. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01734-w

41. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Bertipaglia ECA. Environmental and genetic variation of the effective radiative properties of the coat of Holstein cows under tropical conditions. *Livestock Prod Sci.* (2005) 92:307–15. doi: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2004.09.004

42. Lees AM, Lees JC, Sejian V, Sullivan ML, Gaughan JB. Influence of shade on panting score and behavioural responses of *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* feedlot cattle to heat load. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2020) 60:305–15. doi: 10.1071/AN19013

43. Maia ASC, DaSilva RG, Loureiro CMB. Respiratory heat loss of Holstein cows in a tropical environment. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2005) 49:332–6. doi: 10.1007/s00484-004-0244-0

44. Mitchell D, Snelling EP, Hetem RS, Maloney SK, Strauss WM, Fuller A. Revisiting concepts of thermal physiology: predicting responses of mammals to climate change. *J Anim Ecol.* (2018) 87:956–73. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656. 12818

45. Gaughan JB, Bonner S, Loxton I, Mader TL, Lisle A, Lawrence R. Effect of shade on body temperature and performance of feedlot steers. *J Anim Sci.* (2010) 88:4056–67. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-2987

46. O'brien MD, Rhoads RP, Sanders SR, Duff GC, Baumgard LH. Metabolic adaptations to heat stress in growing cattle. *Domestic Anim Endocrinol.* (2010) 38:86–94. doi: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2009.08.005

47. Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, Orihuela A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gomez-Prado J, Torres-Bernal F, et al. (2021). Physiological and behavioral mechanisms of thermoregulation in mammals. *Animals*. 11:1733. doi: 10.3390/ani11061733

48. Beed DK, Collier RJ. Potential nutritional strategies for intensively managed cattle during thermal stress. J Anim Sci. (1986) 62:543–54. doi: 10.2527/jas1986.622543x

(Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Claudia Giannetto, University of Messina, Italy

REVIEWED BY Marcelo Ghezzi, Universidad Nacional del Centro de Buenos Aires, Argentina Alexandre Rossetto Garcia, Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation (EMBRAPA), Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Daniel Mota-Rojas 🖾 dmota100@yahoo.com.mx

[†]In honor of his memory

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 30 October 2022 ACCEPTED 09 February 2023 PUBLISHED 28 February 2023

CITATION

Napolitano F, Bragaglio A, Braghieri A, El-Aziz AHA, Titto CG, Villanueva-García D, Mora-Medina P, Pereira AMF, Hernández-Avalos I, José-Pérez N, Casas-Alvarado A, Lezama-García K, Domínguez-Oliva A, Rodríguez-González D, Bertoni A and Mota-Rojas D (2023) The effect of birth weight and time of day on the thermal response of newborn water buffalo calves. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1084092. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1084092

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Napolitano, Bragaglio, Braghieri, El-Aziz, Titto, Villanueva-García, Mora-Medina, Pereira, Hernández-Avalos, José-Pérez, Casas-Alvarado, Lezama-García, Domínguez-Oliva, Rodríguez-González, Bertoni and Mota-Rojas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The effect of birth weight and time of day on the thermal response of newborn water buffalo calves

Fabio Napolitano^{1†}, Andrea Bragaglio², Ada Braghieri¹, Ayman H. Abd El-Aziz³, Cristiane Gonçalves Titto⁴, Dina Villanueva-García⁵, Patricia Mora-Medina⁶, Alfredo M. F. Pereira⁷, Ismael Hernández-Avalos⁶, Nancy José-Pérez⁸, Alejandro Casas-Alvarado⁸, Karina Lezama-García⁸, Adriana Domínguez-Oliva⁸, Daniela Rodríguez-González⁸, Aldo Bertoni⁸ and Daniel Mota-Rojas⁸*

¹Scuola di Scienze Agrarie, Forestali, Alimentari ed Ambientali, Università degli Studi della Basilicata, Potenza, Italy, ²Consiglio per la Ricerca in Agricoltura e l'Analisi Dell'Economia Agraria (CREA), Research Centre for Engineering and Food Processing, Treviglio, Italy, ³Animal Husbandry and Animal Wealth Development Department, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Damanhour University, Damanhour, Egypt, ⁴Laboratório de Biometeorologia e Etologia, FZEA-USP, Faculdade de Zootecnia e Engenharia de Alimentos, Universidade de São Paulo, Pirassununga, Brazil, ⁵Division of Neonatology, Hospital Infantil de México Federico Gómez, Mexico City, Mexico, ⁶Facultad de Estudios Superiores Cuautitán, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM), Cuautitlán, Mexico, ⁷Mediterranean Institute for Agriculture, Environment and Development (MED), Institute for Advanced Studies and Research, Universidade de Évora, Évora, Portugal, ⁸Neurophysiology, Behavior and Animal Welfare Assessment, DPAA, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana (UAM), Mexico City, Mexico

During the 1st days of life, water buffalo calves, especially those with low birth weight, are susceptible to hypothermic mortality due to scarce energy reserves provided by fats. This means that monitoring the thermal state of newborns is essential. The objectives of the present study were to apply infrared thermography (IRT) in 109 buffalo calves to detect differences in the surface temperatures of six thermal windows -lacrimal gland, lacrimal caruncle, periocular region, nostrils, ear canal, pelvic limbs-, and determine their association to birth weight during the first 6 days of life. The calves were divided into four categories according to their weight (Q1, 37.8-41.25 kg; Q2, 41.3-46.3 kg; Q3, 46.4-56.3 kg; Q4, 56.4-60.3 kg). The thermographic images were recorded in the morning and afternoon. Results showed that the animals in Q_4 registered the highest temperatures in all the thermal windows, and that these were higher in the afternoon (p < 0.0001). When considering the thermal windows, those located in the facial region recorded the highest temperatures; in contrast, the temperatures at the pelvic limbs remained below the average values of the other windows $(33.41 \text{ and } 33.76^{\circ}\text{C})$ in the morning and afternoon, respectively). According to these results, the birth weight of water buffaloes is a factor that alters their thermoregulation during the 1st days of life, a condition that can be partially compensated by colostrum intake to promote development of an efficient thermoregulatory mechanism in water buffalo calves.

KEYWORDS

body temperature, infrared thermography, newborns, thermoregulation, hypothermia

1. Introduction

At birth, water buffalo calves face extrauterine temperatures that can be 10–15°C below their core temperature (1). During this critical period, maintaining body temperature is essential for survival (2). However, to achieve efficient thermoregulation, animals require energy reserves or energy production that depend on the characteristics of individuals at birth (3) and the modulations of this parameter are closely related to stability of cellular, muscular, nervous endocrine, renal, cardiovascular and respiratory functions (4), and ensured by mechanisms of thermolysis and thermogenesis (5). Not only dams' weight at parturition (6), but also birthweight is a risk factor related to neonatal mortality, especially in neonates (7) born with weights below the average range $(38.2 \pm 0.2 \text{ kg in buffalo calves})$ (8), as this exposes them to hypothermia due to a high specific surface area and reduced thermogenic capacity (9, 10). In addition, birth weight is associated with the capacity for adequate growth and development of buffaloes throughout their productive life (11). Calves with lower weight may also show a decrease in colostrum consumption compared to animals with medium to high weight. The colostrum is the main source of energy for newborn ruminants (12), and reduced energy resources affect non-shivering thermogenesis, which is the main mechanism for heat production in these neonates (3, 13). Certain morphological characteristics of the water buffalo, i.e., scarce hair, thick epidermis, high melanin concentration, and the small number and large size of sweat glands, all favor the development of thermoregulatory mechanisms that differ from those commonly observed in conventional cattle (Bos taurus and Bos indicus) (14). Other elements that influence this response are environmental temperatures and the weather, as windy and rainy conditions at the beginning of spring or winter impact the thermoregulation process (15, 16).

Given these effects, evaluating the temperature of newborns offers a way to identify state of hypothermia and prevent the consequences of hypothermia (3). Assessing the surface temperature of animals by means of infrared thermography (IRT) has been shown to be an effective tool to non-invasively determine the peripheral thermoregulatory response of species such as puppies (6), Holstein Friesian calves (17), and piglets (5, 18). However, applications of this technique in water buffaloes are limited, and existing studies have not established the relationship between time of the day, and weight on the thermoregulatory mechanisms of this species. Therefore, the objectives of the present study were: (i) to evaluate, by means of IRT, surface temperatures in six thermal windows of calves from birth to 6 days of life; (ii) to establish the relationship between the birth weight of water buffaloes and their thermoregulatory capacity during the 1st days of life; and (iii) to evaluate the effect of the time of day on changes in the microcirculation of calves.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Location

This study was conducted in a buffalo production unit in southeastern Mexico, at an elevation of 10 m above sea level. The zone is characterized by a subtropical wet climate or Cfa, according to the Koppen-Geiger classification, with an average temperature of 27°C and annual rainfall of 2,900 mm. The experimental periods were September to November 2020 and September to November 2021. The ambient temperature during the evaluation period had average maximum and minimum values of 36°C and 23°C. Maximum and minimum percentages of relative humidity fluctuated from 81 to 94%, respectively.

2.2. Study population

To evaluate calves from birth (day 0), 123 dam water buffaloes (*Bubalus bubalis*) of the Buffalypso breed, close to calving, were monitored. One week before calving, the animals were moved to a 5,000 m^2 maternity paddock (pasture) with a capacity of 20 buffaloes per group. The females were fed forage native to the region (*Paspalum fasciculatum* and *Hymenachne amplexicaulis*) with 50 g of mineral supplement. At birth, the calves were distributed into four groups according to quartiles (18–21). In total, 109 calves were included in this study. Fourteen female buffaloes and their calves were excluded because their agonistic temperament made it impossible to approach the calves to obtain the required measurements.

Immediately after the first intake of colostrum and formation of the mother-calf bond (observed as licking and ingestion of amniotic fluids and placental membranes by the dams) (7), the calves were weighed using a 100-kg Outmate Digital Crane Scale[®] (Data Weighing Systems, USA) with a readout accuracy of 0.1 lb/0.05 kg-grams. Newborns were then divided into four experimental groups according to birth weight in each quartile. The first group (Q₁) included 25% of the calves with the lowest values recorded; quartile two (Q₂) included the lowest 25% of the mean; quartile three (Q₃) included 25% of values above the mean; and quartile four (Q₄) included 25% of the highest values. In this way, the distribution in quartiles was: Q₁ (37.8–41.2 kg, *n* = 25 calves); Q₂ (41.3–46.3 kg, *n* = 29 calves); Q₃ (46.4–56.3 kg, *n* = 29 calves); and Q₄ (56.4–60.3 kg, *n* = 26 calves).

2.3. Infrared thermography

Radiometric images were taken with a thermal camera model FLIR[®] Thermal TM E80 (FLIR Systems, USA), with a resolution of 320 × 240 pixels, thermal sensitivity of <0.045°C, precision \pm 2°C or 2% and an emissivity of 0.95. Each radiometric capture was performed at 1–2 m from the calf, focusing on three regions: lateral facial, frontal facial, and left or right latero- lateral. Six thermal windows were assessed: lacrimal gland, lacrimal caruncle, periocular region, nostrils, ear canal, and pelvic limbs (Figure 1). The measurement of surface temperatures in these windows was carried out for a period of 6 days, from the day of birth (day 0) to the 5th day postpartum (day 5).

Thermographic monitoring was performed twice: from 8:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m. and from 4:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. in the central zone of Mexico. The ambient temperature during the September-November period ranged from 23 to 27° C in the morning



(8:00--9:00 a.m.) to $32-36^{\circ}C$ (4:00 to 5:00 p.m.) in the afternoon. Relative humidity fluctuated from 81 to 93% in the morning to 82-94% in the afternoon. During the thermographic monitoring, neonates and their dams remained in the maternity paddocks all the time. The thermal imaging sequence was performed in the paddock. Buffalo calves were not moved or handled from their birthplace, so the thermal evaluation was carried out directly on the grass. Thermal images were taken in the following sequence: the camera placed in front of the animal to take the frontal facial region, then to the side to obtain the lateral facial view. Subsequently, the left latero-lateral and the right latero-lateral regions were captured on each side of the animal.

All radiometric images were stored in JPG format for later analysis using FLIR Tools Systems, USA[®] software to set points in the proposed thermal windows to obtain maximum, minimum, and average temperatures from each calf on each sampling day during the mornings and afternoons.

2.4. Statistical analysis

The GraphPad Prism statistical package (ver. 9.4.0) was used to obtain descriptive statistics for the weight of the animals (Q_1 , Q_2 , Q_3 , Q_4), time of day (morning, afternoon), thermal window, and age of the animals (days 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5). The Shapiro-Wilk test was performed to analyze the normality of the data. The weight and age of the calves and the time of day were considered as independent variables, whereas the temperature of the thermal windows was considered a dependent variable. To evaluate the effects of these variables, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used in a mixed linear model:

$$Y_{iikl} = \mu + W_i + T_i + A_k + W.T.Aijk + \beta l + e_{iik}$$

where:

- Y = response variable (temperature of the thermal windows).
- $W_i = effect of the weight of the animals (Q_1, Q_2, Q_3, Q_4).$
- $T_{j} = \text{effect of time of day (morning, afternoon)}.$
- $\mathbf{A_k} = \text{effect of the animals' age (days 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5)}.$
- β = random effect (per animal).
- $\mu = population$ mean.
- e = residue.

Correlations between the time of day and thermal window temperatures on day 0 were obtained using Spearman correlation. Tukey's *post-hoc* test was adopted to evaluate the differences between means. In all significance level of p < 0.05 was set.

2.5. Ethics statement

The animals monitored in this study were not touched or stressed, as infrared thermography is a non-invasive technique; therefore, the protocol did not require approval from an Ethics Committee. During the study, handling of the animals was carried out under the guidelines of the Official Mexican Standard, NOM-062-ZOO-1999, which stipulates the technical specifications for the production, care, and ethical use of animals.

3. Results

A total of 23,544 recordings of maximum, minimum, and average surface temperatures were obtained from newborn water buffaloes during the first 6 days of life. In general, significant differences were observed among the six thermal windows due to the weight and time of day. These differences are described as follows.

3.1. Effect of weight on dermic microcirculation changes in newborn buffaloes during the 1st days of life

Table 1 lists the thermal responses of the pelvic limb region. On the morning of day 0, the surface temperature was 1.49° C higher in Q₃ and Q₄ than in Q₁ and Q₂ (p < 0.05). A similar pattern was observed on the following days, were the lowest temperatures occurred on day 0 but increased by 4.53° C in Q₁ and 6.43° C in Q₄ on day 1. On the afternoon of day 0, the lowest temperatures were observed on this day, but they showed significant increases (p < 0.05) of 4.35° C and 6.43° C in Q₁ and Q₄, respectively, on day 1. The surface temperatures of the pelvic limb in Q₂ were 0.74, 0.94, and 1.19° C lower than those in Q₁, Q₃, and Q₄, respectively (p < 0.05). This response was observed in the following days since heavier calves (Q₃ and Q₄) maintained higher temperatures until the end of the evaluation period.

Regarding the surface temperature of the lacrimal caruncle (Table 2), in the morning, significant differences (p < 0.05) were observed among the quartiles and over time. On the morning of day 0, Q₄ was found to be 0.9°C higher than Q₂ (p < 0.05), and it can be observed that Q₄ did not show significant variations in the mornings of the days evaluated. On day 1, 2, and 3, buffalo calves from Q₃ and Q₄ showed the highest temperatures when compared to Q₁ and Q₂ (p < 0.05). On days 4 and 5, the temperatures of Q₁, Q₃, and Q₄ were significantly higher than those of Q₂ (p < 0.05). Readings from the afternoon of day 1 showed that Q₁, Q₃, and Q₄ presented a temperature 0.7°C higher than those of Q₂ (p < 0.05). Interestingly, at day 5, calves from Q₂ had lower lacrimal caruncle temperature than the rest of the groups, although a periodically increasing was reported during the 6 days (p < 0.05).

The surface temperature readings from the periocular region showed differences among quartiles and over time (Table 3). Regarding the difference among the four weight groups, in the morning of day 0, temperatures in Q3 and Q4 were 1.6°C higher than in Q_1 and Q_2 (p < 0.05). Although a progressive increase in temperature was recorded in all groups [e.g., the temperature of Q1 on the morning of day 5 increased 0.6°C compared to day 3 (p < 0.05)], on day 5, Q₁, Q₃, and Q₄ were 0.7°C higher than Q_2 (p < 0.05). This response was also observed during the afternoon of day 5, when Q_1 and Q_4 were $0.6^\circ C$ higher than Q_2 (p < 0.05) while Q_3 and Q_4 recorded the highest values during all the evaluation days (p < 0.05). It is important to mention here that in contrast to Q1, Q4 only showed a decrease of 0.91°C in the morning and afternoon of day 1 but then remained without any significant variation until the end of the evaluation period.

Regarding the thermal response of the auditory canal in the water buffalo calves (Table 4), during the morning of the six evaluation days Q₃ and Q₄ had higher temperature than Q₁ and Q₂, (p < 0.05). The same response was observed in the afternoon, and only on day 5, the temperatures of Q₁ and Q₄ were 0.3°C higher than those obtained in Q₂ and Q₃ (p < 0.05). The series of readings taken over time indicated that Q₁ did not present significant differences until day 2, when an increase of 1.91°C was found. In contrast, Q₄ showed a significant decrease of 1.65°C. on day 1, followed by a significant variations toward the end of the afternoon evaluations, but not during the morning study period,

when Q_1 tended to show a decrease on day three, with a difference of 1.06° C with respect to day 2. Later, the temperature began to increase, by 0.94 and 0.99°C on days 4 and 5, respectively.

The surface temperature in the nostrils, as shown in Table 5, had the lowest values during the morning of day 0 in Q₁ and Q₂ (p < 0.05). Consecutively, on day 5, Q₃ and Q₄ were 1.4°C higher than Q₁ and Q₂. When considering afternoon temperatures, they had a similar pattern between groups. On day 0, the temperatures of Q₃ and Q₄ were 0.8°C higher than Q₁ and 1.4°C higher than Q₂. This response was maintained during the rest of the days, and when comparing events, observations showed that Q₁, Q₃, and Q₄ had significantly higher morning and afternoon temperatures on day 0 than on day 1 (p < 0.05). The temperature on day 1 was between 0.9 and 1°C higher than on days 2, 3, 4, and 5 (p < 0.05). Regarding Q₂, readings showed that in both the morning and afternoon of day 0 the temperatures were 1.1°C higher than on day 1 (p < 0.05), and that on the same day there was a difference of 1°C compared to day 3 (p < 0.05).

The lacrimal gland showed significant differences on the morning of day 0, where Q₃ and Q₄ were 0.7°C higher than Q₁ and 0.2°C higher than Q₂, respectively (p < 0.05; Table 6). During the rest of the days, temperatures of calves belonging to Q₃ and Q₄ were higher than Q₁ and Q₂ (p < 0.05). On the afternoon of days 0 and 5, the temperatures of Q₁, Q₃, and Q₄ were significantly higher than those in Q₂ (p < 0.05), while on day 2, Q₃ and Q₄ had temperatures 0.7°C higher than those of Q₁ and Q₂ (p < 0.05).

3.2. Thermal variation according to body region

In all groups, the lacrimal gland and lacrimal caruncle had the highest temperatures. In Q₂, the lacrimal caruncle had significantly higher temperatures, with a difference of 0.16° C compared to the lacrimal gland. Similarly, the Q₃ and Q₄ newborns had temperature differences of $0.2-0.11^{\circ}$ C between these two areas (Table 7). With respect to the periocular region, all the study animals had high temperatures in the thermal window, except those in Q₄, where no significant differences were found with the auditory canal (36.601 ± 0.02 vs. 36.491 ± 0.03). The windows with the lowest temperatures were the nostrils and the pelvic limbs. In these zones, the buffaloes in Q₁ and Q₂ showed differences of up to 1.47° C.

Regarding the comparison among weights, the lacrimal gland in Q_1 had the lowest temperature, with a difference of up to 0.62° C compared to Q_4 . The lacrimal caruncle in Q_1 and Q_2 did not show significant differences within the groups, while there were differences in Q_3 and Q_4 , who had the highest temperatures (37.132 \pm 0.02 and 37.331 \pm 0.02, respectively). The periocular region, auditory canal, nostrils, and pelvic limbs in Q_2 had the lowest temperatures, with significant differences of 1.07, 1.95, 1.74, and 2.67°C, respectively, compared to Q_4 .

3.3. Effect of the time of day on calf thermoregulation during the 1st days of life

The temperatures of the lacrimal gland, lacrimal caruncle, periocular region, auditory canal, nostrils, and pelvic limb were

TABLE 1 Mean pelvic limb surface temperature \pm standard error (SE) in newborn water buffaloes (n = 109) at different birth weights and daytimes (morning/afternoon) during the first 6 days of life.

Day	G	Q1 (Q ₂	Q ₃			Q_4		
	n =	25	n = 29		n = 29		<i>n</i> = 26			
	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon		
0	$28.97 \pm 0.07^{3,a*}$	$29.62 \pm 0.07^{3,a}$	$28.44 \pm 0.08^{3,b*}$	$28.88 \pm 0.08^{3,b*}$	$29.62 \pm 0.06^{3,c*}$	$29.82 \pm 0.06^{3,a}$	$29.93 \pm 0.08^{2,d,\ast}$	$30.07 \pm 0.08^{3,a}$		
1	$33.32 \pm 0.11^{1,\text{c*}}$	$33.97 \pm 0.11^{1,\text{c}}$	$33.13 \pm 0.13^{1,\text{c*}}$	$33.57\pm0.14^{1,2,c*}$	$35.96 \pm 0.09^{1,b*}$	$36.16 \pm 0.09^{1,\text{b}}$	$36.36 \pm 0.07^{1,a\ast}$	$36.50 \pm 0.07^{1,a}$		
2	$33.44 \pm 0.14^{1,b*}$	$34.10 \pm 0.14^{1,b}$	$32.90 \pm 0.14^{1,c*}$	$33.34 \pm 0.15^{1,\text{c*}}$	$35.38 \pm 0.19^{1,2,a}$	$35.58 \pm 0.19^{1,2,a}$	$35.88 \pm 0.11^{1,a*}$	$36.03 \pm 0.11^{1,2,a}$		
3	$32.20 \pm 0.17^{2,b*}$	$32.86 \pm 0.17^{2,b}$	$31.91 \pm 0.14^{2,b*}$	$32.34\pm0.14^{2,\text{b}}$	$35.05 \pm 0.13^{2,a*}$	$35.25 \pm 0.13^{2,a}$	$35.40 \pm 0.07^{1,a*}$	$35.55 \pm 0.07^{2,a}$		
4	$33.35 \pm 0.11^{1,\text{b}}$	$34.00 \pm 0.11^{1,\text{b}}$	$32.93 \pm 0.11^{1,b}$	$33.37 \pm 0.11^{1,c}$	$34.93 \pm 0.15^{2,a}$	$34.93 \pm 0.15^{2,a}$	$35.13 \pm 0.15^{1,a}$	$35.38 \pm 0.13^{2,a}$		
5	$33.23 \pm 0.13^{1,b*}$	${\bf 33.88 \pm 0.13^{1,b}}$	$32.69 \pm 0.13^{1,2,b*}$	$33.13 \pm 0.13^{1,2,c}$	$35.46 \pm 0.17^{1,2,a*}$	$35.66 \pm 0.17^{1,a}$	$35.94 \pm 0.14^{1,a*}$	$36.08 \pm 0.15^{1,2,a}$		

Linear mixed model analysis with a Tuckey post-hoc test using the GraphPad program (VER. 9.4.0).

n, number of calves; Weight of calves according to category: Q1, 37.8–41.2 kg; Q2, 41.3–46.3 kg; Q3, 46.4–56.3 kg; Q4, 56.4–60.3 kg. Mean \pm standard error.

a,b,c,d Different lowercase indicate a statistical difference between groups.

^{1,2,3}Different numbers indicate statistically significant differences between days in the same weight group.

*Indicates a significant statistical difference in temperature due to the effect of time of day.

TABLE 2 Mean lacrimal caruncle surface temperature \pm standard error (SE) in 109 newborn water buffaloes at different birth weights and daytimes (morning/afternoon) during the first 6 days of life.

Day	Q1		Q ₁ Q ₂ Q ₃			Q_4		
	n =	: 25	n = 29		n = 29		<i>n</i> = 26	
	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon
0	$36.75\pm0.12^{1,2,a,\ast}$	$37.40 \pm 0.12^{1,2,a}$	$36.23\pm0.11^{1,2,b*}$	$36.67\pm 0.12^{1,2,a}$	$37.0\pm0.09^{1,2,a,b*}$	$37.20 \pm 0.09^{1,a}$	$37.17 \pm 0.06^{1,a\ast}$	$37.31 \pm 0.06^{1,a}$
1	$36.49 \pm 0.05^{2,b*}$	$37.14\pm0.05^{2,a}$	$35.99 \pm 0.09^{2,c*}$	$36.42 \pm 0.09^{2,b}$	$36.96 \pm 0.06^{2,a*}$	$37.16 \pm 0.06^{1,a}$	$37.09 \pm 0.08^{1,a*}$	$37.23 \pm 0.08^{1,a}$
2	$36.72\pm0.18^{1,2,a*}$	$37.38 \pm 0.18^{1,2,a,b}$	$36.18 \pm 0.17^{1,2,a*}$	$36.62 \pm 0.18^{1,2,a,b}$	$37.02 \pm 0.12^{1,a*}$	$37.22 \pm 0.12^{1,a}$	$37.38 \pm 0.09^{1,a*}$	$37.52 \pm 0.09^{1,a,b}$
3	$36.23 \pm 0.10^{2,b*}$	$36.88 \pm 0.11^{2,a,b}$	$35.87 \pm 0.09^{2,b*}$	$36.31 \pm 0.10^{2,b}$	$37.14 \pm 0.06^{1,a*}$	$37.34 \pm 0.06^{1,a}$	$37.36 \pm 0.06^{1,a*}$	$37.50 \pm 0.06^{1,a}$
4	$36.78 \pm 0.11^{1,a,b*}$	$37.43 \pm 0.11^{1,2,a}$	$36.27\pm0.11^{1,2,b*}$	$36.71\pm0.11^{1,2,a}$	$37.04 \pm 0.06^{1,2,a\ast}$	$37.24 \pm 0.06^{1,a,b}$	$37.26 \pm 0.05^{1,a*}$	$37.40 \pm 0.05^{1,a,b}$
5	$36.94 \pm 0.06^{1,a*}$	$37.60 \pm 0.06^{1,a}$	$36.53 \pm 0.08^{1,b\ast}$	$36.97 \pm 0.09^{1,b}$	$37.02 \pm 0.04^{1,2,a\ast}$	$37.22 \pm 0.04^{1,a,b}$	$37.28 \pm 0.04^{1,a*}$	$37.43 \pm 0.03^{1,a,b}$

Linear mixed model analysis with a Tuckey post-hoc test using the GraphPad program (VER. 9.4.0).

n, number of calves; Weight of calves according to category: Q_1 , 37.8–41.2 kg; Q_2 , 41.3–46.3 kg; Q_3 , 46.4–56.3 kg; Q_4 , 56.4–60.3 kg. Mean \pm standard error.

^{a,b}Different lowercase indicate a statistical difference between groups.

^{1,2}Different numbers indicate statistically significant differences between days in the same weight group.

*Indicates a significant statistical difference in temperature due to the effect of time of day.

TABLE 3 Mean periocular surface temperature \pm standard error (SE) in 109 newborn water buffaloes at different birth weights and daytimes (morning/afternoon) during the first 6 days of life.

Day	Q_1		Q	2	C	Q ₃	C	\mathfrak{d}_4
	n =	25	n =	29	n =	= 29	<i>n</i> = 26	
	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon
0	$35.63 \pm 0.06^{1,2,b*}$	$36.28 \pm 0.06^{1,2,b}$	$35.26 \pm 0.07^{1,b*}$	$35.70 \pm 0.07^{1,c}$	$37.01 \pm 0.11^{1,a*}$	$37.21 \pm 0.11^{1,a}$	$37.21 \pm 0.07^{1,a*}$	$37.35 \pm 0.08^{1,a}$
1	$35.66 \pm 0.04^{1,2,b*}$	$36.31 \pm 0.04^{1,2,a}$	$35.20 \pm 0.06^{1,c*}$	$35.64 \pm 0.06^{1,b}$	$36.10 \pm 0.03^{2,a*}$	$36.30 \pm 0.03^{2,a}$	$36.30 \pm 0.04^{2,a*}$	$36.44 \pm 0.04^{2,a}$
2	$35.90 \pm 0.16^{1,2,a,b*}$	$36.55\pm0.16^{1,2,a}$	$35.29 \pm 0.16^{1,b*}$	$35.73 \pm 0.17^{1,b}$	$36.13 \pm 0.10^{2,a*}$	$36.32\pm 0.10^{2,a,b}$	$36.30 \pm 0.08^{2,a*}$	$36.44 \pm 0.08^{2,a}$
3	$35.40 \pm 0.09^{2,b*}$	$36.06 \pm 0.10^{2,b,c}$	$35.12 \pm 0.10^{1,b*}$	$35.56 \pm 0.10^{1,\text{c}}$	$36.38 \pm 0.08^{2,a*}$	$36.58 \pm 0.08^{2,a,b}$	$36.52 \pm 0.06^{2,a*}$	$36.66 \pm 0.07^{2,a}$
4	$35.90\pm0.07^{1,2,a,b*}$	$36.55\pm0.07^{1,2,a,b}$	$35.47 \pm 0.08^{1,b*}$	$35.90 \pm 0.09^{1,b}$	$36.35\pm 0.10^{2,a*}$	$36.55 \pm 0.10^{2,a}$	$36.40 \pm 0.10^{2,a*}$	$36.54 \pm 0.10^{2,\text{a},\text{b}}$
5	$36.06 \pm 0.10^{1,a,b*}$	$36.71 \pm 0.10^{1,a}$	$35.54 \pm 0.11^{1,b*}$	$35.98 \pm 0.11^{1,\text{b}}$	$36.22\pm 0.08^{2,a*}$	$36.42 \pm 0.08^{2,a,b}$	$36.42\pm 0.05^{2,a*}$	$36.56 \pm 0.05^{2,a}$

Linear mixed model analysis with a Tuckey post-hoc test using the GraphPad program (VER. 9.4.0).

n, number of calves; Weight of calves according to category: Q_1 , 37.8–41.2 kg; Q_2 , 41.3–46.3 kg; Q_3 , 46.4–56.3 kg; Q_4 , 56.4–60.3 kg. Mean \pm standard error.

^{a,b}Different lowercase indicate a statistical difference between groups.

^{1,2}Different numbers indicate statistically significant differences between days in the same weight group.

*Indicates a significant statistical difference in temperature due to the effect of time of day.

TABLE 4 Mean auditory canal surface temperature \pm standard error (SE) in 109 newborn water buffaloes at different birth weights and daytimes (morning/afternoon) during the first 6 days of life.

Day	Q1		Q	2	G	Q ₃	Q	ł
	n =	= 25	n = 29		n = 29		<i>n</i> = 26	
	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon
0	$34.03 \pm 0.19^{2,3,b*}$	$34.68 \pm 0.19^{2,3,b}$	$33.62 \pm 0.21^{2,3,b*}$	$34.06 \pm 0.21^{2,3,b}$	$36.58 \pm 0.22^{1,2,a*}$	$36.78 \pm 0.22^{1,2,a}$	$37.07 \pm 0.07^{1,a*}$	$37.21 \pm 0.07^{1,a}$
1	$33.43 \pm 0.05^{3,b*}$	$34.08 \pm 0.06^{3,b}$	$32.96 \pm 0.09^{3,c*}$	$33.39 \pm 0.10^{3,b}$	$35.29 \pm 0.11^{4,a*}$	$35.49 \pm 0.11^{4,a}$	$35.42 \pm 0.13^{4,a*}$	$35.56 \pm 0.14^{4,\text{a}}$
2	$35.34 \pm 0.34^{1,a,b*}$	$35.99 \pm 0.34^{1,2,a,b}$	$34.45 \pm 0.36^{1,2,b*}$	$34.89 \pm 0.36^{1,2,b}$	$35.93 \pm 0.20^{3,a,b*}$	$36.13 \pm 0.20^{3,a,b}$	$36.38 \pm 0.10^{2,3,a*}$	$36.52\pm0.09^{2,3,a}$
3	$34.28 \pm 0.27^{2,3,b*}$	$34.94 \pm 0.27^{2,3,b}$	$34.13 \pm 0.23^{2,b*}$	$34.57 \pm 0.22^{2,b}$	$36.61 \pm 0.06^{1,a*}$	$36.81 \pm 0.06^{1,a}$	$36.79\pm0.05^{1,2,a*}$	$36.93 \pm 0.05^{1,2,a}$
4	$35.22\pm0.26^{1,2,b*}$	$35.88 \pm 0.26^{1,2,a,b}$	$34.92 \pm 0.21^{1,2,b*}$	$35.36 \pm 0.22^{1,2,b}$	$36.29 \pm 0.06^{2,3,a*}$	$36.49 \pm 0.06^{2,3,a}$	$36.49 \pm 0.06^{2,3,a*}$	$36.63 \pm 0.05^{2,3,a}$
5	$36.21 \pm 0.09^{1,a*}$	$36.86 \pm 0.09^{1,a}$	$35.68 \pm 0.11^{1,b*}$	$36.12 \pm 0.11^{1,b}$	$36.26\pm 0.06^{2,3,a}$	$36.46 \pm 0.06^{2,3,b*}$	$36.37\pm0.06^{3,a*}$	$36.51 \pm 0.07^{3,a}$

Linear mixed model analysis with a Tuckey post-hoc test using the GraphPad program (VER. 9.4.0).

n, number of calves; Weight of calves according to category: Q_1 , 37.8–41.2 kg; Q_2 , 41.3–46.3 kg; Q_3 , 46.4–56.3 kg; Q_4 , 56.4–60.3 kg. Mean \pm standard error.

^{a,b}Different lowercase indicate a statistical difference between groups.

^{1,2,3}Different numbers indicate statistically significant differences between days in the same weight group.

*Indicates a significant statistical difference in temperature due to the effect of time of day.

TABLE 5 Mean nostrils surface temperature \pm standard error (SE) in 109 newborn water buffaloes at different birth weights and daytimes (morning/afternoon) during the first 6 days of life.

Day	Q1		Q	Q ₂ Q ₃			Q_4		
	n =	25	n =	29	29 n = 29		n =	= 26	
	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	Morning	Afternoon	
0	$35.33 \pm 0.07^{1,b\ast}$	${\bf 35.98} \pm 0.07^{1,b}$	$34.89 \pm 0.06^{1,c*}$	$35.32 \pm 0.06^{1,c}$	$36.57 \pm 0.07^{1,a\ast}$	$36.77 \pm 0.07^{1,a}$	$36.75 \pm 0.07^{1,a\ast}$	${\bf 36.89 \pm 0.08^{1,a}}$	
1	$34.35 \pm 0.12^{2,c*}$	$35.00 \pm 0.12^{2,b}$	$33.79 \pm 0.11^{2,c*}$	$34.23 \pm 0.11^{2,c}$	$35.88 \pm 0.11^{2,b*}$	$36.08 \pm 0.11^{2,a}$	$36.24 \pm 0.05^{2,a*}$	$36.38 \pm 0.05^{2,a}$	
2	$33.54 \pm 0.11^{3,b*}$	$34.19\pm0.11^{3,b}$	$32.90 \pm 0.23^{2,3,b*}$	$33.33 \pm 0.23^{2,3,b}$	$34.56 \pm 0.19^{3,a*}$	$34.76^{3,a}\pm 0.19$	$35.06 \pm 0.13^{3,a\ast}$	$35.20 \pm 0.14^{3,a}$	
3	$33.24 \pm 0.12^{3,b*}$	$33.90 \pm 0.13^{3,b}$	$32.77 \pm 0.13^{3,b*}$	$33.21 \pm 0.13^{3,c}$	$34.27 \pm 0.12^{3,a\ast}$	$34.47 \pm 0.12^{3,a,b}$	$34.65\pm0.06^{3,4,a*}$	$34.79 \pm 0.07^{3,4,a}$	
4	$33.58 \pm 0.12^{3,b,c*}$	$34.23 \pm 0.12^{3,a}$	$33.27\pm0.12^{2,3,c*}$	$33.70\pm0.13^{2,3,a}$	$34.26 \pm 0.12^{3,a,b*}$	$34.46 \pm 0.12^{3,a}$	$34.54 \pm 0.11^{4,\text{a*}}$	$34.68 \pm 0.11^{4,a}$	
5	$33.30 \pm 0.12^{3,b\ast}$	$33.95 \pm 0.12^{3,b}$	$33.02\pm0.12^{2,3,b*}$	$33.46 \pm 0.12^{2,3,b}$	$34.27\pm 0.11^{3,a*}$	$34.47 \pm 0.11^{3,a}$	$34.74\pm0.08^{3,4,a*}$	$34.88 \pm 0.08^{3,4,a}$	

Linear mixed model analysis with a Tuckey post-hoc test using the GraphPad program (VER. 9.4.0).

n, number of calves; Weight of calves according to category: Q1, 37.8–41.2 kg; Q2, 41.3–46.3 kg; Q3, 46.4–56.3 kg; Q4, 56.4–60.3 kg. Mean \pm standard error.

^{a,b,c}Different lowercase indicate a statistical difference between groups.

^{1,2,3}Different numbers indicate statistically significant differences between days in the same weight group.

*Indicates a significant statistical difference in temperature due to the effect of time of day.

 0.3° C higher in the afternoon than the morning (p < 0.05; Figure 2). The lacrimal gland and lacrimal caruncle presented significantly higher values than the periocular region, auditory canal, nostrils, and pelvic limb, in both the morning and afternoon (p < 0.05). Similarly, the temperatures of the periocular region, auditory canal, nostrils, and pelvic limb differed (p < 0.05). Notably, the lowest temperatures were recorded in the pelvic limb (Figure 2).

There was a positive correlation of 0.99 between the surface temperatures of these thermal windows and the time of day (p < 0.0001; Table 8).

4. Discussion

4.1. Effect of weight on the thermoregulation of buffalo calves

In this study, the heavier animals in Q_3 and Q_4 -weight >46 kg-maintained higher surface temperatures than the

lighter ones in Q_1 and Q_2 (p < 0.05). These results show a relationship between birth weight and the thermoregulation of these calves (1), a finding that has been reported for other species, such as pigs and sheep (22, 23). This could be due to a possible difference in the disposition of energy resources, such as brown adipose tissue and glucose, between a low birth weight or a high birth weight animal. In other words, when a newborn has a low birth weight, its response to compensate for hypothermia will be more limited compared to an animal with a higher weight.

Due to the exposure to cold in mammals, a coordinated response is exerted with the Central Nervous System that produces the activation of the sympathetic nervous system, which promotes the neurosecretion of catecholamines (24). Consequently, a response at the vasomotor level is observed with peripheral vasoconstriction to reduce heat loss. In addition to this, a metabolic response is generated due to the interaction with norepinephrine that produces the breakdown of triglycerides in adipocytes that leads to intracellular activation of cAMP and protein kinase A, for the mitochondrial combustion

 $37.62 \pm 0.05^{1,a}$

 $37.56 \pm 0.05^{1,a}$

 $37.54 \pm 0.05^{1,a}$

 Q_4 Day Morning Morning Morning Afternoon Afternoon Afternoon Morning Afternoon $36.86 \pm 0.09^{1,b*}$ $37.51 \pm 0.09^{1,a}$ $36.33 \pm 0.10^{1,2,c*}$ $36.77 \pm 0.10^{1,2,b}$ $37.28 \pm 0.08^{1.a*}$ $37.48 \pm 0.08^{1,a}$ $37.40 \pm 0.07^{1,a*}$ $37.54 \pm 0.07^{1,a}$ 0 $36.05 \pm 0.09^{2,b*}$ $36.70 \pm 0.09^{2,b}$ $35.62 \pm 0.11^{3,b*}$ $37.37 \pm 0.07^{1,a}$ $37.22 \pm 0.10^{1,a*}$ $37.35 \pm 0.10^{1,a,b}$ $36.06 \pm 0.12^{3,c}$ $37.17 \pm 0.07^{1,a*}$ 1 2 $36.50\pm0.20^{1,2,b*}$ $37.15 \pm 0.20^{1,2,b}$ $35.96 \pm 0.21^{1,2,3,b*}$ $36.40 \pm 0.22^{2,3,b}$ $37.13 \pm 0.12^{1,a*}$ $37.33 \pm 0.12^{1,a}$ $37.34 \pm 0.09^{1,a*}$ $37.48 \pm 0.08^{1,a}$

 $36.27 \pm 0.17^{2,3,c}$

 $36.86 \pm 0.10^{1,2,b}$

 $37.03 \pm 0.08^{1,b}$

 $37.25 \pm 0.07^{1,a*}$

37.29 ± 0.05^{1,a,b*}

 $37.30 \pm 0.05^{1,a,b*}$

TABLE 6 Mean lacrimal gland surface temperature \pm standard error (SE) in 109 newborn water buffaloes at different birth weights and daytimes (morning/afternoon) during the first 6 days of life.

Linear mixed model analysis with a Tuckey post-hoc test using the GraphPad program (VER. 9.4.0).

n, number of calves; Weight of calves according to category: Q1, 37.8–41.2 kg; Q2, 41.3–46.3 kg; Q3, 46.4–56.3 kg; Q4, 56.4–60.3 kg. Mean \pm standard error.

 $35.83 \pm 0.17^{2,3,b*}$

 $36.42 \pm 0.10^{1,2,c*}$

 $36.60\pm 0.08^{1,c*}$

a,b,c,d Different lowercase indicate a statistical difference between groups.

 $35.84 \pm 0.22^{3,b*}$

 $36.77 \pm 0.10^{1,b,c*}$

 $36.92 \pm 0.07^{1,b,c*}$

3

4

5

^{1,2,3}Different numbers indicate statistically significant differences between days in the same weight group.

*Indicates a significant statistical difference in temperature due to the effect of time of day.

 $3650 \pm 0.22^{2,b,c}$

 $37.42 \pm 0.10^{1,a,b}$

 $37.57 \pm 0.07^{1,a}$

TABLE 7 Mean surface temperature of the different thermal windows \pm standard error (SE) in water buffaloes (n = 109) with different birth weights (Q_1 , 37.8–41.2 kg; Q_2 , 41.3–46.3 kg; Q_3 , 46.4–56.3 kg; Q_4 , 56.4–60.3 kg.).

	Lacrimal gland	Lacrimal caruncle	Periocular region	Auditory canal	Nostrils	Pelvic limb
Q _{1n=25}	${\bf 36.82 \pm 0.05^{2,b}}$	$36.98 \pm 0.04^{2,a}$	$36.08 \pm 0.03^{2,c}$	${\bf 35.08} \pm 0.08^{3,d}$	$34.21 \pm 0.05^{3,e}$	$32.74 \pm 0.10^{2,\rm f}$
Q _{2n=29}	$36.34\pm0.04^{2,a}$	$36.40 \pm 0.03^{3,a}$	$35.53 \pm 0.03^{3,b}$	$34.51 \pm 0.08^{4,c}$	$33.66\pm0.05^{4,\text{d}}$	$32.22\pm 0.09^{3,\rm f}$
Q3n=29	$37.33 \pm 0.02^{1,a}$	${\bf 37.13}\pm 0.02^{2,b}$	$36.46 \pm 0.03^{1,c}$	$36.26\pm0.04^{2,\text{d}}$	$35.07 \pm 0.06^{2,e}$	$34.50 \pm 0.12^{1,e}$
Q4n=26	$37.44 \pm 0.02^{1,a}$	${\bf 37.33}\pm 0.02^{1,b}$	$36.60 \pm 0.02^{1,c}$	$36.49 \pm 0.03^{1,c}$	$35.40 \pm 0.05^{1,\text{d}}$	$34.89 \pm 0.12^{1,d}$

Linear mixed model analysis with a Tuckey post-hoc test using the GraphPad program (VER. 9.4.0).

n, number of calves; Weight of calves according to category: Q1, 37.8–41.2 kg; Q2, 41.3–46.3 kg; Q3, 46.4–56.3 kg; Q4, 56.4–60.3 kg. Mean \pm standard error.

 ${}^{\mathrm{a,b,c,d,e,f}}\mathrm{Different}$ lowercase indicate a statistical difference between groups.

^{1,2,3}Different numbers indicate statistically significant differences between days in the same weight group.

of substrates and the production of heat (25). The concept of thermoneutrality considers the range where the basal metabolism maintains body temperature (26). In this way, the previous explanation would confirm the fact that an animal with a low birth weight would present low levels of substrates to compensate for heat loss and reach the thermal comfort zone.

The association between basal metabolism and the ability to thermoregulate could explain why a low-birth-weight animal has a lower body temperature. In this sense, Diesch et al. (27) showed that calves born in windy and humid regions with an ambient temperature of 10°C delayed the time for first standing. This could be due to the organism using the energetic reserves to activate thermoregulatory mechanisms, such as vasomotor changes, and shivering and non-shivering thermogenesis (1). These mechanisms depend on the animal's metabolic rate, which is lower per unit area in low-weight neonates and reduces their tolerance to cold temperatures. The basal metabolic rate (rate of energy expenditure per unit time) is higher in smaller animals because they have a higher surface/mass ratio which results in increased corporal heat loss (28-30) in other words, large surface area relative to mass shows a disadvantage in retaining heat (25, 31). Consequently, calves with low body weight may be more susceptible to hypothermia when heat loss exceeds heat production (32).

On the other hand, it is necessary to mention that the surface temperature was significantly lower during days 0, 1, and 2 compared to the rest of the days (p < 0.05). This event is probably due to age since the low critical temperature threshold is higher due to the development of thermoregulatory capacity (2). In other words, the growth of the animal leads to an increase in subcutaneous fat reserves, but also an increase in the thickness of the skin and the length of the hair that allow a greater tolerance to cold (27). Johanson and Berger (33) determined that birth weight can be considered a predictor of perinatal mortality, since animals with higher weights have a reduced incidence of mortality due to hypothermia, as has been reported for cattle in eastern Montana. In this study, animals that weighed over 17.42 kg experienced lower temperature decreases when exposed to cold stress (34). Likewise, for Nili-Ravi buffaloes, Hassan et al. (35) indicated that birth weight had a significant effect on mortality rates, as they found a relationship between low birth weight, poor thermoregulation and deficient dam-calf bonding. It has been suggested that newborns with low birth weight and those with insufficient milk supply from the mother are prone to perform compensatory behaviors, such as allosuckling, to prevent nutritional deficiency (36, 37). Similarly, Chnitier et al. (38) found that newborns lambs with low weights had a higher mortality rate (52.2%) than medium- and high-weight animals (24.4 and 1.8%, respectively). Those authors further determined that during winter, when lambs were exposed

 $37.45 \pm 0.07^{1,a,b}$

 $37.49 \pm 0.05^{1,a}$

 $37.50 \pm 0.05^{1,a}$

 $3747 \pm 0.04^{1,a*}$

 $37.42 \pm 0.05^{1,a*}$

 $37.40 \pm 0.05^{1,a*}$



to a decrease in environmental temperature, the mortality rate was 23.5%, 14% higher than that during the summer.

As our findings show, energy resources differ depending on the weight of newborns, so those with higher weight have a greater chance of using the energy that is available to them to compensate for temperature changes at birth (39). For example, newborn piglets weighing <1 kg have lower energy resources and greater sensitivity to cold stress during the 1st h of life (40). Similarly, data from newborn Holstein-Friesian calves immersed in water at a temperature of 15–17°C to induce cold stress showed 3-fold increases in catecholamine and blood glucose concentrations, suggesting that hypothermia activates the autonomic nervous system to increase blood glucose levels that contribute to shivering and non-shivering thermogenesis (41, 42).

Another factor linked to birth weight that can be altered is the newborn's vitality and ability to reach the mother's udder (43). Ingesting colostrum helps maintain metabolic resources that aid thermoregulation (7). When this behavior is limited, the ability of young animals to acquire more nutrients is reduced (1). A study by Stanko et al. (44) showed that adding exogenous sources of energy in the form of glucose or colostrum maintained thermostability during the 1st day after birth in newborn Brahman calves exposed to a cold environment (5–25°C). A study by Schmidek et al. (45) in cattle identified factors predisposing to the delayed first intake of colostrum and their implications for the calf mortality rate. Bueno et al. (46) also emphasize the importance of first-colostrum feeding latency, and its effect on calf cortisol levels, with adverse effects on immunoglobulin absorption.

In the present study, regardless of birth weight, the calves presented higher than surface temperatures on days 3, 4, and 5, possibly influenced by the quality of nutrition provided during the 1st days of life. Conte et al. (47) reported that the ingestion of good-quality colostrum can mitigate the negative impact of thermal stress because its lipidic and niacin contents participate in the metabolic and vasodilator responses that aid thermoregulation. The energy provided by colostrum is another element that contributes to obtaining resources and maintaining the thermal balance. According to Silva and Bittar (2), a domestic bovine calf requires 4.6-4.7 Mcal/kg to maintain thermoneutrality. In this regard, studies that have focused on colostrum composition have reported fat, protein, and total solids percentages of 11.31, 8.73, and 25.31%, respectively. These three elements also provide neonates to energy (48). These factors could explain the significantly lower temperatures on days 0, 1, and 2, suggesting a compensatory effect of colostrum ingestion that, in a study of newborn Holstein calves, brought about an increase of $\sim 1^{\circ}$ C in prescapular temperature (49). The differences found in the days after birth support the hypothesis that colostrum consumption is essential for newborn ruminants to achieve thermoregulatory success (1).

TABLE 8 Significant correlations between the time of day and the surface temperature of the different thermal windows.

Thermal window	Variable	Correlation coefficient (r)	<i>P</i> -value	
Periocular	Morning	0.9990	< 0.0001	
	Afternoon	0.9988	< 0.0001	
Lacrimal gland	Morning	0.9983	< 0.0001	
	Afternoon	0.9979	<0.0001	
Lacrimal caruncle	Morning	0.9976	<0.0001	
	Afternoon	0.9976	<0.0001	
Auditory canal	Morning	0.9989	< 0.0001	
	Afternoon	0.9984	< 0.0001	
Nostrils	Morning	0.9988	< 0.0001	
	Afternoon	0.9989	<0.0001	
Pelvic limb	Morning	0.9989	< 0.0001	
	Afternoon	0.9974	< 0.0001	

Spearman's rank correlation coefficients and their statistical significance between the sampling (morning/afternoon) and the surface temperature of the different thermal windows on day 0, significance level p < 0.

Other experimental data have shown that feeding neonates high-fat diets resulted in an increase in body temperature of 0.5° C under exposure to cold climates, an environmental factor also associated with enhanced muscle development in newborns (50, 51).

Therefore, the results presented affirm that the birth weight of buffalo calves is related to the amount of energy available at birth and can affect their thermoregulatory capacity. In addition, said thermoregulatory capacity is developed according to the age of the animals, which can lead to morphophysiological changes.

4.2. Temperature variation according to the thermal window

According to Mota-Rojas et al. (52), ruminants have some anatomical regions with a high disposition of blood capillaries, arteriovenous anastomoses, and glabrous skin. These areas are known as thermal windows. These regions facilitate heat exchange between the animal and its environment; therefore, exposure to cold temperatures generates a peripheral vasoconstriction response that decreases blood flow (41).

In the present study, temperatures of the lacrimal gland and lacrimal caruncle did not differ between groups Q_1 and Q_2 . Moreover, the temperatures recorded in these two thermal windows were higher than those in the other evaluated regions. This suggests that the ocular region could be a useful window for non-invasive assessment of core temperature (23, 53). The difference between these two regions may be attributable to the activation of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and the consequent secretion of catecholamines that participate in peripheral vasoconstriction (54–56). This vasomotor response preserves the core temperature in metabolically active organs, such as the brain, heart, and abdomen (28, 57). The effects of this response were described by Shu et al. (58). This body of evidence suggests that the high temperatures exhibited in these two windows are due to their proximity to the brain (59).

Difference between the responses of the lacrimal caruncle and lacrimal gland may also reflect the fact that the latter is irrigated by the infraorbital artery, a structure innervated by the sympathetic branch of the facial nerve (52, 58, 60). Given these anatomical traits, these regions could be helpful for indirectly assessing autonomic nervous system activity as a stress response (61, 62).

The ocular or periocular window can provide a better approximation of core temperature (52, 59). Hoffman et al. (63), for example, established that the IRT readings (mean = 37° C) taken from the eyes of 22 cows and nine calves demonstrated that this is a suitable area for monitoring body temperature, unlike the ear and shoulder. Recently, studies have been done in buffaloes, in which it has been determined that the orbital thermal window could be a validated zone in this specie to record temperature (14, 52, 59).

In contrast to these regions, the auditory canal and pelvic limb registered low temperatures. The recorded values indicate heat loss through the skin due to dermal vasoconstriction and closing of arteriovenous anastomoses (28). IRT readings from the ears and limbs of newborn piglets should be useful to recognize the early stages of hypothermia, although it is important to mention that the concave shape of the auditory canal could alter radiation in that zone (23). For this reason, evaluating the thermal response of the limbs, where blood flow may be reduced due to the vasomotor changes that occur under exposure to cold, could be an alternative (1), even though this possibility requires further study.

The nostrils showed significantly lower temperatures than those recorded in the ocular, lacrimal caruncle, and auricular regions. These results are attributed to the tachypnea response as a means of achieving thermoneutrality (64). In this regard, the increase in oxygen intake compensates for one of the main consequences of hypothermia; namely, hypoxemia (57, 65). Even under conditions of regular respiratory rate, the convective processes associated with the inhaled and exhaled airflows, provide evaporation of fluid present in the nostrils that cause the corresponding cooling. The response in this window reflects increased airflow, which could be helpful in monitoring the breathing patterns of animals (66). On this topic, Kim and Hidaka (67) used IRT and computer vision systems to state breathing patterns in cattle. The authors obtained an accuracy of 76%. However, when evaluating temperatures in this region, elements such as the moist surface must be considered (68), as they can alter measurements due to heat dissipation by evaporation (69).

The IRT technique is useful because it responds to the vascular structure of each thermal window, thus allowing for more reliable approximations to detect changes in the body temperature of newborn buffaloes associated with hypothermic states.

4.3. Effect of time of day on thermoregulation in newborn buffaloes

The thermal responses of the six windows evaluated were affected by the time of the day (morning *vs.* afternoon). In addition

to this, it was possible to observe that the temperatures of all the thermal windows presented positive correlation with the time of day (p < 0.05). The temperature readings of the buffalo calves were significantly higher in the afternoon. A possible explanation for this is the effect of environmental factors. Villanueva-García et al. (23), Mota-Rojas et al. (69), and Kozat (15) mentioned that elements such as wind and rain can cause hypothermia in newborns, whereas solar radiation has the opposite effect (70).

In the six thermal windows, during the afternoon, heat loss by evaporation is attenuated, so the amount of blood in the dermal tissue increases due to the activation of the SNA (71, 72). A study of Murrah water buffaloes reported that exposure to 45° C during the summer increased blood flow by 5–17 units (in the dorsal, abdominal, and auricular areas), as well as the animals' respiratory frequency (73). Marai and Heeeb (74) mention that the characteristics for the water buffalo to remain in an optimal productive state are an air temperature of $13-18^{\circ}$ C, relative humidity of 55–60%, and an air speed of 5–8 km/h. An environmental temperature lower than 15° C is a crucial factor that could challenge thermoregulatory mechanisms in newborn, while wind speed and solar radiation could affect the IRT reading. This could be a limitation within the present study and an element to consider for future studies.

The ability of water buffaloes to maintain thermoneutrality during periods of intense heat also depends on characteristics such as the presence of a thick epidermis, low hair density, and abundant melanin (14, 52). Interestingly, these features may help in a certain way to increase resilience to cold because the difficulty that these animals experience in dissipating heat could be beneficial by preventing greater heat loss through evaporation (73).

According to our findings, the time of the day influences the thermostability of newborn water buffaloes (75); therefore, this must be considered an important factor for the perinatal management of the offspring of this species.

5. Conclusion

According to the results obtained, the birth weight of water buffalo calves is a factor that can alter their thermoregulation, as calves with higher weight at birth achieve thermostability more quickly than those with lower weights. However, individual characteristics are not the only factor that should be considered, as the half-period of day can also alter the surface temperatures of animals, since they tend to be lower in the morning and higher in the afternoon. Considering these findings, IRT can be used as an additional tool to monitor normothermic states in newborn water

References

buffaloes, where timely diagnosis of critical states can promote better productive management of buffalo calves in the face of possible exposed to cold. The findings in the present article show that lacrimal caruncle and periocular surface can be considered as more stable thermal windows to monitor the thermal state of the newborns, followed by nostrils.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The animals monitored in this study were not touched or stressed, as infrared thermography is a non-invasive technique; therefore, the protocol did not require approval from an Ethics Committee. During the study, handling of the animals was carried out under the guidelines of the Official Mexican Standard, NOM062-ZOO-1999, which stipulates the technical specifications for the production, care, and ethical use of animals.

Author contributions

All authors contributed to the conceptualization, writing, reading, and approval of the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{1.} Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Martínez-Burnes J, Villanueva-García D, Lezama K, et al. Neonatal infrared thermography images in the hypothermic ruminant model: Anatomical-morphological-physiological aspects and mechanisms for thermoregulation. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:963205. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.963205

^{2.} Silva FLM, Bittar CMM. Thermogenesis and some rearing strategies of dairy calves at low temperature—A review. J Appl Anim Res. (2019) 47:115–22. doi: 10.1080/09712119.2019.1580199

^{3.} Lezama-García K, Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Villanueva-García D, Domínguez-Oliva A, Gómez-Prado J, et al. Strategies for hypothermia compensation in altricial and precocial newborn mammals and their monitoring by infrared thermography. *Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:246. doi: 10.3390/vetsci90 50246

^{4.} Lezama-García K, Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AMF, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Domínguez A, et al. Transient receptor potential (TRP) and thermoregulation

in animals: structural biology and neurophysiological aspects. *Animals.* (2022) 12:106. doi: 10.3390/ani12010106

5. Gómez-Prado J, Pereira A, Wang D, Villanueva-García D, Domínguez-Oliva A, Mora-Medina P, et al. Thermoregulation mechanisms and perspectives for validating thermal windows in pigs with hypothermia and hyperthermia: An overview. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:1023294. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.1023294

 Lezama-García K, Martínez-Burnes J, Pérez-Jiménez JC, Domínguez-Oliva A, Mora-Medina P, Olmos-Hernández A, et al. Relation between the dam's weight on superficial temperature of her puppies at different stages of the post-partum. *Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:673. doi: 10.3390/vetsci9120673

7. Mota-Rojas D, Bragaglio A, Braghieri A, Napolitano F, Domínguez-Oliva A, Mora-Medina P, et al. Dairy buffalo behavior: Calving, imprinting and allosuckling. *Animals.* (2022) 12:2899. doi: 10.3390/ani12212899

8. Usmani RH, Lewis GS, Naz NA. Factors affecting length of gestation and birth weight of Nili-Ravi buffaloes. *Anim Reprod Sci.* (1987) 14:195– 203. doi: 10.1016/0378-4320(87)90083-2

9. Flinn T, Kleemann DO, Swinbourne AM, Kelly JM, Weaver AC, Walker SK, et al. Neonatal lamb mortality: Major risk factors and the potential ameliorative role of melatonin. J Anim Sci Biotechnol. (2020) 11:107. doi: 10.1186/s40104-020-00510-w

10. Mota-Rojas D, Napolitano F, El-Aziz A, Braghieri A, Orihuela A, Strappini A, et al. Bienestar de la búfala durante el parto y ordeño, aspectos fisiológicos y conductuales. In: F Napolitano, D Mota-Rojas, A Orihuela, A Braghieri, D Hufana-Duran, A Srappini, et al., editors, *El Búfalo de Agua en las Américas, Comportamiento y Productividad.* Ciudad de México: BM Editores (2022). p. 423-55.

11. Thevarnanoharan K, Vandepitte W, Mohiuddin G, Chantalakhana C. Environmental factors affecting various growth traits of swam buffalo calves. *Pakistan J Agric Sci.* (2001) 38:1–10.

12. Singh PK, Kamboj ML, Chandra S, Kumar A, Kumar N. Influence of weaning on growth, health and behaviour of Buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) calves. *Indian J Anim Res.* (2019) 53:680–84. doi: 10.18805/ijar.B-3546

13. Vasseur E, Rushen J, de Passillé AM. Does a calf's motivation to ingest colostrum depend on time since birth, calf vigor, or provision of heat? *J Dairy Sci.* (2009) 92:3915–21. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1823

14. Mota-Rojas D, Napolitano F, Braghieri A, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Bertoni A, Martínez-Burnes J, et al. Thermal biology in river buffalo in the humid tropics: Neurophysiological and behavioral responses assessed by infrared thermography. J Anim Behav Biometeorol. (2021) 9:1–12. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21003

15. Kozat S. Hypothermia in newborn calves. J Istanbul Vet Sci. (2018) 2:30– 7. doi: 10.30704/http-www-jivs-net.409147

16. Silva JAR, Pantoja MHA, Silva WC, Almeida JCF, Noronha RPP, Barbosa AVC, et al. Thermoregulatory reactions of female buffaloes raised in the sun and in the shade, in the climatic conditions of the rainy season of the Island of Marajó, Pará, Brazil. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:998544. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.998544

17. Hoffmann G, Schmidt M, Ammon C. First investigations to refine video-based IR thermography as a non-invasive tool to monitor the body temperature of calves. *Animal.* (2016) 10:1542–6. doi: 10.1017/S1751731115001354

18. Schmitt O, O'Driscoll K. Use of infrared thermography to noninvasively assess neonatal piglet temperature. *Transl Anim Sci.* (2021) 5:txaa208. doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa208

19. Torsein M, Jansson-Mörk M, Lindberg A, Hallén-Sandgren C, Berg C. Associations between calf mortality during days 1 to 90 and herd-level cow and production variables in large Swedish dairy herds. *J Dairy Sci.* (2014) 97:6613–21. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-7949

20. Mugnier A, Mila H, Guiraud F, Brévaux J, Lecarpentier M, Martinez C, et al. Birth weight as a risk factor for neonatal mortality: Breed-specific approach to identify at-risk puppies. *Prev Vet Med.* (2019) 171:104746. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019.104746

21. Fordyce AL, Hines EA, Edwards EM, Plaengkaeo S, Stalder KJ, Colpoys JD, et al. Measuring birth weight and umbilical cord diameter at birth to predict subsequent performance in swine. *Transl Anim Sci.* (2021) 5:2. doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa214

22. Alamer M, Al-hozab A. Effect of water deprivation and season on feed intake, body weight and thermoregulation in Awassi and Najdi sheep breeds in Saudi Arabia. *J Arid Environ.* (2004) 59:71–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2004.01.003

 Villanueva-García D, Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Olmos-Hernández A, Mora-Medina P, Salmerón C, et al. Hypothermia in newly born piglets: Mechanisms of thermoregulation and pathophysiology of death. J Anim Behav Biometeorol. (2021) 9:1-10. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21001

24. van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Daanen HAM. Cold-induced metabolism. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2003) 6:469–75. doi: 10.1097/01.mco.0000078992.96795.5f

25. Lezama-García K, Martínez-Burnes J, Marcet-Rius M, Gazzano A, Olmos-Hernández A, Mora-Medina P, et al. Is the weight of the newborn puppy related to its thermal balance? *Animals*. (2022) 12:3536. doi: 10.3390/ani12243536

26. Cannon B, Nedergaard J. Nonshivering thermogenesis and its adequate measurement in metabolic studies. *J Exp Biol.* (2011) 214:242–53. doi: 10.1242/jeb.050989

27. Diesch T, Mellor D, Stafford K, Ward R. The physiological and physical status of single calves at birth in a dairy herd in New Zealand. N Z Vet J. (2004) 52:250–5. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2004.36436

28. Ewart S. Termorregulación. In: BG Klein, editor, *Cunningham Fisiología veterinaria*. Barcelona: Elsevier (2020). p. 596-607.

29. Roland L, Drillich M, Klein-Jöbstl D, Iwersen M. Invited review: Influence of climatic conditions on the development, performance, and health of calves. *J Dairy Sci.* (2016) 99:2438–52. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9901

30. Carstens GE. Cold thermoregulation in the newborn calf. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract. (1994) 10:69–106. doi: 10.1016/S0749-0720(15)30590-9

31. Currie B. Structure and Function of Domestic Animals. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (1992). p. 464.

32. Mellor DJ, Stafford KJ. Animal welfare implications of neonatal mortality and morbidity in farm animals. *Vet J.* (2004) 168:118–133. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2003.08.004

33. Johanson JM, Berger PJ. Birth weight as a predictor of calving ase and perinatal mortality in Holstein cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2003) 86:3745–55. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73981-2

34. Toghiani S, Hay EH, Roberts A, Rekaya R. Impact of cold stress on birth and weaning weight in a composite beef cattle breed. *Livest Sci.* (2020) 236:104053. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104053

35. Hassan M, Nasir M, Muhammad R, Khattak I. Challenges due to early calf mortality in dairy industry of Pakistan and strategies for improvement causes of early calf mortality. *Veterinaria*. (2013) 1:13–7.

36. Mora-Medina P, Napolitano F, Mota-Rojas D, Berdugo-Gutiérrez J, Ruiz-Buitrago J, Guerrero-Legarreta I. Imprinting, sucking and allosucking behaviors in buffalo calves. J Buffalo Sci. (2018) 7:49–57. doi: 10.6000/1927-520X.2018.07.03.3

37. Paranhos Da Costa MJR, Andriolo A, Simplício De Oliveira JF, Schmidek WR. Suckling and allosuckling in river buffalo calves and its relation with weight gain. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2000) 66:1–10. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(99)00083-0

38. Chniter M, Hammadi M, Khorchani T, Krit R, Lahsoumi B, Sassi MB, et al. Phenotypic and seasonal factors influence birth weight, growth rate and lamb mortality in D'man sheep maintained under intensive management in Tunisian oases. *Small Rumin Res.* (2011) 99:166–70. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2011.03.046

39. Rowan TG. Thermoregulation in neonatal ruminants. BSAP Occas Publ. (1992) 15:13–24. doi: 10.1017/S0263967X00004055

40. Caldara FR, Dos Santos LS, MacHado ST, Moi M, De Alencar Nääs I, Foppa L, et al. Piglets' surface temperature change at different weights at birth. *Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci.* (2014) 27:431–8. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2013.13505

41. Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, Orihuela A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez-Prado J, Torres-Bernal F, et al. Physiological and behavioral mechanisms of thermoregulation in mammals. *Animals*. (2021) 11:1733. doi: 10.3390/ani11061733

42. Olson D, Ritter R, Papasian C, Gutenberger S. Sympathoadrenal and adrenal hormonal responses of newborn calves to hypothermia. *Can J Comp Med.* (1981) 45:321–6.

43. Lay DC, Matteri RL, Carroll JA, Fangman TJ, Safranski TJ. Preweaning survival in swine. J Anim Sci. (2002) 80:E74–86.

44. Stanko RL, Guthrie MJ, Chase CC, Randel RD. Effects of exogenous glucose or colostrum on body temperature, plasma glucose, and serum insulin in cold-stressed, newborn Brahman calves. *J Anim Sci.* (1992) 70:3007–13. doi: 10.2527/1992.70103007x

45. Schmidek A, Mercadante A, da Costa M, Razook A, de Figueiredo L. Falha na primeira mamada em bezerros Guzerá: Fatores predisponentes e parâmetros genéticos. *Bras Zootec.* (2008) 37:998–1004. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982008000600007

46. Bueno AR, Alencar M, Starling J, Paranhos da Costa M. Latência para a primeira mamada e níveis de cortisol e triiodotironina de bezerros Nelore puros e cruzados. In: XXXVII Reunião anual da sociedade brasileira de zootecnia. Viçosa Anais Viçosa Soc Bras Zootec. Viçosa: Sociedade Brasileira de Zootecnia (2000). p. 1–3.

47. Conte G, Ciampolini R, Cassandro M, Lasagna E, Calamari L, Bernabucci U, et al. Feeding and nutrition management of heat-stressed dairy ruminants. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2018) 17:604–20. doi: 10.1080/1828051X.2017.1404944

48. Coroian A, Erler S, Matea CT, Mire?an V, Răducu C, Bele C, et al. Seasonal changes of buffalo colostrum: Physicochemical parameters, fatty acids andcholesterol variation. *Chem Cent J.* (2013) 7:40. doi: 10.1186/1752-153X-7-40

49. Silva FLM, Miqueo E, Silva MD, Torrezan TM, Rocha NB, Salles MSV, et al. Thermoregulatory responses and performance of dairy calves fed different amounts of colostrum. *Animals*. (2021) 11:703. doi: 10.3390/ani11030703

50. Buckley BA, Baker JF, Dickerson GE, Jenkins TG. Body composition and tissue distribution from birth to 14 months for three biological types of beef heifers. *J Anim Sci.* (1990) 68:3109–23. doi: 10.2527/1990.68103109x

51. Lammoglia MA, Bellows RA, Grings EE, Bergman JW. Effects of prepartum supplementary fat and muscle hypertrophy genotype on cold tolerance in newborn calves. *J Anim Sci.* (1999) 77:2227. doi: 10.2527/1999.7782227x

52. Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AMF, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Hernández-Avalos I, et al. Clinical applications and factors Involved in validating thermal windows used in infrared thermography in cattle and river buffalo to assess health and productivity. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2247. doi: 10.3390/ani11082247

53. Brcko CC, Silva JAR, Martorano LG, Vilela RA, Nahúm BS, Silva AGM, et al. Infrared thermography to assess thermoregulatory reactions of female buffaloes in a humid tropical environment. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:180. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00180

54. Morrison SF. Central neural pathways for thermoregulation. *Front Biosci.* (2011) 16:74. doi: 10.2741/3677

55. Robinson EB. Thermoregulation. In: G Bradley, editor, *Cunningham's Textbook of Veterinary Physiology*. Barcelona: Elsevier España (2014). p. 559–7.

56. Sokolova I. Temperature regulation. *Encycloped Ecol.* (2019) 7:633–9. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11129-7

57. Sanin LY, Cabrera AMZ, Morales AMT. Adaptive responses to thermal stress in mammals. *Rev Med Vet.* (2016) 2016:121–35.

58. Shu H, Li Y, Fang T, Xing M, Sun F, Chen X, et al. Evaluation of the best region for measuring eye temperature in dairy cows exposed to heat stress. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:857777. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.857777

59. Bertoni A, Mota-Rojas D, Álvarez-Macias A, Mora-Medina P, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Morales-Canela A, et al. Scientific findings related to changes in vascular microcirculation using infrared thermography in the river buffalo. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2020) 8:288–97. doi: 10.31893/jabb.20038

60. Idris M, Uddin J, Sullivan M, McNeill DM, Phillips CJC. Noninvasive physiological indicators of heat stress in cattle. *Animals.* (2021) 11:71. doi: 10.3390/ani11010071

61. Stewart M, Webster JR, Stafford KJ, Schaefer AL, Verkerk GA. Technical note: Effects of an epinephrine infusion on eye temperature and heart rate variability in bull calves. *J Dairy Sci.* (2010) 93:5252–7. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3448

62. Sutherland MA, Worth GM, Dowling SK, Lowe GL, Cave VM, Stewart M. Evaluation of infrared thermography as a non-invasive method of measuring the autonomic nervous response in sheep. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0233558. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0233558

63. Hoffmann G, Schmidt M, Ammon C, Rose-Meierhöfer S, Burfeind O, Heuwieser W, et al. Monitoring the body temperature of cows and calves using video recordings from an infrared thermography camera. *Vet Res Commun.* (2013) 37:91–9. doi: 10.1007/s11259-012-9549-3

64. da Silva WC, da Silva ÉBR, dos Santos MRP, Camargo RNC, Barbosa AVC, da Silva JAR, et al. Behavior and thermal comfort of light and dark coat dairy cows in the Eastern Amazon. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:1006093. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022. 1006093

65. Petko M, Myung RJ, Volk LE, Judkins AR, Ittenbach RF, Gaynor JW. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest in cyanotic piglets is associated with increased neuronal necrosis. *Cardiol Young.* (2021) 31:769–74. doi: 10.1017/S1047951120004606

66. Stewart M, Wilson MT, Schaefer AL, Huddart F, Sutherland MA. The use of infrared thermography and accelerometers for remote monitoring of dairy cow health and welfare. *J Dairy Sci.* (2017) 100:3893–901. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-12055

67. Kim S, Hidaka Y. Breathing pattern nalysis in Cacttle using infrared thermography and computer vision. *Animals*. (2021) 11:207. doi: 10.3390/ani11010207

68. Ma S, Yao Q, Masuda T, Higaki S, Yoshioka K, Arai S, et al. Development of noncontact body temperature monitoring and prediction system for livestock cattle. *IEEE Sens J.* (2021) 21:9367–76. doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2021.3056112

69. Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Gómez-Prado J, Carvajal-de la Fuente V, Ghezzi M, et al. Pathophysiology of fever and application of infrared thermography (IRT) in the detection of sick domestic animals: Recent advances. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2316. doi: 10.3390/ani11082316

70. Pereira AMF, Vilela RA, Titto CG, Leme-dos-Santos TMC, Geraldo ACM, Balieiro JCC, et al. Thermoregulatory responses of heat acclimatized buffaloes to simulated heat waves. *Animals*. (2020) 10:756. doi: 10.3390/ani10050756

71. Koga A, Kurata K, Ohata K, Nakajima M, Hirose H, Furukawa R, et al. Internal changes of blood compartment and heat distribution in swamp buffaloes under hot conditions: comparative study of thermo-regulation in buffaloes and Friesian cows. *Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci.* (1999) 12:886–90. doi: 10.5713/ajas.1999.886

72. Casas-Alvarado A, Mota-Rojas D, Hernández-Ávalos I, Mora-Medina P, Olmos-Hernández A, Verduzco-Mendoza A, et al. Advances in infrared thermography: Surgical aspects, vascular changes, and pain monitoring in veterinary medicine. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 92:102664. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102664

73. Upadhyay RC, Singh AK, Devi R, Kumar Y, Kumar P. Physiological changes and blood flow in murrah buffaloes during summer and winter season. *J Buffalo Sci.* (2014) 3:63–9. doi: 10.6000/1927-520X.2014.03.02.6

74. Marai IFM, Haeeb AAM. Buffalo's biological functions as affected by heat stress—A review. *Livest Sci.* (2010) 127:89–109. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009.08.001

75. Mota- Rojas D, Alnaimy Habeeb A, Ghezzi MD, Kanth Reddy R, Napolitano F, Lendez PA, et al. Water buffalo thermoregulation: Neurobiological mechanisms, microcirculatory changes and practical applications of infrared thermography. In: F Napolitano, D Mota-Rojas, I Guerrero- Legarreta, A Orihuela, editors, *El búfalo de Agua en Latinoamérica. Hallazgos recientes*. Ciudad de México, México: BM Editores (2020). p. 923–58. Available online at: https://www.lifescienceglobal.com/ journals/journal-of-buffalo-science/97-abstract/jbs/4550-el-bufalo-de-agua-en-latinoamerica-hallazgos-recientes (accessed June 5, 2020).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal

REVIEWED BY

Mariana Almeida, University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro, Portugal Marcelo Ghezzi, Universidad Nacional del Centro de Buenos Aires. Argentina

*CORRESPONDENCE Daniel Mota-Rojas 🖾 dmota100@yahoo.com.mx

[†]Deceased

RECEIVED 12 March 2023 ACCEPTED 24 April 2023 PUBLISHED 12 May 2023

CITATION

Rodríguez-González D, Guerrero Legarreta I, Cruz-Monterrosa RG, Napolitano F, Titto CG, Abd El-Aziz AH, Hernández-Avalos I, Casas-Alvarado A, Domínguez-Oliva A and Mota-Rojas D (2023) Assessment of thermal changes in water buffalo mobilized from the paddock and transported by short journeys. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1184577. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1184577

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rodríguez-González, Guerrero Legarreta, Cruz-Monterrosa, Napolitano, Titto, Abd El-Aziz, Hernández-Avalos, Casas-Alvarado, Domínguez-Oliva and Mota-Rojas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Assessment of thermal changes in water buffalo mobilized from the paddock and transported by short journeys

Daniela Rodríguez-González¹, Isabel Guerrero Legarreta², Rosy G. Cruz-Monterrosa³, Fabio Napolitano^{4†}, Cristiane Gonçalves Titto⁵, Ayman H. Abd El-Aziz⁶, Ismael Hernández-Avalos⁷, Alejandro Casas-Alvarado⁸, Adriana Domínguez-Oliva⁸ and Daniel Mota-Rojas^{8*}

¹Master's Program in Agricultural and Livestock Sciences [Maestría en Ciencias Agropecuarias], Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana (UAM), Xochimilco Campus, Mexico City, Mexico, ²Department of Biotechnology: Food Science, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Iztapalapa Campus (UAM-I), Mexico City, Mexico, ³Department of Food Science, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana (UAM-L), Campus Lerma, Lerma City, Mexico, ⁴Scuola di Scienze Agrarie, Forestali, Alimentari ed Ambientali, Università degli Studi della Basilicata, Potenza, Italy, ⁵Laboratório de Biometeorologia e Etologia, Faculdade de Zootecnia e Engenharia de Alimentos, FZEA-USP, Universidade de São Paulo, Pirassununga, Brazil, ⁶Animal Husbandry and Animal Wealth Development Department, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Damanhour University, Damanhour, Egypt, ⁷Department of Biological Science, FESC, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM), Cuautitían Izcalli, Mexico, ⁸Neurophysiology, Behavior and Animal Welfare Assessment, DPAA, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana (UAM), Xochimilco Campus, Mexico City, Mexico

Evaluating the welfare of buffaloes during transport is key to obtaining and commercializing high-quality meat products; however, effective assessments require recognizing several stressors that activate physiological mechanisms that can have repercussions on the health and productive performance of species. The aim of this study was to evaluate the surface temperatures of different body and head regions in this species during events prior, and posterior, to transport for short periods; that is, from paddock to loading. The second goal was to determine the level of correlation between thermal windows. This study used infrared thermography (IRT) to evaluate the surface temperature of 624 water buffaloes (Buffalypso breed) during 12 short trips (average duration=2 h+20 min) by focusing on 11 regions of the body (Regio corporis), in the head regions (Regiones capitis) the face regions (Regiones faciei), Orbital region (Regio orbitalis) with special attention to structures such as the lacrimal caruncle, periocular area and lower eyelid (Regio palpebralis inferior); nasal region (Regio nasalis) with special attention to nostril thermal window; and regions of the skull (Regiones cranii) such as auricular region (Regio auricularis) with special attention to auditory canal and frontal-parietal region (Regio frontalis-parietalis) and trunk region (Truncus regionis) such as thoracic and abdominal regions, regions of the vertebral column (Columna vertebralis) with the thoracic vertebral region (Regio vertebralis thoracis) and lumbar region (Regio lumbalis); and regions of the pelvis limb (Regiones membri pelvini). Recordings were made during seven phases: paddock (P1), herding (P2), corral (P3), chute handling (P4), shipping (P5), pre- (P6), and posttransport (P7). A total of 48,048 readings were obtained from 11 thermal windows. The results showed that the surface temperatures of the windows increased by as much as 5°C during P2, P3, P5, P6, and P7 compared to P1 and P4 (p<0.0001). Differences of at least 1°C were also observed between thermal windows in the craniofacial, lateral corporal, and peripheral zones (p<0.0001). Finally, a strong positive correlation (r=0.9, p<0.0001) was found between the thermal windows.

These findings lead to the conclusion that the surface temperature of the craniofacial and corporal regions of buffaloes transported for short periods varied in relation to the phase of mobilization (from paddock to post-transport), likely as a response to stressful factors, since herding and loading increased the thermal values in each window. The second conclusion is that there are strong positive correlations between central and peripheral thermal windows.

KEYWORDS

Bubalus bubalis, infrared thermography, animal welfare, transport, herding method

1. Introduction

Animal transport is an integral element in the process of breeding and fattening buffaloes (1–3) to obtain and commercialize meat products (4–7). However, transport is considered one of the most stressful procedures for farm animals because it exposes them to environmental factors, drivers' aptitude, road conditions, and trip duration, all of which can affect their welfare by provoking injuries or negative mental states such as fear and anxiety, due to the triggering of physiological and behavioral mechanisms that can modify muscular metabolism and muscle-to-meat conversion, and affect the amount, quality, and innocuity of the final products (8–11). Obviously, this means economic losses for the producers.

In light of the negative effects of mobilization-induced stress, diverse behavioral, pathological, and physiological indicators are being used to evaluate the levels of animal welfare during this phase, where observable physiological changes include dehydration, hyporexia, tissue damage, smoke inhalation, and physical, thermal, and psychological stress (12-15), which can inhibit the immune system under long exposure to adverse environments (16). Endocrine and metabolic alterations, increased plasma cortisol and serum protein concentrations, and glycemia levels have been documented after 16h of transport, while loss of live weight (from 7.9 to 10.5%) (17, 18) has been associated with energy deficits caused by muscular and hepatic glycogenolysis (19). Another physiological indicator suggested for monitoring is body temperature, as increases can aid in recognizing stressful processes and may be related to the overall health condition of animals (20). Regarding behavioral changes in buffaloes, reports have emphasized that transport conditions increase the frequency of aggressive and dominant behaviors (21, 22), urination (28%), defecation, and urination and defecation (72%), as well as attempts to jump from vehicles (12%) (7) which results in falls and injuries that affect both the animals and the quality of the final product.

Water buffaloes have shown a greater predisposition to transportinduced stress due to certain morphophysiological characteristics that make them susceptible to thermal stress, a very common consequence of transport. Buffaloes have fewer sweat glands and a lower proportion in relation to body weight than other livestock species (394/cm²), low hair density (100–200/cm²), and hide with more pigmentation that impedes adequate thermal exchange (23, 24). Evaluating body temperature in buffaloes is a parameter that permits the determination of the degree of thermal stress. The "gold standard" for monitoring this factor was obtained via invasive methods, like measuring rectal and vaginal temperatures (25). However, these techniques can generate stress in animals due to the handling requirements. For this reason, non-invasive technologies such as IRT have been proposed as tools to evaluate surface temperatures in these animals (26, 27).

IRT enables evaluation of the amount of heat that a body radiates, a phenomenon related to changes in peripheral blood flow through activation of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) in the face of diverse stressors (28). Because transport entails a certain degree of stress that has not been widely studied in water buffaloes, the aim of this study was to evaluate the surface temperatures of different body and craniofacial regions in this species during events prior, and posterior, to transport for short periods; that is, from paddock to loading. The second goal was to determine the level of correlation between central (abdominal and thoracic region) and peripheral (limb and nasal) thermal windows.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study location

The study was conducted in the state of Veracruz in southsoutheast Mexico, from June 2021 to August 2022. The production unit is in a zone with a tropical humid climate, with a mean temperature of $31\pm2^{\circ}$ C, relative humidity of 86%, an elevation of 20 m.a.s.l., and annual rainfall of 1,500–2,000 mm (29).

2.2. The animals and the distribution of the phases

For this study, 624 male Buffalypso buffaloes destined for fattening were selected. The mean weight of the animals was 230 ± 21.78 kg. They were transported on 12 short trips covering 110 km with a mean duration of $2 h \pm 20$ min and an average velocity of 55 km/h.

The buffaloes were divided for the 12 trips according to the capacity of the first floor of the truck as follows: 53, 51, 49, 56, 53, 50, 53, 52, 54, 51, 52, and 50. Before each trip, they were housed in the same paddock and herded gently (no use of physical utensils or shouting by handlers).

2.3. Housing prior to loading and vehicle type

To carry out the experimental protocol, the transport process was divided into seven phases (Figure 1):



FIGURE 1

Areas where the evaluation phases were carried out. (A) The paddock of the production unit; basal sampling (P1). (B) After herding by men on horseback (P2). (C) After spending the night in the cattle corral system, prior to entering the handling chute (P3). (D) Handling chute (P4). (E) Entering the vehicle via a loading ramp (P5). (F,G) The vehicle prior to transport (P6) and upon arrival at the reception site (P7).

Phase 1 (P1). Paddock, basal monitoring: The animals were housed in paddocks with natural shade until they reached a weight of 208–251 kg. Alimentation consisted of native grasses (*Paspalum fasciculatum*) (percentage of dry matter = 14.7% with 56.7% neutral detergent fiber, 38.8% acid detergent fiber, 6.2% raw protein (30), and 50 g/animal of mineral complements).

Phase 2 (P2). Herding by handlers on horseback: Once the steers reached the desired weight, they were herded gently by men on the horseback without physical utensils or electric prods. For all trips, herding from the paddock to the corral system (P3) required an average of 25–35 min. This was always performed at 18:00. The animals remained in the cattle corral system for 12 h (including the night before transport).

Phase 3 (P3). Cattle corral system: The pen had a surface area of 630 m² and a dirt floor. It was framed by 1.6 m high tubular structures with an entrance gate and an exit gate that led to the handling chute. The buffaloes remained there for 8 h without solid food but with *ad libitum* access to water.

Phase 4 (P4): Handling chute: The chute consisted of a hallway (1 m wide \times 1.6 m high \times 3.5 m long), framed by tubular structures, and connected to an individual weight scale. This hallway led to a loading ramp. The average duration was 50 min.

Phase 5 (P5). Loading: During an interval of approximately 30–50 min, the buffaloes were led up with a concrete loading ramp made of anti-slip grooving. Slope was 20°.

Phase 6 (P6). Pre-transport: The time spent in the vehicle before transport, counted from the moment when all the animals had been loaded into the truck.

Phase 7 (P7). Post-transport: The time when the animals were still inside the vehicle, immediately upon arrival at the reception site, after transport over dirt and paved roads. The topography of the roads was classified as unpaved or paved. The former had the specifications of Class E roads, according to the classification of Mexico's Department of State (*Secretaría de Gobernación*) (31), with a maximum slope of 13%.

The mean maximum velocity was 25 km/h. Dirt roads were used to exit the production unit (10 km) and enter the reception site (12.5 km). The total trip length on the unpaved roads was 22.5 km with a maximum overelevation of 10%, vertical curves of 4 m/%, and road width of 6 m. The other 87.5 km were covered on a paved road with a maximum transversal slope of 7%, a maximum speed of 55 km/h, vertical curves of 5 m/%, and a road width of 8 m.

The vehicle was a Wilson Trailers Silver Star (dimensions: 15.24 m long $\times 2.59 \text{ m}$ wide $\times 4.6 \text{ m}$ high) with a load capacity of 22,500 kg. The truck was designed especially for animal transport with two floors, sliding side doors, a rear guillotine door, a non-slip floor, a reinforced plastic roof, and fiberglass. The walls were made of galvanized steel and aluminum, with openings for ventilation during the trips.

2.4. Monitoring by infrared thermography

Thermographic monitoring was performed using a FLIR[®] Thermal TM E60 infrared camera (FLIR Systems, United States) with an IR resolution of 320×240 pixels, thermal sensitivity $<0.045^{\circ}$ C, and precision $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C or 2%. All the radiometric images were taken at a distance of 1–1.5 m from the buffaloes, focusing on one of the following regions: facial regions (*Regiones faciei*) and skull region (*Regiones cranii*), trunk region (*Truncus regionis*) left or right, or regions of the vertebral column (*Columna vertebralis*), and regions of the pelvis limb (*Regiones membri pelvini*). Eleven body thermal windows in the head (*Regiones capitis*) and the trunk (*Truncus* *regionis*) were selected and delimited using FLIR tools software. The facial regions (*Regiones faciei*) included the orbital region (*Regio orbitalis*) with special attention to structures such as the lacrimal caruncle, periocular area and lower eyelid (*Regio palpebralis inferior*); nasal region (*Regio nasalis*) with special attention to nostril thermal window and regions of the skull (*Regiones cranii*) such as auricular region (*Regio auricularis*) with special attention to auditory canal and frontal–parietal region (*Regio frontalis-parietalis*) (Figure 2).

The trunk region (*Truncus regionis*) thoracic region and abdominal region, thermal window of the trunk, and regions of the pelvis limb (*Regiones membri pelvini*) with two anatomical regions indicated the femoral region (*Region femoris*) and the tarsus region (*Regio tarsi*), thermal windows of the regions of the pelvis limb (*Regiones membri pelvini*) are shown in Figure 3.

Figure 4 shows the regions of the vertebral column (*Columna vertebralis*) with the thoracic vertebral region (*Regio vertebralis thoracis*) and lumbar region (*Regio lumbalis*).

2.5. Recording and reading of the IRT

In accordance with the seven experimental phases, IRT readings were recorded as follows: P1, prior to the buffaloes being herded by men on horseback. Recordings were made while they were at rest for 1 h under shade, between 17:00 and 18:00 h; P2, inside the corral on the day prior to transport; P3, at 08:00 h, prior to guiding the animals into the handling chute to be weighed and loaded; P4, while the buffaloes were in the handling chute waiting to be weighed; P5, during loading as the animals walked up the ramp and entered the truck; P6, for 40 min after all the buffaloes were loaded into the truck but with the motor shut off, and P7, for 40 min immediately after concluding the short trip, but with the truck's motor still turned on.

All digital and radiometric images were stored in JPG format for later analysis using FLIR software (Tools Systems, United States) to obtain the maximum, minimum, and average temperature readings, which were then entered into a database.

The ambient temperature (AT) and relative humidity (RH) were monitored at different times, in accordance with the experimental phase. P1: AT and RH ranged from 23 to 25° C and 81-90%, respectively (17:00–18:00 h). P2: AT and RH values were $21-25^{\circ}$ C and 81-88%, respectively (18:00–18:30 h). P3: AT and RH fluctuated around $20-23^{\circ}$ C and 81-86%, respectively (08:00 h). P4: AT and RH were $22-25^{\circ}$ C and 81-88%, respectively (09:00 h). P5: values were $22-27^{\circ}$ C and 81-88% at 10:00 h. P6 and P7: data for AT and RH ranged from $22-28^{\circ}$ C and 81-89% at 11:00 h and $23-30^{\circ}$ C and 83-94% at 14:00–15:00 h.



Delimitation of thermal windows in the head regions (*Regiones capitis*). (A) Ocular thermal windows in Orbital region (*Regio orbitalis*). Recordings in this zone centered on the lacrimal caruncle, delimited as circle a1, and considered the medial commissure of the eyelids up to half a centimeter toward the cranium. This area reflects the radiation of blood flow from the infraorbital artery innervated by the sympathetic branches of the facial nerve. The periocular thermal window, marked by circle a2, spans the periphery of the upper and lower eyelids, irrigated by both the supraorbital and infraorbital arteries. The lower eyelid thermal window, defined by a line approximately 3 cm long (a3), was used to evaluate radiation from the conjunctival mucosa and was irrigated by the infraorbital artery. (B) Regions of the skull (*Regiones cranii*), thermal window of the auricular pavilion in the auricular region (*Regio auricularis*). This area is framed by circle b1 in the region of the additory canal, the antihelix ridge, and the lateral peduncle of the helix, irrigated by the media and the lateral and central arteries. (C) Thermal window of the frontal-parietal region (*Regio cornualis*) limits, and parietal region (*Regio parietalis*). Outlined by an oval (c1) that encompasses the frontal-parietal region (*Regio naris* thermal window in the frontal region (*Regio frontalis*): evals c2 and c2[′]. It was used to evaluate the radiation from the maxillary artery.



FIGURE 3

Delimitation of the trunk thermal windows in the trunk region (*Truncus regionis*). (A) The thermal window of the thoracic region in costal region (*Regio costalis*) is shown by a rectangle (a1, b1) traced from the costal arch from 1° to 12°. The cranial abdominal region (*Regio abdominis cranialis*) delimited by a rectangle (a2, b2), includes the oblique abdominal and rectus abdominis muscles irrigated by the surface epigastric artery (*A. epigastrica cranialis superficiales*). (B) The thermal window of the regions of the pelvis limb (*Regiones membri pelvini*) were marked by two circles at the *Regio femoris* (a3¹, b3¹), and at the *Regio tarsi* (a3², b3²). It includes the femoral region the femoral muscle and the tarsus region lateral projection of the region of the common calcaneal tendon (*Regio tendinis calcanei communis*), regions irrigated by the femoral artery, and branches of the saphenous artery.



FIGURE 4

Delimitation of the regions of the vertebral column (*Columna vertebralis*) thermal windows. (A) The thermal window of the thoracic vertebral region (*Regio vertebralis thoracis*) is marked with a rectangle. It includes the left (a1) and right (b1) projections from the thoracic vertebrae and the thoracic vertebrae and the thoracic vertebrae and the with of the transverse processes from thoracic vertebral $1^{a}-12^{a}$. This area is irrigated by spinal branch (*Ramus spinalis*) from the dorsal branches of the abdominal aorta artery, in the thoracic vertebral region. (B) The thermal window of the lumbar vertebral region (*Regio vertebralis lumbalis*). This rectangle encompasses the left (a2) and right (b2) projections from the lumbar vertebra above the transverse processes of lumbar vertebrae $1^{a}-7^{a}$. This permits the evaluation of radiation from the spinal branch (*Ramus spinalis*) from the dorsal branches of the abdominal aorta artery, in the thoracic vertebrae the spinal branch (*Ramus spinalis*) from the dorsal branches of the abdominal aorta artery, in the thoracic vertebrae the spinal branch (*Ramus spinalis*) from the transverse processes of lumbar vertebrae $1^{a}-7^{a}$. This permits the evaluation of radiation from the spinal branch (*Ramus spinalis*) from the dorsal branches of the abdominal aorta artery, in the lumbar vertebral region.

2.6. Statistical analysis

The GraphPad Prism statistical package (ver. 9.4.1) was used for all analyses. First, descriptive statistics were obtained for each thermal window (periocular, lacrimal caruncle, lower eyelid, auditory canal, nostrils, parieto-frontal area, and the thoracic, abdominal, appendicular, lumbar, and dorsal areas) and event (P1–P7). Results are expressed as mean \pm standard error (SE). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used for normality analysis.

The events and thermal windows were considered as independent variables, and the surface temperature was considered as the dependent variable. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to evaluate the effect of these variables in a linear mixed model using the following statistical model:

$$Y_{ijak} = \mu + \tau i + \tau j + \tau i\tau j + \beta k + e_{ijk}$$

where:

Y = response variable (surface temperature). $\tau i = \text{effect of the thermal window.}$ $\tau j = \text{effect of the event.}$ $\tau i \tau j = \text{interaction effect.}$ $\beta = \text{random effect (animal).}$ $\mu =$ population mean. e = error.

Differences between means were analyzed using a *post-hoc* Tukey test. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05. Correlation analysis was conducted using the Pearson's correlation coeficient.

2.7. Ethics statement

The experimental protocol was approved by the Scientific Commission of the Master in Science (CAMCA) "Maestría en Ciencias Agropecuarias" of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Husbandry, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Mexico City, Mexico. The animals used in this study were handled gently, without the use of physical utensils that could cause stress, in accordance with the guidelines of the Official Mexican Standards NOM-062-ZOO-1999, which establish technical specifications for the production, care, and ethical use of animals during experimentation; and NOM-051-ZOO which establish technical specifications for humanitarian handling in the mobilization of animals published by the Department of Agriculture, Rural Development, Fisheries and Alimentation. It is also important to consider that the animals were not touched or stressed, since infrared thermography is a non-invasive technique.

3. Results

During the seven phases analyzed, we obtained 48,048 surface temperature readings from 11 thermal windows of 624 water buffaloes transported on 12 short trips. Table 1 shows the mean temperatures of the thermal windows in the head regions (*Regiones capitis*) and their corresponding standard errors.

Observations showed the thermal windows considered in the orbital region (*Regio orbitalis*) such as the lacrimal caruncle, periocular region, and lower eyelid thermal windows had significant average increases of 4.3°C, 4.8°C, and 3.7°C, respectively, during P2, P3, and P4, compared to P1 (p < 0.0001). Readings for the Regions of the skull (*Cranii regions*), the auditory canal thermal window showed increases of 1.3°C, 0.8°C, and 1.3°C in those windows compared to P5 (p < 0.0001), while the comparison of P3 to P2 and P4 revealed a significant reduction of 1.3° (p < 0.0001). Observations during P6 and P7 showed a gradual increase in surface temperature compared with P5 (p < 0.0001).

Readings for the auditory canal window showed an increase of 7.7°C from P1 to P2 (p<0.0001), but the auricular temperature decreased by 2.6°C from P2 to P3 (p<0.0001). Later, it increased by 1°C and 0.8°C during P4 and P5, respectively, compared to P2 (p<0.0001). Recordings for P6 and P7 showed significant increases of 2.7°C and 2.5°C compared to P4 and P5 (p<0.0001).

For the thermal windows the nasal region (*Regio nasalis*), the nostrils and frontal-parietal region, the study found that temperatures in P1 were 4.7°C and 11.6°C lower, respectively, than those in P2 (p < 0.0001), but those temperatures decreased by 1.3°C and 6.4°C, respectively, in P3 (p < 0.0001). In P4 and P5, the temperatures increased by 0.5°C and 0.8°C, respectively (p < 0.0001). This increase was maintained in P6 (2°C) and P7 (2.6°C), compared to P5 (p < 0.0001). Readings from the thermal window of frontal- parietal

region showed increases of 8.4°C in P4, 4.5°C in P5 (p < 0.0001), and 8.6°C in P7 compared to P5 and P6 (p < 0.0001).

Considering the different phases of this study and the thermal responses in the windows described, during P1, temperatures in the orbital region (*Regio orbitalis*) such as the lacrimal caruncle, periocular, and lower eyelid were significantly 2°C higher than in the auditory canal, nostrils, and thermal window of frontal-parietal region (p < 0.0001). During P2, the parieto-frontal window presented the highest temperature among all windows (p < 0.0001). The orbital region (*Regio orbitalis*) such as the lacrimal caruncle, periocular, and auditory canal had temperatures 0.7°C higher than those of the lower eyelid (p < 0.0001), but the latter was 1.9°C higher than the nostrils window (p < 0.0001).

Observations from P3 showed that the temperature of the periocular window was 0.3° C higher than that of the lacrimal caruncle (p < 0.0001), and 1°C higher than that of the lower eyelid (p < 0.0001). Similarly, the temperature of the lower eyelid was 1.2° C higher than that in the nostril window (p < 0.0001). For P4, P5, P6, and P7, the thermal window of frontal–parietal region showed the highest temperatures in all regions (p < 0.0001), followed in the orbital region (*Regio orbitalis*) by the lacrimal caruncle, periocular region, and lower eyelid region (p < 0.0001).

The temperatures of the thermal windows of the lateral region of the trunk are presented in Table 2. In P1, the thermal window of the thoracic region presented a lower temperature than the other phases but was 8.6°C lower in P2 (p<0.0001). Readings for phases P3, P4, and P5 showed reductions of 5.4°C, 3°C, and 3.3°C, respectively, compared to P2 (p<0.0001), but increases of 3.4°C in P6 and 4.9°C in P7 were determined (p<0.0001). The thermal window of the abdominal region recorded a temperature increase of 6.8°C in P2 compared to P1 (p<0.0001). With respect to P3, P4, and P5, we observed decreases of 4°C, 1.7°C, and 2.8°C, respectively, compared to P2 (p<0.0001), whereas P6 and P7 registered increases of 4.6°C and 5.3°C, respectively (p<0.0001). Temperature readings for the thermal window of the pelvic limb in P1 were the lowest of all events (p<0.0001), but the temperatures recorded in P2 and P6 were significantly higher than those in P3, P4, and P5 by 2.7, 0.2, and 2.3°C, respectively (p<0.0001).

For P1 and P6, we found that the thermal window had values 0.5 and 0.4°C above those of the thermal window of the thoracic region (p < 0.0001). Readings for the latter, compared to the limbs regions, showed increases of 0.9 and 3.7°C, respectively (p < 0.0001). During P2 and P7, the study found that the thermal window of the thoracic region was 1.3 and 0.4°C higher than the thermal window of the abdominal region (p < 0.0001) while the latter was 1.6 and 3.7°C higher than the thermal window of the thermal window of the pelvic limb regions (p < 0.0001).

Table 3 presents the thermal values recorded in the thermal windows of the regions of the vertebral column. The reading for the thermal window of the thoracic vertebral region (*Regio vertebralis thoracis*) in P1 was lower than in all other events (p < 0.0001). The temperature of this window was 6°C and 6.6°C higher in P2 and P4 than in P3 (p < 0.0001) but decreased by 2.1°C and 1.9°C in P5 and P6, respectively (p < 0.0001). Later, the surface temperature of this thermal window increased by 4.3°C compared to P6 (p < 0.0001). Observations of the thermal window of the lumbar region (*Regio lumbalis*) showed that P6 had the highest temperature of all thermal windows (p < 0.0001), although in P1, it obtained the lowest value (p < 0.0001). In P2 and P4, this zone registered temperatures of 6.4°C and 6.7°C, respectively, higher than in P3 (p < 0.0001). Finally, the surface

10.3389/fvets.2023.1184577

TABLE 1 Mean±	E 1 Mean±standard error (SE) temperatures for the thermal windows of the head regions (<i>Regiones capitis</i>) of 624 water buffaloes in the 7 phases of transport for short periods.							
					Phase			
Thermal wi	ndow	P1. Paddock	P2. Herding	P3. Corral	P4. Handling chute	P5. Loading	P6. Pre- transport	P7. Post- transport
Facial region (<i>Regions faciei</i>)	Orbital region (Regio orbitalis) Lacrimal caruncle	$33.9 \pm 0.03^{\rm e,1}$	$38.9 \pm 0.06^{c,2}$	$37.4\pm0.02^{\scriptscriptstyle e,2}$	$38.7 \pm 0.03^{c,3}$	$38.3\pm 0.03^{\rm d,3}$	$40.2 \pm 0.04^{\rm b,2}$	$41.1\pm0.09^{\text{a},4}$
	Periocular region	$33.7 \pm 0.03^{\rm f,2}$	$39.0 \pm 0.04^{c,2}$	$37.7 \pm 0.02^{\text{e},1}$	$39.0 \pm 0.03^{c,2}$	$38.5\pm 0.03^{\rm d,2}$	$40.0\pm0.03^{b,2,3}$	$41.5\pm0.09^{\mathrm{a},2}$
	Lower eyelid	$33.9 \pm 0.04^{\rm f,1,2}$	$38.3 \pm 0.02^{c,3}$	$36.4\pm0.06^{\text{e},3}$	$38.1 \pm 0.04^{c,4}$	$37.7 \pm 0.02^{\rm d,4}$	$40.3 \pm 0.08^{\text{b},2}$	$41.3 \pm 0.09^{\rm a,3}$
	Nasal region (Regio nasalis) Nostrils	$31.7\pm 0.04^{g,3}$	$36.4 \pm 0.04^{c,4}$	$35.1 \pm 0.03^{\rm f.5}$	$35.6 \pm 0.02^{e,6}$	$35.9\pm0.03^{\rm d,6}$	$37.3 \pm 0.03^{\mathrm{b},4}$	$38.5 \pm 0.03^{a,6}$
Regions of the	Auricular pavilion	$31.2\pm 0.05^{\rm f,3}$	$38.9 \pm 0.03^{\mathrm{b},2}$	$36.3\pm0.05^{\text{e},4}$	$37.3 \pm 0.03^{c,5}$	$37.1 \pm 0.02^{d,5}$	$39.8 \pm 0.03^{\text{a},3}$	$39.7 \pm 0.04^{\rm a,5}$
skull (Cranii regions)	Frontal-parietal region	$31.5\pm 0.06^{\rm g.3}$	$43.1 \pm 0.08^{c,1}$	$36.7\pm 0.03^{\rm f,3}$	$45.1 \pm 0.07^{b,4}$	$41.2 \pm 0.06^{\text{e},1}$	$41.1 \pm 0.09^{\text{e},1}$	$49.7 \pm 0.15^{\rm a, l}$

Different literals a, b, c, d, e, f, g indicate statistically significant differences among the temperatures of the animals according to the phase. Different numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 indicate statistically significant differences between the temperatures of the thermal windows.

TABLE 2 Mean±standard error (SE) of the temperatures in the thermal windows of the lateral region of the trunk of 624 water buffaloes transported during seven phases of short trips.

					Phase			
Thermal window		P1. Paddock	P2. Herding	P3. Corral	P4. Handling chute	P5. Loading	P6. Pre- transport	P7. Post- transport
Lateral region of the trunk	Thoracic region	$33.0 \pm 0.03^{e,2}$	$41.6\pm0.06^{\text{b},\text{l}}$	$36.2\pm 0.02^{\rm d,1}$	$38.6 \pm 0.03^{\text{c},1}$	$38.3 \pm 0.07^{\text{c},1}$	$41.7 \pm 0.06^{\text{b},2}$	$43.2\pm0.08^{\scriptscriptstyle a,l}$
	Abdominal region	$33.5 \pm 0.02^{\mathrm{g.1}}$	$40.3 \pm 0.05^{\text{c},2}$	$36.3 \pm 0.03^{\rm f,1}$	$38.6 \pm 0.03^{d,1}$	37.5 ± 0.05 ^{e,2}	$42.1 \pm 0.07^{\text{b},1}$	$42.8 \pm 0.08^{a,2}$
Limbs region	Pelvic limb	$32.1 \pm 0.04^{\rm f,3}$	$38.7 \pm 0.02^{\text{b},3}$	$35.9 \pm 0.03^{\text{e},2}$	$38.4 \pm 0.03^{\text{c},1}$	$36.3\pm 0.02^{\rm d,3}$	$38.6 \pm 0.04^{\text{b},3}$	$39.1 \pm 0.04^{a,3}$

Different literals a, b, c, d, e, f, g indicate statistically significant differences among the temperatures of the animals according to the phase.

Different numbers 1, 2, 3 indicate statistically significant differences between the windows.

TABLE 3 Mean±standard error (SE) temperatures for the thermal windows of the trunk region (Truncus regionis) left or right of 624 water buffaloes during 7 phases of short periods of transport.

				Phase			
Thermal window	P1. Paddock	P2. Herding	P3. Corral	P4. Handling chute	P5. Loading	P6. Pre-transport	P7. Post- transport
Thoracic vertebral region	$32.1 \pm 0.05^{\text{f},2}$	$41.6\pm0.09^{\text{b},1}$	$35.6 \pm 0.04^{e,1}$	$42.2 \pm 0.06^{\text{b},1}$	$40.1 \pm 0.10^{\rm d,1}$	$40.8 \pm 0.08^{\text{c},2}$	$45.1 \pm 0.11^{a,2}$
Lumbar vertebral region	$33.4 \pm 0.04^{\text{g},1}$	$42.0 \pm 0.08^{c,1}$	$35.6 \pm 0.04^{\rm f,1}$	$42.3 \pm 0.03^{b,1}$	$40.4 \pm 0.13^{e,1}$	$41.4\pm 0.07^{\rm d,1}$	$44.6\pm0.07^{\text{a},1}$

Different literals a, b, c, d, e, f, g indicate statistically significant differences between the temperatures of the animals according to the phase.

temperature decreased in P5 and P6 by 1.9°C and 1°C, respectively, compared to P4 (*p* < 0.0001).

Regarding statistically significant differences between the thermal windows of the thoracic vertebral region and lumbar region, the findings showed that in P1 and P6, the temperatures of the thermal window of the lumbar region were 1.3 and 0.6°C higher, respectively, than in the thermal window of the thoracic vertebral region (p < 0.0001). At P7, the temperature of the thermal window of the thoracic vertebral region was 0.5°C higher than that in the thermal window of the lumbar region (p < 0.0001).

Table 4 shows the level of correlation observed between the 11 thermal windows. Overall, the correlations among the different thermal windows were positive, strong, and statistically significant (*p* < 0.0001).

4. Discussion

The results obtained for the buffaloes transported for short periods showed that the surface temperatures of thermal windows of the head and trunk increased significantly in P2, P4, P6, and P7, that is, during the events that required handling (p < 0.0001). These responses may be associated with the loss of thermal stability in the buffaloes, a species whose optimal ambient for achieving thermoneutrality is in the range of 13-18°C (32, 33).

Although adequate temperatures have been reported for water buffaloes, there is limited literature on the thermal responses of these species during transport. For conventional bovines, a study on the transport by land and sea of 481 animals reported a significant association between increases in such biomarkers as glucose, creatine kinase, and lactate levels with IRT temperature readings (34). A study of 120 pigs transported for 40 min reported temperature increases in the orbital region and behind the ear, which correlated positively with increased salivary cortisol concentrations (r=0.49 and r=0.50, respectively) (35). Studies of this type in other livestock species subjected to transport suggest that surface temperatures can be useful indicators of physiological changes triggered in response to transportinduced stress (36, 37), which may be reflected as central and peripheral nervous system reply with activation of vasomotor modulation hyperthermia (38).

In our study, the largest surface temperature increases in the buffaloes were recorded in the post-transport phase (p < 0.0001). This can be explained by the activation of Autonomic nervous system (ANS) and its sympathetic branch, which generates catecholamine production as a short-term response (24). Catecholamines act on metabolically active organs such as brown adipose tissue to initiate thermogenesis, thus increasing heat irradiation (39, 40). Activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) causes the secretion of glucocorticoids (e.g., cortisol) that promote gluconeogenesis and lipolysis (41, 42). In this regard, studies on ruminants have reported increases in plasma cortisol by up to 10-fold after 30 and 45 min, 1 h, 2 h, and up to 4 h post-transport (43-47). Mitchell et al. (48), cited in Ali-Gholi and Daryoush (49), stated that sympathetic, adrenal, and medullar reactions are related to physiological responses during transport, while hypothalamus, hypophysis, and suprarenal reactions are responsible for cortisol secretion under adverse environmental conditions. Therefore, this physiological response is responsible for heat production during the

TABLE 4 Correlations between the thermal windows of 624 water buffaloes during all seven phases of short periods of transport.	between the ther	mal windows of 6	24 water buffaloe	es during all seven	phases of short g	oeriods of transpo	ort.				
	Lacrimal caruncle	Periocular region	Lower eyelid	Auricular pavilion	Nostrils	Frontal- parietal region	Thoracic region	Abdominal region	Limbs region	Lumbar region	Thoracic vertebral region
Lacrimal caruncle	1*	0.96*	0.97*	0.94^{*}	0.95*	0.95*	0.94^{*}	0.94^{*}	0.95*	0.95*	0.93*
Periocular region		1*	0.97*	0.99*	0.99*	0.98*	0.97*	0.96*	.99*	0.97*	0.95*
Lower eyelid			1*	0.96*	0.97*	0.98*	0.97*	0.97*	0.96*	0.98*	0.97*
Auricular pavilion				1*	0.99*	0.96*	0.96*	0.94^{*}	1*	0.96*	0.95*
Nostrils					1^*	0.98*	0.98*	0.97*	.99*	0.98*	0.97*
Frontal-parietal region						1*	1*	1*	0.96*	*66.0	0.99*
Thoracic region							1*	1*	0.96*	66.0	*66.0
Abdominal region								1*	0.95*	*66.0	0.98*
Limbs region									1*	0.97*	0.96*
Lumbar region										1*	*66.0
Thoracic vertebral											1*
region											
$^{*}p < 0.0001; ^{NS}p > 0.05.$											

perception of stressful factors under conditions of transport, handling, and environmental challenges.

This explanation may aid in understanding the report by Sakakibara et al. (50), who found a weak negative correlation between blood cortisol concentrations and surface temperatures (r = -0.209) in five bovines transported for 8h. Robertson et al. (51) observed that activation of the ANS leads to catecholamine secretion (52) that can generate physiological effects like tachycardia, tachypnea, and hyperthermia (53, 54). This could be related to the level of stress experienced by the animals, as Hagenmaier et al. observed (55) in 80 calves transported under two levels of handling. Animals under intensive handling, with the use of electric prods and minimal trotting during loading, had higher lactate, epinephrine, norepinephrine, cortisol, and glucose levels but lower levels of blood pH and bicarbonate, with excess bases, compared to the animals that received minimal handling during transport. This means that the external factors which increase the stress response of animals during transport (e.g., higher surface temperatures) include social interaction with handlers and the training that stockpeople receive to mobilize animals of different species, two factors that are fundamental for preventing intense stress responses, even during short trips like those in the present study $(2h \pm 20 \text{ min})$. Some authors have reported that even when the trip time is maintained below 12 h, some species are unable to become habituated immediately to the intrinsic and individual factors that cause stress (56, 57).

Another important condition observed during animal transport that needs to be emphasized is neophobia, that is, fear of new situations. This may be another factor involved in stress responses prior to transporting water buffaloes (58, 59). This fear involves activation of the basolateral region of the amygdala, which coordinates responses by the cerebral cortex and hypothalamus, the physiological center that modulates heart and respiratory rates, and body temperature during events that cause fear or anxiety (60, 61).

With respect to the temperature differences detected among the different thermal windows, the minimal increase of 1°C among the facial, skull and nasal regions in comparison with lateral corporal trunk limbs region, and lateral region of the trunk (p < 0.0001) can be explained by the extensive distribution of capillaries and arteriovenous anastomoses that allow heat exchange with the environment (62). When mechanisms that preserve thermoneutrality are activated, heat loss by evaporation (as water vapor), convection, or conduction is responsible for the changes in the amount of heat irradiated through the skin (38, 63). Specifically, the thermal windows of head and periocular, and frontal-parietal regions showed a difference of 4° C (p < 0.0001), possibly due to distribution of the blood vessels in those areas. For example, the head regions is were irrigated by the facial artery and its branches in the infraorbital artery, which carries blood to the lower eyelid and lacrimal caruncle (24, 64), whereas the frontal-parietal region is supplied by branches (A. transversa faciei, A. auricularis rostralis, A. palpebralis inferior lateralis, A. palpebralis superior lateralis) of the superficial temporal artery (A. temporalis superficialis) (64). This distribution of blood vessels could confer a thermoregulatory advantage to water buffaloes by serving as a pathway for heat loss. Taylor (65) found that circulation around the horns allowed Toggenburg goats to serve as a pathway for thermoregulation. This could explain the increase in the temperature of the frontal-parietal region recorded in our study.

The thermal windows in the trunk regions, such as the abdominal or thoracic regions, had temperatures 2°C higher than those in the limbs region (p < 0.0001). This is related to the presence of vital metabolically active organs, such as the heart and liver, which contribute to raising body temperature as animals try to compensate through peripheral vasomotor changes in the structures of the limbs (66). Temperatures in these regions are produced by blood flow from the metatarsal dorsal and saphenous arteries (64). Changes in the limbs temperatures in dogs and horses have been associated with levels of muscle activity that increase blood flow at the local level (67, 68); however, the specific muscular response was not evaluated in our study.

The thermal windows of the nostrils were the one that presented the lowest temperatures of all nasal region (*Regio nasalis*) (p < 0.0001). Although this area has a high density of surface blood vessels from the maxillary artery and vein (24), elimination of water vapor during the respiratory cycle and tachypnea that occurs during stress are two factors that may influence nostril temperatures, leading to a greater loss of water vapor and heat (28). Finally, it is important to mention that a strong, positive, and significant correlation was observed among the thermal windows (r=0.9, p < 0.0001). This means that as the temperature of one body region increases, those of other regions also increase because of the greater radiation of surface heat in the different thermal windows (69, 70).

In a similar manner, Napolitano et al. (71) the surface temperature of 109 buffalo calves was evaluated with the aim of recognizing variations in various thermal windows (both regions of the body and head) with respect to their birth weight, finding that the head region registers higher values (except the thermal window of the nostril) and with less variation with respect to pelvic limbs in all groups studied.

The results of the present study confirm the usefulness of the IRT technique for evaluating large ruminants, for example, to identify changes in the surface temperatures of buffaloes subjected to short periods of transport. However, it is important to emphasize that one of the limitations of this study is that we did not evaluate other response variables, such as physiological (e.g., body temperature) and endocrine parameters (e.g., cortisol concentrations), to relate the temperature increases detected to other factors. Likewise, another limitation of the present study could be the lack of monitoring the cleanliness of the animals to prevent that soiling, fecal matter, sweat, or urine could alter the thermal readings. The inclusion of physiological indicators during the pre- and post-transport phases could provide a clearer picture of the stress experienced by water buffaloes during transport. We consider this an important field for future explorations that will assess the degree of relationship between the surface temperatures of thermal windows and physiological indicators that are modified by the effects of transport.

5. Conclusion

According to the surface temperature values of water buffaloes transported for a short period, transport and the practices applied during this activity affect the temperature of various body and head regions. The responses of each region depend largely on the phase in which they are evaluated (from the paddock to post-transport). Herding and loading were identified as the moments when the buffaloes had the most marked stress responses, which increased the recorded thermal values. The strong positive correlations between the central and peripheral windows can help understand the importance of good handling of buffalo species during transport, with the goal of minimizing the potential stress they may experience and physiological responses that can impact their welfare.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because the animals used in this study were handled gently, without the use of physical utensils that could cause stress, in accordance with the guidelines of the Official Mexican Standards NOM-062-ZOO-1999, which establish technical specifications for the production, care, and ethical use of animals during experimentation; and NOM-051-ZOO which establish technical specifications for humanitarian handling in the mobilization of animals published by the Department of Agriculture, Rural Development, Fisheries and Alimentation. It is also

References

1. Grandin T, Shivley C. How farm animals react and perceive stressful situations such as handling, restraint, and transport. *Animals.* (2015) 5:1233–51. doi: 10.3390/ani5040409

2. Rodríguez-González D, Minervino AHH, Orihuela A, Bertoni A, Morales-Canela DA, Álvarez-Macías A, et al. Handling and physiological aspects of the dual-purpose water buffalo production system in the mexican humid tropics. *Animals*. (2022) 12:608. doi: 10.3390/ani12050608

3. José-Pérez N, Mota-Rojas D, Ghezzi MD, Rosmini MR, Mora-Medina P, Bertoni A, et al. Effects of transport on water buffaloes (*Bubalus bubalis*): factors associated with the frequency of skin injuries and meat quality. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2022) 10:1–9. doi: 10.31893/jabb.22016

4. Gupta S, Earley B, Crowe MA. Effect of 12-hour road transportation on physiological, immunological and haematological parameters in bulls housed at different space allowances. *Vet J.* (2007) 173:605–16. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2006.03.002

 Sporer KRB, Xiao L, Tempelman RJ, Burton JL, Earley B, Crowe MA. Transportation stress alters the circulating steroid environment and neutrophil gene expression in beef bulls. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2008) 121:300–20. doi: 10.1016/j. vetimm.2007.10.010

6. Adenkola AY, Ayo JO. Physiological and behavioural responses of livestock to road transportation stress: a review. *Afr J Biotechnol.* (2010) 9:4845–56.

7. Chandra BS, Das N. The handling and short-haul road transportation of spent buffaloes in relation to bruising and animal welfare. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2001) 33:155–63. doi: 10.1023/A:1005242815540

8. Bhatt N, Singh N, Mishra A, Kandpal D, Rajneesh R, Jamwal S. A detailed review of transportation stress in livestock and its mitigation techniques. *Int J Livest Res.* (2021) 11:1. doi: 10.5455/ijlr.20201109102902

9. Napolitano F, Orihuela A, AHH M, Strappini AC, Bertoni A, Braghhieri A, et al. Zootechnical management of dual-purpose water buffalo systems in the Mexican humid tropics In: F Napolitano, D Mota-Rojas, A Orihuela, A Braghieri, D Hufana-Duran and AC Strappini et al, editors. *El bifalo de agua en las Américas: Comportamiento y productividad. 4th* ed. Mexico City: B.M. Editores (2022). 69–110.

10. Alarcón-Rojo A, Mota-Rojas D, García-Galicia I, Ramírez-Bribiesca E, Olmos-Hernández A, Guerrero-Legarreta I. Dark cutting in large ruminants: effect of management and environmental factors. *Agro Product*. (2021) 13:93–8. doi: 10.32854/ agrop.v13i12.1927

11. Cruz-Monterrosa RG, Mota-Rojas D, Ramírez-Bibriesca E, Mora-Medina P, Guerrero-Legarreta I. Scientific findings on the quality of river buffalo meat and prospects for future studies. *J Buffalo Sci.* (2020) 9:170–80. doi: 10.6000/1927-520X.2020.09.18

important to consider that written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. Van Engen NK, Coetzee JF. Effects of transportation on cattle health and production: a review. *Anim Health Res Rev.* (2018) 19:142–54. doi: 10.1017/S1466252318000075

13. Murata H, Shimada N, Yoshioka M. Current research on acute phase proteins in veterinary diagnosis: an overview. *Vet J.* (2004) 168:28–40. doi: 10.1016/S1090-0233(03)00119-9

14. Wong SS, Sun NN, Keith I, Kweon C-B, Foster DE, Schauer JJ, et al. Tachykinin substance P signaling involved in diesel exhaust-induced bronchopulmonary neurogenic inflammation in rats. *Arch Toxicol.* (2003) 77:638–50. doi: 10.1007/s00204-003-0485-4

15. Wong SS, Sun NN, Lantz RC, Witten ML. Substance P and neutral endopeptidase in development of acute respiratory distress syndrome following fire smoke inhalation. *Am J Physiol Cell Mol Physiol.* (2004) 287:L859–66. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00388.2003

16. Mackenzie A, Drennan M, Rowan T, Dixon J, Carter S. Effect of transportation and weaning on humoral immune responses of calves. *Res Vet Sci.* (1997) 63:227–30. doi: 10.1016/S0034-5288(97)90025-4

17. Liotta L, Costa LN, Chiofalo B, Ravarotto L, Chiofalo V. Effect of lairage duration on some blood constituents and beef quality in bulls after long journey. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2007) 6:375–84. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2007.375

18. Cueto SL. Factores que influyen en la respuesta productiva y bienestar animal durante el transporte de bovinos. *Universidad Autónoma de Chapingo* (2020). Available at: https://repositorio.chapingo.edu.mx/bitstream/handle/20.500.12098/501/dcig-lcsi_20.pdf?sequence=2 (Accessed August 28, 2022).

19. Averós X, Martín S, Riu M, Serratosa J, Gosálvez LF. Stress response of extensively reared young bulls being transported to growing-finishing farms under Spanish summer commercial conditions. *Livest Sci.* (2008) 119:174–82. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2008.04.002

20. Idris M, Uddin J, Sullivan M, McNeill DM, Phillips CJC. Non-invasive physiological indicators of heat stress in cattle. *Animals*. (2021) 11:71. doi: 10.3390/ani11010071

21. Strappini AC, Frankena K, Metz JHM, Gallo C, Kemp B. Characteristics of bruises in carcasses of cows sourced from farms or from livestock markets. *Animal.* (2012) 6:502–9. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111001698

22. Napolitano F, Strappini A, Ramírez-Bribiesca E, Alarcón-Rojo AD, Cruz-Monterrosa R, Guerrero Legarreta I, et al. Estresores previos a la muerte y su efecto en la calidad de la carne del búfalo de agua In: F Napolitano, D Mota-Rojas and IOA Guerrero-Legarreta, editors. *El búfalo de agua en Latinoamérica, hallazgos recientes*. México: BM Editores (2020). 1178–233. Available at: https://www.lifescienceglobal.com/ journals/journal-of-buffalo-science/97-abstract/jbs/4550-el-bufalo-de-agua-enlatinoamerica-hallazgos-recientes (Accessed December 20, 2022). 23. Bertoni A, Napolitano F, Mota-Rojas D, Sabia E, Álvarez-Macías A, Mora-Medina P, et al. Similarities and differences between river buffaloes and cattle: health, physiological, behavioral and productivity aspects. *J Buffalo Sci.* (2020) 9:92–109. doi: 10.6000/1927-520X.2020.09.12

24. Mota-Rojas D, Pereira MFA, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Hernández-Avalos I, et al. Clinical applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows used in infrared thermography in cattle and river Buffalo to assess health and productivity. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2247. doi: 10.3390/ani11082247

25. Vickers LA, Burfeind O, von Keyserlingk MAG, Veira DM, Weary DM, Heuwieser W. Technical note: comparison of rectal and vaginal temperatures in lactating dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2010) 93:5246–51. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-3388

26. Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Gómez-Prado J, Carvajal-de la Fuente V, Ghezzi M, et al. Pathophysiology of fever and application of infrared thermography (irt) in the detection of sick domestic animals: recent advances. *Animals*. (2021) 11:2316. doi: 10.3390/ani11082316

27. Mota-Rojas D, Wang D-H, Titto CG, Martínez-Burnes J, Villanueva-García D, Lezama K, et al. Neonatal infrared thermography images in the hypothermic ruminant model: anatomical-morphological-physiological aspects and mechanisms for thermoregulation. *Front Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:963205. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.963205

28. Lowe G, Sutherland M, Waas J, Schaefer A, Cox N, Stewart M. Infrared thermography—a non-invasive method of measuring respiration rate in calves. *Animals.* (2019) 9:535. doi: 10.3390/ani9080535

29. INEGI. *Clima Veracruz de Ignacio de la Llave. Inf por Entid* (2021). Available at: https://cuentame.inegi.org.mx/monografias/informacion/ver/territorio/clima. aspx?tema=me&e=30 (Accessed August 21, 2022).

30. Rodríguez A, Romero E. Evaluación del efecto de diferentes dosis de la fertilización orgánica en la calidad nutricional del pasto camelote (*Paspalum fasciculatum* willd). *Tlatemoani Rev Acad Invest.* (2016) 1:1–14.

31. SEGOB. Norma Oficial Mexicana PROY-NOM-034-SCT2-2003, Señalamiento horizontal y vertical de carreteras y vialidades urbanas. DOF. (2004):2–7.

32. De RF, Scaramuzzi RJ. Heat stress and seasonal effects on reproduction in the dairy cow—a review. *Theriogenology*. (2003) 60:1139–51. doi: 10.1016/S0093-691X(03)00126-2

33. Lan Q, Cao Z, Yang X, Gu Z. Physiological and proteomic responses of dairy buffalo to heat stress induced by different altitudes. *Meta*. (2022) 12:909. doi: 10.3390/ metabo12100909

34. Cuthbertson H, Tarr G, Loudon K, Lomax S, White P, McGreevy P, et al. Using infrared thermography on farm of origin to predict meat quality and physiological response in cattle (*Bos Taurus*) exposed to transport and marketing. *Meat Sci.* (2020) 169:108173. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2020.108173

35. Rocha LM, Devillers N, Maldague X, Kabemba FZ, Fleuret J, Guay F, et al. Validation of anatomical sites for the measurement of infrared body surface temperature variation in response to handling and transport. *Animals.* (2019) 9:425. doi: 10.3390/ani9070425

36. Alam M, Hasanuzzaman M, Hassan MM, Rakib TM, Hossain ME, Rashid MH, et al. Assessment of transport stress on cattle travelling a long distance (≈648 km), from Jessore (Indian border) to Chittagong, Bangladesh. *Vet Rec Open.* (2018) 5:e000248–10. doi: 10.1136/vetreco-2017-000248

37. Hong H, Lee E, Lee IH, Lee S-R. Effects of transport stress on physiological responses and milk production in lactating dairy cows. *Asian Aust J Anim Sci.* (2019) 32:442–51. doi: 10.5713/ajas.18.0108

38. Mota-Rojas D, Titto CG, Orihuela A, Martínez-Burnes J, Gómez-Prado J, Torres-Bernal F, et al. Physiological and behavioral mechanisms of thermoregulation in mammals. *Animals*. (2021) 11:1733. doi: 10.3390/ani11061733

39. Kataoka N, Hioki H, Kaneko T, Nakamura K. Psychological stress activates a dorsomedial hypothalamus-medullary raphe circuit driving brown adipose tissue thermogenesis and hyperthermia. *Cell Metab.* (2014) 20:346–58. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2014.05.018

40. Nakamura K. Neural circuit for psychological stress-induced hyperthermia. *Temperature*. (2015) 2:352–61. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2015.1070944

41. Oka T. Stress-induced hyperthermia and hypothermia. *Handb Clin Neurol.* (2018) 157:599-621. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-64074-1.00035-5

42. Wang L, Liu F, Luo Y, Zhu L, Li G. Effect of acute heat stress on adrenocorticotropic hormone, cortisol, interleukin-2, interleukin-12 and apoptosis gene expression in rats. *Biomed Reports.* (2015) 3:425–9. doi: 10.3892/br.2015.445

43. Agnes F, Sartorelli P, Abdi B, Locatelli A. Effect of transport loading or noise on blood biochemical variables in calves. *Am J Vet Res.* (1990) 51:1679–81.

44. Mehdid A, Martí-De Olives A, Fernández N, Rodríguez M, Peris C. Effect of stress on somatic cell count and milk yield and composition in goats. *Res Vet Sci.* (2019) 125:61–70. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2019.05.015

45. Al-Qarawi AA, Ali BH. Isolation stress in desert sheep and goats and the influence of pretreatment with xylazine or sodium betaine. *Vet Res Commun.* (2005) 29:81–90. doi: 10.1023/B:VERC.0000046741.97331.29

46. Sanhouri AA, Jones RS, Dobson H. Effects of xylazine on the stress response to transport in male goats. *Br Vet J.* (1992) 148:119–28. doi: 10.1016/0007-1935(92)90103-8

47. Sartorelli P, Dominoni S, Agnes F. Influence of duration of simulated transport on plasma stress markers in the calf. *J Vet Med Ser A*. (1992) 39:401–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0442.1992.tb00198.x

48. Mitchell G, Hattingh J, Ganhao M. Stress in cattle assessed after handling, after transport and after slaughter. *Vet Rec.* (1988) 123:201–5. doi: 10.1136/vr.123.8.201

49. Ali-Gholi R, Siamak AR, Daryoush M. Influence of the short-term road transport stress on blood parameters in cows. *Med Weter*. (2007) 63:1311–5.

50. Sakakibara S, Arai S, Hukui Y, Sawada H. Fluctuation of body surface temperature in calves during transportation using infrared thermography. *J Japan Vet Med Assoc.* (2014) 67:125–8. doi: 10.12935/jvma.67.125

51. Robertson JK, Mastromonaco G, Burness G. Evidence that stress-induced changes in surface temperature serve a thermoregulatory function. *J Exp Biol.* (2020) 223:jeb213421. doi: 10.1242/jeb.213421

52. Krakoff LR. Glucocorticoid excess syndromes causing hypertension. *Cardiol Clin.* (1988) 6:537–45. doi: 10.1016/S0733-8651(18)30475-2

53. Oka T, Oka K, Hori T. Mechanisms and mediators of psychological stress-induced rise in core temperature. *Psychosom Med.* (2001) 63:476–86. doi: 10.1097/00006842-200105000-00018

54. Sapolsky RM. How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. *Endocr Rev.* (2000) 21:55–89. doi: 10.1210/er.21.1.55

55. Hagenmaier JA, Reinhardt CD, Bartle SJ, Henningson JN, Ritter MJ, Calvo-Lorenzo MS, et al. Effect of handling intensity at the time of transport for slaughter on physiological response and carcass characteristics in beef cattle fed ractopamine hydrochloride. *J Anim Sci.* (2017) 95:1963. doi: 10.2527/jas2016.0821

56. Gallo C, Lizondo G, Knowles TG. Effects of journey and lairage time on steers transported to slaughter in Chile. *Vet Rec.* (2003) 152:361–4. doi: 10.1136/vr.152. 12.361

57. Valadez Noriega M, de la Lama GC. Implications, trends, and prospects for longdistance transport in cattle. Review. *Rev Mex Ciencias Pecu*. (2020) 11:517–38. doi: 10.22319/rmcp.v11i2.4767

58. Flores-Peinado S, Mota-Rojas D, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Mora-Medina P, Cruz-Monterrosa R, Gómez-Prado J, et al. Physiological responses of pigs to preslaughter handling: infrared and thermal imaging applications. *Int J Vet Sci Med.* (2020) 8:71–84. doi: 10.1080/23144599.2020.1821574

59. Stewart M, Webster JR, Verkerk GA, Schaefer AL, Colyn JJ, Stafford KJ. Noninvasive measurement of stress in dairy cows using infrared thermography. *Physiol Behav.* (2007) 92:520–5. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.04.034

60. Phelps EA, LeDoux JE. Contributions of the amygdala to emotion processing: from animal models to human behavior. *Neuron.* (2005) 48:175–87. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2005.09.025

61. Angilletta MJ, Youngblood JP, Neel LK, VandenBrooks JM. The neuroscience of adaptive thermoregulation. *Neurosci Lett.* (2019) 692:127–36. doi: 10.1016/j. neulet.2018.10.046

62. Tattersall GJ. Infrared thermography: a non-invasive window into thermal physiology. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol*. (2016) 202:78–98. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.02.022

63. Romanovsky AA. Skin temperature: its role in thermoregulation. *Acta Physiol.* (2014) 210:498–507. doi: 10.1111/apha.12231

64. International Committee Veterinary Gross Anatomical Nomenclature. *Nomina Anatómica veterinaria*. (2017), Available at: https://uia.org/s/or/en/1100039338 (Accesed November 30, 2022).

65. Taylor CR. The vascularity and possible thermoregulatory function of the horns in goats. *Physiol Zool*. (1966) 39:127–39. doi: 10.1086/physzool.39.2.30152426

66. Isola JVV, Menegazzi G, Busanello M, dos Santos SB, Agner HSS, Sarubbi J. Differences in body temperature between black-and-white and red-and-white Holstein cows reared on a hot climate using infrared thermography. *J Therm Biol.* (2020) 94:102775. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102775

67. Casas-Alvarado A, Martínez-Burnes J, Mora-Medina P, Hernández-Avalos I, Domínguez-Oliva A, Lezama-García K, et al. Thermal and circulatory changes in diverse body regions in dogs and cats evaluated by infrared thermography. *Animals*. (2022) 12:789. doi: 10.3390/ani12060789

68. Mota-Rojas D, Martínez-Burnes J, Casas-Alvarado A, Gómez-Prado J, Hernández-Ávalos I, Domínguez-Oliva A, et al. Clinical usefulness of infrared thermography to detect sick animals: frequent and current cases. *CABI Rev.* (2022) 2022:1–17. doi: 10.1079/cabireviews202217040

69. Brcko CC, da SJAR, Martorano LG, Vilela RA, Nahúm B d S, AGM S, et al. Infrared thermography to assess thermoregulatory reactions of female buffaloes in a humid tropical environment. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:180. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020. 00180

70. Mota-Rojas D, Napolitano F, Braghieri A, Guerrero-Legarreta I, Bertoni A, Martínez-Burnes J, et al. Thermal biology in river buffalo in the humid tropics: neurophysiological and behavioral responses assessed by infrared thermography. *J Anim Behav Biometeorol.* (2021) 9:1–12. doi: 10.31893/jabb.21003

71. Napolitano F, Bragaglio A, Braghieri A, el-Aziz AHA, Titto CG, Villanueva-García D, et al. The effect of birth weight and time of day on the thermal response of newborn water buffalo calves. *Front Vet Sci.* (2023) 10:1084092. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1084092

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**

Transforms how we investigate and improve animal health

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us

frontiers

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**



